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SECTION | - GENERAL

DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

In this Letter of Offer, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms defined and abbreviations expanded herein
below shall have the same meaning as stated in this section and references to any statute or regulations or acts
or policies shall include amendments thereto, from time to time.

In this Letter of Offer, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, all references to “our
Company”, “the Company” and “the Issuer”, are references to 5Spaisa Capital Limited. References to “we”,
“us” and “our” are references to 5Spaisa Capital Limited along with its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.
References to “you” are to the prospective investors in the Issue.

Company related terms

Term Description
Articles/ Articles of | The articles of association of our Company, as amended
Association
Associates With reference to any company, the associate of that company would mean

any other company within the meaning of section 2(6) of the Companies Act

Audit Committee

The audit committee of our Board

Board/ Board of Directors

Board of Directors of our Company including any committees thereof, as the
context may refer to

Corporate Office

Our corporate office located at IIFL House, Sun Infotech Park, Road No.
16V, B-23, MIDC, Thane Industrial Area, Wagle Estate, Thane — 400 604

Equity Share(s)

Equity shares of our Company having a face value of ¥ 10 each, unless
otherwise specified in the context thereof

Equity Listing Agreement/
Listing Agreement

Uniform listing agreements entered into under the SEBI Listing Regulations
and the erstwhile equity listing agreements entered into between our
Company and the Stock Exchanges, as the context may refer to

5PCL ESOS 2017

5paisa Capital Limited Employee Stock Option Scheme 2017

5PCL ESOTS 2017

5paisa Capital Limited Employee Stock Option Trust Scheme 2017

Group Companies

Such companies, partnership firms and trusts as covered under the applicable
accounting standards and also other companies, partnership firms and trusts
as considered material by our Board pursuant to a policy on materiality of
group companies approved by our Board on September 12, 2018. The Group
Companies are listed out in “Group Companies” on page 128

Independent Directors

Independent directors on the Board, and eligible to be appointed as an
independent director under the provisions of the Companies Act and the
SEBI Listing Regulations. For details of the Independent Directors, see “Our
Management” on page 112

KMPs

Key managerial personnel of our Company as disclosed in “Our

Management” on page 112

Memorandum/ Memorandum
of Association

The memorandum of association of our Company, as amended

Nomination and Remuneration
Committee

The nomination and remuneration committee of our Board

Promoter/Promoters

Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani. For details see “Our
Promoter and Promoter Group” on page 125

Promoter Group

Promoter group of our Company as determined in terms of Regulation
2(1)(zb) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations

Registered Office

The registered office of our Company located at IIFL House, Sun Infotech
Park, Road No. 16V, B-23, MIDC, Thane Industrial Area, Wagle Estate,
Thane — 400 604

Registrar of Companies/ RoC

Registrar of Companies, Mumbai located at 100, Everest, Marine Drive,
Mumbai 400 002

Restated Consolidated
Financial Information

The restated consolidated statement of assets and liabilities as at the Fiscals
ended March 31, 2019, March 31, 2018, March 31, 2017, March 31, 2016
and March 31, 2015 and the restated consolidated statements of profits and




Term

Description

losses and restated consolidated statement of cash flows for the Fiscals ended
March 31, 2019, March 31, 2018, March 31, 2017, March 31, 2016 and
March 31, 2015

Restated Financial
Information

Collectively, the Restated Standalone Financial Information and the Restated
Consolidated Financial Information

Restated Standalone Financial

Information

The restated standalone statement of assets and liabilities as at the Fiscals
ended March 31, 2019, March 31, 2018, March 31, 2017, March 31, 2016
and March 31, 2015 and the restated standalone statements of profits and
losses and restated standalone statement of cash flows for the Fiscals ended
March 31, 2019, March 31, 2018, March 31, 2017, March 31, 2016 and
March 31, 2015

Scheme of Arrangement

Scheme of arrangement between IIFL Holdings Limited and our Company
sanctioned by the National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai Bench vide
order dated September 6, 2017

Stakeholders’
Committee

Relationship

The stakeholders’ relationship committee of our Board.

Statutory Auditors/ Auditors

The statutory auditors of our Company, V. Sankar Aiyar & Co., Chartered
Accountants

Subsidiaries

5paisa P2P Limited and 5Paisa Insurance Brokers Limited, the subsidiaries
of our Company, in accordance with the Companies Act, as disclosed in
“History and Certain Corporate Matters” on page 104

Issue related terms

Term

Description

Abridged Letter
of Offer

The abridged letter of offer to be sent to the Eligible Equity Shareholders with respect to
this Issue in accordance with SEBI ICDR Regulations and the Companies Act

Allot/ Allotted/

Unless the context requires, the allotment of Rights Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue

Allotment

Allotment Date | Date on which the Allotment is made

Allottee(s) Person(s) who are Allotted Rights Equity Shares pursuant to the Allotment

Applicant Eligible Equity Shareholder(s) and/or Renouncees who make an application for the Rights
Equity Shares pursuant to the Issue in terms of this Letter of Offer, including an ASBA
Applicant

Application Aggregate amount payable in respect of the Rights Equity Shares applied for in the Issue at

Money the Issue Price

Application The application (whether physical or electronic) used by an ASBA investor to make an

Supported by | application authorizing the SCSB to block the amount payable on application in their

Blocked specified bank account

Amount/ ASBA

ASBA Account | Account maintained by an ASBA Investor with an SCSB which will be blocked by such
SCSB to the extent of the appropriate amount in relation to an application in an ASBA
Account maintained with the SCSB

ASBA Eligible Equity Shareholders proposing to subscribe to the Issue through ASBA process

Applicant/ and:

ASBA Investor

(@ Who are holding the Equity Shares in dematerialized form as on the Record Date and
have applied for their Rights Entitlements and/ or additional Equity Shares in
dematerialized form;

Who have not renounced their Rights Entitlements in full or in part;

Who are not Renouncees; and

Who are applying through blocking of funds in a bank account maintained with

SCSBs.

(b)
(©)
(d)

All (i) QIBs, (ii) Non-Institutional Investors, and (iii) other investors whose application
value exceeds X 200,000, can participate in the Issue only through an ASBA process

Bankers to the

ICICI Bank Limited




Term Description
Issue
Composite The form used by an Investor to make an application for the Allotment of Rights Equity
Application Shares in the Issue
Form / CAF
Consolidated In case of holding of Equity Shares in physical form, the certificate that would be issued for
Certificate the Rights Equity Shares Allotted to each folio
Controlling Such branches of the SCSBs which coordinate with the Lead Manager, the Registrar to the
Branches/ Issue and the Stock Exchanges, a list of which is available on
Controlling http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/home/list/5/33/0/0/Recognised-Intermediaries and/or such

Branches of the
SCSBs

other website(s) as may be prescribed by the SEBI / Stock Exchange(s) from time to time

Designated NSE

Stock Exchange

Designated Such branches of the SCSBs which shall collect the CAF or the plain paper application, as
Branches the case may be, used by the ASBA Investors and a list of which is available on

http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/home/list/5/33/0/0/Recognised-Intermediaries

Draft Letter of
Offer

The Draft Letter of Offer dated September 14, 2018, filed with SEBI

Equity
Shareholder(s)/
Shareholders

The holders of Equity Shares of our Company

Eligible Equity
Shareholder(s)

Holders of Equity Shares of our Company as on the Record Date, i.e. May 29, 2019. Please
note that investors eligible to participate in this Issue exclude certain overseas shareholders.
For further details, see “Notice to overseas Investors” on page 7

Investor(s) Eligible Equity Shareholders and/or Renouncees applying in the Issue

Issue/  Rights | Issue of up to 12,739,022 Equity Shares of face value of ¥ 10 each at a price of ¥ 80 per

Issue Equity Share including a premium of ¥ 70 per Equity Share for an amount up to ¥ 1,019.12
million on a rights basis to the Eligible Equity Shareholders in the ratio of one Rights Equity
Share for every one fully paid-up Equity Share (1:1) held by the Eligible Equity
Shareholders on the Record Date

Issue  Closing | August 6, 2019

Date

Issue  Opening | July 23, 2019

Date

Issue Price % 80 per Rights Equity Share

Issue Proceeds | Gross proceeds of the Issue

Issue Size The issue of up to 12,739,022 Rights Equity Shares up to ¥ 1,019.12 million

Lead Manager Keynote Financial Services Limited (formerly Keynote Corporate Services Limited)

Letter of Offer | The final letter of offer to be filed with the Stock Exchanges after incorporating the

observations received from the SEBI on the Draft Letter of Offer

Net Proceeds

The Issue Proceeds less the Issue related expenses. For further details, see “Objects of the
Issue” on page 69

Non-ASBA Investors other than ASBA Investors who apply in the Issue otherwise than through the
Investor ASBA process

Non- Investor, including any company or body corporate, other than a Retail Individual Investor
Institutional and a QIB

Investors

QIBs or | Qualified institutional buyers as defined under Regulation 2(1)(zd) of the SEBI ICDR
Qualified Regulations

Institutional

Buyers

Record Date

Designated date for the purpose of determining the Shareholders eligible to apply for Rights
Equity Shares in the Issue, that is May 29, 2019

Registrar to the
Issue/Registrar

Link Intime India Private Limited
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Term Description

Renouncees Any persons who has / have acquired Rights Entitlements from the Eligible Equity
Shareholders

Retail Individual Investors who have applied for Rights Equity Shares and whose Application

Individual Money is not more than ¥ 200,000 (including HUFs applying through their karta)

Investor

Rights The number of Rights Equity Shares that an Eligible Equity Shareholder is entitled to in

Entitlement proportion to the number of Equity Shares held by the Eligible Equity Shareholder on the
Record Date

Rights Equity | The Equity Share(s) offered in this Issue

Share(s)

SAF(s) Split Application Form(s)

SCSB(s) A Self Certified Syndicate Bank, registered with SEBI, which acts as a banker to the Issue
and which offers the facility of ASBA. A list of all SCSBs is available at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=34
and/ or such other website(s) as may be prescribed by the SEBI / Stock Exchange(s) from
time to time

Share The certificate in respect of the Rights Equity Shares allotted to a folio in a physical form

Certificate

Stock BSE and NSE, where the Equity Shares are presently listed and traded

Exchanges

Wilful Company or person categorised as a wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or

Defaulter consortium thereof, in accordance with the guidelines on wilful defaulters issued by the

Reserve Bank of India and includes any company whose director or promoter is categorised
as such

Working Days

All days other than second and fourth Saturday of the month, Sunday or a public holiday,
on which commercial banks in Mumbai are open for business.

Conventional, General and Industry Terms or Abbreviations

Term

Description/ Full — Forms

% /Rs./Rupees/INR

Indian Rupees

AGM

Annual General Meeting

AlF

Alternative Investment Fund as defined in and registered with SEBI under
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investments
Funds) Regulations, 2012

AS / Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
India as notified under the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014

Bn/bn Billion

BSE BSE Limited

CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited
CIN Corporate Identity Number

Companies Act

Companies Act, 2013, to the extent in force pursuant to the notification of
sections of the Companies Act, 2013, along with the relevant rules made
thereunder

Companies Act, 1956

Companies Act, 1956 (without reference to the provisions thereof that
have ceased to have effect upon notification of the sections of the
Companies Act, 2013) along with the relevant rules made thereunder

Depositories

NSDL and CDSL

Depositories Act

The Depositories Act, 1996

DIN

Director ldentification Number

DIPP

Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion, Ministry of Commerce
and Industry, Government of India

DP / Depository Participant

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act

DP ID Depository Participant Identification
EGM Extraordinary General Meeting
EPS Earnings Per Share
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Term Description/ Full — Forms

ETF Exchange Traded Fund

EUR Euro

FCNR Account/ FCNR Foreign currency non-resident account

FDI Foreign Direct Investment

FDI Policy Consolidated Foreign Direct Investment Policy notified by the
Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion, Ministry of Commerce and
Industry, Government of India under D/o IPP F. No. 5(1)/2017-FC-1 dated
the August 28, 2017, effective from August 28, 2017

FEMA Act/ FEMA Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, read with rules and regulations

thereunder

FEMA Regulations

FEMA (Transfer or Issue of Security by a Person Resident Outside India)
Regulations, 2017

FlI(s)

Foreign institutional investors as defined under the SEBI FP1 Regulations

Financial Year / Fiscal / FY

Unless stated otherwise, the period of 12 months ending March 31 of that
particular year

FIPB Foreign Investment Promotion Board, Department of Economic Affairs,
Ministry

FOF Fund of funds

FPI(s) Foreign portfolio investors as defined under the SEBI FP1 Regulations

FVCI Foreign venture capital investors as defined and registered under the SEBI
FVCI Regulations

GDP Gross Domestic Product

GIR General Index Register

Gol or Government Government of India

GST Goods and Services Tax

HUF Hindu Undivided Family

HNI High Net Worth Individual.

ICAI The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

ICD Inter- Corporate Deposits

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

Ind AS Indian accounting standards converged with IFRS, as notified by the
Ministry of Corporate Affairs vide Companies (Indian Accounting
Standards) Rules, 2015 in its general statutory rules dated February 16,
2015

Indian GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India

IT Act The Income Tax Act, 1961

MCA Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India

MICR Magnetic Ink Character Recognition

Mn/ million Million

Mutual Fund(s)

Mutual Fund(s) means mutual funds registered under the SEBI (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

N.A./NA Not Applicable

NAV Net Asset Value

NEFT National Electronic Fund Transfer

NR Non-resident

NRE Account Non-Resident External Account

NRI A person resident outside India who is a citizen of India as defined under

the Foreign Exchange Management (Deposit) Regulations, 2016 or is an
‘Overseas Citizen of India’ cardholder within the meaning of section 7(A)
of the Citizenship Act, 1955

NRO Account

Non-Resident Ordinary Account

NSDL

National Securities Depository Limited

NSE

National Stock Exchange of India Limited

OCB [/ Overseas Corporate
Body

A company, partnership, society or other corporate body owned directly or
indirectly to the extent of at least 60% by NRIs including overseas trusts, in
which not less than 60% of beneficial interest is irrevocably held by NRIs




Term

Description/ Full — Forms

directly or indirectly and which was in existence on October 3, 2003 and
immediately before such date had taken benefits under the general
permission granted to OCBs under FEMA. OCBs are not allowed to invest
in the Issue

p.a. Per annum

P/E Ratio Price/Earnings Ratio

P2P Peer to peer

PAN Permanent Account Number

PAT Profit After Tax

PBT Profit Before Tax

RBI The Reserve Bank of India

RONW Return on Net Worth

RTGS Real Time Gross Settlement

SCRA Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956, as amended

SCRR Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended

SEBI The Securities and Exchange Board of India constituted under the SEBI
Act, 1992

SEBI Act Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992

SEBI AIF Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investments Funds)
Regulations, 2012

SEBI FPI Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors)
Regulations, 2014

SEBI FVCI Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Venture Capital Investors)
Regulations, 2000

SEBI ICDR Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2009

SEBI Listing Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2015

SEBI VCF Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Venture Capital Funds)
Regulations, 1996 as repealed pursuant to the SEBI AIF Regulations

SEBI Takeover Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares
and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011

Securities Act

U.S. Securities Act of 1933

SEZ Special Economic Zone

State Government The government of a state in India
STT Securities Transaction Tax

TAN Tax Deduction Account Number
TIN Taxpayers Identification Number

U.S./ USA / United States

United States of America

VCFs

Venture capital funds as defined in and registered with SEBI under the SEBI
VCEF Regulations or the SEBI AIF Regulations, as the case may be

YTM

Yield to maturity

The words and expressions used but not defined herein shall have the same meaning as is assigned to such terms
under the Companies Act, the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956, the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the
Depositories Act, 1996 and the rules and regulations made thereunder.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, terms in “Terms of the Articles of Association”, “Statement of Tax Benefits”,
“Regulations and Policies™, “Outstanding Litigations and Material Developments” and “Financial Information”
on pages 319, 78, 100, 247 and 149 respectively, shall have the meanings given to such terms in these respective

sections.




NOTICE TO OVERSEAS INVESTORS

The distribution of the Draft Letter of Offer, this the Letter of Offer, the Abridged Letter of Offer and CAFs and
the issue of Rights Equity Shares, to persons in certain jurisdictions outside India is restricted by legal
requirements prevailing in those jurisdictions. Persons into whose possession the Draft Letter of Offer, this Letter
of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer or CAF may come are required to inform themselves about and observe such
restrictions. We are making this Issue of Equity Shares on a rights basis to the Eligible Equity Shareholders and
will dispatch the Letter of Offer/Abridged Letter of Offer and CAFs to such shareholders who have provided an
Indian address. Those overseas shareholders who do not update our records with their Indian address or the address
of their duly authorized representative in India, prior to the date on which we propose to dispatch the Letter of
Offer/Abridged Letter of Offer and CAFs, shall not be sent the Letter of Offer/Abridged Letter of Offer and CAFs.

No action has been or will be taken to permit this Issue in any jurisdiction where action would be required for that
purpose, except that the Draft Letter of Offer was filed with SEBI. Accordingly, the Rights Entitlement or Rights
Equity Shares may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and the Draft Letter of Offer, this Letter of Offer,
Abridged Letter of Offer and CAFs may not be distributed in any jurisdiction, except in accordance with legal
requirements applicable in such jurisdiction. Receipt of the Draft Letter of Offer, this Letter of Offer, Abridged
Letter of Offer and CAFs will not constitute an offer in those jurisdictions in which it would be illegal to make
such an offer and, under those circumstances, the Draft Letter of Offer, this Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of
Offer and CAFs must be treated as sent for information only and should not be copied, redistributed or acted upon.
Accordingly, persons receiving a copy of the Draft Letter of Offer, this Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer
and CAFs should not, in connection with the issue of the Rights Entitlements or Rights Equity Shares, distribute
or send such document in, into the United States or any other jurisdiction where to do so would, or might
contravene local securities laws or regulations. If the Draft Letter of Offer, this Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter
of Offer and CAFs is received by any person in any such jurisdiction, or by their agent or nominee, they must not
seek to subscribe to the Rights Entitlement or Rights Equity Shares referred to in the Draft Letter of Offer, this
Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer and CAFs. Envelopes containing a CAF should not be dispatched from
any jurisdiction where it would be illegal to make an offer, and all persons subscribing for the Rights Equity
Shares in this Issue must provide an Indian address.

Any person who makes an application to acquire Rights Entitlement and the Rights Equity Shares offered in this
Issue will be deemed to have declared, represented, warranted and agreed that he is authorised to acquire the
Rights Entitlement and the Rights Equity Shares in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations prevailing
in his jurisdiction. We, the Registrar, the Lead Manager or any other person acting on behalf of us, reserve the
right to treat any CAF as invalid where we believe that CAF is incomplete or acceptance of such CAF may infringe
applicable legal or regulatory requirements and we shall not be bound to allot or issue any Rights Equity Shares
or Rights Entitlement in respect of any such CAF. Neither the delivery of the Draft Letter of Offer, this Letter of
Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer and CAFs nor any sale hereunder, shall under any circumstances create any
implication that there has been no change in our Company’s affairs from the date hereof or that the information
contained herein is correct as at any time subsequent to the date of the Draft Letter of Offer.

The contents of the Draft Letter of Offer, this Letter of Offer and Abridged Letter of Offer should not be
construed as legal, tax or investment advice. Prospective investors may be subject to adverse foreign, state
or local tax or legal consequences as a result of the offer of Rights Equity Shares. As a result, each investor
should consult its own counsel, business advisor and tax advisor as to the legal, business, tax and related
matters concerning the offer of Rights Equity Shares. In addition, neither our Company nor the Lead
Manager are making any representation to any offeree or purchaser of the Rights Equity Shares regarding
the legality of an investment in the Rights Equity Shares by such offeree or purchaser under any applicable
laws or regulations.

NO OFFER IN THE UNITED STATES

The Rights Entitlements and the Rights Equity Shares have not been and will not be registered under the United
States Securities Act, 1933, as amended (“Securities Act”), or any U.S. state securities laws and may not be
offered, sold, resold or otherwise transferred within the United States of America or the territories or possessions
thereof (“United States” or “U.S.”) or to, or for the account or benefit of, “U.S. persons” (as defined in Regulation
S under the Securities Act (“Regulation S”), except in a transaction exempt from the registration requirements of
the Securities Act. The Rights Entitlements referred to in this Letter of Offer are being offered in India, but not in
the United States. The offering to which the Draft Letter of Offer, this Letter of Offer and Abridged Letter of
Offer relates is not, and under no circumstances is to be construed as, an offering of any securities or rights for
sale in the United States or as a solicitation therein of an offer to buy any of the said securities or rights.



Accordingly, the Draft Letter of Offer / Letter of Offer / Abridged Letter of Offer and the enclosed CAF should
not be forwarded to or transmitted in or into the United States at any time.

Neither our Company nor any person acting on behalf of our Company will accept subscriptions or renunciation
from any person, or the agent of any person, who appears to be, or who our Company or any person acting on
behalf of our Company has reason to believe, is in the United States when the buy order is made. Envelopes
containing CAF should not be postmarked in the United States or otherwise dispatched from the United States or
any other jurisdiction where it would be illegal to make an offer under this Letter of Offer, no payments for
subscribing for the Rights Equity Shares shall be made from US bank accounts and all persons subscribing for the
Rights Equity Shares and wishing to hold such Equity Shares in registered form must provide an address for
registration of the Equity Shares in India. Our Company is making this issue of Equity Shares on a rights basis to
the Eligible Equity Shareholders of our Company and this Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer and CAF will
be dispatched to Eligible Equity Shareholders who have an Indian address. Any person who acquires Rights
Entitlement and the Rights Equity Shares will be deemed to have declared, represented, warranted and agreed, (i)
that it is not and that, at the time of subscribing for the Rights Equity Shares or the Rights Entitlements, it will not
be, in the United States when the buy order is made, (ii) does not have a registered address (and is not otherwise
located) in the United States, and (iii) is authorised to acquire the Rights Entitlements and the Rights Equity Shares
in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Our Company reserves the right to treat as invalid any CAF which: (i) does not include the certification set out in
the CAF to the effect that the subscriber does not have a registered address (and is not otherwise located) in the
United States and is authorised to acquire the Rights Entitlement and the Rights Equity Shares in compliance with
all applicable laws and regulations; (ii) appears to our Company or its agents to have been executed in or
dispatched from the United States; (iii) where a registered Indian address is not provided; or (iv) where our
Company believes that CAF is incomplete or acceptance of such CAF may infringe applicable legal or regulatory
requirements; and our Company shall not be bound to allot or issue any Rights Equity Shares or Rights Entitlement
in respect of any such CAF.

Rights Entitlement may not be transferred or sold to any person in the United States.



PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND USE OF MARKET DATA

Certain Conventions

All references herein to ‘India’ are to the Republic of India and its territories and possessions and the
‘Government’ or ‘Gol’ or the ‘Central Government’ or the ‘State Government’ are to the Government of India,
Central or State, as applicable. Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, all references in this
Letter of Offer to the ‘US’ or ‘U.S.” or the ‘United States’ are to the United States of America and its territories
and possessions.

In this Letter of Offer, references to the singular also refer to the plural and one gender also refers to any other
gender, wherever applicable.

Financial Data

Unless the context otherwise requires, our financial data in this Letter of Offer is derived from the Restated
Financial Information of our Company and its Subsidiary which have been prepared in accordance with Indian
GAAP, applicable standards and guidance notes specified by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India,
applicable accounting standards prescribed by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, Companies Act, as
applicable and other applicable statutory and / or regulatory requirements and restated in accordance with the
SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Our fiscal year commences on April 1 of each calendar year and ends on March 31 of the following calendar year,
so all references to a particular “fiscal year” or “Fiscal” are to the 12-month period ended on March 31 of that
year.

Indian GAAP differs in certain significant respects from IFRS. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Indian
accounting practices on the financial disclosures based on the Indian GAAP financials presented in this Letter of
Offer should accordingly be limited. We have not attempted to explain those differences or quantify their impact
on the financial data included herein, and we urge you to consult your own advisors regarding such differences
and their impact on our financial data.

Further, with effect from April 1, 2019, we are required to prepare our financial statements in accordance with
Ind AS. Given that Ind AS is different in many respects from Indian GAAP under which our financial statements
are currently prepared, our financial statements for the period commencing from April 1, 2019 may not be
comparable to our historical financial statements. For details in connection with risks involving differences
between Indian GAAP and other accounting principles and accounting standards and risks in relation to Ind AS,
please see “Risk Factors — Changes in the accounting standards used in the reporting of our financial statements
due to new pronouncements, interpretations, migration to new standards or our own decision to change
accounting policies may significantly affect our financial statements for the future years, and may materially and
adversely affect our financial results, financial condition or Shareholders’ equity. ”, on page 22.

Certain figures contained in this Letter of Offer, including financial information, have been subject to rounding
adjustments. All decimals have been rounded off to two decimal places. In certain instances, (i) the sum or
percentage change of such numbers may not conform exactly to the total figure given; and (ii) the sum of the
numbers in a column or row in certain tables may not conform exactly to the total figure given for that column or
row. Unless otherwise specified, all financial numbers in parenthesis represent negative figures.

Market and Industry Data

Unless stated otherwise, industry and market data used in this Letter of Offer have been obtained or derived from
publicly available information as well as industry publications and sources. Industry publications generally state
that the information contained in those publications has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable but
that their accuracy and completeness are not guaranteed and their reliability cannot be assured. Accordingly, no
investment decision should be made on the basis of such information. Although we believe that industry data used
in this Letter of Offer is reliable, it has not been independently verified and neither we, nor the Lead Manager nor
any of their affiliates, jointly or severally, make any representation as to its accuracy or completeness. The extent
to which the market and industry data used in this Letter of Offer is meaningful depends on the reader’s familiarity
with and understanding of the methodologies used in compiling such data. There are no standard data gathering
methodologies in the industry in which we conduct our business, and methodologies and assumptions may vary
widely among different industry sources. Such data involves risks, uncertainties and numerous assumptions and



is subject to change based on various factors, including those disclosed in the section “Risk Factors” on page 12.
For further details, see “Risk Factors — Statistical and industry data in this Letter of Offer may be inaccurate,

incomplete or unreliable.” on page 23.

Currency of Presentation

All references to ‘INR’, ‘¥, ‘Indian Rupees’, ‘Rs.” and ‘Rupees’ are to the legal currency of India.

In this Letter of Offer, our Company has presented certain numerical information in “million” units. One million
represents 10,00,000, one billion represents 1,00,00,00,000 and one trillion represents 10,00,00,00,00,000.

Exchange Rate

The following table provides information with respect to the exchange rate for the Indian rupee per US$1.00. The
exchange rates are based on the reference rates released by the Reserve Bank of India, which is available on the
website of RBI. No representation is made that any Rupee amounts could have been, or could be, converted into
U.S. dollars at any particular rate, the rates stated below, or at all.

(in%)
Ason Ason Ason Ason Ason
Currency March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
1 US$* 69.17 65.04 64.84 66.33 62.59

*Source: RBI reference rate at the end of the period (www.rbi.org.in) In case March 31 of any of the respective years is a

public holiday, the previous working day has been considered.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Letter of Offer that are not statements of historical fact constitute ‘forward-
looking statements’. Investors can generally identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as
‘anticipate’, ‘believe’, ‘continue’, ‘can’, ‘could’, ‘intend’, ‘may’, ‘shall’ ‘should’, ‘will’, ‘would’, ‘future’,
‘forecast’, ‘guideline’ or other words or phrases of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe the
strategies, objectives, plans or goals of our Company are also forward-looking statements. However, these are not
the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of
performance and are based on certain assumptions, future expectations, describe plans and strategies contain
projections of results of operations or of financial condition or state other forward-looking information.

Forward-looking statements contained in this Letter of Offer (whether made by our Company or any third party),
are predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that may cause
the actual results, performance or achievements of our Company to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements or other projections.
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our Company’s expectations include,
among others:

Legal proceedings determined against us;

Significant competition in our businesses;

Information technology and failure of, or inadequacies of our IT systems;
Operational risks associated with the financial services industry;

Receipt of statutory and regulatory approvals; and

Accuracy and completeness of information about clients and counterparties.

Additional factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially include, but
are not limited to, those discussed in “Risk Factors” on page 12. Whilst we believe that the expectations reflected
in such forward-looking statements are reasonable at this time, we cannot assure investors that such expectations
will prove to be correct. Given these uncertainties, Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements. In any event, these statements speak only as of the date of this Letter of Offer or the
respective dates indicated in this Letter of Offer, and our Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise
any of them, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. If any of these risks and
uncertainties materialise, or if any of our Company’s underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, the actual
results of operations or financial condition of our Company could differ materially from that described herein as
anticipated, believed, estimated or expected. All subsequent forward-looking statements attributable to our
Company are expressly qualified in their entirety by reference to these cautionary statements.
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SECTION Il - RISK FACTORS

An investment in Equity Shares involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider all the information
in this Letter of Offer, including the risks and uncertainties described below, before making an investment in the
Equity Shares. The risks described below are not the only ones relevant to the country, the industry in which our
Company operates in India, our Company or our Equity Shares. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently
known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition. If any of the following risks, or other risks that are not currently
known or are deemed immaterial, actually occur, our business, results of operations and financial condition could
suffer, the trading price of our Equity Shares could decline and you may lose all or part of your investment.
Prospective investors should consult their tax, financial and legal advisors about the particular consequences of
an investment in this Issue.

Unless otherwise stated in the relevant risk factors set forth below, we are not in a position to specify or quantify
the financial or other implications of any of the risks mentioned herein. In making an investment decision,
prospective investors must rely on their own examination of our Company and the terms of the Issue, including
merits and risks involved.

This Letter of Offer also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain
factors, including considerations described below and in “Forward Looking Statements” on page 11. To obtain
a better understanding of our business, you should read this section in conjunction with other sections of this
Letter of Offer, including “Our Business”, “Industry Overview”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Financial Information” on pages 92, 81, 226 and 149,
respectively, together with all other financial information contained in this Letter of Offer. Unless otherwise
stated, the financial data in this section is derived from and should be read in conjunction with our Restated
Financial Information prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP and restated in accordance with the SEBI ICDR
Regulations.

INTERNAL RISK FACTORS

1. There are outstanding legal proceedings against our Promoters and Group Companies, if determined,
could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial conditions.

There are certain outstanding legal proceedings against our Promoters and Group Companies pending at
various levels of adjudication before courts, tribunals, authorities and appellate bodies. There can be no
assurance that these legal proceeding will be decided in favour of our Promoters and Group Companies.
Decisions in any of such proceedings adverse to our interests may have a material adverse effect on our
business, future financial performance and results of operations. If the courts or tribunals rule against our
Promoters and Group Companies, we may face monetary and/ or reputational losses. Furthermore, we may
also not be able to quantify all the claims in which our Promoters and Group Companies are involved.

One of our Group Companies, IIFL Commodities Limited (“IICL") has vide SEBI’s order dated February
22, 2019 (“Order™), been declared as a “not a fit and proper person” to hold directly or indirectly, the
certificate of registration as a commodity derivatives broker and has rejected an application dated December
23, 2015 filed by 1ICL for registration as commodity derivatives broker. IICL has preferred an appeal against
the said Order before Securities Appellate Tribunal on April 11, 2019. For further information, see
“QOutstanding Litigations and Material Developments— IIFL Commaodities Limited” on page 254.

A classification of these legal and other proceedings is given in the following table:

Sr. Outstanding Litigations Number of Amount involve.d.in the rrjatte'rs', to
No. matters the extent quantifiable (X in million)
1. Filed against our Promoters
a. Civil 2 281.95
b. Criminal 9 NA
2. Filed by our Group Companies
a. Civil 58 6,084.99
b. Criminal 30,662 10,806.41
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Sr. Outstanding Litigations Number of Amount involve.d.in the rr?atte.rs., to
No. matters the extent quantifiable (X in million)
3. Filed against our Group Companies
a. Civil 40 2,714.35 plus EURO 26.53 million
b. Criminal 21 104.80
c. Statutory and Regulatory Actions 8 0.76
d. Tax
Direct Tax 22 818.57
Indirect Tax 7 964.58

For details of litigations outstanding as on the date of this Letter of Offer, see “Outstanding Litigations and
Material Developments” on page 247.

We face significant competition in our businesses, which may limit our growth and prospects.

The Indian financial services industry is fragmented and typified by low barriers to entry. Most of our
competitors have a broader range of products and services, greater financial and marketing resources, larger
customer bases, greater name recognition, more senior professionals to serve their clients’ needs and more
established relationships with clients than we have. These larger and better capitalized competitors may be
better able to respond to changes in the industry we operate, in to compete for skilled professionals, to fund
internal growth, to withstand adverse market conditions and to compete for market share generally.

We compete with, amongst others, Indian and foreign brokerage houses, discount brokerage companies,
public and private sector commercial banks, and asset managers. Our top five competitors are: (i) Zerodha
Capital Private Limited (Zerodha.com); (ii) RKSV Securities India Private Limited (Upstock); (iii) Samco
Securities Limited (Samco); (iv) ICICI Securities Limited; and (v) Sharekhan Limited. We compete on the
basis of a number of factors, including execution, depth of product and service offerings, innovation,
reputation, price and convenience. Our business, financial condition, cash flows, results of operations and
prospects may be materially and adversely affected if we are not able to maintain our market position,
sustain our growth, develop new products or target new markets.

Further, we extensively use technology in our business. In recent times, the Indian financial services industry
is undergoing rapid and significant technological and other changes. Our competitors could utilise
technology, big data and innovation to simplify and improve the client experience, increase efficiencies,
redesign products, improve client targeting, alter business models more effectively than or to effect
disruptive changes in the Indian financial services industry. If we do not anticipate, innovate, keep pace
with, and adapt to, technological and other changes impacting the Indian financial services industry, it could
harm our ability to compete in the market, decrease the attractiveness of our products to clients and
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The operation of our businesses is highly dependent on information technology and we are subject to risks
arising from any failure of, or inadequacies in, our IT systems.

Our operations rely heavily on the effectiveness of our IT systems and their ability to record and process
accurately a large number of transactions on a daily basis and in a timely manner. We carry out periodic
capacity checks for IT systems to ensure required resources are delivered seamlessly for all business
requirements. Our overall IT setup is also highly scalable to meet urgent demands if required during any
market situation since the setups are hosted on public & private cloud which has adequate resources capacity
in the backend. Our systems are monitored 24/7 and automated monitoring tools are in place for any alerts.

Amongst other security measures to control security & cyber risks, our data center perimeter is secured with
firewall from internet, internet access is restricted through secure web gateway, periodic IT and security
audits are carried out by Internal and external auditor, end point security controls are implemented such as
next generation endpoint antivirus with Advanced Threat Protection, USB access and admin access in desktop
and laptops are controlled.

A prolonged disruption of, or failure of, our information processing or communications systems would limit

our ability to process transactions. This would impair our ability to service our clients and execute trades on
behalf of clients, which could materially and adversely affect our competitiveness, financial condition, cash
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flows and results of operations.

Our system for processing securities transactions is automated and we rely heavily on the ability of our trading
system to handle a large number of transactions. While we regularly monitor and upgrade the capacity of our
trading system, in anticipation of high volumes of transactions, we cannot assure you that we will be able to
process all trading orders at a time of increased demand, including due to increased market volatility. If we
are unable to efficiently process all trading orders received, we may lose clients, become subject to client
complaints, litigation or regulatory action, face financial losses and this may adversely affect our reputation.

Although we back up our business data regularly and our infrastructure is on cloud, we may not currently
have an adequate disaster recovery system. We cannot assure you that there will not be an unforeseen
circumstance or that our disaster recovery planning is adequate for all eventualities.

The financial services industry is characterized by rapidly changing technology and the future success of our
business will depend in part on our ability to effectively adapt to technological advances and to emerging
industry standards and practices on a cost-effective basis. We rely heavily on technology and rely on our
electronic brokerage platform and mobile app to provide a wide range of brokerage and distribution services.
If we are unable to keep up with technological changes while our competitors invest in improved or better
technologies, they may be able to offer clients better products and user experience. If we are unable to
effectively compete on IT-enabled offerings, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, cash flows, results of operations and prospects.

Our technology operations are also vulnerable to disruptions from human error, catastrophic events including
natural disasters, lack of capacity during peak trading times or times of unusual market volatility, power
failure, computer viruses, spam attacks, ransom ware, distributed denial of services attacks, unauthorized
access, data leakage and other similar events. An external information security breach, such as hacker attacks,
frauds, virus or worm infestation of our IT systems, or an internal problem with information protection, such
as failure to control access to sensitive systems, could materially interrupt our business operations or cause
disclosure or modification of sensitive or confidential information. Disruptions to, or instability of, our
technology or external technology, or failure to timely upgrade our online or mobile brokerage platforms
could harm our business, reputation and prospects.

The proper functioning of our internet-based trading system, order routing system, back office systems,
settlement system, risk management system, together with the communications networks linking our 1T
systems with relevant exchanges and client interfaces, is critical to our business and our ability to compete
effectively. Our business activities would be materially disrupted in the event of a partial or complete failure
of any of these IT systems, communication networks or their backup systems and procedures.

There are operational risks associated with the financial services industry which, if materialise, may have
an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows, results of operations and prospects.

We face various operational risks related to our business operations in the financial services industry, such
as:

e human and systems errors, including the confirmation, entry or settlement of transactions;

o failure of technology in our processes, including risk management and settlement processes, causing
errors or disrupting our operations;

o failure to implement sufficient information security, including cyber-security, and controls;

o failure to maintain appropriate deposits with exchanges;

e damage to physical assets;

o failure of our complex automated risk management systems due to incorrect or inadequate algorithms;

e inadequate due diligence in the sales process, including in client verification, non-adherence to anti-
money laundering guidelines, KYC processes and client needs analysis; and
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o failure to comply with other applicable laws, regulations, accounting norms or regulatory policies,
including as a result of the adoption of widely followed market practices.

If any of the foregoing were to occur, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, cash flows, results of operations and prospects.

We have established a system of risk management and internal controls consisting of an organizational risk
management framework, policies, risk management system tools and procedures that we consider to be
appropriate for our business operations, and we have continued to enhance these systems. However, due to
the inherent limitations in the design and implementation of risk management systems, including internal
controls, risk identification and evaluation, effectiveness of risk control and information communication, our
risk management systems and mitigation strategies may not be adequate or effective in identifying or
mitigating our risk exposure in all market environments or against all types of risks in a timely manner, or at
all. Further, we may not be able to completely avoid the occurrence of or timely detect any operational failure.

We also face the risk of regulatory penalties in our brokerage business from the exchanges or regulators for
failures of routine operational processes.

We may not be able to fully appreciate or identify operational risks related to the new products, services or
solutions introduced by us from time to time. Accordingly, any risk management measures or controls
implemented by us for such new products, services or solutions may not be adequate and we may be subject
to liabilities arising therefrom. Further, any failure to change our risk management measures and controls to
our developing business in a timely manner could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, cash flows, results of operations and prospects.

The objects for which we propose to utilize Net Issue proceeds are not appraised by any Bank or Financial
Institution and our management will have flexibility in applying the issue proceeds.

The fund requirements and deployment are based on internal estimates of our management and have not been
appraised by any Bank or Financial Institution. Shareholders/investors shall rely on management’s ability
and experience to draw correct estimates considering the proposed business expansion. Non appraisal of
estimates by external agencies such as Banks or Financial Institutions makes such estimates susceptible to
change any time in future.

We intend to use the Issue proceeds in the manner as described in the section titled “Objects of the Issue” on
page 69. We cannot assure you that the issue proceeds will be utilized in conformity with the cost or schedule
of implementation as described under the said chapter. It is possible that utilization of issue proceeds may
vary due to factors that may be beyond our control including factors that we do not currently foresee. We
may have to revise our estimates from time to time on account of changes in planned spending and the
initiatives which we may pursue. Our funding requirements for the objects and deployment schedule are
based on current conditions and are subject to change in light of external factors which may not be in our
control. This may also include rescheduling the proposed utilization of issue proceeds at the discretion of our
management. Our Company may make necessary changes to such utilization in conformity with the
provisions of the Companies Act and SEBI ICDR Regulations in relation to the change in the objects of the
issue. Accordingly, shareholders /investors in the offer will need to rely on our management’s judgment with
respect to the use of proceeds. If we are unable to enter into arrangements for utilization of issue proceeds as
expected in a timely manner, we may not be able to derive expected benefits from the proceeds of the issue
and our business and financial results may suffer. As per SEBI Regulations we are required to appoint a
Monitoring Agency for the Issue which will monitor the utilization of Issue proceeds.

We require certain statutory and regulatory approvals for conducting our business and our failure to
obtain, retain or renew them in a timely manner, or at all, may adversely affect our operations

Our business requires us to obtain and renew from time to time, certain approvals, licenses, registrations and
permits. In addition, we require certain approvals, licenses, registrations and permissions under various
regulations, guidelines, circulars and statutes regulated by authorities such as the SEBI, the Stock Exchanges
and certain other regulatory and government authorities, for operating our business. In particular, we are
required to obtain a certificate of registration for carrying on certain of our business activities from SEBI and
other such regulatory authorities. Government and regulatory licences and approvals may also be tied to
conditions, some of which may be onerous to us and require substantial expenditures. There is no assurance
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in the future that the licences, approvals and permits applied for or held by us will be issued, approved or
renewed in a prompt manner, or at all, under applicable law. Our failure to renew or obtain such licences and
approvals in a timely manner, or at all, and comply with the provisions of the applicable laws and regulations
could lead to suspension or cancellation of our registration or imposition of sanctions by the relevant
authorities, including penalties. Our Company has applied for registration with SEBI as an Investment
Advisor and our subsidiary, 5paisa Insurance Brokers Limited, has applied for registration with Insurance
Regulatory and Development Authority of India. Both the applications are pending for approval.

If we are unable to make applications and renew or obtain necessary permits, licences and approvals on
applicable terms, in a timely manner, at a reasonable cost, or at all, it could materially and adversely affect
our financial condition and results of operations. For further details, see “Government and Other Approvals”
on page 271.

We depend on the accuracy and completeness of information about clients and counterparties for our
business. Any misrepresentation, errors in or incompleteness of such information could adversely affect
our business and financial performance.

We significantly rely on information furnished to us by, or on behalf of, our clients (including in relation to
their financial transactions and past credit history) for various aspects of our business operations, such as new
client enrolment and servicing our clients. We may also rely on certain representations from our clients as to
the accuracy and completeness of the information provided by them. We may receive inaccurate or
incomplete information as a result of negligence or fraudulent misrepresentation. Our risk management
measures may not be adequate to prevent such activities or detect inaccuracies in such information in a timely
manner, or at all, which may expose us to regulatory action or other risks, and may adversely affect our
reputation, business prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

The success of our business depends on our ability to attract and retain senior management and employees
in critical roles, and the loss of their services could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, cash flows, results of operations and prospects.

The success of our business depends on the continued service of our senior management and various
professionals including information technology resources, relationship and finance professionals etc. As a
result of ever-increasing market competition, the market demand and competition for experienced
management personnel and qualified professionals has intensified. We encounter intense competition for
qualified professionals from other companies in the financial services sector. Our Company invests
significant time and money in training the professionals that are hired to perform the services provided to our
customers. Our Company believes that there is also a significant competition in our industry among
employers to attract these professionals with the skills necessary to perform the services we offer. The
departure or other loss of our key professionals who manage substantial client relationships or who possess
substantial experience and expertise could impair our ability to successfully carry out our operations. Our
business and financial condition could suffer if we are unable to retain our senior management, or other high-
quality personnel, including finance, internal controls and information technology, or cannot adequately and
timely replace them upon their departure.

Moreover, we may be required to substantially increase the number of our professionals and specialists in
connection with any future growth plans, and we may face difficulties in doing so due to the competition in
the financial services industry for such personnel. Our failure to attract, hire, retain or replace competent
personnel could materially impair our ability to implement any plan for growth and expansion. Competition
for quality employees among business institutions may also require us to increase compensation, which would
increase operating costs and reduce our profitability.

Our insurance coverage could prove inadequate to cover our losses. If we were to incur a serious uninsured
loss or a loss that significantly exceed the limits of our insurance policies, it could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We have stock brokers indemnity insurance and directors and officer’s liability insurance. We also maintain
a group health insurance policy and a term life insurance plan. We maintain insurance coverage of the type
and in the amounts that we believe are commensurate with our business operations. Our insurance policies,
however, may not provide adequate coverage in certain circumstances and may be subject to certain
deductibles, exclusions and limits on coverage. In addition, there are various types of risks and losses for
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10.

11.

12.

which we do not maintain insurance because they are either uninsurable or because insurance is not available
to us on acceptable terms. We have not taken any insurance coverage on our fixed assets (comprising of
tangible fixed assets, intangible fixed assets and capital WIP). We cannot assure you that our current
insurance policies will insure us fully against all risks and losses that may arise in the future. In addition, even
if such losses are insured, we may be required to pay a significant deductible on any claim for recovery of
such a loss, or the amount of the loss may exceed our coverage for the loss. In addition, our insurance policies
are subject to annual review, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to renew these policies on similar
or otherwise acceptable terms, if at all. If we were to incur a serious uninsured loss or a loss that significantly
exceeds the limits of our insurance policies, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, cash flows, results of operations and prospects.

All of our offices including our Registered and Corporate Offices, are held by us on lease or leave and
license.

Our Registered and Corporate Offices at Thane and our offices at Ahmedabad are not owned by us but are
leased to us by our Group Companies IIFL Facilities Services Limited and IIFL Holdings Limited,
respectively. In addition, we do not own our offices at Bengaluru from where we conduct our business
operations and is leased to us by certain third parties. Upon expiration of the term of the relevant agreement
for each such premise, we will be required to negotiate the terms and conditions on which the lease agreement
may be renewed. We cannot assure you that we will be able to renew these agreements on commercially
reasonable terms in a timely manner, or at all. Termination of our leases may occur for reasons beyond our
control, such as breaches of lease agreements by the lessors’ of our premises which is detrimental to our
operations. If we or our current or future lessors’ breach the lease agreements, we may have to relocate to
alternative premises or shut down our operations at that site.

Further, some of our lease deeds for our properties may not be registered and further some of our lease deeds
may not be adequately stamped and consequently, may not be accepted as evidence in a court of law and we
may be required to pay penalties for inadequate stamp duty. Further, we may not be able to assess or identify
all risks and liabilities associated with any properties, such as faulty or disputed title, unregistered
encumbrances or adverse possession rights, improperly executed, unregistered or insufficiently stamped
instruments, or other defects that we may not be aware of.

In the event that these existing leases are terminated, or they are not renewed on commercially acceptable
terms or at all, we may suffer a disruption in our operations. If alternative premises are not available at the
same or similar costs, size or locations, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be
adversely affected.

If research disseminated or advice provided by us contains errors, this could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our retail research team provides services to our retail clients across various sectors. Although due care and
caution is taken in issuing research recommendations, the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of such
information, which is based on information obtained from sources that we consider reliable, is not guaranteed.
Errors or omissions in the information or for the results obtained from the use of such information may cause
our research findings to be incorrect. Further, certain industry and market data may be subject to assumptions,
and methodologies for assumptions vary widely among different data sources. Additionally, such
assumptions may change due to various factors which are beyond our control. Accordingly, there is no
assurance that our assumptions, or those relied upon by us, will be accurate or not change, which may affect
the accuracy of our research findings. Incorrect research findings may expose us to client complaints, have a
materially adverse effect on our brokerage and distribution businesses, and may subject us to regulatory action
which may harm our reputation, which could subsequently have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

We could be subject to claims by clients or actions by regulators or both for alleged mis-selling.
We sell some of our third-party distribution products through employees. Our employees aid our clients in

choosing the correct product, by explaining the benefits of such product and disclosing the product features
and advising clients on whether to continue with a particular product or change products.
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Under certain circumstances, the above processes might be considered inadequate or there might be
misconduct on part of our employees. Such misconduct could include activities such as making non-
compliant or fraudulent promises of high returns on investments and recommending inappropriate products
or fund management strategies. Any case of mis-selling, or recurring cases of mis-selling, could result in
claims and fines against us and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash
flows, results of operations and reputation.

Our Company has incurred losses during the last three fiscal years

As set forth below, Our Company has incurred losses during last three Fiscals (as per the Restated Financial
Information):

(Tin million)
Standalone Consolidated
Particulars As on March 31, As on March As on March I\'?I‘Zl?cnh As on March
2019 31,2018 31, 2017 31,2018
31, 2019

Profit/(Loss) before
interest, depreciation (142.15) (317.48) (148.51) | (142.47) (317.48)
and taxation
Profit/(Loss) before tax (224.84) (332.10) (163.80) (225.17) (332.10)
{;I]eet ﬁer;flt/ (Loss) for (165.70) (252.99) (116.90) | (166.02) (252.99)

Our Company has experienced certain negative cash flows from its operating, financing and investing
activities in the previous Fiscals. Sustained negative cash flow in future could affect our growth and results

of operations

Our Company has experienced negative cash flows, any further negative cash flows, if any in future could
adversely affect our company’s results of operation and financial condition. The details of historic negative
cash flows are summarized below:

(Tin million)
Particulars (Consolidated) Year Ended March 31, 2019
Cash Flow from Operating Activities 903.69
Cash Flow from Investing Activities (387.75)
(Tin million)
Year Ended | Year Ended
. Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
Particulars (Standalone) March 31, 2019 | March 31, 2018 | March 31, 2017 March 31, March 31,
2016 2015
ias_h Flow from Operating 905.20 (507.20) (210.63) (147.02) 164.01
ctivities
Cash Flow from Investing
Activities (389.43) (68.58) 19.81 212.64 (125.73)
Cash Flow from Financing
Activities (64.91) (6.23) 868.75 (18.05) (22.95)

For further details please see the section titled “Financial Information” on page 149.
Some of our group companies have incurred losses during the last three fiscal years

As set forth below, some of our Group Companies have incurred losses during last three fiscal years (as per
their respective audited financial statements):

(Zin million)
Profit/(Loss)**
el Name of the Group Company Financial Financial Financial
Year 2019 Year 2018 Year 2017
1. IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd (IIFL Asia) (0.91) (1.18) (0.75)
2. IIFL Altiore Advisors Private Limited (7.53) (2.12) (1.33)
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Profit/(Loss)**

= b, LG S e Cee LDy Financial Financial Financial

Year 2019 Year 2018 Year 2017
3 IIFL Securities Pte. Ltd. (35.82) 16.29 12.24
4, IIFL Capital Pte. Ltd. (134.27) 11.17 39.01
5. IIFL Wealth Securities IFSC Limited (1.26) NA NA
6 IIFL Inc. 15.90 (18.36) (4.78)
7 IIFL Capital (Canada) Limited 2.97 (2.21) N.A.
8. IIFL Private Wealth Hong Kong Limited (0.28) 1.89 5.08
9. Clara Developers Private Limited (0.01) (0.00)* (0.02)
10. IIFL Management Services Limited 27.68 (16.30) 42.01
11, IIFL Wealth (UK) Limited (9.95) 5.11 1.33
12. IIFL Securities Services IFSC Limited (0.12) N.A. N.A.

Note:

* Loss in Clara Developers Private Limited of (0.00) in the Fiscal 2018 denotes less than a million.
**The figures for FY 2019 are based on Ind-AS and for FY 2018 & FY 2017 are based on IGAAP

Foreign investment in our shares may be restricted due to regulations governing aggregate FPI and NRI
investment in our Company’s paid-up Equity Share capital.

Under the Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer or Issue of Security by a Person Resident Outside India)
Regulations, 2017 (“FEMA 20, 2017”), no single FPI can hold more than 10% of the paid up capital of an
Indian company and the total equity share holding of all FPIs put together in a company is subject to a cap of
24% of the paid up capital of the company. The aggregate limit of 24% can be increased up to the applicable
sectoral cap by passing a resolution by the board of the directors followed by passing a special resolution to
that effect by the shareholders of the company. The investments by NRIs are governed by the Regulation 5(3)
and Regulation 3(4) of the FEMA 20, 2017.

Our Board of Directors and the Shareholders of our Company have on May 10, 2018 and July 17, 2018,
approved increasing the FPI and NRI investment limit to 100% and 24%, respectively, as allowed under
Consolidated FDI Policy. Our Company has informed the designated depository, which monitors the
investment limits of companies, about such increase in limits. The same has been taken on record.

As on June 19, 2019, the aggregate FPI investment in our Company was 18.27% and the NRI (repatriable)
aggregate holding was 3.66%. If we breach the investment limits, restrictions may be imposed on the purchase
of the Company’s Equity Shares by FPIs and NRIs. Further, in the event of a breach, the relevant foreign
investors would have to divest their excess holdings within five trading days from the date of settlement of
the trades by selling shares to only domestic investors. The restrictions on the purchases of the Company’s
Equity Shares and the compulsory divestment, could negatively affect the price of our shares and could limit
the ability of investors to trade our shares in the market.

Pricing and other competitive pressures may impair the revenues and profitability of our brokerage
business

We derive a significant portion of our revenues from our brokerage business. Along with other brokerage
firms, we have experienced intense competition in this business and we expect this trend towards alternative
trading systems to continue. Though we are competitive with our pricing, we may face competition in future
with new entrants coming up with aggressive pricing to capture market share with competitive pricing. In
addition, we face pressure from our larger competitors, who may be better able to offer a broader range of
complementary products and services to brokerage clients in order to win their trading business. We are
unable to ascertain the likely impact of such competitive pressures on our results and operations. If we are
unable to compete effectively with our competitors in these areas, brokerage revenues may decline and our
business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Any failure on our part to implement our business and growth strategies could cause disruptions to our
business and could be detrimental to our long-term business outlook.

The success of our business will depend largely on our ability to effectively implement our business and
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growth strategies. Implementation of our strategies is subject to and involves risks and difficulties which may
be beyond our control and accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will be able to implement them in
a timely manner or at all. Any inability on our part to manage or implement our strategy effectively could
have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial conditions. Further, our growth strategies
could place significant demand on our management team and other resources and would require us to
continuously develop and improve our operational, financial and other controls, none of which can be assured.
Further, we operate in a competitive industry and on account of changes in market conditions, industry
dynamics, technological improvements and any other relevant factors; our strategies may undergo substantial
changes or modifications including limiting or foregoing growth opportunities, if any or we may not be able
to execute our strategies in the future.

Downturns or disruptions in the securities markets could reduce transaction volumes, and could cause a
decline in the business and impact our profitability

As a financial services company, our business is materially affected by conditions in the domestic and global
equity, debt, currency and financial markets and economic conditions in India and throughout the world. Our
revenue, level of operations and, consequently, our profitability are largely dependent on favorable market
conditions, a conducive regulatory and political environment, investor sentiment and other factors that affect
the volume of trading in India and the level of interest in Indian capital markets. A market downturn would
likely lead to a decline in the volume of transactions that we execute for our customers and will result in
decline in our revenues received from our business.

Our growth will depend on our ability to develop our brand and failure to do so will have a negative impact
on our ability to compete in the industry

We believe that we need to continuously build our brand, particularly in our business of financial services.
Promoting and positioning our brand will depend largely on the success of our marketing efforts and our
ability to provide high quality services. Brand promotion activities may not yield increased revenues in the
immediate future but would help establish our brand value and brand recall in the long term. Even if brand
promotion helps in increasing revenue it may not offset the expenses we incur in building our brand. If we
fail to promote and maintain our brand, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to secure adequate financing in future on acceptable terms, in
time or at all

We may require additional funds in connection with future business expansion and development initiatives.
In addition, to our existing available funds, we may require additional source of funding for meeting our
future requirements, which may include entering into new debt facilities with lending institutions or raising
additional debt through capital markets. If we decide to raise funds through incurrence of debt, we will be
subject to certain interest obligations, and we may be subject to covenants which could restrict our ability to
conduct our business and operations in the manner we desire. Such financing could also cause our debt equity
ratio to increase or require us to create charges or liens on our assets in favour of the lenders. We cannot
assure you that we will be able to secure adequate financing in the future on acceptable terms, in time or at
all. Our failure to obtain sufficient financing could result in the delay or abandonment of any of our business
development plans and this may affect our business and future results of operations.

Our Group Companies and members of our Promoter Group are engaged, or are authorized by their
constitutional documents to engage, in business activities which are similar to those undertaken by our
Company and Subsidiary, which may result in conflicts of interest.

Our Group Companies namely IIFL Wealth Management Limited and IIFL Securities Limited, companies
forming part of our Promoter Group, are authorised under their respective memorandums of association to
carry on the business of brokerage services and advisory services. We are providing trading facilities on our
website at www.5paisa.com. and through our mobile application named ‘Spaisa Trading & Robo Advisory’.
Our services are based on a ‘do it yourself” model. As such our business is conflicting with the business of
some of our Group Companies though we have a distinct business model. Presently we do not have any
defined policy to address this conflict of interest. We cannot assure you that our Promoter, Directors, Group
Companies or members of our Promoter Group, will not compete with our existing business or any future
business that we may undertake or that their interests will not conflict with ours. Any such present and future
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conflicts could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business and results of operations.
We are exposed to the risk arising from misconduct, fraud and trading errors by our employees

We are exposed to the risk arising from misconducts or frauds such as indulgence in unauthorized transactions
by employees, misreporting of and non-compliance with various statutory and legal requirements, improper
use of confidential information and operational errors. It may not always be possible to deter employees from
or otherwise prevent misconduct and the precautions we take to detect and prevent these activities may not
always be effective. Any instance of employee misconduct, fraud or improper use or disclosure of confidential
information could result in regulatory and legal proceedings which if unsuccessfully defended, could
materially and adversely affect our business operations, future financial performance and/ or reputation.

We have entered into, and will continue to enter into, related party transactions

We are involved in, and we expect that we will continue to be involved in related party transactions. Certain
related-party transactions also require the approval of our Shareholders in accordance with applicable laws.
There can be no assurance that such transactions will be approved. There can also be no assurance that we
will be able to maintain existing terms, or in case of any future transactions with related parties, that such
transactions will be on terms favourable to us. While we believe that all of our related-party transactions have
been conducted on an arms’ length basis and all such transactions are adequately disclosed in “Related Party
Transactions” on page 147, there can be no assurance that we could not have achieved more favourable terms
had such transactions not been entered into with related parties.

It is also likely that we will enter into related-party transactions in the future. Any future transactions with
our related parties could potentially involve conflicts of interest. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that
such transactions, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, cash flows, results of operations and prospects.

Our Company has not paid any dividend in the past. Our ability to pay dividends in the future will depend
upon future earnings, financial condition, cash flows, working capital requirements, capital expenditures

The amount of our future dividend payments, if any, is subject to the discretion of our Board, our future
earnings, financial condition, cash flows, working capital requirements, capital expenditures and other
factors. There can be no assurance as to whether our Company will pay a dividend in the future and if so the
level of such future dividends.

Our application for registration of trademark of our brand name “Spaisa” and the associated logo S
is pending before the Registrar of Trademarks, Mumbai.

We use the brand name “5paisa” and the associated logo *****in the ordinary course of our business and in
our corporate name. The trademark relating to “Spaisa” and the associated logo is filed by 5paisa with
Registrar of Trademark under class 36. The application for trademark registration is presently pending before
the Registrar of Trademarks, Mumbai. In the event, we do not receive the trademark registration for “5paisa”
and the associated logo, we may not be able to claim any intellectual right protection in relation to the same,
which may materially and adversely affect our reputation, business operations and prospects.

Further, competitors or other companies may challenge the validity or scope of our intellectual property. This
may not provide adequate protection for our intellectual property, particularly, with respect to our name and
logo.

We may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and police our intellectual property rights.
Effective policing of the unauthorized use of our products or intellectual property is difficult and litigation
may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights. Intellectual property litigation is
not only expensive, but time-consuming, regardless of the merits of any claim, and could divert attention of
our management from operating our business and harm our reputation. Despite our efforts, we may not be
able to detect infringement and may lose competitive position in the market. Intellectual property rights may
also be unavailable, unenforceable or limited, which could make it easier for competitors to capture market
share.

21



217.

28.

29.

30.

In addition, we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing our trademarks as imitation products
being sold under our brand and sub-brands. If inferior quality products and services are sold by infringing
our trademarks, then our brand name and reputation could be adversely affected. Further, we may not be
successful in preventing those who have obtained our proprietary information through employment by us or
by our manufacturing partners, from using our processes to produce competing products or leaking our
proprietary information.

We intend to use part of the proceeds of this Issue towards investments in one of our Subsidiaries, which
is yet to commence the business of peer to peer (“P2P”) lending and cannot assure returns pursuant to
such investments.

We intend to utilise a certain portion of the Net Proceeds towards investment in our Subsidiary i.e. 5paisa
P2P Limited. 5paisa P2P Limited is yet to commence business and has just received an in-principle approval
from the RBI and hence we cannot assure returns or any dividends pursuant to such investments. For further
information, see “Objects of the Issue” on page 69.

We rely on the Indian exchanges for a significant portion of our business.

Our brokerage business relies on the Indian exchanges, such as BSE, NSE and the clearing corporation to
execute and settle all our clients’ transactions. Our electronic brokerage platform and our systems for retail
brokerage clients are connected to the exchanges and all orders placed by our clients are fulfilled through the
exchanges. Any disruption in the functioning of the exchanges or a disruption to our connection with the
exchanges could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

To use the services of the exchanges, we are required to be registered as their members. This registration
subjects us to various stock exchange regulations and periodic inspections by such exchanges. We cannot
assure you that we will be able to strictly comply with such regulations or that such inspections would not
find any violations by us. Failure to comply with such regulations could lead to fines, penalties, suspension
of our registrations, and in extreme circumstances, termination of our registration. If our registration with the
exchanges is terminated, we will be unable to provide brokerage services, which will have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, our business operations are
subject to regulatory limits on brokerage fee rates and net worth requirements imposed by exchanges.

Security breaches of customers’ confidential information that we store may harm our reputation and
expose us to liability.

We store customers’ bank information, credit information and other sensitive data. Any accidental or wilful
security breaches or other unauthorized access could cause theft and criminal use of this data. Security
breaches or unauthorized access to confidential information could also expose us to liability related to the
loss of the information, time-consuming and expensive litigation and negative publicity. If security measures
are breached because of third party action, employee error, malfeasance or otherwise, or if design flaws in
our software are exposed and exploited, and, as a result, a third party obtains unauthorized access to customer
data, our relationships with customers will be severely damaged, and we could incur significant liability.

Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and
generally are not recognized until they are launched against a target, we and our third-party hosting facilities
may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. In addition,
we may be required under applicable regulations to notify individuals of data security breaches involving
their personal data. These mandatory disclosures regarding a security breach are costly to implement and
often lead to widespread negative publicity, which may cause customers to lose confidence in the
effectiveness of our data security measures. Any security breach, whether actual or perceived, would harm
our reputation, and result in lost customers, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Changes in the accounting standards used in the reporting of our financial statements due to new
pronouncements, interpretations, migration to new standards or our own decision to change accounting
policies may significantly affect our financial statements for the future years, and may materially and

adversely affect our financial results, financial condition or Shareholders’ equity.

The financial statements included in this Letter of Offer are based on our standalone and consolidated audited
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financial statements which are prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP and restated in accordance with the
SEBI ICDR Regulations. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Indian accounting practices on the
financial disclosures presented in this Letter of Offer should accordingly be limited.

Further, our Company will be required to prepare financial statements under Ind AS from April 1, 2019. The
transition to Ind AS in India is a recent requirement and the impact of these changes to our historical financial
statements prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP is currently unclear and cannot be quantified. We
cannot assure you that our financial condition, results of operation and cash flow will not be presented
differently under Ind AS than under Indian GAAP. Further, when we adopt Ind AS reporting, we may
encounter difficulties in the ongoing process of implementing and enhancing our management information
systems. For further details, see “Statement of Significant Differences Between Indian GAAP and Ind AS” on
page 239.

It is possible that in the future, changes to accounting standards or any other regulations governing us could
change the current accounting treatment being followed by us. This may have a significant impact on
presentation of our financial results and may result in volatility in the financial condition or Shareholders’
equity of our Company. In any such event, our profit or loss for the preceding years might not be strictly
comparable with the profit or loss for the period for which such accounting policy changes are being made.

Statistical and industry data in this Letter of Offer may be inaccurate, incomplete or unreliable.

We have not independently verified data obtained from industry publications and other external sources
referred to in this Letter of Offer and therefore, while we believe them to be accurate, complete and reliable,
we cannot assure you that they are accurate, complete or reliable. Such data may also be produced on different
bases. Therefore, discussions of matters relating to India, its economy, the financial services industry, are
subject to the caveat that the statistical and other data upon which such discussions are based may be
inaccurate, incomplete or unreliable. Industry publications generally state that the information contained in
those publications has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but their accuracy, adequacy or
completeness and underlying assumptions are not guaranteed, and their reliability cannot be assured. Industry
and government sources and publications are also prepared on the basis of information as of specific dates
and may no longer be current or reflect current trends. Industry and government sources and publications
may also base their information on estimates, forecasts and assumptions that may prove to be incorrect.
Accordingly, no investment decision should be made on the basis of such information.

We may fail to detect money laundering and other illegal or improper activities in our business operations
on a timely basis, which may have an adverse effect on our reputation, business operations, financial
condition and results of operation.

We are required to comply with applicable anti-money laundering laws and regulations. These laws and
regulations require financial institutions to establish sound internal control policies and procedures with
respect to anti-money laundering monitoring and reporting activities. Such policies and procedures require
us to, among other things, establish or designate an anti-money laundering framework, conduct client
identification in accordance with relevant rules, duly preserve client identity information and transaction
records and report suspicious transactions to relevant authorities. Since, we handle large volumes of monetary
transactions for a significant number of clients, the policies and procedures implemented by us for detecting
and preventing the use of our brokerage platforms to facilitate money laundering activities may not
comprehensively detect or eliminate instances of money laundering.

We are also required to implement effective surveillance controls and measures for ensuring that our
electronic brokerage platform is not misused by our clients, sub-brokers, personnel at our dedicated dealer
helpdesks or market participants to carry out manipulative trading activities. Failure of the surveillance
control and measures implemented by us to detect illegal or improper activities undertaken through our
platforms in a timely manner, or at all, could lead regulatory to actions against us and harm our reputation.

If the controls and measures implemented for detecting or eliminating money laundering or other improper
or illegal trading activities are considered inadequate under applicable laws and regulations by any regulatory,
governmental or judicial authority, we may be subject to penal action, freezing or attachment of our assets,
imposition of fines, or both. We cannot assure you that our controls and measures implemented by us are
adequate to detect or eliminate every instance of money laundering or illegal trading activities in a timely
manner or at all. Any such lapse may adversely affect our reputation, business operations, financial condition
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and results of operations.

Our business and reputation could suffer if any parties use or attempt to use us for money-laundering or illegal
or improper purposes and such attempts are not detected or reported to the appropriate authorities in
compliance with applicable regulatory requirements.

We may extend credit to customers of our brokerage business for dealing in securities and any default by
a customer coupled with a downturn in the market could result in substantial losses.

Under our Company’s standard terms of business relating to our Company’s securities brokerage business,
customers engaged in trading activity are required to have cleared funds or securities deposited with us before
any trading activity can commence. We may allow our Company’s customers to trade in excess of the value
of the cash and/ or securities deposited with our Company. Consequently, when there are insufficient funds
in a client account on the settlement date, our Company may extend credit to such customer for securities and
the customer is charged interest rates on the amount of credit extended. As such, our Company may be
exposed to liquidity risks and require short-term funding to meet trade commitments of our customers.

In the event of a volatile market or adverse movements in securities or commodities prices, it is possible that
customers may not be able to honour their commitments, which may result in losses that they may not be able
to support. Although our Company uses a technology-based risk management system which is capable of
identifying such probable losses and liquidating the positions to avoid losses to company. We also follow
internal risk management guidelines on procedures but no assurance can be given that if the financial markets
witnessed a significant single-day or general downturn, our Company’s business, financial condition and
results of operations would not be materially adversely affected.

Grants of stock options under our proposed employee stock option plan may result in a charge to our profit
and loss account and, to that extent, adversely affect our results of operations and prospects.

We propose to issue stock options under the ESOP Schemes, subject to approval of the scheme by our
Shareholders. The grant of employee stock options results in a charge to our Company’s profit and loss
account equal to the difference between the fair value of our Equity Shares determined at the date of grant
and the exercise price (which will amortize over the vesting period of these stock options). In addition to the
effect on the profit and loss account, the exercise of vested stock options will dilute the interests of
shareholders (as in the case of any issuance of Equity Shares). For further information on ESOP Schemes,
see “Capital Structure — Employee Stock Options” and “Financial Information” on pages 54 and 149,
respectively.

EXTERNAL RISK FACTORS

35.

Our business is substantially exposed to prevailing economic, political and other prevailing conditions in
India

Our Company is incorporated in India, and our assets and employees are located in India. As a result, we are
highly dependent on prevailing economic and political conditions in India and our results of operations are
significantly affected by factors influencing the Indian economy. Factors that may adversely affect the Indian
economy, and hence our results of operations, may include:

e any increase in Indian interest rates or inflation;

e any exchange rate fluctuations;

any scarcity of credit or other financing in India, resulting in an adverse impact on economic conditions
in India and scarcity of financing of our developments and expansions;

prevailing income conditions among Indian consumers and Indian corporations;

volatility in, and actual or perceived trends in trading activity on, India’s principal stock exchanges;
changes in India’s tax, trade, fiscal or monetary policies;

political instability, terrorism or military conflict in India or in countries in the region or globally,
including in India’s various neighbouring countries;

occurrence of natural or man-made disasters;

e prevailing regional or global economic conditions, including in India’s principal export markets; and

o other significant regulatory or economic developments in or affecting India or its financial sector.
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Any slowdown or perceived slowdown in the Indian economy, or in specific sectors of the Indian economy,
could adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition and the price of the Equity
Shares.

We may be affected by competition law in India and any adverse application or interpretation of the
Competition Act could adversely affect our business.

The Competition Act was enacted for the purpose of preventing practices that have or are likely to have an
adverse effect on competition in India and has mandated the Competition Commission of India to prevent
such practices. Under the Competition Act, any arrangement, understanding or action, whether formal or
informal, which causes or is likely to cause an appreciable adverse effect on competition is void and attracts
substantial penalties.

Further, any agreement among competitors which, directly or indirectly, involves determination of purchase
or sale prices, limits or controls production, or shares the market by way of geographical area or number of
subscribers in the relevant market is presumed to have an appreciable adverse effect in the relevant market in
India and shall be void. The Competition Act also prohibits abuse of a dominant position by any enterprise.
On March 4, 2011, the Indian central government notified and brought into force the combination regulation
(merger control) provisions under the Competition Act with effect from June 1, 2011. These provisions
require acquisitions of shares, voting rights, assets or control or mergers or amalgamations that cross the
prescribed asset-based and turnover-based thresholds to be mandatorily notified to, and pre-approved by, the
CCI. Additionally, on May 11, 2011, the CCI issued the Competition Commission of India (Procedure for
Transaction of Business Relating to Combinations) Regulations, 2011, as amended, which sets out the
mechanism for implementation of the merger control regime in India.

The Competition Act aims to, among other things, prohibit all agreements and transactions which may have
an appreciable adverse effect in India. Consequently, all agreements entered into by us could be within the
purview of the Competition Act. Further, the CCI has extra-territorial powers and can investigate any
agreements, abusive conduct or combination occurring outside of India if such agreement, conduct or
combination has an appreciable adverse effect in India. However, the impact of the provisions of the
Competition Act on the agreements entered into by us cannot be predicted with certainty at this stage. We are
not currently party to any outstanding proceedings, nor have we received notice in relation to non-compliance
with the Competition Act or the agreements entered into by us. However, if we are affected, directly or
indirectly, by the application or interpretation of any provision of the Competition Act, or any enforcement
proceedings initiated by the CCI, or any adverse publicity that may be generated due to scrutiny or
prosecution by the CCI or if any prohibition or substantial penalties are levied under the Competition Act, it
would adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows, results of operations and prospects.

Financial instability in Indian financial markets could adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition

The Indian financial market and the Indian economy are influenced by economic and market conditions in
other countries. Although economic conditions are different in each country, investors’ reactions to
developments in one country can have adverse effects on the securities of companies in other countries. A
loss in investor confidence in the financial systems of other markets may increase volatility in Indian financial
markets and, indirectly, in the Indian economy in general.

Any downgrade of credit ratings of India or Indian companies by an international rating agency could
have a negative impact on our business and could materially affect our future performance and the trading
price of our Equity Shares

Any adverse revisions to India’s credit ratings for domestic and international debt by international rating
agencies may adversely impact our ability to raise additional financing, and the interest rates and other
commercial terms at which such additional financing may be available. This could have an adverse effect on
our business and future financial performance, our ability to obtain financing for capital expenditures and the
trading price of our Equity Shares.

If there is any change in tax laws or regulations, or their interpretation, such changes may significantly

affect our financial statements for the current and future years, which may have a material adverse effect
on our financial position, business and results of operations.

25



40.

Any change in Indian tax laws, including the upward revision to the currently applicable normal corporate
tax rate of 30.00% along with applicable surcharge and cess, could affect our tax burden. Other benefits such
as exemption for income earned by way of dividend from investments in other domestic companies and units
of mutual funds, exemption for interest received in respect of tax-free bonds, if withdrawn by the statute in
the future, may no longer be available to us. Any adverse order passed by the appellate authorities, tribunals
or courts would have an impact on our profitability.

For instance, as of July 1, 2017, GST in India replaced taxes levied by central and state governments with a
unified tax regime in respect of certain goods and services for all of India. However, given the recent
introduction of the GST in India, there is no established practice regarding the implementation of, and
compliance with, GST. Our business and financial performance could be adversely affected by any
unexpected or onerous requirements or regulations resulting from the introduction of GST or any changes in
laws or interpretation of existing laws, or the promulgation of new laws, rules and regulations relating to
GST, as it is implemented.

Further, as GST is implemented, there can be no assurance that we will not be required to comply with
additional procedures and/or obtain additional approvals and licenses from the Government and other
regulatory bodies or that they will not impose onerous requirements and conditions on our operations. Any
such changes and the related uncertainties with respect to the implementation of GST may have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Government has enacted the GAAR which have come into effect from April 1, 2017. The tax
consequences of the GAAR provisions being applied to an arrangement could result in denial of tax benefit
amongst other consequences. In the absence of any precedents on the subject, the application of these
provisions is uncertain. If the GAAR provisions are made applicable to our Company, it may have an adverse
tax impact on us.

Further, the Government has announced the union budget for the Fiscal 2020 and the Finance Act, 2019 has
been passed by the Parliament which has proposed various amendments.

We cannot predict whether any tax laws or regulations impacting our products will be enacted, what the
nature and impact of the specific terms of any such laws or regulations will be or whether, if at all, any laws
or regulations would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

The securities investment business in India may be adversely affected by changes in the present favourable
tax regime

Under current Indian tax laws, unless specifically exempted, capital gains arising from the sale of equity
shares within 12 months in an Indian company are generally taxable in India. In the Budget 2018, the
government has introduced long term capital gain tax of 10% on any gain, exceeding X 0.10 million, realised
on the sale of the equity shares on a stock exchange held for more than 12 months, on which securities
transaction tax (“STT”) has been paid on the sale or purchase. The said taxability has been introduced with a
grandfathering clause wherein the unrealized capital gains earned up to January 31, 2018 on such equity
shares shall be exempt. Please note that such gains arising prior to April 1, 2018 were completely, exempt
from capital gains tax. STT (at varying rates depending on the asset class and type of transaction) will be
levied on and collected by an Indian stock exchange on which the equity shares are sold. As such, any gain
realised on the sale of equity shares held for more than 12 months by an Indian resident or non-resident,
which are sold other than on a recognised stock exchange and as a result of which no STT has been paid, will
be liable to capital gains tax in India at the marginal tax rate. Capital gains arising from the sale of equity
shares will be exempt from taxation or will be taxed at beneficial rates in India, in cases where an exemption
is provided under a treaty between India and the country of which the seller is a resident, provided that the
seller is eligible to the treaty benefit and the transaction does not attract general anti avoidance rule. Generally,
Indian tax treaties do not limit India’s ability to impose tax on capital gains. As a result, residents of other
countries may be liable for tax in India as well as in their own jurisdictions on gains arising from a sale of
equity shares. STT will be levied on and collected by an Indian stock exchange on which our Equity Shares
are sold. Any gain realised on the sale of Equity Shares held for more than 12 months to an Indian resident,
which are sold other than on a recognised stock exchange and on which no STT has been paid, will be subject
to long term capital gains tax in India.
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Further, any gain realised on the sale of listed equity shares held for a period of 12 months or less will be
subject to short-term capital gains tax in India.

Public companies in India, including us, are required to compute income tax under the ICDS. The
transition to ICDS in India is recent and we may be negatively affected by this transition.

The Ministry of Finance of India issued a notification dated March 31, 2015 presenting the ICDS, which
creates a new framework for the computation of taxable income. The Ministry of Finance notified the
applicability of ICDS from April 1, 2017 vide notification no. 87 /2016 dated September 29, 2016. The ICDS
deviates in several respects from concepts that are followed under general accounting standards, including
Indian GAAP and Ind AS. For example, where ICDS-based calculations of taxable income differ from Indian
GAAP or Ind AS-based concepts, the ICDS-based calculations have the effect of requiring taxable income to
be recognised earlier, increasing overall levels of taxation or both. There can be no assurance that the adoption
of the ICDS will not adversely affect our business, results of operation and financial condition.

The occurrence of natural disasters may adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of
operation of our Company

India has experienced natural calamities, such as tsunamis, floods, droughts and earthquakes in the past few
years. The extent and severity of these natural disasters determines their impact on the Indian economy.
Natural disasters may cause significant interruption to our operations, and damage to the environment that
could have a material adverse impact on us. The extent and severity of these natural disasters determines their
impact on the Indian economy. The adverse impact on Indian economy could have an adverse impact on our
business.

Hostilities, terrorist attacks, civil unrest and other acts of violence could adversely affect the financial
markets and our business

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war may adversely affect the Indian markets on which the
Equity Shares will trade. These acts may result in a loss of business confidence, make travel and other services
more difficult and have other consequences that could have an adverse effect on our business. In addition,
any deterioration in international relations, especially between India and its neighbouring countries, may
result in investor concern regarding regional stability which could adversely affect the price of the Equity
Shares. In addition, India has witnessed local civil disturbances in recent years and it is possible that future
civil unrest as well as other adverse social, economic or political events in India could have an adverse impact
on our business. Such incidents could also create a greater perception that investment in Indian companies
which involves a higher degree of risk and could have an adverse impact on our business and the market price
of our Equity Shares.
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The price of the Rights Equity Shares may be volatile.

The trading price of our Rights Equity Shares may fluctuate after the Issue due to a variety of factors,
including our results of operations and the performance of our business, competitive conditions, general
economic, political and social factors, the performance of the Indian and global economy and significant
developments in India’s fiscal regime, volatility in the Indian and global securities market, performance of
our competitors, the Indian real estate industry and the perception in the market about investments in the real
estate industry, changes in the estimates of our performance or recommendations by financial analysts and
announcements by us or others regarding new projects, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital
commitments etc. In addition, if the stock markets in general experience a loss of investor confidence, the
trading price of our equity shares could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, financial condition or
operating results. The trading price of our equity shares might also decline in reaction to events that affect
other companies in our industry even if these events do not directly affect us. Each of these factors, among
others, could adversely affect the price of our equity shares.

Any future issuance of equity shares by our Company or sales of our equity shares by any of our
Company’s significant shareholders may adversely affect the trading price of our equity shares.

Any future issuance of Equity Shares by us could dilute your shareholding. Any such future issuance of our
Equity Shares or sales of our Equity Shares by any of our significant shareholders may also adversely affect
the trading price of our Equity Shares, and could impact our ability to raise capital through an offering of our
securities. We cannot assure you that we will not issue further equity shares or that the shareholders will not
dispose of, pledge, or otherwise encumber their equity shares. In addition, any perception by investors that
such issuances or sales might occur could also affect the trading price of our equity shares.

Foreign investors are subject to foreign investment restrictions under Indian law that limit our Company’s
ability to attract foreign investors, which may adversely affect the market price of the Equity Shares.

Under the foreign exchange regulations currently in force in India, transfers of shares between non-residents
and residents and issuances of shares to non-residents are freely permitted (subject to certain exceptions) if
they comply with the requirements specified by the RBI. If such issuances or transfers of shares are not in
compliance with such requirements or fall under any of the specified exceptions, then prior approval of the
RBI will be required. We have undertaken or recorded such transactions in the past based on a bona fide
interpretation of the law. We cannot assure you that our interpretation would be upheld by the Indian
regulators. Any change in such interpretation could impact the ability of our Company to attract foreign
investors.

In addition, shareholders who seek to convert the Indian Rupee proceeds from a sale of shares in India into
foreign currency and repatriate that foreign currency from India will require a no-objection or tax clearance
certificate from the income tax authority. Additionally, the Government of India may impose foreign
exchange restrictions in certain emergency situations, including situations where there are sudden fluctuations
in interest rates or exchange rates, where the Government of India experiences extreme difficulty in
stabilizing the balance of payments, or where there are substantial disturbances in the financial and capital
markets in India. These restrictions may require foreign investors to obtain the Government of India's
approval before acquiring Indian securities or repatriating the interest or dividends from those securities or
the proceeds from the sale of those securities. We cannot assure you that any approval required from the RBI
or any other government agency can be obtained on any particular terms, or at all.

Rights of shareholders under Indian law may differ or may be more limited than under the laws of other
jurisdictions.

The Companies Act and rules made thereunder, the rules and regulations issued by SEBI and other regulatory
authorities, the Memorandum of Association, and the Articles of Association govern the corporate affairs of
the Company. Indian legal principles relating to these matters and the validity of corporate procedures,
directors’ fiduciary duties and liabilities, and shareholders’ rights may differ from those that would apply to
a company in another jurisdiction. Shareholders’ rights under Indian law may not be as extensive as
shareholders’ rights under the laws of other countries or jurisdictions. Investors may have more difficulty in
asserting their rights as a shareholder in India than as a shareholder of a corporation in another jurisdiction.
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In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act the voting rights of an equity shareholder in a
company shall be in proportion to the share of a person in the paid-up equity share capital of that company.

Investors may not be able to enforce a judgment of a foreign court against us.

We are incorporated under the laws of India and all of our Directors and key management personnel reside
in India. Majority of our assets, and the assets of certain of our Directors, key management personnel and
other senior management, are also located in India. Where investors wish to enforce foreign judgments in
India, they may face difficulties in enforcing such judgments. India is not a party to any international treaty
in relation to the recognition or enforcement of foreign judgments. India exercises reciprocal recognition and
enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters with a limited number of jurisdictions. In order to
be enforceable, a judgment obtained in a jurisdiction which India recognises as a reciprocating territory must
meet certain requirements of the Civil Procedure Code, 1908 (the “CPC”). Further, the CPC only permits
enforcement of monetary decrees not being in the nature of any amounts payable in respect of taxes or, other
charges of a similar nature or in respect of a fine or other penalty and does not provide for the enforcement
of arbitration awards. Judgments or decrees from jurisdictions not recognised as a reciprocating territory by
India, cannot be enforced or executed in India. Even if a party were to obtain a judgment in such a jurisdiction,
it would be required to institute a fresh suit upon the judgment and would not be able to enforce such judgment
by proceedings in execution. Further, the party which has obtained such judgment must institute the new
proceedings within three years of obtaining the judgment. As a result, the investor may be unable to: (i) effect
service of process outside of India upon us and such other persons or entities; or (ii) enforce in courts outside
of India judgments obtained in such courts against us and such other persons or entities.

It cannot be assured that a court in India would award damages on the same basis as a foreign court if an
action is brought in India. Furthermore, it is unlikely that an Indian court would enforce foreign judgments if
it viewed the amount of damages awarded as excessive or inconsistent with Indian practice. A party seeking
to enforce a foreign judgment in India is required to obtain prior approval from the RBI to repatriate any
amount recovered pursuant to the execution of such foreign judgment, and any such amount may be subject
to income tax in accordance with applicable laws. In addition, the regulatory regime of our various
international territories may have similar restrictions on enforcement of foreign judgments.

We will not distribute the Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer and CAF to overseas Shareholders who
have not provided an address in India for service of documents.

We will dispatch the Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer and CAF (the “lssue Materials”) to the
shareholders who have provided an address in India for service of documents. The Issue Materials will not
be distributed to addresses outside India on account of restrictions that apply to circulation of such materials
in overseas jurisdictions. However, the Companies Act requires companies to serve documents at any address,
which may be provided by the members as well as through e-mail. Due to absence of clarity under the
Companies Act and the rules made thereunder with respect to distribution of Issue Materials in overseas
jurisdictions where such distribution may be prohibited under the applicable laws of such jurisdictions. While
we have requested all the shareholders to provide an address in India for the purposes of distribution
of Issue Materials, we cannot assure you that the regulator or authorities would not adopt a different view
with respect to compliance with the Companies Act and may subject us to fines or penalties.

PROMINENT NOTES

1.

This is an Issue of 1,27,39,022 Equity Shares for cash at a price of ¥ 80 per Equity Share including a premium
of X 70 per Equity Share for an amount aggregating ¥ 1,019.12 million on a rights basis to the existing Equity
Shareholders of our Company in the ratio of one Equity Share for every one fully paid-up Equity Share held
by the existing Equity Shareholders on the Record Date.

The Net Worth, Net Asset Value per Equity Share, Book Value per Equity Share, as at March 31, 2019, as
stated in the Restated Financial Information are as under:
(in < million except share data)

Sr. No. Particular Standalone Consolidated
1. Net Worth 463.66 463.34
2. Book Value per share 36.40 36.37
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3. Net Asset Value per share 36.40 36.37

Net worth means the aggregate of the paid up share capital, securities premium account and other reserves
and surplus excluding revaluation reserve as restated at the end of the year. For more information, see
“Financial Information” beginning on page 149.

Except as disclosed in the sections “Group Companies” and “Related Party Transactions” on pages 128 and
147, respectively, none of our Group Companies have any business or other interests in our Company.

For details of related party transactions entered into by our Company with our Promoters, Group Companies
and Subsidiary in the last Fiscal, including nature and cumulative value of the transactions, see “Related Party
Transactions” on page 147.

The average cost of acquisition of Equity Shares by our Promoters is as under:

Promoter No. of Equity Shares Average Cost (Rs.)
Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain 22,31,079 23.83
Venkataraman Rajamani 4,36,377 11.89

Investors are advised to refer to the chapter titled “Basis for Issue Price” on page 75.

There have been no changes to the name of our Company in the three years prior to the filing of this Letter
of Offer. Pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement, 5paisa Digital Undertaking, which was a division of 1IFL
Holdings Limited was demerged into 5paisa Capital Limited. The scheme was made effective from
September 30, 2017.

There has been no financing arrangement whereby the Promoter Group, the Directors of our Company who
are our Promoters and our Directors and their relatives have financed the purchase by any other person of
securities of our Company other than in the normal course of business of the financing entity during the period
of six months immediately preceding the date of filing of this Letter of Offer with SEBI.

Investors are free to contact the Lead Manager, who has submitted the due diligence certificate to SEBI, for
any clarification, complaint or information pertaining to the Issue. The Lead Manager and our Company shall
make all information available to the public and investors at large and no selective or additional information
would be made available for a section of the investors in any manner whatsoever. For details of contact
information of the Lead Manager, see “General Information” on page 47.
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SECTION Il - INTRODUCTION

SUMMARY OF INDUSTRY

The information presented in this section has been obtained from publicly available documents from various
sources, including officially prepared materials from the Government of India and its various ministries, industry
websites and publicly available industry reports. Industry websites and publications generally state that the
information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable but their accuracy
completeness and underlying assumptions are not guaranteed and their reliability cannot be assured.

Accordingly, none of our Company, the Lead Manager and any other person associated with the Issue, has
independently verified this information and takes any responsibility for the data, projections, forecasts,
conclusions or any other information contained in this section. Industry sources and publications are also
prepared on information as on specific dates and may no longer be current or reflect market trends. Accordingly,
investors should not place undue reliance on, or base their investment decision on this information.

OVERVIEW OF THE INDIAN ECONOMY

As per IMF’s World Economic Outlook Update, April 2019, India’s growth is projected to pick up to 7.3 percent
in 2019 and 7.5 percent in 2020, supported by the continued recovery of investment and robust consumption amid
a more expansionary stance of monetary policy and some expected impetus from fiscal policy. Further, the growth
is expected to stabilize at just under 7.75 percent over the medium term, based on continued implementation of
structural reforms and easing of infrastructure bottlenecks.

India - Real GDP Growth
(%)
:.g 8.0 52 7.5
: 7.4 79 71 7.3
7.0 -
6.0 -
5.0 -
4.0 . . . . : :
FY2014 FY2015 FY2016 FY2017 FY2018 FY2019p FY2020p

(Source: IMF World Economic Outlook, April 2019) p - projections

With the introduction of policies like Jan-Dhan and Aadhaar, the successful implementation of Goods and
Services Tax (GST), the creation of a single law for Insolvency and Bankruptcy and the enormous increase in
number of mobile phone users the base of the Indian economy is in revival.

GST has opened up major bottlenecks for growth. This will change how credit is farmed out in this country.
Currently credit is asset backed, which will move to cash flow based. This will result in many MSMEs entering
the formal banking sector.

Simultaneously, IBC (Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code) is streamlining the process to clear the mounting NPAs
in banking sector. An analysis of the transactions under the corporate insolvency resolution process indicates that
the pace of admitted cases to the IBC has picked up with time. 816 corporate bodies are undergoing a resolution
at the end of the September 2018 quarter as per Insolvency and Bankruptcy Board of India. In addition to the
progress made under various parameters, facilitating measures undertaken by the Reserve Bank and the SEBI are
also expected to provide a boost to the resolution process.

(Source: RBI’s Report on Trend and Progress of Banking in India 2017-18)

Reforms in Indian Financial Services Industry
An efficient financial system is regarded as a necessary pre-condition for higher growth. Propelled by this ruling

paradigm, several developing countries undertook programs for reforming their financial systems. Since the late
1970s, financial sector reforms encompassing deregulation of interest rates, dismantling of directed credit, easing
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of policy pre-emptions and measures to promote competition in the market for financial services became an
integral part of the overall structural adjustment programs in many developing economies. More recently, the
weight of opinion has swung even further with financial intermediation being regarded as playing a greater role
in economic growth than the traditional determinants.

In line with the above, the Indian financial sector has also undergone radical transformations over the years.
Reforms have altered the organizational structure, ownership pattern and domain of operations of institutions and
infused competition in the financial sector. This has forced financial institutions to reposition themselves in order
to survive and grow. The extensive progress in technology has enabled markets to graduate from outdated systems
to modern business processes, bringing about a significant reduction in the speed of execution of trades and in
transaction costs.

(Source: RBI’s Working paper on “Financial Structures and Economic Development in India”)

OVERVIEW OF CAPITAL MARKETS

A positive investment climate supported by robust macroeconomic performance, easing inflationary pressures,
stable FDI inflows, regulatory and structural reforms by the government improved the business confidence and
attracted investors to the Indian capital market. Indian stock market scaled new peaks on the back of positive
domestic and global sentiments. The broad-based benchmark indices S&P BSE Sensex and Nifty 50 continued
its growth momentum in 2017-18, as they gained 11.3 per cent and 10.2 per cent respectively against their closing
at the end of 2016-17. (Source: SEBI Annual Report, 2018)

In 2018-19, S&P BSE Sensex and Nifty 50, gained 10.02 per cent and 14.05 per cent respectively against their
closing at the end of 2017-18.

STOCK BROKING SECTOR
Overview of Stock Broking Sector

The Indian brokerage sector can be classified in terms of type of brokerage service, nature of parent company and
business diversification. The following chart describes the market structure:

A

Broking
Industry

|
w )

Full Services Discount
Brokerage Brokerage

I
|
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With Bank as Other Full
Parent Services
Company Brokerage

There are primarily two types of brokers in India:

e  Full-service brokers: These brokers offer a wide range of services like offline and online trading, demat
accounts, investment advisory and other customized services.

e Discount brokers: These brokers offer services at low and fixed brokerage fees, irrespective of size of order
and provide such services via an online platform. Discount brokers typically do not provide any cost intensive
facilities and services such as physical offices, research reports and relationship managers. Currently, there
are more than 15 discount brokers in India. Since inception in 2010, thousands of investors and traders moved
from traditional brokers to discount brokers. As they offer 60% - 80% cheaper brokerage and free trading
terminals for everyone, they are well accepted and have become very popular among the investor community.

(Source: SEBI: Handbook on statistics)
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DEPOSITORY SERVICES SECTOR

Overview of Depository Services in India

In India, presently there are two depositories namely, National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) and Central
Depository Services (CDSL). Depository is an institution registered with SEBI for holding custody of securities
in electronic form and facilitates transfer based on the instructions from the account holders. With growth in
Indian capital market, it became difficult to handle the growing volume of paper. This caused problems like delay
in transfers, long settlement period, high levels of failed trade and bad deliveries, high-risk exposure etc. To
remove these bottlenecks, The Depositories Act was legislated in August 1996. Accordingly, National Securities
Depository Limited (NSDL) was established in November 1996. Subsequently, three years later in 1999, Central
Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) was established following the implementation of compulsory trading
in dematerialised securities for all investors. (Source: CDSL Annual Report 2018)

Depository Participants

Depository participants are the ones who act as an interface between investor and depositories. The investor has
to open an account through a depository participant to avail the services offered by the depositories.

A Depository Participant (DP) is also described as an Agent (law) of the depository. They are the intermediaries
between the depository and the investors. The relationship between the DPs and the depository is governed by an
agreement made between the two under the Depositories Act. As of April 2019, there are 278 DPs of NSDL and
598 DPs of CDSL registered with SEBI. (Source: CDSL, NSDL Statistics)

MUTUAL FUND INDUSTRY
Overview of Mutual Fund Industry in India

In the financial market ecosystem, asset management companies facilitate financial intermediation and portfolio
diversification. Besides providing financial stability, they help investors diversify their assets more easily and can
provide financing to the real economy. The Indian mutual fund industry is one of the fastest growing and most
competitive segments of the financial sector. In the last two decades the mutual fund industry has shown
impressive growth not just in the scale of assets under management (AUM) but also in terms of number of folios.
(Source: SEBI Annual Report, 2018)

Mutual Funds Distribution Sector

There are several mutual fund schemes with two to three variations on each fund such as growth, monthly
dividend, annual dividend etc. Besides offering different schemes for investment, AMCs also offer several
investment plans to their customers. Systematic Investment Plans (SIPs), Systematic Withdrawal Plans (SWPs),
Systematic Transfer Plans, Triggers, Insurance Options and many other plans are designed to give a degree of
control and flexibility to the investor.

There are various channels for distribution of these Mutual Fund products. Independent Financial Advisor (IFA)
is one of them, which plays a crucial role in fund distribution. IFAs interact with the investors on a regular basis
and provide advice on scheme selection to asset allocation and asset diversification. Thus, they have the potential
to influence the investors’ decision and sell the MF products. This approach has its risks as well. If the IFAs are
not empowered with professional training and education, they run the risk of mis-selling schemes. Without proper
training, it would be difficult for IFAs to explain or convince small town investors about the advantages of mutual
funds over traditional investments like savings accounts, FDs etc. (Source: SEBI Development Research Group
Study-Penetration of Mutual Funds in India)
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PEER TO PEER (P2P) LENDING SECTOR
Overview P2P Lending Sector

P2P lending is a form of crowd-funding used to raise loans which are paid back with interest. It can be defined as
the use of an online platform that matches lenders with borrowers in order to provide unsecured loans. The
borrower can either be an individual or a legal person requiring a loan. The interest rate may be set by the platform
or by mutual agreement between the borrower and the lender. Fees are paid to the platform by both the lender as
well as the borrower. The borrowers pay an origination fee (either a flat rate fee or as a percentage of the loan
amount raised) according to their risk category. The lenders, depending on the terms of the platform, have to pay
an administration fee and an additional fee if they choose to use any additional service (e.g. legal advice etc.),
which the platform may provide. The platform provides the service of collecting loan repayments and doing
preliminary assessment on the borrower’s creditworthiness. The fees go towards the cost of these services as well
as the general business costs. The platforms do the credit scoring and make a profit from arrangement fees and
not from the spread between lending and deposit rates as is the case with normal financial intermediation.
(Source: RBI-Consultation Paper on Peer to Peer Lending dated April 2016)

INSURANCE BROKING SECTOR

Overview of Insurance Broking Sector

An Insurance Broker is an individual or a company registered with Insurance Regulatory and Development
Authority of India (IRDAI), who for a remuneration and/ or a fee, solicits and arranges insurance and/ or re-
insurance business for its clients with insurers and/ or re-insurers located in India and/ or abroad; and/ or provides
claims consultancy, Risk Management services or other similar services.

As per IRDAI (Insurance Brokers) Regulations, 2018, there are three main categories of Insurance brokers:

Reinsurance Composite

Direct Broker Broker Broker

Direct brokers are the ones who deal with insurance business, they are further categorized into direct brokers
dealing with life insurance business; direct brokers dealing with general insurance business; and third category
dealing with both life and general insurance business. Reinsurance brokers are into the business of re-insurance,
while composite brokers solicit and arrange both insurance as well as re-insurance for its clients.

(Source: IRDAI (Insurance Brokers), Regulations 2018)
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SUMMARY OF BUSINESS

Overview

We are a financial services company with a focus on “discount broking” services, providing financial products
through an online technology platform and mobile application. We provide services in capital market, futures &
options and currency derivatives segments of BSE and NSE. We are a depository participant of CDSL and also a
trading cum clearing member of BSE and NSE. We distribute mutual funds and IPO products and are also
registered as a research analyst.

We are a technology driven company having primarily an online presence, providing services through a DIY (do-
it-yourself) model and we charge a flat brokerage fee of ¥ 10 per order for all transactions instead of differential
brokerage.

As of March 31, 2019, over 2.5 million users have downloaded our mobile application. Our customer base has
grown from 57,703 in Fiscal 2018 to 1,94,276 in Fiscal 2019. Currently, 76% of the total client base are in Tier
I1 and Tier 11 cities and 80% of the total turnover is from trades through our mobile app.

Our innovative product offerings, based on a deep understanding of customer behaviour, include completely
paperless account opening, advanced technological solutions and robo-advisory services etc. With a robust trading
platform, advanced mobile application and an artificial intelligence powered robo-advisory platform, we offer
advanced technology-led services to our customers, leading to an enhanced user-friendly experience across the
investment lifecycle.

We provide a wide range of financial services to our clients including and in relation to:

1. Discounted stock broking services - A trading platform for all types of investors in which we provide equity
and currency broking services at a very low price. Our services are targeted at retail investors and high-
volume traders who actively invest and trade in securities markets and seek DIY (do-it-yourself) services at
a low cost. We provide an online technology platform to our clients through internet terminals and mobile
applications for trading in securities in BSE and NSE.

2. Clearing and Depository Services — We are a depository participant of CDSL and Clearing Members of BSE
and NSE. We provide clearing and depository services to our clients as part of our integrated services offering.

3. Mutual fund distribution - A mutual fund platform in which our clients can subscribe to a host of mutual
fund products offered by various asset management companies and can avail the services of our robot
advisory tool to help them select mutual fund products based on their risk profile and goals.

4. Distribution of other financial products —We aspire to be a one stop shop for all financial products in the
retail segment. As a step towards the same, our platform facilitates our existing customers to subscribe or
purchase premium advisory products, IPO funding, personal loans and home loans. We tie-up with respective
service providers, apprise our customers on the availability of their products and generate leads for our
partners for the purpose.

5. Research Services ~We are a SEBI registered research analyst and we offer advisory services to our clients
through the research undertaken by a team of research analysts.

We believe that our brand, reputation, and the strong and stable management team has enabled us in offering
quality services to our customers at a low cost. Our Company was awarded the ‘Digital Start-up of the Year 2017’
award at the world digital marketing congress and awarded the “Best Use of Mobile Technology in Financial
Services” by ET Now in 2019.

Recently, we have formed a wholly owned subsidiary namely 5paisa P2P Limited (“5paisa P2P”’) which will
operate as a peer-to-peer lending platform. An in-principle approval for registration as NBFC peer-to-peer lending
platform (NBFC-P2P) from RBI has been received. We have also incorporated a subsidiary named 5paisa
Insurance Brokers Limited on October 27, 2018 which has applied for grant of registration with the Insurance
Regulatory and Development Authority of India.

For the years ended March 31, 2019, March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, our total revenue from operations were
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% 626.40 million, ¥ 196.52 million and ¥ 74.67 million, respectively, and for the years ended March 31, 2019,
March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, we have reported a net loss which was ¥ (165.70) million, ¥ (252.99) million
and ¥ (116.90) million, respectively.

We are an ‘online only’ model with administrative offices situated at Thane, Ahmedabad and Bengaluru. We
believe that our online presence allows us to capitalize on opportunities to grow our financial product offerings.
For further details, please see section titled “Our Business — Properties” on page 99.

Our competitive strengths

Following are our key strengths:

1.

Effective technological platform

We are a technology based financial service provider. Our consistent effort in building a robust trading
platform, advanced mobile app, artificial intelligence powered robo-advisory platform, paperless account
opening platform are some examples of technology advancement. We strongly believe in making the entire
investing experience of a customer seamless and hence have significantly invested in creating an efficient
technological architecture comprising our product offering as well as operational processing. Our focus on
innovation and understanding customer behaviour provides us with a significant competitive advantage.

Low cost of services and effortless user experience

We are a low cost financial service provider and charge as low as ¥ 10 per order, providing an effortless user
experience to our customers throughout the lifecycle of the investment at a low cost. Our completely paperless
on-boarding of the client, learning videos to train on stock markets, speedy execution of trades, handy trade
reports on the mobile app, after-trade support through our self-help portal and the interactive user interface
with minimal human intervention contribute to providing a hassle-free service thereby enhancing customer
experience

Established brand with a large customer base

We believe that in close to three years of operations 5paisa is how an established brand. On the digital front,
we have had more than a million downloads of our mobile app. As on April 30, 2019, we had 302, 329
followers on Facebook, 35,238 followers on Twitter. Our YouTube channel has 53,462 subscribers and a
total of more than seven million video views. On the business front, we have acquired more than 1,90,000
customers in a short period of less than three years. As of April 30, 2019, we have an average combined daily
exchange turnover of over ¥ 250,000 million on Equity (cash and derivate) segment, currency (NSE) and had
approximately ¥ 1,006.61 million deposited with exchanges as margin. We have been awarded the ‘Digital
Start-up of the Year 2017° award at the world digital marketing congress and the
“Best Use of Mobile Technology in Financial Services” award by ET Now in 2019.

Robust risk management

Management of risk is essential in the financial services business and we have in place a robust risk
management mechanism. We have deployed resources in terms of technology, people and processes to
manage our risk management function. We have established general risk management procedures for trading
activities, such as instruments and stocks allowed for trading, position and trading limits and time based and
risk based automatic square-off. Our entire limit setting is automated and standard. We have also bifurcated
stocks in categories based on our internal policy, in addition to exchange prescribed groups. Standard
differential limits are then set in the beginning of the day. We have a dedicated and experienced risk
management team, which oversees our risk management functions. We review our risk management
processes every quarter and modify such procedures, if necessary or appropriate. Our risk management team
monitors real-time market conditions and our clients’ positions and informs our clients about potential risks
and takes action accordingly.

Experienced board of directors and strong management team

Our Company has an experienced Board that oversees and guides our strategy and operations. Our Directors
have experience in areas relevant to our business. We believe that the extensive relevant experience and
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financial acumen of our management and executives provide us with a distinctive competitive advantage. We
have also introduced various learning and development programs which include training programs based on
a systematic identification and review of existing gaps in the talent base. Our management team is responsible
for formulating our business strategy, devising and executing marketing and sales plans, managing our service
areas, diversifying our business and sector mix, ensuring strong operating and technology platforms and
expanding our client relationships. We believe that our management’s entrepreneurial spirit, leadership skills,
insight into the market and customer needs provides us with a competitive advantage which will help us
implement our business strategies. For further details on our Board, please see section titled “Our
Management” on page 112.

Customer education:

We attract a lot of customers who are first time investors in capital markets. In order to educate prospective
investors, we have started an educational series i.e. “SP School”. Through 5P school we provide basic
education to customers in simple and easy to understand language about various concepts of capital markets.
We have four modules with 13 courses and 64 chapters explaining concepts pertaining to equity, derivative,
technical analysis, fundamental analysis and mutual funds. To make the entire learning experience more
effective we have also added short learning videos.

Our Business Strategies

The following are our key business strategies:

1.

Expand reach

Client acquisition is the major focus of discount brokerage companies such as ours. For achieving the same,
we propose to vigorously push the process of customer acquisition through aggressive marketing drive and
increase our team strength in customer acquisition, customer services and operations. We believe that increase
in internet penetration will complement the process of expanding its client base.

We aim on increasing our presence by leveraging technological innovations and focusing on investor
segments which are currently underserved by traditional players. Our approach of offering very low cost of
service, complete paperless trading experience, multi product offering, all under one umbrella shall lead to
faster growth in customer acquisitions. Acquiring more and more customers will continue to be our key focus
area and with seamless user experience at the core of our strategy, we aim to ensure client retention as well.
We further aim to strengthen our existing robust customer care services to enhance our client experience.

Product development

We aim to develop a comprehensive range of products which would serve various facets of investment cycle
right from decision making to the execution of trades. Increasing the range of our product offering is the key
to maintaining and growing our market share in this industry. Further, we seek to capture relevant insights
into clients’ behaviour, financial strength and goals which will enable us to provide effective advice to our
clients based on a defined, exhaustive, data-driven algorithmic approach, with assessment of targets on a
periodic basis and optimizing their performance by providing recommendations.

We shall strive to improve customers’ experience on our website, mobile application and trading platform by
constantly upgrading technology and investing in finding out more innovative solutions for our existing
services and products. This will help us in creating a long-lasting relationship with our clients.

Increase wallet share

We offer a digital financial platform and we aim to be a one-stop shop for financial products which can be
served digitally. Along with our core offering of stock trading and distribution of mutual funds, we also offer
distribution of various other financial products such as IPO funding, personal loans and home loans. We will
continue to have this approach of adding value added products and services either through internal
development or third-party tie-ups. These various products and services will ensure that we get a higher share
of the customer wallet and also increase customer stickiness with the brand.

Improve efficiency and productivity
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We focus a lot on improving our efficiency in all areas especially people, marketing and technology. We have
put various processes in place like scorecards, and key performance indicators (“KP1s”) to monitor employee
efficiency. We also monitor our marketing and branding campaigns and continuously work on improving
vital parameters, thereby reducing cost. We have also undertaken projects like infrastructure virtualization,
which has helped us reduce cost on hardware infrastructure. Our aim is to consistently work on various
aspects of efficiency and productivity improvement, which will lead us to profitability.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables set forth summary financial information derived from our Restated Financial Information as
of and for the years ended March 31, 2015, March 31, 2016, March 31, 2017, March 31, 2018 and March 31,
2019. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP, applicable provisions of
the Companies Act and restated in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, and are presented in the section
titled “Financial Information”. The consolidated summary financial information presented below should be read
in conjunction with our Restated Financial Information, the notes thereto and the section titled “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”.

[The rest of this page has been intentionally left blank]
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Restated Consolidated Summary Statement of Assets and Liabilities

(Zin millions)

Particulars

As at

March 31, 2019

As at
March 31, 2018

| EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

(1) Shareholder’s funds

(a) Share Capital 127.39 127.39
(b) Surplus 335.95 501.97
Sub Total 463.34 629.36
(2) Non Current Liabilities
Long-Term Borrowings - -
Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net) - -
Other Long-Term Liabilities - -
Long-Term Provisions 6.00 2.07
Sub Total 6.00 2.07
(3) Current Liabilities
Short-Term Borrowings 920.12 161.47
Trade Payables
(A) total outstanding dues to micro enterprises and - -
small enterprises
(B) total outstanding dues to creditors other than 0.73 20.69
micro enterprises and small enterprises
Other Current Liabilities 1,360.58 446.90
Short-Term Provisions 64.58 52.02
Sub Total 2,346.01 681.09
TOTAL 2,815.35 1,312.52
Il ASSETS
(1) Non-Current Assets
(a) Fixed Assets
(i) Property, Plant and Equipment 16.00 12.49
(ii) Intangible Assets 5.81 8.77
(iii) Capital work in progress 0.75 0.05
Sub Total 22.56 21.31
(b) Non-Current Investments - -
(c) Deferred Tax Assets (Net) 208.43 149.29
(d) Long-Term Loans & Advances 120.72 325.98
(e) Other Non-Current Assets 3.25 7.25
Sub Total 332.40 482.51
(2) Current Assets
(a) Current Investments - -
(b) Inventories 32.64 36.00
(c) Trade Receivables 19.96 5.61
(d) Cash and Cash Equivalent 1,150.75 299.72
(e) Short-Term Loans & Advances 247.89 38.15
(f) Other Current Assets 1,009.15 429.22
Sub Total 2,460.39 808.70
TOTAL 2,815.35 1,312.52
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Restated Consolidated Summary Statement of Profit & Loss

(Zin millions)

Particulars For the period ended For the period ended
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Income
Revenue From Operations 627.57 196.52
Total Revenue 627.57 196.52
Expenditure
Employee Benefits Expense 258.35 193.18
Finance Cost 68.27 7.95
Depreciation and Amortisation 14.43 6.67
Other Expenses 511.69 320.82
Total Expenditure 852.74 528.62
Profit Before Tax (225.17) (332.10)
Current Tax Expenses For Current Year - -
Deferred Tax Expenses (59.14) (79.12)
Short / (excess) provision of tax for earlier year - (0.00)
Sub Total (59.14) (79.12)
Profit (Loss) for the Year (166.02) (252.99)
Earnings Per Share (Face Value 10 each)
Basic (in ) (13.03) (19.86)
Diluted (in ) (13.03) (19.86)
Restated Consolidated Summary Statement of Cash Flow
(Fin millions)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net profit before taxation and extraordinary item (225.17) (332.10)
Adjustments for:
Net Loss/(gain) on Sale of Current Investments (0.19) (14.39)
Interest Income (27.70) (9.34)
Gratuity 2.30 0.61
(Profit)/Loss on sale of Fixed Assets (0.00) -
Depreciation 14.43 6.67
Leave Encashment 2.77 0.81
Interest Expenses 64.91 6.23
Dividend Income (0.03) 56.48 (0.20) (9.60)
Operating Profit before Working Capital (168.69) (341.70)
Changes
Changes in Working Capital :
(Increase)/Decrease in Long Term Loan and 200.89 (286.31)
Advances
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Current Liabilities 913.68 290.66
Decrease/(Increase) in Short Term Loans and (209.75) (24.79)
advances
(Increase) / Decrease in Trade inventories 3.36 (10.46)
Decrease / (Increase) in other current assets (579.93) (313.81)
Increase / (Decrease) in Short term Provision 7.50 10.00
Decrease/(Increase) in Other Non Current Assets 4.00 (7.25)
Increase / (Decrease) in Long term Provision 3.94 (1.08)
Increase / (Decrease) in Short term & Long term 758.65 161.47
Borrowings
Decrease / (Increase) in Trade Receivable (14.35) (1.56)
Increase / (Decrease) in Trade Payable (19.97) 1,068.02 16.19 (166.93)
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Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Cash generated from/(Used) operations 899.33 (508.63)
Net income tax (paid) / refunds 4.36 1.43
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities (a) 903.69 (507.20)
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
(Purchase) of Current Investments (752.61) (39,742.70)
Sale of Current Investments 752.80 39,757.009
Interest received 27.70 9.34
Dividend Income 0.03 0.20
Fixed Deposit with bank (400.00) (50.00)
(Purchase) /Sale of fixed assets (includes (15.67) (22.00)
intangible assets) (net)
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (b) (387.75) (48.08)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Increase in share capital - -
Interest Paid (64.91) (6.23)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (c) (64.91) (6.23)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 451.03 (561.52)
equivalents (a+b +¢)
Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of year 194.72 756.23
Cash and Cash equivalents at end of year 645.75 194.72
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 451.03 (561.52)
equivalents
Restated Standalone Summary Statement of Assets and Liabilities
(Tin millions)
As at As at As at As at As at
Particulars March March March March March
31, 2019 31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2016 31, 2015
I EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
(1) Shareholder's funds
(a) Share Capital 127.39 127.39 127.39 30.50 30.50
(b) Surplus 336.27 501.97 754.96 90.82 145.80
Sub Total 463.66 629.36 882.35 121.32 176.30
(2) Non Current Liabilities
(a) Long-Term Borrowings - - - - -
(b) Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net) - - - - -
(c) Other Long-Term Liabilities - - - - -
(d) Long-Term Provisions 6.00 2.07 3.15 0.31 0.56
Sub Total 6.00 2.07 3.15 0.31 0.56
(3) Current Liabilities
(a) Short-Term Borrowings 920.12 161.47 - 23.10 148.30
(b) Trade Payables
(A) total outstanding dues to micro - - - - -
enterprises and small enterprises
(B) total outstanding dues to creditors 0.71 20.69 4.50 - -

other than micro enterprises and

small enterprises
(c) Other Current Liabilities 1,360.56 446.90 161.61 297.95 7.04
(d) Short-Term Provisions 64.38 52.02 40.60 2.14 14.94
Sub Total 2,345.77 681.09 206.71 323.19 170.28
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As at As at As at As at As at
Particulars March March March March March
31, 2019 31, 2018 31, 2017 31, 2016 31, 2015
TOTAL 2,815.43 1,312.52 1,092.21 444.82 347.14
Il ASSETS
(1) Non-Current Assets
(a) Fixed Assets
(i) Property, Plant and Equipment 16.00 12.49 2.68 1.27 -
(ii) Intangible Assets 5.81 8.77 2.02 0.97 -
(iii) Capital work in progress 0.75 0.05 1.27 0.49 -
Sub Total 22.56 21.31 5.97 2.73 -
(b) Non-Current Investments 21.00 20.50 - - -
(c) Deferred Tax Assets (Net) 208.43 149.29 70.17 23.62 0.11
(d) Long-Term Loans & Advances 120.58 325.98 41.10 43.55 36.40
(e) Other Non-Current Assets 3.25 7.25 - - -
Sub Total 353.26 503.01 111.27 67.17 36.51
(2) Current Assets
(a) Current Investments - - - - -
(b) Inventories 32.64 36.00 25.54 10.48 -
(c) Trade Receivables 19.96 5.61 4.10 - -
(d) Cash and Cash Equivalent 1,130.06 279.22 811.23 128.30 280.73
(e) Short-Term Loans & Advances 247.89 38.15 15.85 3.31 0.98
(f) Other Current Assets 1,009.06 429.22 118.25 232.83 28.92
Sub Total 2,439.61 788.20 974.97 374.92 310.63
TOTAL 2,815.43 1,312.52 1,092.21 444.82 347.14
Restated Standalone Summary Statement of Profit & Loss for the period ended
(€in millions)
For the For the For the For the For the
Particulars year ended | year ended | year ended | year ended | year ended
March 31, | March 31, | March 31, | March 31, | March 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Income
Revenue From Operations 626.40 196.52 74.67 (12.18) 113.71
Total Revenue 626.40 196.52 74.67 (12.18) 113.71
Expenditure
Employee Benefits Expense 258.35 193.18 82.38 21.63 20.19
Finance Cost 68.27 7.95 12.51 18.05 22.95
Depreciation and Amortisation 14.43 6.67 2.77 0.12 -
Other Expenses 510.19 320.82 140.81 25.01 18.83
Total Expenditure 851.24 528.62 238.47 64.81 61.97
Profit Before Tax (224.84) (332.10) (163.80) (76.99) 51.74
Tax Expenses
Current Tax Expenses - - - - 16.44
Deferred Tax Expenses (59.14) (79.12) (46.55) (23.51) (0.01)
Short/(excess) provision of tax for - (0.00) (0.35) 151 -
earlier year
Sub Total (59.14) (79.12) (46.90) (22.00) 16.43
Profit (Loss) For The Year (165.70) (252.99) (116.90) (54.99) 35.31
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For the For the For the For the For the
Particulars year ended | year ended | year ended | year ended | year ended
March 31, | March 31, | March 31, | March 31, | March 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Earnings Per Share (Face Value 10
each)
Basic (in ) (13.01) (19.86) (14.41) (18.03) 11.58
Diluted (in ) (13.01) (19.86) (14.41) (18.03) 11.58
Restated Standalone Summary Statement of Cash Flow for the period ended
(Tin millions)
Particulars March 31, | March 31, | March 31, | March 31, | March 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net profit before taxation and extraordinary item (224.84)] (332.10)| (163.80) (76.98) 51.73
Adjustments for:
Net Loss/(gain) on Sale of Current Investments (0.19) (14.39) (22.58) (0.17) (0.17)
Interest Income (26.52) (9.34) (5.02) (15.21) (22.92)
Gratuity 2.30 0.61 1.28 (0.29) 0.04
(Profit)/Loss on sale of Fixed Assets (0.00) - - - -
Depreciation 14.43 6.67 - - -
Leave Encashment 2.77 0.81 0.49 0.11 0.17
Interest Expenses 64.91 6.23 11.24 18.05 22.95
Dividend Income (0.03) (0.20) - - (1.12)
Operating Profit before Working Capital (167.18)| (341.70)| (178.42) (74.49) 50.69
Changes
Changes in Working Capital:
(Increase)/Decrease in Long Term Loan and 201.14| (286.31) 2.46 (7.15) 5.60
Advances
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Current Liabilities 913.66 290.66 2.07 (0.28) 2.17
Decrease/(Increase) in Short Term Loans and (209.74) (24.79) (12.53) (2.33) (0.13)
advances
(Increase) / Decrease in Trade inventories 3.36 (10.46) (15.06) (10.48) 0.12
Decrease / (Increase) in other current assets (579.84)| (313.81) 0.24 (0.64) (1.11)
Decrease / (Increase) in other non-current assets 4.00 (7.25) - - 0.10
Increase / (Decrease) in Short term Provision 7.30 10.00 34.18 (12.87) (0.92)
Increase / (Decrease) in Long term Provision 3.94 (1.08) 2.84 - -
Increase / (Decrease) in Short term & Long term 758.65 161.47 (23.10)| (125.20) 148.30
Borrowings
Decrease / (Increase) in Trade Receivable (14.35) (1.56) 177.64| (203.26) (27.67)
Increase / (Decrease) in Trade Payable (19.99) 16.19] (201.29) 291.19 3.31
Cash generated from/(Used) operations 900.95[ (508.63)| (210.97)| (145.51) 180.46
Net income tax (paid) / refunds 4.25 1.43 0.35 (1.51) (16.44)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 905.20( (507.20) (210.63)| (147.02) 164.01
(@)
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
(Purchase) of Current Investments (752.61)| (39,742.70| (37,531.90 - -
) )
Sale of Current Investments 752.80( 39,757.09| 37,531.90 - 0.17
Capital Gain on Investment - - 22.58 0.17 -
Interest received 26.52 9.34 5.02 15.21 22.92
Dividend Income 0.03 0.20 - - 1.12
Fixed Deposit with Bank (Net) (400.00) (50.00) (5.00) 200.00{ (149.93)
Payments for purchase of equity instruments of (0.50) (20.50) - - -
other entity
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Particulars March 31, | March 31, | March 31, | March 31, | March 31,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

(Purchase) /Sale of fixed assets (includes (15.67) (22.00) (2.80) (2.73) -
intangible assets) (net)
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (b) |  (389.43) (68.58) 19.81 212.64| (125.73)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Increase in share capital - - 879.99 - -
Interest Paid (64.91) (6.23) (11.24) (18.05) (22.95)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (c) (64.91) (6.23) 868.75 (18.05) (22.95)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 450.84( (582.02) 677.93 47.57 15.33
equivalents
(@a+b+c)
Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of year 174.22 756.23 78.30 30.73 15.39
Cash and Cash equivalents at end of year 625.06 174.22 756.23 78.30 30.73
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 450.84( (582.02) 677.93 47.57 15.33

equivalents
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THE ISSUE

The Issue has been authorised by a resolution passed by our Board on July 17, 2018 and September 12, 2018,
pursuant to section 62 of the Companies Act, 2013.

The following is a summary of the Issue. This summary should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its

entirety by, more detailed information in “Terms of the Issue” on page 285.

Rights Equity Shares being offered by our
Company

Up to 12,739,022 Rights Equity Shares up to ¥ 1,019.12 million

Rights Entitlement

One Rights Equity Share for every one fully paid-up Equity Share held
on the Record Date

Record Date

May 29, 2019

Face Value per Equity Share

¥ 10 each

Issue Price per Equity Share

% 80 per Rights Equity Share

Issue Size

Up to 12,739,022 aggregating to ¥ 1,019.12 million

Equity Shares issued prior to the Issue

12,739,022 Equity Shares

Equity shares subscribed and paid-up prior
to the Issue

12,739,022 Equity Shares

Equity Shares Issued and outstanding after

Up to 25,478,044% Equity Shares

the Issue (assuming full subscription for
and Allotment of the Rights Entitlement)
Equity Shares Subscribed and paid- up and
outstanding after the Issue (assuming full
subscription for and Allotment of the
Rights Entitlement)

Security Codes

Up to 25,478,044% Equity Shares

ISIN: INE618L01018
BSE: 540776
NSE: 5PAISA

Terms of the Issue For details, see “Terms of the Issue” on page 285.

Use of Issue Proceeds For details, see “Objects of the Issue” on page 69.
Note: As on the date of this Letter of Offer, 300,000 options have been granted and are outstanding under 5PCL ESOS 2017.
As per the terms of 5PCL ESOS 2017, the option holders are entitled to corporate benefits such as rights entitlements in a
rights issue made by our Company, in accordance with applicable SEBI regulations and circulars. Therefore, subsequent to
the Issue, the options outstanding under 5PCL ESOS 2017 shall be adjusted to ensure fair and reasonable adjustment in
respect of the rights entitlement including adjustment to the number of options and the exercise price. 2,00,000 of the options
with the original exercise price of 308 and 1,00,000 options at the price of €235.05 which are outstanding prior to the Issue
shall be adjusted to two options at an exercise price of €194 each and ¥157.53 each, respectively, such that total value to the
option holder shall remain the same after the Issue.

# Pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement, between IIFL Holdings Limited (“Demerged Company ”) and our Company, the
shareholders of the Demerged Company were allotted one Equity Share of face value €10 each of our Company for every 25
shares of the Demerged Company of face value ¥2 each, held by them. Accordingly, 9,405 equity shares of the Demerged
Company, which were kept in an unclaimed suspense account, were transferred to our Company post the demerger in the ratio
of 25 equity shares of the Demerged Company for every one Equity share of our Company. Consequently, our Company has
kept 376 Equity Shares in an unclaimed suspense account post the demerger. In view thereof, 376 Equity Shares kept in an
unclaimed suspense account are also part of the current paid-up capital of our Company. Hence, rights entitlements pursuant
to the Issue, in respect of such 376 Equity Shares shall be kept in abeyance.

Amount payable on application

Due Date Amount

On Application of the Rights Equity Shares | ¥ 80 per Rights Equity Share which constitutes 100% of the Issue Price
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Our Company was originally incorporated as a public limited company under the provisions of the Companies
Act, 1956 as “India Infoline Finance Holdings Limited” pursuant to a certificate of incorporation dated July 10,
2007 issued by the RoC. Thereafter, our Company obtained the certificate for commencement of business on July
19, 2007 from the RoC. The name of our Company was subsequently changed to “IIFL Capital Limited” and a
fresh certificate of incorporation dated November 6, 2007, consequent upon change of name, was issued by the
RoC. Thereafter, the name of our Company was changed to “Spaisa Capital Limited”, and a fresh certificate of
incorporation, consequent upon change of name, was issued by Registrar of Companies, Tamil Nadu at Chennai
(where the registered office of our Company was located), on August 12, 2015. For further details of our Board
of Directors, see section titled “History and Certain Corporate Matters” on page 104.

Registered and Corporate Office of our Company

IIFL House, Sun Infotech Park,
Road No. 16V, B-23, MIDC,

Thane Industrial Area, Wagle Estate,
Thane 400 604,

Maharashtra

Tel.: +91 22 4103 5000

Fax: +91 22 2580 6654
Registration No.: 289249

CIN: L67190MH2007PLC289249

Address of the Registrar of Companies

Our Company is registered with Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra at Mumbai which is situated at the
following address:

Registrar of Companies, Mumbai

100 Everest, Marine Drive,
Mumbai 400 002

Board of Directors

The following table sets out the current details regarding our Board of Directors as on the date of filing of this
Letter of Offer:

Name Designation DIN Address
Dr. Archana Niranjan Hingorani Chairperson and 00028037 701, Orchid Breeze, 7th Floor 16th
Independent Road, Opp. Khar Gymkhana
Director Ground, Khar, Mumbai 400 052
Prakarsh Gagdani Whole Time 07376258 801, Solitair, Orchard Avenue
Director and Street, Powai Hiranandani Garden,
CEO Mumbai 400 076
Sarbeswar Lenka Additional Non - 07306325 501, Dheeraj Devki CHS LTD, Hill
Executive Road, Opp. Bandra Police station,
Director Bandra West, Mumbai 400 050
Nirali Sanghi Independent 00319389 23, Sea Gull, Carmichael Road,
Director Mumbai 400 026
Santosh Jayaram Whole Time 07955607 1B, Jatin Das Road, Lake Market,
Director Sarat Bose Road, Kolkata 700 029

For further details of our Board of Directors, see “Our Management” on page 112.
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Company Secretary and Compliance Officer

Lead Manager to the Issue

Roshan Dave

5paisa Capital Limited

IIFL House, Sun Infotech Park,
Road No. 16V, B-23, MIDC,

Thane Industrial Area, Wagle Estate,
Thane — 400 604

Tel: +91 22 4103 5000

Fax: +91 22 2580 6654

E-mail: csteam@>5paisa.com

Keynote Financial Services Limited

(Formerly Keynote Corporate Services Limited)
The Ruby, 9™ Floor,

Senapati Bapat Marg,

Dadar (West), Mumbai 400 028

Tel: +91 22 6026 6000

Fax: +91 22 6026 6088

E-mail: mbd@keynoteindia.net

Website: www.keynoteindia.net

Contact Person: Pooja Sanghvi/ Akhil Mohod
SEBI Registration No.: INM 000003606

Legal Advisors to the Issue

Statutory Auditor

Khaitan & Co

One Indiabulls Centre,
10t & 13" Floor, Tower 1,
841 Senapati Bapat Marg
Mumbai 400 013

Tel: +91 22 6636 5000
Fax: +91 22 6636 5050

V. Sankar Aiyar & Co.

2-C, Court Chambers,

35, New Marine Lines,

Mumbai 400 020

Tel: +91 22 2200 4465, +91 22 2206 7440
Fax: +91 22 2200 0649

Firm Registration No.: 109208W

Registrar and Share Transfer Agent

Banker/ Refund Banker to the Issue

Link Intime India Private Limited
C101, 247 Park, LBS Marg,

Vikhroli (West),

Mumbai 400 083

Tel: +91 22 4918 6000, +91 22 4918 6200
Fax:+91 22 4918 6195

E-mail: 5paisa.rights@linkintime.co.in
Website: www.linkintime.co.in

Contact Person: Sumeet Deshpande
SEBI Registration No.: INRO00004058

ICICI Bank Limited

Capital Market Division, 1% Floor,

122, Mistry Bhavan, Dinshaw Vachha Road,
Next to KC College, Churchgate,
Mumbai-400020

Tel: +91 22 22859800

Fax: +91 22 22611138

E-mail: alankar.tripathi@icicibank.com
Website: www.icicibank.com

Contact Person: Alankar Tripathi
SEBI Registration No.: INB00000004

Bankers to our

Company

Axis Bank Limited

Jeevan Prakash Building,

Sir P M Road Fort,

Mumbai, 400 001,

Maharashtra

Tel: +91 22 4086 7336/7474

Fax: +91 22 4086 7327/7378

E-mail: fort.operationshead@axisbank.com

HDFC Bank Limited

Capital Markets, 2" Floor,

Zenith House, K K Road, Arya Nagar,

Dr. Babasaheb Ambedkar Colony, Mahalakshmi,
Mumbai, 400 034,

Maharashtra

Tel: +91 22 3976 0546

Fax: +91 22 3976 0092

E-mail: xerses.davar@hdfc.com

ICICI Bank Limited

Capital Market Division

1%t floor,122, Mistry Bhawan,

Dinshaw Vaccha Rd, Next to KC College,
Churchgate,

Mumbai, 400 020,

Maharashtra

Tel: +91 22 2285 9800

Fax:+91 22 2261 1138

E-mail: alankar.tripathi@icicibank.com

Punjab National Bank
Gopi Tank Road,

Behind City Light Cinema
Shivaji Park, Mahim
Mumbai — 400 016
Maharashtra

Tel: +91 22 2446 1261
Fax: +91 22 2446 9182
E-mail: bo0554@pnb.co.in

Yes Bank Limited

IFC Tower I, 24" Floor,

Senapati Bapat Marg, Elphinstone,
Mumbai, 400 013,

Maharashtra

Tel: +91 22 3347 9045

Fax:+91 22 2421 4513

E-mail: meeta.bhalerao@yesbank.in

IDFC First Bank Limited
KRM Tower, 71" Floor
No. 1 Harrington Road,
Chetpet, Chennai — 600 031

Tel: +91 44 4564 4000
Fax:+91 44 4564 4022
E-mail: bank.info@idfcfirstbank.com
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Self-Certified Syndicate Bankers (SCSB)

The list of banks that have been notified by SEBI to act as SCSBs for the ASBA process is provided on
www.sebi.gov.in. Details relating to designated branches of SCSBs collecting the ASBA application forms are
available at the above-mentioned link.

Investors may contact the Registrar to the Issue or our Company Secretary and Compliance Officer for any pre-
Issue/post-Issue related matters such as non-receipt of letter of Allotment, credit of Rights Equity Shares or Refund
Orders and such other matters. All grievances relating to the ASBA process may be addressed to the Registrar to
the Issue, with a copy to the SCSB, giving full details such as name, address of the applicant, number of Rights
Equity Shares applied for, amount blocked, ASBA Account number and the Designated Branch of the SCSB
where the Application was submitted by the ASBA Investors.

Monitoring Agency

Our Company has appointed ICICI Bank Limited as the monitoring agency, in order to comply with the
requirements of Regulation 16 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations to monitor the utilization of the proceeds from the
Issue. The details of ICICI Bank Limited are as follows:

ICICI Bank Limited

Capital Market Division, 1% Floor,

122, Mistry Bhavan, Dinshaw Vachha Road,
Backbay Reclamation, Churchgate,
Mumbai-400020

Tel: +91 22 66818932/23/24

Fax: +91 22 22611138

E-mail: shweta.surana@icicibank.com
Website: www.icicibank.com

Contact Person: Ms. Shweta Surana
SEBI Registration No.: INBI00000004

Credit Rating
As this is an issue of Rights Equity Shares, there is no credit rating required for the Issue.
Appraising Entity

None of the purposes for which the Net Proceeds are proposed to be utilised have been financially appraised by
any banks or financial institution or any other independent agency.

Expert
Except as stated below, our Company has not obtained any expert opinions:

Our Company has received written consent from V Sankar Aiyar & Co., Chartered Accountants, the Statutory
Auditors of our Company, to include their name as an “expert” as defined under Section 2(38) of the Companies
Act, 2013, in respect of the reports on the Restated Standalone Financial Information and Restated Consolidated
Financial Information, each dated April 16, 2019, in the form and context, included in this Letter of Offer and
such consent has not been withdrawn as on the date of this Letter of Offer. However, the term “experts” and
consent thereof does not represent an expert or consent within the meaning under the Securities Act.

Our Company has received written consent from V Sankar Aiyar & Co., Chartered Accountants, to include their
name as an “expert” as defined under Section 2(38) of the Companies Act, 2013, in respect of the statement of
tax benefits dated June 14, 2019, in the form and context, included in this Letter of Offer and such consent has
not been withdrawn as on the date of this Letter of Offer. However, the term “expert” herein shall not be construed
to mean an “expert” as defined under the Securities Act.

49



Statement of responsibility of the Lead Manager

Keynote Financial Services Limited is the sole Lead Manager to the Issue. The details of responsibilities of the
Lead Manager, is as follows

No. Activity
1. Capital structuring with relative components and formalities such as type of instruments, etc
2. Drafting and design of the offer document and of advertisement / publicity material including

newspaper advertisements and brochure / memorandum containing salient features of the Draft
Letter of Offer, Letter of Offer, Abridged Letter of Offer, CAF, etc. To ensure compliance with the
SEBI ICDR Regulations and other stipulated requirements and completion of prescribed formalities
with Stock Exchange and SEBI

3. Marketing of the Issue will cover, inter alia, preparation of publicity budget, arrangements for
selection of (i) ad-media, (ii) bankers to the issue, (iii) collection centres (iv) distribution of
publicity and issue material including CAF, the Abridged Letter of Offer and the Letter of Offer to
the extent applicable

4, Selection of various agencies connected with the issue, namely Registrar to the Issue, Bankers to
the Issue, printers, advertisement agencies, etc.

5. Follow-up with Bankers to the Issue to get estimates of collection and advising our Company about
closure of the Issue, based on the correct figures

6. Post-Issue activities will involve essential follow-up steps, which must include finalisation of basis

of allotment / weeding out of multiple applications, listing of instruments and dispatch of
certificates and refunds, with the various agencies connected with the work such as Registrars to
the Issue, Bankers to the Issue and bank handling refund activities. Even if many of these Post-
Issue activities would be handled by other intermediaries, the Lead Manager shall be responsible
for ensuring that such agencies fulfil their functions and enable it to discharge this responsibility
through suitable agreements with our Company

Minimum Subscription

If our Company does not receive the minimum subscription of 90% of the Issue, we shall refund the entire
subscription amount received within 15 days from the Issue Closing Date. In the event that there is a delay of
making refunds beyond such period as prescribed by applicable laws, our Company shall pay interest for the
delayed period at rates prescribed under applicable laws. The above is subject to the terms mentioned under the
section titled “Terms of the Issue” on page 285.

Principal Terms of Loans and Assets charged as security

For details in relation to the principal terms of loans and assets charged as security of our Company, see
“Financial Information” on page 149.

Underwriting

This Issue of Rights Equity Shares is not being underwritten and/or no standby support is being sought for the
Issue.

Issue Schedule

Issue Opening Date: July 23, 2019
Last date for receipt of request for SAFs: July 30, 2019
Issue Closing Date: August 6, 2019

The Board of Directors or a duly authorised committee thereof will have the right to extend the Issue period as
it may determine from time to time, provided that the Issue will not be kept open in excess of 30 days from the
Issue Opening Date.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The equity share capital of our Company as on date of this Letter of Offer is set forth below:

(Zin million except per share data)

Sr Aggregate | Aggregate
N ‘ Particulars Nominal Value at
0. .
Value Issue Price
Authorised share capital®:
30,000,000 Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each 300.00 --
Issued, subscribed and paid up capital
12,739,022 Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each fully paid-up 127.39 --
Present Issue in terms of this Letter of Offer®
Up to 12,739,022 Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each at an Issue Price of ¥ 80 per 127.39 1,019.12
Equity Share (premium of X 70 per Equity Share)
Issued, subscribed and paid up capital after the Issue (assuming full
subscription for and allotment of the Rights Entitlement)
25,478,044* Equity Shares of T 10 each fully paid-up 254.78
Securities premium account
Before the Issue 823.33
After the Issue® 1,715.06

Notes:

@)

@

®

For details in relation to the changes in the authorised share capital of our Company, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters”
on page 104.

The Issue has been authorised by a resolution passed by our Board on July 17, 2018 and September 12, 2018, pursuant to section 62
of the Companies Act, 2013 and our Board had, vide a resolution passed in their meeting held on September 12, 2018, amended the
Issue size. The Issue of Equity Shares on a rights basis is in the ratio of one Rights Equity Share for every one Equity Share held by our
existing equity shareholders on the Record Date i.e. May 29, 2019.

Assuming full subscription for and allotment of the Rights Entitlement

Pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement, between IIFL Holdings Limited (“Demerged Company ”) and our Company, the shareholders
of the Demerged Company were allotted one Equity Share of face value €10 each of our Company for every 25 shares of the Demerged

Company of face value € 2 each, held by them. Accordingly, 9,405 equity shares of the Demerged Company, which were kept in an
unclaimed suspense account, were transferred to our Company post the demerger in the ratio of 25 equity shares of the Demerged
Company for every one Equity share of our Company. Consequently, our Company has kept 376 Equity Shares in an unclaimed suspense
account post the demerger. In view thereof, 376 Equity Shares kept in an unclaimed suspense account are also part of the current paid-
up capital of our Company. Hence, rights entitlements pursuant to the Issue, in respect of such 376 Equity Shares shall be kept in
abeyance.

Notes to the Capital Structure

1. Share Capital History of our Company
(&) The history of the Equity Share capital of our Company is provided in the following table:
Date of |'5\| OL',i(:f Face |Issue price | Nature of Nature of Cumulative |Cumulative Paid-
e Si?areg Value | per Equity | Allotment/ | -5 o [number of Equity| up Equity Share
) | Share ®) Remarks Shares Capital )
allotted
Initial
July 10, 2007 50,000 10 10 subscription to Cash 50,000 500,000
MoA
Novgg‘lt(’)er 2. 3,000,000 | 10 40 Right issue? Cash 30,50,000 30,500,000
August g
19.2016 1,666,500 10 60 Right issue Cash 47,16,500 47,165,000
September | 45 160,000 | 10 60 Right issue? Cash 17,7,16,500 177,165,000
30, 2016
Pursuant to the board resolution dated September 30, 2016 and shareholders resolution dated May 10, 2017 and as per the
scheme of arrangement approved by the National Company Law Tribunal on September 6, 2017, 1,77,16,500 Equity Shares
held by IIFL Holdings Limited were cancelled.
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No. of . - - ;
. Face | Issue price | Nature of Cumulative |Cumulative Paid-
Date of =ty Value | per Equity | Allotment/ Na_ture qf number of Equity| up Equity Share

allotment Shares consideration ;
®) | Share ®) Remarks Shares Capital )
allotted
October 20, | 15 739,022 | 10 10 Scheme of | et than cash ©| 12,739,022 127,390,220
2017 arrangement

50,000 Equity Shares allotted to seven subscribers to the Memorandum of Association of our Company. 49,994 Equity Shares allotted
to India Infoline Limited, one Equity Share each allotted to S. Shriram, Harshad Apte, Kapil Krishnan, R. Mohan, Mukesh Kumar Singh
and Chintan Modi.

3,000,000 Equity Shares were allotted to IIFL Holdings Limited pursuant to the right issue of Equity Shares in the ratio of one rights
equity share for every one Equity Shares held by the shareholders of our Company.

1,666,500 Equity Shares were allotted to IIFL Holdings Limited pursuant to the right issue of Equity Shares in the ratio of one rights
equity share for every one Equity Shares held by the shareholders of our Company.

13,000,000 Equity Shares were allotted to IIFL Holdings Limited pursuant to the right issue of Equity Shares in the ratio of one rights
equity share for every one Equity Shares held by the shareholders of our Company.

12,739,022 Equity Shares were allotted to the shareholders of IIFL Holdings Limited pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement. For
further details, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters” on page 104.

Issue of Equity Shares for Consideration other than Cash

Other than the allotment of ¥ 12,739,022 Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each of the Company pursuant to the Scheme
of Arrangement, our Company has not allotted Equity Shares for consideration other than cash.

Shares issued out of revaluation reserves

Our Company has not issued any Equity Shares out of revaluation reserves.

Shares allotted in terms of any scheme approved under section 391-394 of the Companies Act, 1956
or section 230-232 of the Companies Act, 2013

For further details of shares allotted in terms of any scheme approved under section 391- 394 of the
Companies Act, 1956 or section 230-232 of the Companies Act, 2013, see “Capital Structure - Shares
issued for consideration other than cash”.

Issue of Equity Shares in the last one year

Our Company has not issued Equity Shares in one year immediately preceding the date of this Letter of
Offer.

History of the Equity Share Capital held by our Promoters

Our Promoters, Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani, hold 2,667,456 Equity Shares,
equivalent to 20.93% of the issued, subscribed and paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company.

a.  Build-up of our Promoters shareholding in our Company

Set forth below is the build-up of the shareholding of the Promoters of our Company:

\'/::}E(Z Issue Price/ Post-
Date of | Nature of No. of Nature of per transfer Pre-lssue Issue
Name of the Promoter fallotment/| allotment/ Equity st o) By price per capital (%) capital
transfer | transfer Shares Equity p (%)
Share Share ) o
9]
October | Scheme of Other than Not
20, 2017 |arrangement” 2,050,080 cash 10 Applicable 16.09
Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain N "
December Market
5. 2017 purchase 128,520 Cash 10 191.22 1.01
December| Market
26,2018 | purchase 50,000 Cash 10 190.00 0.39

52



Fe:ce Issue Price/ Post-
Date of | Nature of No. of value transfer Issue
Name of the Promoter [allotment/| allotment/ Equity co'r\:;gjerfa?ifon Egﬁirty price per czr?t_alxlss(gZ) capital
transfer | transfer Shares Equity p (%)
Share Share &) o
9]
May 20, Market
2019 purchase 2479 Cash 10 302.80 0.02
Total 2,231,079 17,51 17.51
. . | October | Scheme of Other than Not
Venkataraman Rajamani 20, 2017 |arrangement” 436,377 cash 10 Applicable 3.42
Total 436,377 3.42 3.42

*Pursuant to board resolution dated September 30, 2016 and shareholders resolution dated May 10, 2017 and as per the
Scheme of arrangement approved by the National Company Law Tribunal on September 6, 2017, the entire shareholding of
our erstwhile promoter i.e., IIFL Holdings Limited, in our Company was cancelled and in lieu of the same, our Company
allotted the fresh equity shares to the shareholders of 1IFL Holdings Limited in accordance with the entitlement ratio as
specified in the Scheme of Arrangement. Pursuant to the same, Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani became
the Promoters of our Company
** Assuming full subscription by all shareholders of their Rights Entitlement in the Issue, without any inter-se renunciation
among the Promoter and Promoter Group and no additional subscription of Rights Equity Shares by the Promoters / Promoter

Group

All the Equity Shares held by our Promoters are fully paid-up.

b.  The details of the shareholding of our Promoters and members of the Promoter Group as on date of
filing of this Letter of Offer

The shareholding of our Promoters and Promoter Group in our Company is as follows:

Pre-lIssue Post-Issue*
Sr. No. Name of the Shareholder No. of Equity No. of Equity
% %
Shares Shares
Promoters
1. Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain 2,231,079 17.51 4,462,158 17.51
2. Venkataraman Rajamani 436,377 3.42 872,754 3.42
Promoter Group
1. Madhu N. Jain 682,508 5.36 1,365,016 5.36
2. Aditi Avinash Athavankar (in her 360,000 2.83 720,000 2.83
capacity as a trustee of Kalki Family
Private Trust)
3. Aditi Athavankar 8,000 0.06 16,000 0.06
4. Ardent Impex Private Limited 108,000 0.85 2,16,000 0.85
5. Orpheus Trading Private Limited 52,000 0.41 104,000 0.41
Total 3,877,964 30.44 7,755,928 30.44

*Assuming full subscription by all shareholders of their Rights Entitlement in the Issue, without any inter-se renunciation
among the Promoter and Promoter Group and no additional subscription of Rights Equity Shares by the Promoters / Promoter
Group

7.

Details for subscription of Rights Equity Shares by Promoter and Promoter Group

Our Promoters and Promoter Group have, vide their letters dated September 12, 2018 (the "Subscription
Letters") undertaken to: (a) subscribe, jointly and/or severally to the full extent of their Rights Entitlement
and subscribe to the full extent of any Rights Entitlement renounced in their favour by any other Promoter
or member of the Promoter Group of our Company; and (b) subscribe to, either individually or jointly, with
any other Promoter or member of the Promoter Group, for additional Rights Equity Shares, including
subscribing to any unsubscribed portion (if any) in the Issue. Such subscription for Equity Shares over and
above their Rights Entitlement, if allotted, may result in an increase in their percentage shareholding. Any
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such acquisition of additional Rights Equity Shares (including any unsubscribed portion of the Issue) is
exempt in terms of Regulation 10(4)(b) of the Takeover Regulations as conditions mentioned therein have
been fulfilled and shall not result in a change of control of the management of our Company in accordance
with provisions of the Takeover Regulations. Our Company is in compliance with Regulation 38 of the
SEBI Listing Regulations and will continue to comply with the minimum public shareholding requirements
pursuant to the Issue.

Employee Stock Options

The Board of Directors of our Company (“Board”) approved the employee stock option scheme namely
Spaisa Capital Limited Employee Stock Option Scheme 2017 (“5PCL ESOS 2017”). The Shareholders of
our Company approved the 5PCL ESOS 2017 in its meeting held on August 21, 2017. The Equity Shares of
our Company got listed on November 16, 2017. The Board, subject to shareholders’ approval, ratified the
5PCL ESOS 2017 and also approved the 5paisa Capital Limited Employee Stock Option Trust Scheme 2017
(“5PCL ESOTS 2017”) in its meeting held on December 15, 2017. The Shareholders ratified the 5PCL
ESOS 2017 and approved the 5SPCL ESOTS 2017 (together referred as “Schemes™) via postal ballot. The
maximum number of options that can be granted under the Schemes shall be 600,000. The vesting of the
options shall commence after the expiry of a minimum period of one year from the date of grant of options
and may extend up to such time as may be decided by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
(“Committee”) from the date of grant, provided that the vesting period shall not exceed five years.

The purpose of the Schemes is to motivate the employee (as defined in the Schemes) to contribute to the
growth and profitability of our Company. Pursuant to the Schemes, options may be granted to the employees
in accordance with the procedure specified therein. Accordingly, the Committee, vide a resolution dated
January 29, 2018 and April 18, 2019, granted 220,000 options and 100,000 options respectively to the
eligible employees of our Company under 5PCL ESOS 2017. Out of 220,000 options 20,000 options were
lapsed during the year 2018-19 and were added back to the pool for further grant. The 10% of the 200,000
has been vested on January 29, 2019 and 25% of 100,000 options will vest on April 18, 2020.

The Schemes have been framed and implemented in accordance with the SEBI (Share Based Employee
Benefits) Regulations, 2014 (“SBEB Regulations”). Our Company has received a certificate from the
Statutory Auditors of the Company that the Scheme has been implemented in accordance with the SBEB
Regulations and the resolution passed by the members. Our Company has obtained the in-principle approval
from both NSE and BSE for 5PCL ESOS 2017. Our Company has obtained the in-principle approval from
BSE and NSE for 5PCL ESOTS 2017.

As on the Date of this Letter of Offer, 300,000 options have been granted and are outstanding under 5PCL
ESOS 2017 Scheme. As per the terms of 5PCL ESOS 2017 Scheme, the option holders are entitled to
corporate benefits such as rights entitlements in a rights issue made by our Company, in accordance with
applicable SEBI regulations and circulars. Therefore, subsequent to the Issue, the options outstanding under
5PCL ESOP 2017 Scheme shall be adjusted to ensure fair and reasonable adjustment in respect of the rights
entitlement including adjustment to the number of options and the exercise price. 200,000 options with the
original exercise price of ¥ 308 and 1,00,000 options at the price of ¥ 235.05 which are outstanding prior to
the Issue shall be adjusted to two options at an exercise price of ¥ 194 each and I 157.53 each, respectively,
such that total value to the option holder shall remain the same after the Issue.

(A) Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) pursuant to issue of shares on exercise of options calculated
in accordance with Accounting Standard (AS) 20

Diluted EPS for the year ended March 31, 2019 is ¥ (13.01).
(B) Details related to the Schemes

i. The description including terms and condition of the Schemes is summarised as under:

5PCL
Particulars 5PCL ESOS 2017 ESOTS
2017

(a)

Date of
shareholders’ January 25, 2018
approval

January 25,
2018
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5PCL

Particulars 5PCL ESOS 2017 ESOTS
2017
(b) | Total number
of options
approved 600,000 600,000
under ESOS
(c) | Total number
of options - - NIL NIL
exercised
(c) | Vesting Vesting of the options may commence after the | Vesting of
requirements [expiry of a minimum period of one year from the the options
date on which the options were granted and may may
extend up to such time as may be decided at the commence
discretion of the Committee from the date of after  the
grant provided that the vesting period shall not expiry of a
exceed five years. The vesting may occur in minimum
tranches and may be subject to such terms and period of
conditions of vesting, as may be stipulated by the one  year
Committee, in its sole and exclusive discretion. from the
The vesting schedule of the options granted on Sva;]tfch t?\g
January 29, 2018 and currently outstanding are as options
follows: were
1%t anniversary of the grant: 10% granted and
may extend
2" anniversary of the grant: 20% up to such
. time as may
3 anniversary of the grant: 30% be decided
4 anniversary of the grant: 40% at  the
discretion
of the
The vesting schedule of the options granted on | Committee
April 18, 2019 and currently outstanding are as | from  the
follows: date of
grant
1%t anniversary of the grant: 25% provided
. that the
2" anniversary of the grant: 25% vesting
3" anniversary of the grant: 25% period shall
not exceed
4™ anniversary of the grant: 25% five years.
The vesting
may occur
in tranches
and and
may be
subject to
such terms
and
conditions
of vesting,
as may be
stipulated
by the
Committee,
in its sole
and
exclusive
discretion.
(d) | Exercise price |The Exercise price of the Shares will be the |The exercise
or pricing |closing market price of the Shares one day before |price of the
formula the date of the meeting of the Committee wherein  |shares  will
the grants of options will be approved. be the

The closing market price of the stock exchange

market price
of the shares
one day
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5PCL

Particulars 5PCL ESOS 2017 ESOTS
2017
where there is highest trading volume during the |before  the
aforesaid period shall be considered. date of the
meeting  of
The Committee has a power to provide suitable the .
discount or charge premium on such price as |COMMittee
arrived above. However, in any case, the exercise |Vherein the
price shall not go below the par value of Equity [9rants — of
options  will

Shares of the Company.

be approved.

The closing
market price
of the stock
exchange
where there
is  highest
trading
volume
during  the
aforesaid
period shall
be
considered.

The
Committee
has a power
to provide
suitable
discount or
charge
premium
on such
price as
arrived
above.
However,
in any case,
the exercise
price shall
not go
below the
par value of
Equity
Shares  of
the
Company.
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5PCL

Particulars 5PCL ESOS 2017 ESOTS
2017
(e) | Maximum Exercise period shall be the time period after |Exercise
term of |vesting within which the eligible employees/ |period shall
options Directors should exercise their right to apply for |be the time
granted the Equity Shares against the stock options |period after
vested in them pursuant to the Scheme. The |vesting
exercise period shall be decided by the |within which
Committee and will not be more than seven years [the eligible
from the date of grant. employees/
directors
should
exercise his
right to apply
for the
Equity
Shares
against  the
stock options
vested in
them
pursuant to
the Scheme.
The exercise
period shall
be decided
by the
Committee
and will not
be more than
seven years
from the date
of grant.
(f) | Source of |Primary Combination
shares
(primary,
secondary or
combination)
(g) | Variation in |None None
terms of
options
(h) | Description of | We have valued the options under the Black- |-
the  method | Scholes option pricing model.
and The assumptions and weighted average
significant information are below:
assumptions
used during
the year to
estimate the Particulars Weighted | Weighted
fair values of average average
options, Values of | Values of
including the the
weighted- options options
average granted granted
information, on on
namely, risk- January April 18,
free interest 29, 2018 2019
rate, expected | | Stock price: | ¥307.75 3235.05
life, expected Latest
volatility, available
expected stock price as
dividends, on the date of
and the price | | grant
of the | | Volatility: 41.07% 39.53%
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5PCL

Particulars 5PCL ESOS 2017 ESOTS
2017
underlying Historical
share in the | | volatility of
market at the | | the identified
time of grant peer  group.
of the option Calculated as
annualised
standard
deviation of
the
continuously
compounded
rates of return
on the
stock over a
period.
Risk-free rate 7.32% 7.12%

of return: the
interest  rate
applicable for

a
maturity equal
to the

expected life
of the options
based on the
zero-coupon
yield curve for
government
securities.

Exercise 308 3 235.05
price: The
exercise price
as
communicated
to us by the
management
of the
Company
have been
considered in
the valuation.

Expected life: 5 years 4.8 years
The average of
the minimum
period before
which the
options cannot
be exercised
and the
maximum
period after
which the
options cannot
be exercised.

Dividend 0% 0%
yield

Intention  of

According to the insider trading regulations of

According to

(h) | the holders of | the company and SEBI (Prohibition of Insider |the insider
Equity Shares | Trading) Regulations, 2015 there are no |trading
allotted on | restrictions on transfer of shares arising on [regulations
exercise of | account of exercise of options. of the
options to sell company and
their  shares SEBI
within  three (Prohibition
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5PCL

Particulars 5PCL ESOS 2017 ESOTS
2017
months after of  Insider
the listing of Trading)
Equity Shares Regulations,
pursuant to 2015 there
the Issue are no

restrictions
on transfer of

shares
arising  on
account  of
exercise of
options.

Intention to | According to the insider trading regulations of |[According to
(i) | sell Equity | the company and SEBI (Prohibition of Insider |the insider
Shares arising | Trading) Regulations, 2015, there are no [trading

out of the | restrictions on transfer of shares arising on |regulations

exercise of | account of exercise of options. of the
shares company and
granted under SEBI

the  scheme (Prohibition
within  three of  Insider
months after Trading)
the listing of Regulations,
Equity Shares 2015, there
by directors, are no
senior restrictions
managerial on transfer of
personnel and shares
employees arising  on
amounting to account  of
more than 1% exercise of
of the issued options.
capital

(excluding

outstanding
warrants and
conversions)

Note- The Company introduced the Schemes in August and December 2017, respectively, and subsequently after the listing of
Company at BSE and NSE on November 16, 2017, the Shareholders ratified the 5PCL ESOS 2017 and approved the 5PCL
ESOTS 2017. No options were granted under the Schemes prior to Fiscal 2018.

(i) Method used to account for ESOS - Intrinsic or fair value. Intrinsic value

(ii) Since our Company has calculated the employee compensation cost using the intrinsic value of the options,
the difference between the employee compensation cost so computed and the employee compensation cost
that shall have been recognized if it had used the fair value of the options shall be disclosed. The impact of
this difference on profits and on EPS of the company shall also be disclosed.

(iii) Please refer “Point no. f” as mentioned below.

Option movement during Fiscal 2019 with respect to the Schemes:

Particulars 5PCL ESOS 2017 5PCIEO%§OTS
Number of options outstanding at the beginning of the period 220,000 -
Number of options granted during the year - -
Number of options forfeited / lapsed during the year 20,000 -
Number of options vested during the year 20,000 -
Number of options exercised during the year - -
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Number of shares arising as a result of exercise of options - -

Money realized by exercise of options (), if scheme is implemented directly
by the company

Loan repaid by the Trust during the year from exercise price received - -

Number of options outstanding at the end of the year 200,000* -

Number of options exercisable at the end of the year 20,000 -

Note — (1) *Subsequent to March 31, 2018, 20,000 options lapsed and the same have been added back to the pool
for further grant.

(2) No options were granted in fiscal 2019.

(3) The Company has also granted 100,000 options on April 18, 2019 under 5PCL ESOS 2017.

(iv) Weighted average exercise price of options outstanding as on date of this letter of offer whose:

Exercise price equals market price 3235.05
Exercise price is greater than market price 3308
Exercise price is less than market price NA

(v) Weighted average fair value of options outstanding at the end of the year whose:

Exercise price equals market price 3105.40
Exercise price is greater than market price 314572
Exercise price is less than market price NA

(vi) Employee wise details of options granted to:

(@  *Senior managerial personnel including Key Managerial Personnel

Name of the : : Numt_)er of | Total nqmber of Total nqmber of e .
Employee Designation options (_)ptlons optlons _ price )
granted forfeited/ lapsed | outstanding/exercised
Whole Time 125,000 Nil Nil 308
Prakarsh Director & Chief Nil Nil 235.05
Gagdani Executive 70,000
Officer
Santosh Javaram Whole Time 20,000 Nil Nil 308
Y Director 5,000 Nil Nil 235.05
. ief Fi i Nil Nil 235.05
Gourav Munjal Chief F_manaal 7,500
officer
Nil Nil 308
Company 5000 | |
Roshan Dave Secretary L 500 Nil Nil 235.05

(b)  *any other employee who receives a grant in any one year of option amounting to 5% or more
of option granted during that year

Total number
Name of . Number of options Total number of Grant/exercise Year of
LS Designation ol forfeited/lapsed options rice ) Grant

Employee options P outstanding/exercised P

Mayur Assistant Vice . . 2017-2018

Dedhia President 15,000 Nil Nil 308
*Beejish Head - 15,000 Nil Nil 308 2017-2018

Pillai Operations

Note: Options granted to Beejish Pillai has lapsed on account of his resignation.
(c) Identified employees who were granted options, during any one year, equal to or exceeding 1%

of the issued capital (excluding outstanding warrants and conversions) of the company at the
time of grant. —
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Not Applicable

(vii) A description of the method and significant assumptions used during the year to estimate the fair value
of options including the following information:

) The weighted-average values of share Weighted average Values for
price, exercise price, expected . the options granted on
volatility, expected option life, Particulars January 29 April 18,
expected dividends, the risk-free 2018 2019
interest rate and any other inputs to the | | Stock price: Latest available | 307.75 3235.05
model stock price as on the date of

grant
Volatility: Historical volatility | 41.07% 39.53%

of the identified peer group.
Calculated as  annualized
standard deviation of the
continuously compounded
rates of return on the

stock over a period.

Risk-free rate of return: the | 7.32% 7.12%
interest rate applicable for a
maturity equal to the expected
life of the options based on the
zero-coupon yield curve for
Government Securities.
Exercise price: The exercise | ¥ 308 3 235.05
price as communicated to us by
the management of the
Company have been
considered in the valuation.
Expected life: The average of | 5 years 4.8 years
the minimum period before
which the options cannot be
exercised, and the maximum
period after which the options
cannot be exercised.

Dividend yield 0% 0%

(b) The method used and the assumptions | Expected has been calculated as an average of minimum and maximum
made to incorporate the effects of | life of the options. We expect this should capture any effect of early
expected early exercise exercise of options

(c) How  expected volatility  was | Expected volatility has been calculated based on the historical volatility

determined, including an explanation | of the identified peer group company
of the extent to which expected
volatility was based on historical
volatility

(d) Whether and how any other features of | Not applicable
the option grant were incorporated into
the measurement of fair value, such as
a market condition

(d)  For share options exercised during the period, the weighted average share price at the date of
exercise. If options were exercised on a regular basis throughout the period, the entity may
instead disclose the weighted average share price during the period.

Not Applicable

(e)  For share options outstanding as on date of this letter of offer, the range of exercise prices and
weighted average remaining contractual life. If the range of exercise prices is wide, the
outstanding options shall be divided into ranges that are meaningful for assessing the number
and timing of additional shares that may be issued and the cash that may be received upon
exercise of those options.
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No of options Grant /Exercise . Remaining
Date of Grant granted Price Outstanding as on date Contractual Life
January 29, 2018 220,000 3 308 200,000 5.8 Years
April 28, 2019 100,000 ¥ 235.05 100,000 6.10 years

*As on March 31, 2019, 20,000 options have lapsed and been added back to the pool for further grant.

()  Diluted EPS on issue of shares pursuant to all the schemes covered under the regulations shall
be disclosed in accordance with 'Accounting Standard 20 - Earnings Per Share' issued by ICAI
or any other relevant accounting standards as prescribed from time to time.

Particulars (Amount in %)
Net Income (165,700,614)
As Reported
Add: Intrinsic Value Compensation Cost Nil
Less: Fair Value Compensation Cost 10,975,697
Adjusted Pro Forma Net Income (176,676,311)
Earnings Per Share: Basic
As Reported (13.01)
Adjusted Pro Forma (13.87)
Earnings Per Share: Diluted
As Reported (13.01)
Adjusted Pro Forma (13.87)

Details related to the Trust

The following details, inter alia, in connection with transactions made by the Trust meant for the purpose of
administering the schemes under the regulations are to be disclosed:

General information on all schemes:

SI. No. Particulars Details
1 Name of the Trust 5paisa Capital Employee Welfare Trust
2 Details of the trustee(s) Vistra ITCL (India) Limited (formerly IL&FS

Trust Company Limited)

3 Amount of loan disbursed by company / any NIL
company in the group, during the year

4 Amount of loan outstanding (repayable to company NIL
/ any company in the group) as at the end of the
year

5 Amount of loan, if any, taken from any other source NIL
for which company / any company in the group has
provided any security or guarantee

6 Any other contribution made to the Trust during NIL
the year

(9)  Brief details of transactions in shares by the Trust
Sl. No. Particulars Details
1 Number of shares held at the beginning of the year; NIL
2 Number of shares acquired during the year through:
(i) primary issuance NIL
(ii) secondary acquisition, also as a percentage of NIL
paid up equity capital as at the end of the previous
Fiscal, along with information on weighted average
cost of acquisition per share;

3 Number of shares transferred to the employees / sold NIL

along with the purpose thereof;
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[ 4 | Number of shares held at the end of the year. | NIL

(h)  In case of secondary acquisition of shares by the Trust

As a percentage of paid-up equity capital as at the
Number of shares end of the year immediately preceding the year in
which shareholders’ approval was obtained

Held at the beginning of the year NIL
Acquired during the year NIL
Sold during the year NIL
Transferred to the employees during the year NIL
Held at the end of the year NIL
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9. Shareholding Pattern of our Company

The table below presents the shareholding pattern of our Company as on March 31, 2019

Promoter &

(A) Promoter Group 7 3,872,977 0 0| 3,872,977 30.40{ 3,872,977 0 3,872,977 30.40 0 30.40 0 0 0 0] 3,872,977

(B) Public 23,626 88,63,045 0 0| 88,63,045 69.57| 88,63,045 0 88,63,045 69.57 0 69.57 0 0|NA |NA 88,51,736
Non-Promoter -

©) Non Public
Shares

(C1) |Underlying DRs 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0|NA |NA 0
Shares Held by

(C2) |Employee Trust 1 3,000 0 0 3,000 0.02 0 0 0 0 0 0.02 0 0|NA |NA 3,000
Total 23,634| 12,739,022 0 0] 12,739,022 100.00 12,736,022 0| 12,736,022 100.00 0 100.00 0 0 0 0] 127,27,713
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10. The list of top 10 Shareholders of our Company and the number of Equity Shares held by them as on the
date of this Letter of Offer, 10 days before the date of filing, and two years prior the date of filing of this
Letter of Offer are set forth below:

a. The top 10 shareholders of our Company as on date of filing of this Letter of Offer, are as follows:

Ifl:).. Name of Shareholder No. of Equity Shares Per?ﬁ/;‘ )t age
1. FIH Mauritius Investments Ltd 3,385,657 26.58
2. Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain 2,231,079 17.51
3. HWIC Asia Fund Class A Shares 1,134,501 8.91
4, Madhu N. Jain 682,508 5.36
5. Bharat H Parajia 615,471 4.83
6. Bank Muscat India Fund 503,928 3.96
7. Venkataraman Rajamani 436,377 3.42
8. Aditi Avinash Athavankar (in her capacity as a trustee of 360,000 2.83
Kalki Family Private Trust)
9. WEF Asian Reconnaissance Fund Limited 264,253 2.07
10. LOBCO Limited 216,722 1.70
Total 9,830,496 77.17

Note: As per benpos dated June 21, 2019

b.  The top 10 shareholders of our Company 10 days prior to the date of filing of this Letter of Offer are

as follows:

Sl Name of Shareholder No. of Equity Shares HEEEELS

No. ' (%)

1. FIH Mauritius Investments Ltd 3,385,657 26.58

2. Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain 2,231,079 17.51

3. HWIC Asia Fund Class A Shares 1,134,501 8.91

4, Madhu N. Jain 682,508 5.36

5. Bharat H Parajia 615,471 4.83

6. Bank Muscat India Fund 503,928 3.96

7. Venkataraman Rajamani 436,377 3.42

8. Aditi Avinash Athavankar 360,000 2.83

9. WEF Asian Reconnaissance Fund Limited 264,253 2.07

10. LOBCO Limited 216,722 1.70
Total 9,830,496 77.17

Note: As per benpos dated June 21, 2019

c. The top 10 shareholders of our Company two years prior to the date of filing of this Letter of Offer are

as follows:
27 Name of Shareholder No. of Equity Shares FEEENIERE
No. ' (%)
1. IIFL Holdings Limited 17,716,494 99.99
2. Narendra Jain (as a nominee of IIFL Holdings Limited) 1 0
3. Mohan Radhakrishnan (as a nominee of IIFL Holdings

Limited) 1 0
4. Gajendra Thakur (as a nominee of IIFL Holdings

Limited) 1 0
5. Prabodh Agrawal (as a nominee of IIFL Holdings

Limited) 1 0
6. Chintan Modi (as a nominee of IIFL Holdings Limited) 1 0
7. Dinesh Tanwar (as a nominee of 1IFL Holdings Limited) 1 0

Total 17,716,500 100

i. As detailed in the section titled “Group Companies” on page 128, in the year 2015, FIH Mauritius Investments Limited, with HWIC
Asia Fund, I Investments Limited and FIH Private Investments Limited (collectively, the “Fairfax Shareholders”) made an open offer
for acquisition of shares of upto 26% of the equity shares of IIFL Holdings Limited (“IHL ") and the Fairfax Shareholders submitted an
undertaking on September 30, 2015 to SEBI (based on a request from SEBI) pursuant to the said open offer, stating that: (a) the Fairfax
Shareholders would not exercise voting rights on resolutions placed before shareholders of IHL in excess of 25% (Twenty Five percent)
of the paid up equity share capital of IHL; and (b) the Fairfax Shareholders would not acquire additional equity shares of IHL which
exceeds 39.97% (Thirty Nine point Nine Seven percent) (the “Aggregate Fairfax Threshold”) of the total equity share capital of IHL,
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unless the Fairfax Shareholders make an open offer or obtain the prior consent of SEBI for such acquisition. The aforesaid undertakings
would not apply inter-alia to: (i) any inter-se transfer of the Equity Shares within the Fairfax group, (ii) any acquisition of Equity Shares
by the Fairfax Shareholders pursuant to a rights issue upto their entitlement and/or any offering of equity shares of IHL on a public offer
basis; in each case subject to the aggregate shareholding percentage of the Fairfax group in IHL not exceeding the Aggregate Fairfax
Threshold of the total equity share capital of IHL.

Nirmal Jain (the promoter of IHL and 5paisa Capital Limited), had also submitted a separate undertaking dated September 29, 2015 in
connection with the open offer of IHL on behalf of himself and the ‘Promoter and Promoter Group’ of IHL stating that the total of the
Aggregate Fairfax Threshold and the total holding of the Promoter and Promoter Group of IHL together shall not exceed 75% of the
share capital of IHL.

ii. In line with the above, the Fairfax Shareholders have also provided an undertaking in respect of exercise of their voting rights and
shareholding with respect to 5paisa Capital Limited on November 7, 2017 on similar lines as follows:

(a) they will not exercise voting rights on resolutions placed before equity shareholders of 5paisa Capital Limited in relation to such
number of equity shares held by them that represent more than 25% of the paid up equity share capital of 5paisa Capital Limited
at the time of voting on the relevant resolution; and

(b)  they will not acquire additional equity shares of 5paisa Capital Limited to exceed the Aggregate Fairfax Threshold of the total
equity share capital of 5paisa Capital Limited, including by way of a creeping acquisition of upto 5% of the equity share capital
under Regulation 3(2) of the SEBI (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeover) Regulations, 2011 unless the Fairfax
Shareholders make an open offer or obtain the prior consent of SEBI for such acquisition.

However, the aforesaid undertakings do not apply to the following:

(@) Any inter-se transfer of equity shares within the Fairfax group, subject to the aggregate shareholding percentage of the Fairfax
group in 5paisa Capital Limited not exceeding the Aggregate Fairfax Threshold and subject to compliance with other applicable
laws; and

(b)  Any acquisition of equity shares by the Fairfax Shareholders pursuant to a rights issue upto their entitlement and/or any offering
of equity shares of 5paisa Capital Limited on a public offer basis subject to the aggregate shareholding percentage of the Fairfax
group in 5paisa Capital Limited not exceeding the Aggregate Fairfax Threshold.

It has been clarified by the Fairfax Shareholders that the aforementioned undertaking has been given only in the context of the scheme of
arrangement between IHL, 5paisa Capital Limited and their respective shareholders and shall not be applicable in respect of any other
transactions or arrangements involving IHL and/or its group companies.

It is further clarified that any entity in the Fairfax group may sell equity shares of 5paisa Capital Limited that they own and the subsequent
purchaser of such equity shares shall not be subject to the undertaking if such subsequent purchaser is not an entity within the Fairfax group.
Further, if the aggregate shareholding of the Fairfax group falls below 25% of the equity share capital of 5paisa Capital Limited, any
subsequent acquisition of equity shares such that the aggregate shareholding is less than 25% will not require SEBI approval and/or an open
offer as per applicable SEBI regulations.

The Fairfax Shareholders are forming part of public shareholders of 5paisa Capital Limited and are not classified as promoters of 5paisa
Capital Limited and are not persons acting in concert with the promoters of 5paisa Capital Limited.

Similarly Nirmal Jain (on behalf of the promoter group of Spaisa Capital Limited) has provided an undertaking on the same lines to 5paisa
Capital Limited vide his undertaking dated November 07, 2017, to ensure compliance of the terms and conditions of the aforementioned
undertaking dated September 29, 2015 in the context of the shareholding of 5paisa Capital Limited.

11. Details of the Equity Shares held by our Directors and Key Management Personnel

Pre-Issue Post-Issue
Sr. No. Name No. Equity Percentage No. Equity Percentage
Shares (%) Shares (%)
Prakarsh Gagdani 8,990 0.07 17,980 0.07
2. Roshan Dave 1 0.00 2 0.00
Total 8,991 0.07 17,982 0.07

* Assuming full subscription by all shareholders of their Rights Entitlement in the Issue

12. Except as disclosed above, none of our Directors and Key Management Personnel hold any Equity Shares
as on the date of this Letter of Offer.

13. None of our Promoters, Promoter Group, or Directors have purchased or subscribed or sold any securities of
our Company within six months immediately preceding the date of filing of the Draft Letter of Offer.

14. All Equity Shares are fully paid up and there are no outstanding partly paid up Equity Shares as on the date
of filing of this Letter of Offer.

15. Except as disclosed in this Letter of Offer, our Company has not made any public or rights issue of any kind
or class of securities since its incorporation.
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16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

217.

28.

29.

30.

As on June 21, 2019, our Company had 23,827 shareholders.

Other than as disclosed in the above, neither our Company, nor our Directors have entered into any buy back,
safety net and / or standby arrangements for purchase of Equity Shares from any person.

The Lead Manager has not entered into any buy-back, safety net and / or standby arrangements for purchase
of Equity Shares from any person.

The Issue being a rights issue, as per Regulation 34(c) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the requirement of
minimum promoters ‘contribution and lock-in is not applicable.

The ex-rights price of the Equity Shares as per regulation 10(4)(b)(ii) of the Takeover Regulations is ¥
231.03.

All Rights Equity Shares issued pursuant to the Issue shall be fully paid-up at the time of Allotment.

Except the options that would convert into Equity Shares pursuant to the Schemes, our Company presently
does not intend or propose to alter the capital structure for a period of six months from the Issue Opening
Date, by way of split or consolidation of the denomination of Equity Shares or further issue of Equity Shares
(including issue of securities convertible into or exchangeable, directly or indirectly for Equity Shares)
whether on a preferential basis or issue of bonus or rights or further public issue of specified securities or
otherwise.

Neither the Promoters, Promoter Group, Directors nor their relatives have purchased, sold or financed,
directly or indirectly, any securities of our Company during the period of six months immediately preceding
the date of filing of the Draft Letter of Offer.

Except the options that would convert into Equity Shares pursuant to the Schemes, there will be no further
issue of Equity Shares and/or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for Equity Shares, whether by
way of issue of bonus shares, preferential allotment, rights issue or in any other manner during the period
commencing from filing of the Draft letter of offer until the Rights Equity Shares have been listed on the
Stock Exchanges or all Application monies received in the Issue have been refunded, as the case may be.

There are no outstanding warrants, options or rights to convert debentures, loans or other instruments into
the Equity Shares as on date of this Letter of Offer except those as stated above. For details relating to
employee stock options, see “Capital Structure — Employee Stock Option” on page 54.

No person connected with the Issue shall offer any incentive, whether direct or indirect, in any manner,
whether in cash or kind or services or otherwise to any Investor for making an application for allotment of
Rights Equity Shares in the Issue.

As on the date of this Letter of Offer, the Lead Manager and its respective associates (as per the Companies
Act, 2013) do not hold any Equity Shares in our Company. The Lead Manager and their affiliates may engage
in the transactions with and perform services for our Company in the ordinary course of business or may in
the future engage in commercial banking and investment banking transactions with our Company for which
they may in the future receive customary compensation.

There have been no financial arrangements whereby our Promoters, Promoter Group, our Directors and their
relatives have financed the purchase by any other person of securities of our Company, other than in the
normal course of the business of the financing entity during a period of six months preceding the date of
filing of the Draft Letter of Offer.

No payment, direct or indirect in the nature of discount, commission and allowance or otherwise shall be
made either by us, or our Promoters or members of the Promoter Group to the persons who are Allotted
Rights Equity Shares.

There shall be only one denomination of the Equity Shares, unless otherwise permitted by law. Our Company
shall comply with such disclosure and accounting norms as may be specified by SEBI from time to time.

67



31. None of the Equity Shares held by the members of the Promoter Group are pledged or otherwise encumbered.

32. The Promoters and Promoter Group will not receive any proceeds from the Issue.
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SECTION IV - PARTICULARS OF THE ISSUE
OBJECTS OF THE ISSUE

The proceeds from the Issue are proposed to be utilised by us towards the following Objects:

Business and operations expansion

Manpower expenses

Margin maintenance with stock exchanges

Investment in our Subsidiary namely 5paisa P2P Limited
General corporate purposes.

agrwnE

The details of the Issue Proceeds are provided in the following table:
(in Z million)

Particulars Amount

Gross proceeds of the Issue 1,019.12

Less: Issue related expenses 10.94

Net Proceeds 1,008.18

Our Memorandum of Association enables us to undertake our existing activities, and the activities for which the
funds are being raised by our Company in the Issue.

Requirement of funds and utilization of Net Proceeds

The proposed utilization of Net Proceeds is set forth below:

(in Z million)
Sr. No. Particulars Amount

1. Business and operations expansion 240.00
2. Manpower expenses 141.60
3. Margin maintenance with stock exchanges 450.00
4. Investment in our Subsidiary namely 5paisa P2P Limited 50.00
5. General corporate purpose 126.58

Total 1,008.18

Schedule of Implementation and Deployment of Funds

The Net Proceeds are presently expected to be deployed in accordance with the schedule set forth below:

(<in million)
Sr. No. Particulars . Amount to bg spent Total amount to
Fiscal 2020 | Fiscal 2021 be deployed

1. Business and operations expansion 160.00 80.00 240.00
2. Manpower expenses 94.40 47.20 141.60
3. Margin maintenance with stock exchanges 300.00 150.00 450.00
4. Investment in our Subsidiary 33.30 16.70 50.00
5. General corporate purpose 100.00 26.58 126.58

Total 687.70 320.48 1,008.18

Requirement of funds

As indicated above, our Company proposes to deploy the entire Net Proceeds towards the Objects as described
herein during Fiscals 2020 and 2021. In the event of the estimated utilization of the Net Proceeds in the scheduled
Fiscal is not undertaken in its entirety, the remaining Net Proceeds shall be utilized in subsequent Fiscals, as may
be decided by our Company, in accordance with applicable laws. Further, if the Net Proceeds are not completely
utilised for the Objects during the respective period stated above due to factors such as (i) economic and business
conditions; (ii) timely completion of the Issue; (iii) market conditions outside the control of our Company; and
(iv) any other commercial considerations, the remaining Net Proceeds shall be utilised (in part or full) in
subsequent periods as may be determined by our Company in accordance with applicable laws. Similarly, subject
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to our business considerations, our Company may also use the Net Proceeds in the preceding Fiscal, if it is in the
best interests of our Company.

Our Company has incurred an expenditure of ¥ 4.16 million till June 30, 2019 towards the rights issue expenses
which has been funded from the internal accruals as certified by V. Sankar Aiyar & Co., Chartered Accountants
& Statutory Auditors of the Company, vide their certificate dated July, 05, 2019.

The requirement and deployment of funds indicated above is based on internal management estimates, current
circumstances of our business and prevailing market conditions. The requirement and deployment of funds
described herein has not been verified by the Lead Manager nor have the Object been appraised by any bank or
financial institution. We may have to revise our funding requirements and deployment from time to time on
account of various factors, such as, change in cost of material, financial and market conditions, business and
strategy and interest rate fluctuations or other external factors, which may not be within the control of our
management. This may entail rescheduling and revising the planned expenditure and funding requirement and
increasing or decreasing the expenditure for a particular purpose from the planned expenditure at the discretion
of our management, subject to compliance with applicable law. For details, see “Risk Factors — The Objects for
which we propose to utilise Net Issue proceeds are not appraised by any Bank or Financial Institution and our
Management will have flexibility in applying the issue proceeds.” on page 15.

In case of any surplus after utilization of the Net Proceeds for the stated Objects, we may use such surplus towards
general corporate purposes. Further, in case of variations in the actual utilisation of funds earmarked for the
Objects set forth above, then any increased fund requirements for a particular object may be financed by surplus
funds, if any, available in respect of the other Objects for which funds are being raised in this Issue. In case of a
shortfall in raising requisite capital from the Net Proceeds towards meeting the Objects, we may explore a range
of options including utilising our internal accruals and seeking additional debt from existing and future lenders.
In view thereof, such alternate arrangements would be available to fund any such shortfalls.

Means of Finance

The fund requirements set out for the Objects of the Issue are proposed to be met entirely from the Net Proceeds
and our internal accruals. Accordingly, our Company confirms that there is no requirement to make firm
arrangements of finance through verifiable means towards at least 75% of the stated means of finance, excluding
the amount to be raised from the Issue as required under SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Details of the Objects of the Issue
The details in relation to Objects are set forth below:
1. Business and operations expansion

Client acquisition is the major focus of discount brokerage companies such as ours. Our Company has been
making a conscious and concentrated effort to increase the pace of customer acquisition. During the past financial
year, our Company has acquired more than 1,25,000 customers, recording a 2X growth in customer acquisition,
on the back of a wide variety of products and affiliated value-added offerings, which has helped post steady
growth. Customer acquisition continues to be a key focus for us along with provision of superior customer
experience and services.

5paisa Capital was demerged from IIFL Holdings Limited in September 2016 with a capital infusion of ¥ 1,000
million. Our Company has invested heavily in online marketing, branding and IT. As a result, the expense on this
activity during the financial year 2017-18 was about ¥ 155.70 million. The Company’s clientele is typically
technology driven and open to innovative financial products/services. More than 76% of the client acquisition has
been from Tier Il and Tier Il cities. The Company uses marketing techniques like social media campaigns, search
engine optimization and online advertisements to increase awareness and expand customer base. The increase in
clientele growth has also occurred on account of general word of mouth.

We have dedicated contact centres equipped with all the infrastructure, facilities and manpower to acquire
customers and assist them in their account opening and on-boarding process. These contact centres are located at
Thane, Bengaluru and Ahmedabad on an approximate area of 36,000 sqg. ft., having about 311 employees
currently, dedicated for customer acquisition and on-boarding process, which have been successful in executing
our client acquisition process speedily. Our client acquisition since May, 2018 till April, 2019 is as follows:
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Month No. of New Clients Acquired
May 2018 7,671
June 2018 8,535
July 2018 10,390

August 2018 12,569
September, 2018 11,599
October, 2018 12,036
November, 2018 12,256
December, 2018 13,041
January, 2019 11,392
February, 2019 9,804
March, 2019 10,118
April, 2019 11,069

The Company proposes to push the process of customer acquisition through an aggressive marketing drive. Our
Company targets at acquiring additional 250,000 clients in a time frame of 12 months. We therefore earmark
proceeds of ¥ 240 million i.e. 67% higher budget than the Fiscal 2019 for branding and business development
purpose. We intend to achieve 2X growth in customer base with an increase of just 50% in acquisition expenditure
over the previous year. The estimate considers the growing recognition of the brand and increasing benefit of
customer growth by word of mouth.

Most of the business development and marketing spends will be used on advertisement mediums like social media,
digital platforms such as Google advertisements, newspaper advertisements, offline BTL (below the line),
sponsorships, associations, and television commercials.

In a bid to enhance our customer acquisition we are strategically focusing on Tier Il and Il cities. Increase in
income and spending power of non-metro regions, affordable internet and smart phones and dearth of bank and
broker network are the key factors driving digital players like us to penetrate better across these geographies.

Our Company’s approach of offering very low cost of services, complete paperless trading experience, multi
product offering under one umbrella, usage of advanced analytics for personalized financial planning and
research/advisory has led to the growth in our customer acquisition. With increased manpower and additional
infrastructure, our Company would be able to acquire additional 2,00,000 clients as targeted. Once we are able to
obtain a large active traders client base, the turnover is likely to enhance manifold which serves as a major income
to discount brokerage companies such as ours. Once the sizable customer base is established, the operations cost
going forward will be lower since all the service is online, and incremental service provision will not require
increase in human touch points as in traditional full-service brokerages.

2. Manpower Expenses

As the Company targets to acquire additional 200,000 customers, investments in human capital is essential. The
additional manpower will directly contribute to customer acquisition as well as background service provision and
constant customer support. We plan to invest around ¥ 141.60 million on manpower over the next 12 months.

We propose to increase our customer acquisition service team and operations. The details of existing manpower
in the contact centre as well as required manpower and estimate of additional manpower expense are depicted
below:

Existing Manpower Additional Manpower Estimates of Additional
Particulars (No. of employees) (As required Manpower Expenses

on April 30, 2019) (No. of employees) (% in million)
Client acquisition team 351 400 91.90
Customer services team 56 50 12.10
Operations team 48 50 12.10
IT team 54 65 25.50
Total 509 565 141.60

71




3. Margin maintenance with stock exchanges

The nature of our business necessitates a substantial working capital to be employed and in the normal course of
business. We rely on credit lines from various financial institutions and banks, fixed deposits, bank guarantees,
overdraft limits and cash.

We are required to maintain adequate levels of margin with the various exchanges across financial assets —equity
(cash and derivatives) and currency for our businesses of trading in such financial assets. The margin requirements
with the stock exchanges are determined by the stock exchanges on the basis of trading volumes, market volatility
and to the extent of open interests in respect of equities.

This margin/pay-in requirement also increases in terms of percentage due to volatility in the market, and such
margin requirements may change even though the business may remain constant. Such margins may need to be
provided by us on behalf of the customers arising on account of the time gap in realization of payment received
from clients. Additionally, while we may receive approved securities from clients, we may not be able to deposit
those in the exchanges towards margin owing to certain other exchanges’ parameters, and thus may have to deposit
our cash / fixed deposits towards such margin requirements.

As of April 30, 2019, we have an average combined daily exchange turnover of over ¥ 250,000 million on equity
(cash and derivate) segment, currency (NSE), MCX and had approximately ¥ 1,006.61 million deposited with
exchanges as margin.

Details of present margin maintained by us are as follows:

(Tin million)
. . " March 31, March 31,
Exchange Segment April 30, 2019 March 31, 2019 2018* 2017*
NSE Cash 512.50 512.51 257.01 57.51
F&O 377.60 267.59 204.50 75.00
Currency 24.50 24.50 15.00 7.00
Total 914.6 804.61 476.51 139.51
BSE Cash 51.50 41.50 36.00 8.50
F&O 7.0 7.0 7.00 6.00
Total 58.50 48.50 43.00 14.50
MCX F&O 33.5 18.50 8.5 0
Overall 1,006.61% 871.61% 519.51# 154.01%

* The Margin Report is as on the last trading day of the respective period (Source: Margin Reports of the Stock
Exchanges)

# The above figures include bank guarantees provided by our Company backed by 50% margin in form of fixed
deposits.

Over the previous three financial years, and especially during the last one year, there has been an increased
requirement to maintain margins in the equities (cash & derivative), MCX and currency segments. There would
be a requirement for us to increase our margin requirements towards the segments at the stock exchanges where
we are currently members due to the increase in volumes of cash & derivatives transactions on the stock exchange
coupled with enhanced number of clients.

As we intend to acquire additional customers we will see a surge in our turnover thereby requiring additional
margin. To service the expected increased client activity during 12 months period, we plan to earmark ¥ 450
million towards additional margin requirement i.e. Initial Span Margin (ISM), Additional Surveillance Margin
(ASM), extreme loss Margin (ELM), etc.

4. Investment in our Subsidiary namely 5paisa P2P Limited

5paisa P2P Limited, our wholly owned subsidiary was incorporated in December 2017 with the object of carrying
out business as a Peer to Peer lending company. The Company had filed an application with the RBI for obtaining
registration as a NBFC Peer to Peer Lending Platform (NBFC-P2P) towards which we have received in-principle
approval from RBI. 5paisa P2P has not yet commenced operations.

Peer to Peer (P2P) lending is a method of debt financing that enables individuals to borrow and lend money
without the use of an official financial institution as an intermediary. It involves the use of an online platform to
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match lenders with borrowers in order to provide unsecured loans. The borrower can either be an individual or a
legal person requiring a loan. The interest rate may be set by the platform or by mutual agreement between the
borrower and the lender. Fees are paid to the platform by both the lender as well as the borrower. The borrowers
pay an origination fee (either a flat rate fee or as a percentage of the loan amount raised) according to their risk
category. The lenders, depending on the terms of the platform, have to pay an administration fee and an additional
fee if they choose to use any additional service (e.g. legal advice etc.), which the platform may provide. The
platform provides the service of collecting loan repayments and doing preliminary assessment on the borrower’s
creditworthiness. The fees go towards the cost of these services as well as the general business costs. The platforms
do the credit scoring and make a profit from arrangement fees and not from the spread between lending and deposit
rates as is the case with normal financial intermediation.

We propose to commence business development in 5paisa P2P Limited and set up the required infrastructure, IT
and manpower required to conduct operations. We will also need to invest on acquiring customers and building
brand awareness through advertisements and digital marketing. We intend to utilize an amount of ¥ 50 million to
make an equity investment in our subsidiary to meet the above needs.

5. General Corporate Purposes

Our Company proposes to deploy the balance Net Proceeds aggregating to ¥ 126.58 million towards general
corporate purposes, subject to such utilization not exceeding 25% of the Gross Proceeds of the Issue, in
compliance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The general corporate purposes for which our Company proposes
to utilize Net Proceeds include expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business, on acquiring new technology
and maintenance and upgradation of existing technology, acquiring new office space on lease/rent, funding growth
opportunities, repayment of loans, reduction in working capital and payment of interest on any borrowing availed
by our Company.

In addition to the above, our Company may utilize the Net Proceeds towards other expenditures considered
expedient and as approved periodically by the Board or a duly constituted committee thereof, subject to
compliance with necessary provisions of the Companies Act. Our Company’s management, in accordance with
the policies of the Board and subject to applicable law, shall have flexibility in utilizing surplus amounts, if any.

Issue Expenses

The Issue related expenses consist of fees payable to the Lead Manager, Legal Counsel, processing fee to the
SCSBs, Registrars to the Issue, printing and stationery expenses, advertising expenses and all other incidental and
miscellaneous expenses for listing the Rights Equity Shares on the Stock Exchange. Our Company will need
approximately ¥ 10.94 million towards these expenses, a break-up of the same is as follows:

(Tin million)

. Estimated % of Total As a % of

Activity .

Expense Expenses Issue size

Fees to intermediaries (including Lead Managers fees, Legal fees, 6.14 96.09 0.60
selling commission*, registrar fees and expenses)

Advertising, Printing, Stationary & Distribution 2.20 20.14 0.22
Statutory and other miscellaneous expenses 2.60 23.77 0.26
Total estimated Issue expenses 10.94 100.00 1.07

*Includes Commission/ processing fees to the Designated Intermediaries. Designated Intermediaries would be
entitled for a processing fee of €10.00 per application for processing of valid Application forms procured by such
Intermediaries. Additionally, the SCSBs will be entitled for a fee of & 10.00 per application for blocking of funds.

Appraisal

None of the Objects of the Issue have been appraised by any bank or financial institution.

73



Bridge Financing Facilities

We have not availed any bridge financing facilities for the meeting the expenses as stated under the Objects of the
Issue.

Interim Use of Funds

Pending utilization of the Issue Proceeds for the Objects of the Issue described above, our Company shall deposit
the funds only in Scheduled Commercial Banks included in the Second Schedule of Reserve Bank of India Act,
1934.

Monitoring of Utilization of Funds

Our Company has appointed a monitoring agency prior to the filing of this Letter of Offer in accordance with
Regulation 16 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Our Board and the monitoring agency for the Issue will monitor
the utilization of Net Proceeds and submit its report to our Company in terms of Regulation 16(2) of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations.

Our Company will disclose the utilization of the Net Proceeds under a separate head along with details in our
balance sheet(s) along with relevant details for all the amounts that have not been utilised and will indicate
instances, if any, of unutilised Net Proceeds in our balance sheet for the relevant Financial Years post receipt of
listing and trading approvals from the Stock Exchanges.

Pursuant to the SEBI Listing Regulations, our Company shall on a quarterly basis disclose to the Audit Committee
the uses and application of the Net Proceeds. Additionally, the Audit Committee shall review the report submitted
by the monitoring agency for the Issue and make recommendations to our Board for further action, if appropriate.
Our Company shall, on an annual basis, prepare a statement of funds utilised for purposes other than those stated
in this Letter of Offer and place it before the Audit Committee. Such disclosure shall be made only till such time
that all the Net Proceeds have been utilised in full. The statement shall be certified by the statutory auditors of our
Company. Furthermore, in accordance with Regulation 32 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, our Company shall
furnish to the Stock Exchanges on a quarterly basis, a statement including deviations, if any, in the utilization of
the Net Proceeds from the Objects of the Issue as stated above.

The information will also be published in newspapers simultaneously with the interim or annual financial results
and explanation for such variation (if any) will be included in our Director’s report, after placing the same before
the Audit Committee.

Variation in Objects

In accordance with Section 13(8) and Section 27 of the Companies Act, 2013 and applicable rules, our Company
shall not vary the Objects of the Issue without our Company being authorized to do so by the Shareholders by
way of a special resolution through postal ballot. In addition, the notice issued to the Shareholders in relation to
the passing of such special resolution (the "Postal Ballot Notice™) shall specify the prescribed details as required
under the Companies Act and applicable rules. The Postal Ballot Notice shall simultaneously be published in the
newspapers, one in English and one in Marathi, the vernacular language of the jurisdiction where the Registered
Office is situated. Our Promoters or controlling Shareholders will be required to provide an exit opportunity to
such Shareholders who do not agree to the proposal to vary the Objects, at such price, and in such manner, as may
be prescribed by SEBI, in this regard.
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BASIS FOR ISSUE PRICE

The Issue Price has been determined by our Company in consultation with the Lead Manager on the basis of an
assessment of market demand for the issued Equity Shares and on the basis of the following qualitative and
quantitative factors. The face value of the Equity Share of our Company is <10 each and the Issue Price is <80
per equity share. Investors should also refer to “Our Business”, “Risk Factors” and “Financial Information” on
pages 92, 12 and 149 respectively, to have an informed view before making an investment decision. The Issue

Price is 8 times of the face value of Equity Shares.
Quantitative Factors

Some of the information presented below relating to our Company is derived from the Financial Statements
prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP, Companies Act and SEBI ICDR Regulations. For details, see
“Financial Information” on page 149.

Our company was originally incorporated on July 10, 2007. Our subsidiary “Spaisa P2P Limited” was
incorporated on December 7, 2017 and “Spaisa Insurance Brokers Limited” was incorporated on October 27,
2018. Hence the consolidated financial statements till the financial year 2017 were not prepared. The first
consolidated financial statements were prepared for the financial period ending March 31, 2018.

Some of the quantitative factors which may form the basis for computing the Issue Price are as follows:

1. Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share (“EPS”)

Basic & Diluted EPS () .
For the Year ended - Weight
Standalone Consolidated
March 31, 2019 (13.01) (13.03) 3
March 31, 2018 (19.86) (19.86) 2
March 31, 2017 (14.41) - 1
Weighted Average* (15.53) -

*Weighted average is aggregate of year-wise weighted EPS divided by the aggregate of weights i.e. {(EPS x Weight) for
each year} / {Total of weights}.

Notes:

i The figures disclosed above are based on the restated financial statements as disclosed in this letter of
offer.

ii. Earnings per share is calculated in accordance with Accounting Standard 20 ‘Earnings Per Share’,
notified under section 133 of the Companies Act 2013, read together along with paragraph 7 of the
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014

2. Price/ Earnings Ratio (P/E) ratio in relation to issue Price of ¥ 80 per Equity Share of ¥ 10 each:

Sr. No. Particulars PE Ratio
1 Based on basic and diluted EPS as per restated financial statements for the year NA *
ended March 31, 2019 o
3 Based on weighted average basic and diluted EPS, as per restated financial NA*
statements o
*The Company has negative EPS during the Fiscal 2019, 2018 & 2017 and hence PE Ratio cannot be determined.
3. Industry peer group P/E ratio:
Sr. No. Particulars Standalone ()
1 Highest (Indiabulls Ventures Limited) 35.03
2 Lowest (ICICI Securities Limited) 14.41
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Sr. No. Particulars Standalone ()

3 Industry Composite (Finance & Investment) * 26.10

*Source: Capital Market Magazine June 17, 2019 to June 30, 2019

4. Return on Net Worth (RONW)

RONW (%) :
For the year ended - Weight
Standalone Consolidated
March 31, 2019 (35.74) (35.83) 3
March 31, 2018 (40.20) (40.20) 2
March 31, 2017 (13.25) - 1
Weighted Average* (33.48) -

*

Weighted average = Aggregate of year-wise weighted Return on Net Worth divided by the aggregate of weights i.e.

{(Return on Net Worth x Weight) for each year} / {Total of weights}

Note: The RONW has been computed by dividing net profit after tax by net worth as at year end

5. Minimum Return on Increased Net Worth required to maintain pre-lssue EPS for the year ended

March 31, 2019:

Our Company had negative EPS during the Fiscal 2019 and hence this is not applicable.

6. Net asset Value (NAV) per Equity Share of our Company (In 3):

As of the year ended Standalone (%) Consolidated (%)
March 31, 2019 36.40 36.37
March 31, 2018 49.40 49.40
March 31, 2017 69.26 -
After the issue 58.20 58.19

7.

Note: Net Asset Value per Equity Share represents net worth divided by the number of Equity Shares
outstanding at the end of the period.

Comparison with listed peers:

We are a Broking Services Company with our focus on “Discount Broking” Services providing online
technology platform and mobile application services to our clients based on a ‘Do it Yourself” model. Presently
besides us there are some other unlisted Discount Broking Companies in operation such as Zerodha Capital
Private Limited (Zerodha.com), Sunlight Broking LLP (Prostocks), Beeline Broking Limited (Beeline), RKSV
Securities India Private Limited (Upstox), Swastika Investmart Limited (Trading Bells), Samco Securities
Limited (Samco) etc. There are no other listed Companies whose business model is similar to us. However,
there are several full-service broking Companies whose equity shares are listed on Indian Stock Exchanges.
These companies besides providing integrated financial services including broking have also forayed into
online broking services.

Details of some of the Companies which also provide Online Broking platform are provided for information.
They are not strictly comparable with our Company based on business model as well as size of operation.
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(in million except per share data)

Market
Face REVEILE . Price as
Name of the Compan Value from PAT Basic on P/E RONW | NAV
pany operations ® EPS R) Ratio (%) ®
® ® May 31,
2019 R)
Spaisa Capital Limited 10 627.57 | (166.02) (13.03) 243.30 NA | (35.83) | (36.37)
Peers
Eierﬂliggmanc'al Services 1 287670 |  354.60 1.49 36.35 | 24.40 659 | 2258
Indiabulls Ventures 2| 1993431 | 4,602.86 8.42 294.95 | 3503 6.90 | 110.34
Limited
ICICI Securities 5 17,045.70 | 4,907.30 15.23 21945 | 14.41 4686 | 3251

Notes:

0] The figures of 5paisa Capital Limited are based on the restated consolidated financials for the year ended
March 31, 2019 and the figures of the peer group companies are based on the consolidated audited
financials for the year ended March 31, 2019.

(i)  P/E Ratio has been computed as the closing market prices of the companies sourced from the BSE website
as on May 31, 2019, as divided by the EPS.

The Issue Price of ¥ 80 per equity share has been determined by our Company, in consultation with the Lead
Manager on the basis of assessment of market demand from investors for the Equity Shares and is justified in
view of the above qualitative and quantitative parameters. Investors should read the above-mentioned information
along with “Risk Factors”, “Financial Information” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” on pages 12, 149 and 226 respectively, to have a more informed view. The
trading price of the Equity Shares of our Company could decline due to the factors mentioned in “Risk Factors”
or any other factors that may arise in the future and you may lose all or part of your investments.
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STATEMENT OF TAX BENEFITS

To

The Board of Directors

5paisa Capital Limited

Sun Infotech Park, Road No. 16V
Wagle Estate, Thane
Maharashtra 400604

India

Dear Sirs,

Subject: Statement of possible special tax benefits available to Spaisa Capital Limited (“the Company”)
and its shareholders prepared in accordance with the requirement of Securities and Exchange Board of
India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009, as amended

We refer to the Letter of Offer ( “LOF”) proposed to be filed by the Company with the Securities Exchange Board
of India (“SEBI”), the National Stock Exchange of India Limited (the “NSE”) and the BSE Limited (the “BSE”,
and together with the NSE, the “Stock Exchanges”). We enclose herewith the Annexure stating the possible
special tax benefits available to the Company and to its shareholders under the provisions of the Income-tax Act,
1961(the “IT Act”), (i.e. including amendments made by Finance Act 2018, i.e. applicable for the financial year
2019-2020, relevant to the assessment year 2020-2021) presently in force in India, for inclusion in the LOF.

The benefits discussed in the enclosed Annexure cover only the special tax benefits available to the Company and
its shareholders and do not cover general tax benefits. Special tax benefits are benefits which are generally not
available for all companies. We are informed that this Statement of Tax Benefits is only intended to provide
general information to the investors and hence is neither designed nor intended to be a substitute for professional
tax advice. In view of the nature of individual tax consequences and the changing tax laws, each of the investor is
advised to consult his or her or their own tax consultant with respect to the specific tax implications arising out of
listing of equity shares of the Company.

We do not express any opinion or provide any assurance as to whether:

e the Company or its shareholders will continue to obtain these benefits in future; or
e the conditions prescribed for availing the benefits, where applicable, have been/would be met with;

The contents of the enclosed Annexure are based on information, explanations and representations obtained from
the Company and on the basis of our understanding of the business activities and operations of the Company.

Our views expressed herein are based on the facts and assumptions indicated to us. No assurance is given that the
revenue authorities / courts will concur with the views expressed herein. Our views are based on the existing
provisions of law and its interpretation, which are subject to change from time to time. We do not assume
responsibility to update the views consequent to such changes. We shall not be liable for any claims, liabilities or
expenses relating to this assignment except to the extent of fees relating to this assignment, as finally judicially
determined to have resulted primarily from bad faith or intentional misconduct.

The enclosed annexure is intended for your information and for inclusion in the LOF to be filed with SEBI and
the Stock Exchanges. We hereby consent to the use of our name and other details, including reference to our firm
as auditors to the Company. We further consent to be named as an expert in the LOF, as defined under the
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules framed thereunder.

Yours faithfully,

For V. Sankar Aiyar & Co.
Chartered Accountants
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Firm Registration No.109208W

(G. Sankar)
Partner
Membership No. 046050

Place: Mumbai
Date:  June 14, 2019
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ANNEXURE TO THE STATEMENT OF POSSIBLE SPECIAL TAX BENEFITS

The information provided below sets out the possible special tax benefits available to the Company and its

shareholders under the Income Tax Act 1961 as amended by the Finance Act 2018, i.e. applicable for the Financial

year 2019-2020 relevant to the assessment year 2020-2021, presently in force in India (the “IT Act”).

l. Special tax benefits available to the Company

There are no special tax benefits available to the Company.

1. Special tax benefits available to Shareholders

There are no special tax benefits available to the shareholders for investing in the shares of the Company.

Notes:

1. This statement does not discuss any tax benefits in the country outside India of an investment in the Equity
Shares. The subscribers of the Equity Shares in the country other than India are urged to consult their own
professional advisers regarding possible special tax benefits and consequences that apply to them.

2. Inrespect of non-residents, the tax rates and the consequent taxation mentioned above shall be further subject
to any benefits available under the applicable Double Taxation Avoidance Agreement, if any, between India

and the country in which the non-resident has fiscal domicile.

All the above benefits are as per the current IT Act. Accordingly, any change or amendment in the laws
/regulations, which when implemented would impact the same
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SECTION V - ABOUT THE COMPANY

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The information presented in this section has been obtained from publicly available documents from various
sources, including officially prepared materials from the Government of India and its various ministries, industry
websites and publicly available industry reports. Industry websites and publications generally state that the
information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable but their accuracy
completeness and underlying assumptions are not guaranteed and their reliability cannot be assured.

Accordingly, none of our Company, the Lead Manager and any other person associated with the Issue, has
independently verified this information and takes any responsibility for the data, projections, forecasts,
conclusions or any other information contained in this section. Industry sources and publications are also
prepared on information as on specific dates and may no longer be current or reflect market trends. Accordingly,
investors should not place undue reliance on, or base their investment decision on this information.

OVERVIEW OF THE INDIAN ECONOMY

As per IMF’s World Economic Outlook Update, April 2019, India’s growth is projected to pick up to 7.3 percent
in 2019 and 7.5 percent in 2020, supported by the continued recovery of investment and robust consumption amid
a more expansionary stance of monetary policy and some expected impetus from fiscal policy. Further, the growth
is expected to stabilize at just under 7.75 percent over the medium term, based on continued implementation of
structural reforms and easing of infrastructure bottlenecks.

India - Real GDP Growth
(%)
:.g 8.0 52 7.5
: 7.4 29 71 7.3
7.0 -
6.0 -
50 -
4.0 . . . . : :
FY2014 FY2015 FY2016 FY2017 FY2018 FY2019p FY2020p

(Source: IMF World Economic Outlook, April 2019) p - projections

With the introduction of policies like Jan-Dhan and Aadhaar, the successful implementation of Goods and
Services Tax (GST), the creation of a single law for Insolvency and Bankruptcy and the enormous increase in
number of mobile phone users the base of the Indian economy is in revival.

According to RBI’s data as of March 27, 2019, under Jan-Dhan Yojana 35.27 crore accounts have been opened
with a balance 0f 96,107.35 crore. This has also helped India’s rural population to get access to financial services,
namely Banking- Savings & Deposit Accounts, Remittance, Credit, Insurance, Pension in an affordable manner.

The National Payment Corporation of India (NPCI) has successfully launched BHIM (Bharat Interface for
Money)- a smart phone based mobile app for customers to make digital payments using their Aadhaar-seeded
bank accounts. The transactions are processed as part of the existing Aadhaar Enabled Payment System (AEPS)
with a separate transaction type assigned to them. It has significantly reduced the transaction time and cost for the
customers as well as merchants.

GST has opened up major bottlenecks for growth. This will change how credit is farmed out in this country.

Currently credit is asset backed, which will move to cash flow based. This will result in many MSMESs entering
the formal banking sector.

Simultaneously, IBC (Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code) is streamlining the process to clear the mounting NPAs
in banking sector. An analysis of the transactions under the corporate insolvency resolution process indicates that
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the pace of admitted cases to the IBC has picked up with time. 816 corporate bodies are undergoing a resolution
at the end of the September 2018 quarter as per Insolvency and Bankruptcy Board of India. In addition to the
progress made under various parameters, facilitating measures undertaken by the Reserve Bank and the SEBI are
also expected to provide a boost to the resolution process.

(Source: RBI’s Report on Trend and Progress of Banking in India 2017-18)

India now ranks 77th in the World Bank’s annual Ease of Doing Business Report, 2019 as against 100th rank in
2018. This shows that the economy is in a revolutionary phase.

According to RBI’s report on Indian Household Finance, July 2017 the Indian household balance sheets exhibit a
set of features that are unusual in the international context. A disproportionately high share (approximately 95%)
of wealth allocated to non-financial assets such as real estate and gold. These non-financial assets will slowly get
converted into financial assets like equity, which grows with the underlying cash flow of the company. This
transition will boost the Indian equity market and ultimately the economy as these productive assets are something
which will yield outputs as well as jobs, which will yield income and will ultimately lead to more consumption
and increase in GDP.

Reforms in Indian Financial Services Industry

An efficient financial system is regarded as a necessary pre-condition for higher growth. Propelled by this ruling
paradigm, several developing countries undertook programs for reforming their financial systems. Since the late
1970s, financial sector reforms encompassing deregulation of interest rates, dismantling of directed credit, easing
of policy pre-emptions and measures to promote competition in the market for financial services became an
integral part of the overall structural adjustment programs in many developing economies. More recently, the
weight of opinion has swung even further with financial intermediation being regarded as playing a greater role
in economic growth than the traditional determinants.

In line with the above, the Indian financial sector has also undergone radical transformations over the years.
Reforms have altered the organizational structure, ownership pattern and domain of operations of institutions and
infused competition in the financial sector. This has forced financial institutions to reposition themselves in order
to survive and grow. The extensive progress in technology has enabled markets to graduate from outdated systems
to modern business processes, bringing about a significant reduction in the speed of execution of trades and in
transaction costs.

(Source: RBI’s Working paper on “Financial Structures and Economic Development in India”)

OVERVIEW OF CAPITAL MARKETS

A positive investment climate supported by robust macroeconomic performance, easing inflationary pressures,
stable FDI inflows, regulatory and structural reforms by the government improved the business confidence and
attracted investors to the Indian capital market. Indian stock market scaled new peaks on the back of positive
domestic and global sentiments. The broad-based benchmark indices S&P BSE Sensex and Nifty 50 continued its
growth momentum in 2017-18, as they gained 11.3 per cent and 10.2 per cent respectively against their closing at
the end of 2016-17.

(Source: SEBI Annual Report, 2018)

In 2018-19, S&P BSE Sensex and Nifty 50, gained 10.02 per cent and 14.05 per cent respectively against their
closing at the end of 2017-18.

Trends in Primary Markets

In financial year 2018-19, companies from various sectors ranging from cement/ construction, electronic
equipment products, finance, hotels raised funds through public issue and rights issue. Finance sector came up
with maximum number of issues raising an amount of ¥ 40,420 crore. Industry-wise classification of capital raised
through Public and Rights Issue is as follows:

Industry - Aite 1
No. of issues Amount (¥ crore)
Automobiles 1 9
Banks/ Fls 1 1,131
Cement/ Constructions 4 542
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Industry - Zhe )
No. of issues Amount (X crore)
Chemical 4 622
Consumer Services 2 59
Electronic Equipment/ Products 8 266
Engineering 9 467
Entertainment 1 1
Finance 29 40,420
Food processing 4 90
Healthcare 3 58
Hotels 3 1,647
Info Tech 2 45
Miscellaneous 74 8,819
Textile 10 1,321
Plastic 2 39
Oil & Natural Gas 1 10
Total 158 54,917

During 2018-19, ¥ 54,917 crores were mobilised through 148 public and 10 rights issues as against ¥ 1,10,360
crore raised in 2017-18 through 208 public and 21 rights issues (see the table below). Equity segment showed a
sluggish trend but there was a significant jump in the number of Public Issues of Bonds/ NCDs and the amount
mobilised by them. There were 25 Public Issues of Bonds/ NCDs during 2018-19 compared to 8 in previous year,
an increase of more than 250% per cent.

No. No. of Amount No.of | Amount 2018-19 | 2017-18
issues (R crore) issues | (X crore)

1 | Public Issues (i)+(ii) 148 52,768 208 88,960 96.1 80.6

(i) | Public Issues 123 16,807 200 83,787 29.3 75.9
(Equity/ PCD /FCD) of which

IPOs 123 16,807 199 83,774 29.3 75.9

FPOs - - 1 13 - 0.0

(ii) | Public Issues (Bond / NCD) 25 36,681 8 5,173 66.8 4.7

2 | Rights Issues 10 2,149 21 21,400 3.9 19.4

Total Equity Issues (1(i)+2) 133 18,236 221 | 105,187 32.2 95.3

Total Equity and Bond (1+2) 158 54,917 229 1 1,10,360 100.0 100.0

Notes: 1. The primary market resource mobilisation is inclusive of the amount raised on the SME platform.
2. All offers for sale are already counted under the head of IPOs/FPOs.
3. Both the equity and debt issues have been taken on the basis of their respective closing date.

(Source: SEBI Bulletin: April 2019)
Trends in Secondary Markets

India’s broad-based benchmark indices S&P BSE Sensex (henceforth referred to as Sensex) and NIFTY 50
(henceforth referred to as NIFTY) continued its growth momentum in 2018-19, as Sensex and Nifty gained 10.02
per cent and 14.05 per cent respectively during the year. In the cash segment, the turnover at NSE increased from
< 72,34,826 Crores in 2017-18 to ¥ 79,49,004 Crores in 2018-19, which is an upsurge of 9.87 per cent from the
previous year. However, during the same period, the turnover at BSE went down from ¥ 10,82,968 Crores to
7,75,590 Crores, which is a decline of 28.38 per cent from the previous year.

In the equity derivatives segment too, the turnover (notional value) at NSE witnessed spurt in the trading activity.
The gross turnover at NSE rose by 44.01 per cent during 2018-19, the turnover was around ¥23,76,00,705 Crores
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during 2018-19 as compared to ¥ 16,49,84,859 crores in the previous year. The trading activity of equity derivative
segment of BSE, however, declined significantly during the same period. The gross turnover in the derivatives
segment of BSE declined from ¥ 3,262.65 Crores in 2017-18 to ¥ 2,250.14 Crores in 2018-19, which is a decline
of 31.03 per cent from the previous year.

The market capitalisation of BSE and NSE witnessed an increase of 6.21 per cent and 6.34 per cent, respectively
in 2018-19 over previous year. In terms of PE valuations, the PE ratio of Sensex declined to 23.71 and Nifty
increased to 29.01, at the end of March 2019 from 23.78 per cent and 24.66 per cent, respectively, at the end of
March 2018.

Trading frequency of stocks listed at NSE and BSE indicates improvement in the liquidity. Number of companies
traded increased from 2,794 in 2017-18 to 4,086 in 2018-19 on BSE whereas on NSE the number increased from
1,850 to 1,922 during the same period. During 2018-19, the percentage of Companies traded to listed was 77.65
per cent & 99.53 per cent on BSE & NSE respectively.

The total number companies traded on NSE & BSE combined increased by 29.37 per cent in 2018-19 from the
previous year, However the aggregate number of demat securities traded on BSE & NSE declined by 6.06 per
cent. The number of demat securities traded declined by 32.85 per cent & 0.58 per cent on BSE & NSE
respectively.

(Source: SEBI Bulletin: April 2019)

STOCK BROKING SECTOR
Overview of Stock Broking Sector

The Indian brokerage sector can be classified in terms of type of brokerage service, nature of parent company and
business diversification. The following chart describes the market structure:

)

Broking
Industry

I
A A

Full Services Discount
Brokerage Brokerage

| |
A A

With Bank as Other Full
Parent Services
Company Brokerage

There are primarily two types of brokers in India:

e  Full-service brokers: These brokers offer a wide range of services like offline and online trading, demat
accounts, investment advisory and other customized services.

e Discount brokers: These brokers offer services at low and fixed brokerage fees, irrespective of size of order
and provide such services via an online platform. Discount brokers typically do not provide any cost intensive
facilities and services such as physical offices, research reports and relationship managers. Currently, there
are more than 15 discount brokers in India. Since inception in 2010, thousands of investors and traders moved
from traditional brokers to discount brokers. As they offer 60% - 80% cheaper brokerage and free trading
terminals for everyone, they are well accepted and have become very popular among the investor community.

(Source: SEBI: Handbook on statistics)
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No. of Brokers Registered with SEBI in various segments

4500 - 4,259
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2,092
1,703

173

Brokers (as on April 2019)

mCash* mEquity Derivative m Currency Derivative Commodity Derivative = Debt

*including 1,975 corporate brokers
(Source: SEBI Bulletin — May 2019)

Consolidation Phase

While the equity cash market turnover of NSE and BSE combined has witnessed an increase in the past six years
from ¥ 32,57,053 crores in Fiscal 2013 to ¥ 87,24,594 crore in Fiscal 2019, the number of registered sub-brokers
has declined from 70,144 in Fiscal 2013 to 21,379 in Fiscal 2019. Sub-brokers are a vital part of broking value
chain bridging the gap between brokers and customers. The rapid decline in sub-brokers points to the consolidation
in the industry.

(Source: SEBI: Handbook on statistics, SEBI Website - Registered Sub-Brokers in equity segment, SEBI Bulletin:
April 2019)

Decline in Registered Sub-Brokers

90,000 4 83,932

80,000 1 e 70,144
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40,000 - 241 30000

30000 ’ 26,371
20,000

10,000

FY2011 FY?2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016 FY2017 Till Dec
2017

1

1

= No. of Registered Sub-Brokers

Decline in registered Sub-Brokers (source: SEBI: Handbook of Statistics 2017)

According to the Regional Human Development Report of the United Nations dated April 2016, the working age
population of India is expected to grow from 0.86 billion people in 2015 to over one billion by 2050. A
continuously growing young population, coupled with rapid advances in technology are the major growth drivers
for this discount brokerage industry as more and more retail clients are easily adopting the concept of self
investing.

(Source: United Nations: Asia Pacific Human Development Report)
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Further the technological advancement has reduced both transaction time and costs. At the same time, brokers
have been able to improve their reach and increase penetration by investing in online trading platforms. Increase
in smartphone penetration coupled with the implementation of 4G services will act as a tailwind for this brokerage
business.

DEPOSITORY SERVICES SECTOR

Overview of Depository Services in India

In India, presently there are two depositories namely, National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) and Central
Depository Services (CDSL).

Depository is an institution registered with SEBI for holding custody of securities in electronic form and facilitates
transfer based on the instructions from the account holders. With growth in Indian capital market, it became
difficult to handle the growing volume of paper. This caused problems like delay in transfers, long settlement
period, high levels of failed trade and bad deliveries, high-risk exposure etc. To remove these bottlenecks, The
Depositories Act was legislated in August 1996. Accordingly, National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL)
was established in November 1996. Subsequently, three years later in 1999, Central Depository Services (India)
Limited (CDSL) was established following the implementation of compulsory trading in dematerialised securities
for all investors.

Number of Demat Accounts opened
Lakhs)
30 - (
25.73 27.34
25 -
20 -
14.77 15.12 15.00
ol 1181 10.15
iy 8.33 8.58 '
10 6.51
5 45369 I
N
FY2014 FY2015 FY2016 FY2017 FY2018 FY2019
CDSL mNSDL

(Source: CDSL Annual Report 2018, NSDL Annual Report 2018, NSDL & CDSL Website data)

The presence of depositories supports the capital market growth in a variety of ways including substantial
reduction in bad deliveries, enhanced liquidity of securities, reduction in transaction cost, eliminates problems
relating to change of address of investors, transmission etc., makes faster disbursement of non-cash corporate
benefits like rights, bonus, etc. possible, faster settlement cycle, no stamp duty on transfer of shares, eliminates
problems relating to selling securities on behalf of a minor etc. (Source: CDSL Annual Report 2018)

Depository Participants

Depository participants are the ones who act as an interface between investor and depositories. The investor has
to open an account through a depository participant to avail the services offered by the depositories.

A Depository Participant (DP) is also described as an Agent (law) of the depository. They are the intermediaries
between the depository and the investors. The relationship between the DPs and the depository is governed by an
agreement made between the two under the Depositories Act. As of April 2019, there are 278 DPs of NSDL and
598 DPs of CDSL registered with SEBI. (Source: CDSL, NSDL Statistics)

Business of depositories and Depository Participants grows in direct proportion to growth in capital markets. The

past three-to-four years have witnessed a steady structural shift of savings from physical assets such as real-estate
and gold into financial assets. The prevailing positive real interest rates should enable this trend to continue.
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Within financial assets, the allocation towards equities has been increasing due to the relatively higher return as
well as low base; given the retail investor has traditionally been under-invested in equities.

e  Equity Market
e |POs

e Increase in trading volumes & Retail participation
(Source: CDSL Annual Report 2018)

MUTUAL FUND INDUSTRY
Overview of Mutual Fund Industry in India

In the financial market ecosystem, asset management companies facilitate financial intermediation and portfolio
diversification. Besides providing financial stability, they help investors diversify their assets more easily and can
provide financing to the real economy. The Indian mutual fund industry is one of the fastest growing and most
competitive segments of the financial sector. In the last two decades the mutual fund industry has shown
impressive growth not just in the scale of assets under management (AUM) but also in terms of number of folios.
(Source: SEBI Annual Report, 2018)

Total Assets (X In Trillion)

—4¢—Series 1

Assets managed by the Indian mutual fund industry have grown from ¥ 23.21 trillion in April 2018 to ¥ 25.28
trillion in April 2019. This represents a 8.91% growth in assets over April 2018. Out of the total assets managed,
the value of assets held by individual investors increased from 12.07 trillion in April 2018 to ¥13.82 trillion in
April 2019, an absolute increase of 14.48%. The value of Institutional assets have increased from ¥ 11.14 trillion
in April 18 to ¥11.46 trillion in April 2019, an absolute increase of 2.87%.

Out of the four main schemes (equity oriented, debt oriented, ETFs/ FOFs, Liquid/ Money market), the
proportionate share of equity-oriented schemes was 42.4% of the industry assets in April 2019, up from 41.3% in
April 2018. While the proportionate share of debt-oriented schemes was 29.3% of industry assets in April 2019,
down from 34.9% in April 2018.

Individual investors as per April 2019 data, hold a higher share of industry assets, i.e. 54.7%, compared with
52.0% in April 2018. Institutional investors account for 45.3% of the assets, of which corporates are 91%. The
rest are Indian and foreign institutions and banks. Equity-oriented schemes derive 88% of their assets from
individual investors (Retail + HNI). While Institutional investors dominate liquid and money market schemes
(86%), debt-oriented schemes (54%) and ETFs, FOFs (94%).

(Source: Association of Mutual Funds in India — Industry Data Analysis — Industry Trends)

Mutual Funds Distribution Sector

87



There are several mutual fund schemes with two to three variations on each fund such as growth, monthly
dividend, annual dividend etc. Besides offering different schemes for investment, AMCs also offer several
investment plans to their customers. Systematic Investment Plans (SIPs), Systematic Withdrawal Plans (SWPs),
Systematic Transfer Plans, Triggers, Insurance Options and many other plans are designed to give a degree of
control and flexibility to the investor.

There are various channels for distribution of these Mutual Fund products. Independent Financial Advisor (IFA)
is one of them, which plays a crucial role in fund distribution. IFAs interact with the investors on a regular basis
and provide advice on scheme selection to asset allocation and asset diversification. Thus, they have the potential
to influence the investors’ decision and sell the MF products. This approach has its risks as well. If the IFAs are
not empowered with professional training and education, they run the risk of mis-selling schemes. Without proper
training, it would be difficult for IFAs to explain or convince small town investors about the advantages of mutual
funds over traditional investments like savings accounts, FDs etc. (Source: SEBI Development Research Group
Study-Penetration of Mutual Funds in India)

Outlook of MF Sector

The Indian mutual fund industry finds itself in an economic landscape which has undergone rapid changes over
the past few years.

Financial inclusion has for long been a priority for the policy makers in India. The Reserve Bank of India (RBI)
has permitted the banks to use the services of Business Facilitators and Business Correspondents. A roll out of
Ultra Small Branches (USBs) in remote locations is one of the steps being taken in this direction.

Direct Cash Transfers and linkages with Aadhaar would be a step forward towards the goal of financial inclusion
and may prove beneficial to mutual fund houses in the long run. With below poverty households finally coming
to own bank accounts, fund houses could use pre-existing bank channels to offer investment opportunities when
these people finally start earning saving.

This combination of ignorance, risk-aversion and mutual fund complexity are huge hurdles that AMCs in India
will have to overcome if there is to be any increase in retail participation in mutual funds. Investors need to be
made to look beyond the traditional avenues of investment through sensitization and education. In addition to this,
campaigns should be tailored to increase the visibility of debt funds which generally tend to be safer than equity
funds.

Another challenge that AMCs in India face is increasing the efficiency of their distributional channels. Attracting
new investors in small cities does not come cheaply for the Asset Management Companies beyond the top 200
districts by GDP. More money has to be spent on distribution and marketing for getting investments in poorer
districts. (Source: SEBI Development Research Group Study-Penetration of Mutual Funds in India)

PEER TO PEER (P2P) LENDING SECTOR
Overview P2P Lending Sector

P2P lending is a form of crowd-funding used to raise loans which are paid back with interest. It can be defined as
the use of an online platform that matches lenders with borrowers in order to provide unsecured loans. The
borrower can either be an individual or a legal person requiring a loan. The interest rate may be set by the platform
or by mutual agreement between the borrower and the lender. Fees are paid to the platform by both the lender as
well as the borrower. The borrowers pay an origination fee (either a flat rate fee or as a percentage of the loan
amount raised) according to their risk category. The lenders, depending on the terms of the platform, have to pay
an administration fee and an additional fee if they choose to use any additional service (e.g. legal advice etc.),
which the platform may provide. The platform provides the service of collecting loan repayments and doing
preliminary assessment on the borrower’s creditworthiness. The fees go towards the cost of these services as well
as the general business costs. The platforms do the credit scoring and make a profit from arrangement fees and
not from the spread between lending and deposit rates as is the case with normal financial intermediation.
(Source: RBI-Consultation Paper on Peer to Peer Lending dated April 2016)
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P2P Lending in India

In India, there are many online P2P lending platforms. Some of these are involved in the business targeted at
micro finance activities with the stated primary goal being social impact and providing easier access of credit to
small entrepreneurs. They provide web-based platform to bring the lenders and the borrowers together. One of the
main advantages of P2P lending for borrowers has been lower rates than those offered by money
lenders/unorganized sector and the advantages for lenders are higher returns than what conventional investment
opportunities offer. Interest rates and the methodology for calculating those rates vary among P2P lending
platforms. They range from a flat interest rate fixed by the platform to dynamic interest rates as agreed upon by
the borrowers and the lenders to cost plus model (operational costs plus margin for platform and returns for
lender). (Source: RBI-Consultation Paper on Peer to Peer Lending dated April 2016)

According to the RBI data available until March 27, 2019, there are eleven (11) lenders registered in the NBFC —
P2P category.

Operational Business Model

P2P lending platforms are largely tech companies acting as an aggregator for lenders and borrowers thereby,
helping create a match between them. Once the borrowers and lenders register themselves on the website, due
diligence is carried out by the platform and those found acceptable are allowed to participate in lending/borrowing
activity. The companies often follow a reverse auction model in which the lenders bid for a borrower’s loan
proposal and the borrower has the freedom to either accept or reject the offer. Some platforms provide several
additional services like credit assessment, recovery etc. In most cases, the platform moderates the interaction
between the borrower and the lender. The documentation for the lending and borrowing arrangement is facilitated
by the P2P platform. The lender transfers money from his/her bank account to borrower’s bank account. The
platform facilitates collection of post-dated cheques from the borrower in the name of the lender as a proxy for
repayment of the loan. The P2P forum, in general, also helps in the recovery process and as part of this, follows
up for repayments and if need be, employs recovery agents too.

LENDERS BORROWERS

N - o

PP2P Platform

How P2P Lending Works?

In this elementary model, the lending is primarily from one individual to another. The regulatory concerns in such
cases would relate to KYC and recovery practices. Since all payments are through bank accounts, the KYC
exercise can be deemed to have been carried out by the banks concerned. Though these platforms claim to follow
soft recovery practices, the possibility of use of coercive methods cannot be ruled out.

(Source: RBI-Consultation Paper on Peer to Peer Lending dated April 2016)

Major Developments in P2P Lending Sector

The Reserve Bank of India has issued a specified list of directions regarding various rules and regulations for all
the existing and prospective entities carrying on the business of Peer to Peer (P2P) lending. In those rules RBI has
made it mandatory to obtain a certificate of registration subject to a minimum net worth of ¥ 2 crores.

The company has to undertake complete due diligence including the credit assessment and risk profiling of the
borrowers and disclose the same to their prospective lenders.

Along with the rules as stated above, RBI has also laid down a few limitations and prudential norms to regulate
the industry and avoid any wrongdoings. Some of the limitations are as follows:

e NBFC-P2P cannot provide or arrange any credit enhancement or credit guarantee;
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e NBFC-P2P cannot facilitate or permit any secured lending linked to its platform; i.e. only clean loans will be
permitted,;

e NBFC-P2P cannot cross sell any product except for loan specific insurance products;
e NBFC-P2P shall maintain a Leverage Ratio not exceeding 2;

e The aggregate exposure of a lender to all borrowers at any point of time, across all P2Ps, shall be subject to
a cap of ¥ 10 lakh

e The aggregate loans taken by a borrower at any point of time, across all P2Ps, shall be subject to a cap of
¥10 lakh
e  The maturity of the loans shall not exceed 36 months.

RBI also voices that the business of an NBFC-P2P shall be primarily Information Technology (IT) driven. The
technology should be scalable to handle growth in business. There should be adequate safeguards built in its IT
systems to ensure that it is protected against unauthorized access, alteration, destruction, disclosure or
dissemination of records and data.

(Source: RBI: Master Directions - Non-Banking Financial Company — Peer to Peer Lending Platform (Reserve
Bank) Directions, 2017)

INSURANCE BROKING SECTOR

Overview of Insurance Broking Sector

An Insurance Broker is an individual or a company registered with Insurance Regulatory and Development
Authority of India (IRDAI), who for a remuneration and/ or a fee, solicits and arranges insurance and/ or re-
insurance business for its clients with insurers and/ or re-insurers located in India and/ or abroad; and/ or provides

claims consultancy, Risk Management services or other similar services.

As per IRDAI (Insurance Brokers) Regulations, 2018, there are three main categories of Insurance brokers:

Direct Reinsurance Composite

Broker Broker Broker

Direct brokers are the ones who deal with insurance business, they are further categorized into direct brokers
dealing with life insurance business; direct brokers dealing with general insurance business; and third category
dealing with both life and general insurance business. Reinsurance brokers are into the business of re-insurance,
while composite brokers solicit and arrange both insurance as well as re-insurance for its clients.

(Source: IRDAI (Insurance Brokers), Regulations 2018)

IRDAI allowed Insurance Brokers to operate in the Indian market since 2003 and the first Broking license was
issued on January 30, 2003. The Insurance Broking is steadily popularizing, and the number of registrations
increased to 535 since 2003 (as of March 31, 2018). Out of the total number of registered brokers of 535, the valid
brokers stand at 426 and 109 are not in force as on March 31, 2018. The 426 valid brokers comprise of 363 direct
brokers, 58 composite brokers and 5 reinsurance brokers.

IRDAI (Insurance Brokers) Regulations 2018

During the financial year 2017-18 IRDAI has brought out IRDAI (Insurance Brokers) Regulations, 2018, which
have superseded IRDA (Insurance Brokers) Regulations, 2013. The new regulations brought significant changes
in the regulatory stipulations to supervise and monitor insurance broker as an insurance intermediary. Few of the
salient features of the regulations are as under:

o IT infrastructure made one of the factors for consideration of application.

e Minimum paid up capital/contribution — Direct broker: ¥ 75 lakhs, Reinsurance broker: ¥ 4 crores and
Composite broker: X 5 crores.

90



e Limit for claims consultancy increased to 10 crores.
e Outsourcing of non-core activities by insurance brokers introduced.
(Source: IRDAI Annual Report 2017-18)

Outlook of Insurance Broking Sector

Focus on servicing: Given competitive pressures and increasing customer demands, brokers will start focusing
immensely on servicing and retention of customers. This will entail not only changing Key Performance Indicators
of staff from sales to servicing but also a paradigm shift in the way brokers operate.

Expansion in range of services: Brokers will play an increased role in overall value chain of their customers. They
are likely to start focusing on not only understanding financial profile of customers but also providing services
across a broad spectrum including end-to-end risk management, advisory services such as claims consulting,
employee benefits consulting etc., and customized services such as analytics and bespoke coverages.

Consolidation: The insurance broking industry in India is fragmented with several small-sized and medium-sized
brokers. The consolidation wave is expected to hit the market in the medium term. Brokers with good book of
business may get acquired while brokers who have not focused on quality or who do not provide value addition
to clients may find it difficult to survive in the long term.

Segmentation: Segmentation of brokers is expected to be evolved primarily due to increasing consumer demands.
This segmentation could be in terms of size of customers being served, or specific lines of business or niche areas.
Some of the brokers may choose to become specialist with increasing risk awareness, competitive pressures and
increasing customer demands. These brokers are likely to find customer acquisition easy by demonstrating their
considerable knowledge in the specific areas.

(Source: Report by Insurance Brokers Association of India titled Vision 2025: Brokers driving customer-centric
growth)
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OUR BUSINESS

Some of the information in the following section, especially information with respect to our plans and strategies,
contain certain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read “Forward-
Looking Statements” on page 11, for a discussion of the risks and uncertainties related to those statements and
“Risk Factors” on page 12, for a discussion of certain risks that may affect our business, financial condition, or
results of operations. Our actual results may differ materially from those expressed in or implied by these forward-
looking statements.

Our fiscal year ends on March 31 of each year, and references to a particular fiscal are to the twelve months
ended March 31 of that year. Unless otherwise indicated, the financial information included herein is based on
our Restated Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016 and 2015 included in this
Letter of Offer. For further information, see “Financial Information” on page 149.

Overview

We are a financial services company with a focus on “discount broking” services, providing financial products
through an online technology platform and mobile application. We provide services in capital market, futures &
options and currency derivatives segments of BSE and NSE. We are a depository participant of CDSL and also a
trading cum clearing member of BSE and NSE. We distribute mutual funds and IPO products and are also
registered as a research analyst.

We are a technology driven company having primarily an online presence, providing services through a DIY (do-
it-yourself) model and we charge a flat brokerage fee of ¥ 10 per order for all transactions instead of differential
brokerage.

As of March 31, 2019, over 2.5 million users have downloaded our mobile application. Our customer base has
grown from 57,703 in Fiscal 2018 to 1,94,276 in Fiscal 2019. Currently, 76% of the total client base are in Tier
Il and Tier 11 cities and 80% of the total turnover is from trades through our mobile app.

Our innovative product offerings, based on a deep understanding of customer behaviour, include completely
paperless account opening, advanced technological solutions and robo-advisory services etc. With a robust trading
platform, advanced mobile application and an artificial intelligence powered robo-advisory platform, we offer
advanced technology-led services to our customers, leading to an enhanced user-friendly experience across the
investment lifecycle.

We provide a wide range of financial services to our clients including and in relation to:

1. Discounted stock broking services - A trading platform for all types of investors in which we provide equity
and currency broking services at a very low price. Our services are targeted at retail investors and high-
volume traders who actively invest and trade in securities markets and seek DIY (do-it-yourself) services at
a low cost. We provide an online technology platform to our clients through internet terminals and mobile
applications for trading in securities in BSE and NSE.

2. Clearing and Depository Services — We are a depository participant of CDSL and Clearing Members of BSE
and NSE. We provide clearing and depository services to our clients as part of our integrated services offering.

3. Mutual fund distribution - A mutual fund platform in which our clients can subscribe to a host of mutual
fund products offered by various asset management companies and can avail the services of our robot
advisory tool to help them select mutual fund products based on their risk profile and goals.

4. Distribution of other financial products —~We aspire to be a one stop shop for all financial products in the
retail segment. As a step towards the same, our platform facilitates our existing customers to subscribe or
purchase premium advisory products, IPO funding, personal loans and home loans. We tie-up with respective
service providers, apprise our customers on the availability of their products and generate leads for our
partners for the purpose.

5. Research Services —We are a SEBI registered research analyst and we offer advisory services to our clients
through the research undertaken by a team of research analysts.

We believe that our brand, reputation, and the strong and stable management team has enabled us in offering
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quality services to our customers at a low cost. Our Company was awarded the ‘Digital Start-up of the Year 2017’
award at the world digital marketing congress and awarded the “Best Use of Mobile Technology in Financial
Services” by ET Now in 2019.

Recently, we have formed a wholly owned subsidiary namely 5paisa P2P Limited (“5paisa P2P”) which will
operate as a peer-to-peer lending platform. An in-principle approval for registration as NBFC peer-to-peer lending
platform (NBFC-P2P) from RBI has been received. We have also incorporated a subsidiary named 5paisa
Insurance Brokers Limited on October 27, 2018 which has applied for grant of registration with the Insurance
Regulatory and Development Authority of India.

For the years ended March 31, 2019, March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, our total revenue from operations were
% 626.40 million, ¥ 196.52 million and ¥ 74.67 million, respectively, and for the years ended March 31, 2019,
March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017, we have reported a net loss which was ¥ (165.70) million, ¥ (252.99) million
and ¥ (116.90) million, respectively.

We are an ‘online only’ model with administrative offices situated at Thane, Ahmedabad and Bengaluru. We
believe that our online presence allows us to capitalize on opportunities to grow our financial product offerings.
For further details, please see section titled “Our Business — Properties” on page 99.

Our competitive strengths
Following are our key strengths:
1. Effective technological platform

We are a technology based financial service provider. Our consistent effort in building a robust trading
platform, advanced mobile app, artificial intelligence powered robo-advisory platform, paperless account
opening platform are some examples of technology advancement. We strongly believe in making the entire
investing experience of a customer seamless and hence have significantly invested in creating an efficient
technological architecture comprising our product offering as well as operational processing. Our focus on
innovation and understanding customer behaviour provides us with a significant competitive advantage.

2. Low cost of services and effortless user experience

We are a low cost financial service provider and charge as low as ¥ 10 per order, providing an effortless user
experience to our customers throughout the lifecycle of the investment at a low cost. Our completely paperless
on-boarding of the client, learning videos to train on stock markets, speedy execution of trades, handy trade
reports on the mobile app, after-trade support through our self-help portal and the interactive user interface
with minimal human intervention contribute to providing a hassle-free service thereby enhancing customer
experience

3. Established brand with a large customer base

We believe that in close to three years of operations 5paisa is now an established brand. On the digital front,
we have had more than a million downloads of our mobile app. As on April 30, 2019, we had 302, 329
followers on Facebook, 35,238 followers on Twitter. Our YouTube channel has 53,462 subscribers and a
total of more than seven million video views. On the business front, we have acquired more than 1,90,000
customers in a short period of less than three years. As of April 30, 2019, we have an average combined daily
exchange turnover of over ¥ 250,000 million on Equity (cash and derivate) segment, currency (NSE) and had
approximately ¥ 1,006.61 million deposited with exchanges as margin. We have been awarded the ‘Digital
Start-up of the Year 2017° award at the world digital marketing congress and the
“Best Use of Mobile Technology in Financial Services” award by ET Now in 2019.

4. Robust risk management

Management of risk is essential in the financial services business and we have in place a robust risk
management mechanism. We have deployed resources in terms of technology, people and processes to
manage our risk management function. We have established general risk management procedures for trading
activities, such as instruments and stocks allowed for trading, position and trading limits and time based and
risk based automatic square-off. Our entire limit setting is automated and standard. We have also bifurcated
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stocks in categories based on our internal policy, in addition to exchange prescribed groups. Standard
differential limits are then set in the beginning of the day. We have a dedicated and experienced risk
management team, which oversees our risk management functions. We review our risk management
processes every quarter and modify such procedures, if necessary or appropriate. Our risk management team
monitors real-time market conditions and our clients’ positions and informs our clients about potential risks
and takes action accordingly.

Experienced board of directors and strong management team

Our Company has an experienced Board that oversees and guides our strategy and operations. Our Directors
have experience in areas relevant to our business. We believe that the extensive relevant experience and
financial acumen of our management and executives provide us with a distinctive competitive advantage. We
have also introduced various learning and development programs which include training programs based on
a systematic identification and review of existing gaps in the talent base. Our management team is responsible
for formulating our business strategy, devising and executing marketing and sales plans, managing our service
areas, diversifying our business and sector mix, ensuring strong operating and technology platforms and
expanding our client relationships. We believe that our management’s entrepreneurial spirit, leadership skills,
insight into the market and customer needs provides us with a competitive advantage which will help us
implement our business strategies. For further details on our Board, please see section titled “Our
Management” on page 112.

Customer education:

We attract a lot of customers who are first time investors in capital markets. In order to educate prospective
investors, we have started an educational series i.e. “5P School”. Through 5P school we provide basic
education to customers in simple and easy to understand language about various concepts of capital markets.
We have four modules with 13 courses and 64 chapters explaining concepts pertaining to equity, derivative,
technical analysis, fundamental analysis and mutual funds. To make the entire learning experience more
effective we have also added short learning videos.

Our Business Strategies

The following are our key business strategies:

1.

Expand reach

Client acquisition is the major focus of discount brokerage companies such as ours. For achieving the same,
we propose to vigorously push the process of customer acquisition through aggressive marketing drive and
increase our team strength in customer acquisition, customer services and operations. We believe that increase
in internet penetration will complement the process of expanding its client base.

We aim on increasing our presence by leveraging technological innovations and focusing on investor
segments which are currently underserved by traditional players. Our approach of offering very low cost of
service, complete paperless trading experience, multi product offering, all under one umbrella shall lead to
faster growth in customer acquisitions. Acquiring more and more customers will continue to be our key focus
area and with seamless user experience at the core of our strategy, we aim to ensure client retention as well.
We further aim to strengthen our existing robust customer care services to enhance our client experience.

Product development

We aim to develop a comprehensive range of products which would serve various facets of investment cycle
right from decision making to the execution of trades. Increasing the range of our product offering is the key
to maintaining and growing our market share in this industry. Further, we seek to capture relevant insights
into clients’ behaviour, financial strength and goals which will enable us to provide effective advice to our
clients based on a defined, exhaustive, data-driven algorithmic approach, with assessment of targets on a
periodic basis and optimizing their performance by providing recommendations.

We shall strive to improve customers’ experience on our website, mobile application and trading platform by
constantly upgrading technology and investing in finding out more innovative solutions for our existing
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services and products. This will help us in creating a long-lasting relationship with our clients.
Increase wallet share

We offer a digital financial platform and we aim to be a one-stop shop for financial products which can be
served digitally. Along with our core offering of stock trading and distribution of mutual funds, we also offer
distribution of various other financial products such as IPO funding, personal loans and home loans. We will
continue to have this approach of adding value added products and services either through internal
development or third-party tie-ups. These various products and services will ensure that we get a higher share
of the customer wallet and also increase customer stickiness with the brand.

Improve efficiency and productivity

We focus a lot on improving our efficiency in all areas especially people, marketing and technology. We have
put various processes in place like scorecards, and key performance indicators (“KPIs”) to monitor employee
efficiency. We also monitor our marketing and branding campaigns and continuously work on improving
vital parameters, thereby reducing cost. We have also undertaken projects like infrastructure virtualization,
which has helped us reduce cost on hardware infrastructure. Our aim is to consistently work on various aspects
of efficiency and productivity improvement, which will lead us to profitability.

Our Business Operations

A

Broking

We are a member of BSE and NSE for stock, derivative, and currency segments with more than 100,000
customers registered with us. We provide a trading platform for capital market, futures & options and
currency derivatives segments of NSE and BSE. We offer discount broking services to our clients through an
online technology platform and mobile application at a low cost 10 per order. Our registered clients can
avail our online trading facilities on our website at www.5paisa.com and through our mobile application
named “Spaisa Trading and Robo-Advisory”. Our broking services are based on a DIY (do-it-yourself) model,
which is supported with call and trade facility to enable our clients to trade over a phone call.
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Our online trading portal is accessible through our website, www.5paisa.com and clients can directly execute
the sale and purchase of securities. When a client sends a trade request, it is routed through the risk
management system. The risk management system then verifies the margin requirement of the client and
sends confirmation for the same. The trade request is then sent through satellite connection to the NSE or the
BSE where the trade is executed. The client receives confirmation of such execution shortly after the original
request is sent by them, in each case, subject to the end-user’s internet connection speed. The website also
provides many other facilities to clients such as objective financial information on Indian stocks presented
under various filters to assist their investment decisions, streaming real-time quotes, integrated risk
management and support for equity, debt, equity derivatives, currency derivatives, commodities and mutual
funds.

Online trading mobile app

We have one of the fastest growing mobile trading application in terms of downloads. Our mobile app has
over one million downloads on iOS (iPhone OS) and Google Play Store (Android). It facilitates trading in
equity, futures and options, and currency derivatives with features like real time stock price display, live
trading reports, multiple market watches, instant fund transfer, market depth, and charting. It is a convenient
portal for trading in the form of a mobile platform. Trades through our app contribute 80% of our turnover.

Robo-advisory

We are one of the early entrants in providing robo-advisory solutions which offers 100% automated advisory
platform using artificial intelligence and machine learning. As of April 30, 2019, 27,213 clients have opted
for the advisory service and have saved investment plans based on their risk profile and needs.

Depository services

We are registered as a depository participant with the Central Depositary Services (India) Limited (the
“CDSL”) for trading and settlement of dematerialised shares. As on April 30, 2019, we had 194,276 active
demat accounts registered with us. We offer depository services to our broking clients as well as to non-
broking clients, as a value-added service. As a depository participant with CDSL, we provide safe, convenient
and cost-effective way to hold securities in the electronic form. Our services provide an integral platform to
all our clients ensuring a risk free, efficient and prompt depository service. The effective management of
transactions by skilled professionals has helped our Company gain the trust of clients over the years.

Clearing services

We are registered as a trading cum clearing member of BSE and NSE. We provide clearing services in
relation to the trades executed by our clients in the cash segment, equity derivative segment and currency
derivatives segment of BSE and NSE. We believe that the relationships we establish through our clearing
services with various trading members on different stock exchanges, has helped us improve our brand
recognition and allows for the cross selling of our financial products.

Research services

Our Company is registered as a research analyst with SEBI. Our research team, comprising dedicated research
analysts, services our retail clients and high-volume traders. We provide research services on fundamental,
technical and derivative sides. We employ qualified and experienced analysts who track economy, industries
and companies on a regular basis. Our research team focuses on providing in-depth insightful research that is
timely and valuable to our clients. Apart from in-house research and support, we also look for third party tie-
ups to provide options to customers based on their preference. We have entered into investment advice
transmission agreement dated July 11, 2017 with William O’Neil India Private Limited (“Marketsmith
India”). Pursuant to this agreement, Marketsmith India provides non-client specific content to our Company.
We have integrated their research service with our mobile app and website, thereby providing additional
functionality in a convenient manner. Our existing customers can subscribe to this research service by paying
fees either quarterly or annually. We have also entered into a service agreement dated April 16, 2019 with
Riskilla Software Technologies Private Limited pursuant to which clients of our Company can use Sensibull
options trading platform for option analysis/strategy. We have entered into a business partnership agreement
dated January 20, 2019 with Smallcase Technologies Private Limited (“Smallcase”). Pursuant to this
agreement, Smallcase has built a platform which can be accessed by our clients to buy track and manage their
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portfolio investment in equity exchange traded products in the cash segment.
E. Distribution of financial products

We are registered as a mutual fund distributor with AMFI (Association of Mutual Funds of India), and as a
mutual fund intermediary (MFI) and mutual fund distributor (MFD) with BSE STAR MF.

Our platform provides clients access to a host of mutual fund products. As on April 30, 2019, for the mutual
funds we distributed, we added ¥ 410 million to the Assets Under Management (AUM). We earn commissions
from these AMCs to the extent of AUM raised by us.

We are also into distribution of IPOs. We use our relationship with our clients for marketing IPOs where we
act as a broker. We have utilized our strength of network, clients - especially high networth individuals, and
corporates with high liquidity, for distribution of financial products.

We also provide distribution of personal and housing loans, for which we have partnered with India Infoline
Finance Limited, an RBI registered non-banking financial company, through whom we provide paperless
disbursement of loans to our existing clients.

Technology and Infrastructure
Information Technology

We are committed towards investing in latest technologies so that our product offerings have a competitive
edge for our customers to invest smartly with ease. Our technology platform, be our website or our mobile
app, is robust and scalable. Our entire infrastructure is on cloud which gives us the flexibility to scale up almost
instantly.

We are focused on enriching the trading product with multiple features such as span margin, margin funding, real-
time funds transfer using IMPS/RTGS. Our latest technology stack around web using HTML5 and CSS/LeSS.
CSS framework enables us to build features which are highly intuitive and responsive. In line with the growing
digital ecosystem in India, we have implemented various payment features like IMPS, Paytm, UPI and also
common verification services like e-sign, e-mandate, CIBIL, etc. Our robo-advisory platform further provides a
completely automated algorithm to analyse the customer profile and investment objective to provide handpicked
mutual funds to the customer in quick and easy steps. We have further enhanced our mobile app with new security
features, for faster logins etc for customer ease. We also offer advanced research options on our Mobile App.

We have built our capability to adapt to changing market needs with lesser time-to-market using agile
methodology of software deliveries.

As a part of quality assurance, we have test suites, smoke test/regression tests/vulnerability tests executed at
various environments. To ensure maximum application uptime for customers, we have continuous monitoring
performed on server space, CPU utilizations, application programming interface (“API”) monitoring and tight
service level agreements (“SLAS”) followed for addressing customer grievances, if any, at technology end.

Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

Risk management is a key element of business sustainability and is integrated seamlessly across all of our business
operations. The objective of risk management process is to optimise the risk-return equation and ensure prudent
financial management; along with meticulous compliance with all extant laws, rules and regulations applicable to
all our business activities.

We have adopted a risk management policy which inter alia, sets out our approach towards risk assessment, risk
management, and risk monitoring. Our risk management policy is periodically reviewed by the Board, after taking
into consideration changes in market conditions, regulatory changes and our internal business strategies. Through
our risk management policy, we seek to constantly monitor and address risks such as technology obsolescence,
attrition of talent, competition, and various other business risks, including financial, political, legal and regulatory
risks. We believe that by monitoring and identifying risks on a regular basis, we can refine our internal risk
management procedures and mitigate potential financial and non-financial loss to our Company.
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Employee and employee relations

Our human resource department has been constantly striving to align with business, implement digital solutions,
and build a culture of transparency and service orientation within the organisation. We have put in place people-
friendly policies and practices in the past year and continues to focus on adopting best practices for our human
resources policies.

As on April 30, 2019, we had 607 employees. We continue to attract professional and experienced talent from
various sectors including, BFSI, Technology, software and start-ups. We have a dedicated training and
development team which caters to areas of providing knowledge, building skills and supporting in areas of
functional and technical development. With a strong focus on digital learning, our learning interventions right
from induction to functional training and refresher courses, have been developed and deployed online, supported
by technology enablers to enhance the user experience of anytime anywhere learning.

We are using multiple learning methodologies like e-learning modules, video-based modules, mobile based micro
learning etc. to support our employees on the quest for professional development. We believe sensitivity towards
driving a compliant business is ensured through learning aids/ modules covering topics such as anti-money
laundering, prevention of sexual harassment, anti-bribery and corruption, information security etc. leadership
acumen at various levels in hierarchy is developed through programs designed specifically to address real time
business challenges.

Sr. No. Particulars Number of employees
1 Managerial level 12
2 Middle management 49
3 Lower management 546
Total 607

Towards achieving employee retention and employee job satisfaction and creating effective retention strategies
to decrease turnover, we have individual performance measures (IPMs), various feedback mechanisms to guide
our employees from time to time. Apart from this we have introduced a ‘Role Elevation Panel Process’ to fast
track careers of high-performers through a fair and transparent panel process. Monthly, quarterly and annual
rewards and recognition programs are also conducted to not only appreciate the exemplary contributions of
performing employees, but also make it aspirational for the others to leverage their potential. All this encourages
our employees to perform their best and grow rapidly in their career within the organization.

Competition

We are a broking services company with focus on “discount broking” services providing online technology
platform and mobile application services to our clients based on a ‘do it yourself” model. Presently, besides us
there are few other unlisted discount broking companies in operation such as Zerodha Capital Private Limited
(Zerodha.com), Sunlight Broking LLP (Prostocks), Beeline Broking Limited (Beeline), RKSV Securities India
Private Limited (Upstox), Swastika Investmart Limited (Trading Bells), Samco Securities Limited (Samco)
etc. There are no other listed companies whose business model is similar to us. However, there are several full-
service broking companies whose equity shares are listed on Indian Stock Exchanges. These companies besides
providing integrated financial services including broking have also forayed into online broking services.

We compete on the basis of a number of factors, including technological innovation, the abilities and past
performance of our professionals, market focus and the relative quality and price of our services and products.
We intend to continue to develop our technology platform and evolve and improve our service and offerings in
order to stay ahead of the competition and manage growth in an optimal way. For details in relation to the risks in
relation to significant competition in our business, please see the section entitled, “Risk Factors” on page 12.

Intellectual Property
Our intellectual property include trademark associated with our business, such as “5paisa”. We have applied for

registration of Trademark relating to “Spaisa” under class 36 which is presently pending before the Registrar of
Trademarks, Mumbai.
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Insurance and Liability

We have stock brokers indemnity insurance and directors and officer’s liability insurance. CDSL has also taken
an insurance cover on behalf of its depository participants (which includes our Company) for professional
indemnity. We also maintain a group health insurance policy and a term life insurance plan. Although we believe
we are adequately insured, we could suffer from losses due to unforeseeable circumstances or adverse situations
which may not be insurable. For details in relation to the risks in relation to inadequate insurance, please see the
section entitled, “Risk Factors” on page 12.

Properties

Our Company does not own any property and operates out of leased premises, the details of which are set forth
below:

SZ‘ State Address Lessor Lease validity

1. Maharashtra IIFL House, Sun Infotech Park, Road IIFL Facilities Services September 1,
No. 16v, Plot no. B-23, Thane Limited 2023
Industrial Area Wagle Estate, Thane,
Mabharashtra, India — 400 604.
2. Karnataka Soma Merit, First Floor No 9, | Smt Merit Juveria Muneer, Sri July 16, 2020
Venkataswamy Naidu Street, Taskar | M Khalique Basha Saheb, Smt.
Town, Shivaji Nagar, Bengaluru, | Shamshadbegum, Smt. Zacriya
Karnataka, India — 560 001. Begam, Smt. K Zainab Saima,
Smt. Huzefa Nasreen
represented by Power of
Attorney Holder Sri, N Noorul
Ameen Sahib
3. Gujarat 4th Floor, High Street- I, Above IIFL Holdings Limited April 13, 2021
Promart Showroom, Opp. Law
Garden, Near Law Garden Cross
Road, Ahmedabad.
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REGULATIONS AND POLICIES

The following is an overview of the important sector specific laws and regulations which are relevant to our
business in India, which are applicable to our Company. The information in this chapter has been obtained from
publications available in the public domain. The description of laws and regulations set out below is not
exhaustive and is only intended to provide general information and is neither designed nor intended to be a
substitute for professional legal advice.

Under the provisions of various Central Government and State Government statutes and legislations, our
Company is required to obtain, and periodically renew certain licenses or registrations and to seek statutory
permissions to conduct our business and operations. For information on regulatory approvals obtained by us,
please see section titled “Government and Other Approvals” on page 271.

The statements below are based on the current provisions of Indian law, and the judicial, regulatory and
administrative interpretations thereof, which are subject to change or modification by legislative, regulatory,
administrative, quasi-judicial or judicial decisions/actions

Our Company is engaged in the business of a stock broker, mutual fund distributor, depository participant and a
research analyst. Our Company’s primary business is in relation to the securities markets and the activities
related to securities markets are regulated by SEBI and primarily governed by the provisions under the SCRA,
SEBI Act, Depositories Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. In light of this, the important
regulations governing our Company are detailed below:

Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992

The SEBI Act was enacted to provide for the establishment of SEBI whose function is to protect the interest of
investors and to promote the development of, and to regulate the securities market, and for matters connected
therewith and incidental thereto. The SEBI Act regulates the functioning of SEBI and enumerates its powers. It
also provides for the registration and regulation of the function of various market intermediaries such as stock
brokers, merchant bankers, portfolio managers etc. In terms of the provisions under the SEBI Act, SEBI has the
power to and has formulated various rules and regulations to govern the functions and working of these
intermediaries. SEBI also issues various circulars, notifications and guidelines from time to time in accordance
with the powers vested with it. SEBI has the power to impose (i) monetary penalty under the SEBI Act and the
regulations made thereunder, and (ii) penalties prescribed under various regulations, including suspending or
cancelling the certificate of registration of an intermediary and initiating prosecution under the SEBI Act. Further,
SEBI has the power to conduct inspection of all intermediaries in the securities market, including, stock brokers,
sub brokers, investment advisers, merchant bankers, underwriters, research analysts, to ensure, amongst others,
that the books of account are maintained in the manner required in accordance with applicable law.

Securities Contracts (Regulations) Act, 1956

The SCRA seeks to prevent undesirable transactions in securities by regulating the business of dealing in securities
and other related matters. The SCRA provides for grant of recognition for stock exchanges and clearing
corporations by the Central Government (which has been delegated to SEBI). Every recognized stock exchange
and clearing corporation is required to have in place a set of rules relating to its constitution and bye-laws for the
regulation and control of contracts. It also deals with recognition, de-recognition, regulation/ control on the stock
exchanges and clearing corporations and empowers the stock exchanges for making its own bye laws, rules and
the provisions pertaining to listing of securities, delisting of securities and dealing in securities.

Securities Contracts (Regulations) Rules, 1957

The SCRR provides, among other things, the requirements with respect to listing of securities on a recognised
stock exchange, the manner of submitting applications for recognition of stock exchanges, and the qualifications
for membership of a recognised stock exchange. It also empowers SEBI to appoint persons to inspect the books
of accounts and other documents to be maintained and preserved by every member of a recognised stock exchange,
in terms of these rules.
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Depositories Act, 1996

The Depositories Act provides for the regulation of depositories in securities and other related matters. Every
person subscribing to securities offered by an issuer has the option either to receive the security certificates or
hold securities with a depository. All securities held by a depository are required to be dematerialised and in a
fungible form. A depository after obtaining a certificate of commencement of business from SEBI can enter into
an agreement with one or more participants as its agent. Any person, through a participant, may enter into an
agreement with any depository for availing its services. The depository enters in its records, the name of the owner
of the securities as the beneficial owner; while the issuer, on receipt of the certificate cancels the certificate of
security and substitutes in its records the name of the depository as a registered owner. However, the depository
as a registered owner shall not have any voting rights.

SEBI (Stock-Brokers and Sub-Brokers) Regulations, 1992

The SEBI (Stock-Brokers and Sub-Brokers) Regulations (“Broker Regulations”) states that no person shall carry
on activity as a stock broker unless he holds a certificate granted by SEBI. Further, the Broker Regulations
provides the eligibility criteria and conditions required to be satisfied in order to obtain the certificate of
registration. It further provides the procedure for obtaining the certificate of registration to carry on business as a
stock broker and/or a sub-broker who is required to be affiliated to a stock broker registered under the Broker
Regulations and clearing or self-clearing members. On registration, a stockbroker, sub-broker and clearing
members are required to adhere to a code of conduct prescribed under the Broker Regulations. In addition, they
are required to abide by the rules, regulations and bye-laws of the stock exchanges of which they are members.
The penalties for failure to comply with the regulations are also laid down. SEBI has the authority to inspect the
books of accounts of the intermediaries and take such appropriate action as it deems fit after giving an opportunity
for hearing.

Pursuant to the SEBI circular dated August 3, 2018, SEBI has decided to discontinue with sub-brokers as
intermediaries to be registered with SEBI. Accordingly, no fresh registration shall be granted to any person to act
as a sub-broker and all registered sub-brokers shall have time until March 31, 2019, to migrate to act as an
‘Authorised Person’ and/or a trading member.

SEBI (Depositories and Participants) Regulations, 2018

The Depositories Regulations provide, inter alia, the eligibility criteria and the procedure for obtaining the
certificate of registration to carry on business as a depository participant. They also provide various rights and
obligations of the depository participants. On registration, the depository participant is required to adhere to a
code of conduct prescribed under the Depository Regulations. The depository is deemed to be the registered owner
for the purposes of effecting transfer of ownership of security on behalf of a beneficial owner. The depository
does not have any voting rights or any other rights in respect of securities held by it. The beneficial owner of the
securities is entitled to all the rights and benefits and is subjected to all the liabilities in respect of his securities
held by a depository.

SEBI Mutual Fund Regulations and AMFI Guidelines

The SEBI Mutual Funds Regulations govern the law pertaining to the business of mutual funds in India. SEBI has
made it mandatory for all mutual funds to appoint agents/distributors who are registered with AMFI. In case of
firms/companies, the requirement of certification from National Institute of Securities Markets is made applicable
to the persons engaged in sales or distribution of mutual fund products.

AMFI has issued guidelines for intermediaries in consonance with the SEBI Master Circular for Mutual Funds
dated July 10, 2018. The primary objective of the AMFI Guidelines is to ensure that mutual fund intermediaries
do not use unethical means to sell, market or induce any investor to buy units of their scheme(s) and mobilize
funds on the strength of professional fund management and good practices. The AMFI Guidelines are mandatory
and all such intermediaries are required to strictly comply with the code of conduct prescribed by AMFI.

SEBI (Research Analyst) Regulations, 2014 (“RA Regulations”)
The RA Regulations are applicable to all persons who prepare or publish the content of a research report or offer

an opinion concerning a public offer and includes intermediaries registered with SEBI who are engaged in
merchant banking, investment banking or brokerage or underwriting services and issuance of a research report or

101


https://www.sebi.gov.in/legal/regulations/oct-2018/securities-and-exchange-board-of-india-depositories-and-participants-regulations-2018_40631.html

research analysis. In terms of the RA Regulations, no person shall act as a “research analyst” or a “research entity”
or hold itself out as a research analyst unless he has obtained registration from SEBI. The RA Regulations specify
conditions of registration, certification, capital adequacy norms, educational and certification requirements,
limitations on trading by research analysts, limitations on compensations of research analyst, various disclosure
which are to be made during public appearance and during making recommendations through public media, code
of conduct etc.

SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015

The Insider Trading Regulations govern the law with respect to insider trading in India. The Insider Trading
Regulations, inter alia, prohibit all insiders from dealing in securities of a listed company when the insider is in
possession of unpublished price sensitive information (“UPSI”). It further prohibits an insider from
communicating, counselling or procuring, directly or indirectly, any UPSI to any person who while in possession
of such UPSI is likely to deal in such securities. Information is said to be price sensitive if it is likely to, directly
or indirectly, materially affect the price of the securities of the company to which it relates. Under the Insider
Trading Regulations, the concept of an insider is related to those of a connected person or is in possession of or
having access to unpublished price sensitive information. Further, in terms of the Insider Trading Regulations, the
board of directors of every listed company and the board of directors or head(s) of the organization of every
intermediary shall ensure that the chief executive officer or managing director shall formulate a code of conduct
with their approval to regulate, monitor and report trading by its designated persons and immediate relatives of
designated persons towards achieving compliance with these regulations, adopting the minimum standards set out
in Schedule B (in case of a listed company) and Schedule C (in case of an intermediary) to these regulations,
without diluting the provisions of these regulations in any manner.

SEBI (Certification of Associated Persons in the Securities Markets) Regulations, 2007

The SEBI Certification of Associated Persons Regulations provide that any category of associated persons (as
defined in terms of these regulations) may be required to obtain the requisite certifications for engagement or
employment with intermediaries by SEBI. Through several notifications, SEBI has required approved users and
sales personnel of trading members in currency derivative and equity derivative segments, distributors of mutual
fund products, key managerial personnel of merchant bankers, compliance officers of intermediaries, research
analysts and certain persons associated with stock brokers, trading members or clearing members to obtain the
prescribed certification from National Institute of Securities Markets.

SEBI Intermediaries Regulations

The SEBI Intermediaries Regulations provide amongst other things, the manner of application for registration as
an intermediary with SEBI, and the period of validity of the registration certificate. Further, the SEBI
Intermediaries Regulations provides the general obligations of intermediaries, the appointment of compliance
officer and the manner of redressal of investor grievances. All intermediaries are required to compulsorily abide
by the code of conduct as specified under the SEBI Intermediaries Regulations. The SEBI Intermediaries
Regulations also provide the criteria for determining “fit and proper person” for the purpose of other SEBI
regulations, including the SEBI Merchant Bankers Regulations, the SEBI Stock Brokers and Sub-brokers
Regulations, the SEBI Portfolio Managers Regulations, the SEBI Investment Advisers Regulations and the SEBI
Research Analysts Regulations.

SEBI Intermediaries Circular on Conflicts

The SEBI Intermediaries Circular on Conflicts prescribes comprehensive guidelines to intermediaries and their
associated persons for elimination of conflicts of interest. It prescribes guidelines for avoiding, dealing with, or
managing, conflict of interest, including, developing internal procedures, maintaining high standards of integrity
in conduct of business and developing an internal code of conduct to govern operations, appropriately disclosing
potential sources or areas of conflict to clients and formulating standards of appropriate conduct in performance
of their activities, which are in addition to the codes of conduct prescribed under relevant regulations governing
intermediaries.

Prevention of Money Laundering Act

The Prevention of Money Laundering Act was enacted to prevent money laundering and to provide for
confiscation of property derived from, or involved in money laundering, and for incidental matters connected
therewith. Section 12 of the Prevention of Money Laundering Act casts certain obligations on, inter alia, banking
companies in relation to preservation and reporting of customer account information. The RBI has advised all
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banks to go through the provisions of the Prevention of Money Laundering Act and the rules notified thereunder
and to take all steps considered necessary to ensure compliance with the requirements of section 12 of the
Prevention of Money Laundering Act.

Laws relating to employment

The following is an indicative list of labour laws applicable to the business and operations of Indian companies
as may be applicable in each state:

Employees’ Compensation Act, 1923;

Employees’ Provident Funds and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952;

Employees’ State Insurance Act, 1948;

Maternity Benefit Act, 1961;

Minimum Wages Act, 1948;

Payment of Bonus Act, 1965;

Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972;

Payment of Wages Act, 1936;

Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013; and
. various Shops and Establishments acts.
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HISTORY AND CERTAIN CORPORATE MATTERS

Brief history of our Company

Our Company was originally incorporated as a public limited company under the provisions of the Companies
Act, 1956 as “India Infoline Finance Holdings Limited” pursuant to a certificate of incorporation dated July 10,
2007 issued by the RoC. Thereafter, our Company obtained the certificate for commencement of business on July
19, 2007 from the RoC. The name of our Company was subsequently changed to “IIFL Capital Limited” and a
fresh certificate of incorporation dated November 6, 2007, consequent upon change of name, was issued by the
RoC. Thereafter, the name of our Company was changed to “Spaisa Capital Limited”, and a fresh certificate of
incorporation, consequent upon change of name, was issued by Registrar of Companies, Tamil Nadu at Chennai
(where the registered office of our Company was located), on August 12, 2015.

Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani became the Promoters of our Company, effective from
October 20, 2017, pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement. Prior to the Scheme of Arrangement, 1IFL Holdings
Limited was the promoter of our Company since July 10, 2007. Pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement, “Spaisa
Digital Undertaking” was transferred to our Company as a going concern basis and the entire share capital held
by IIFL Holdings Limited in our Company were cancelled and in lieu of the same fresh Equity Shares were allotted
to the shareholders of IIFL Holdings Limited.

Corporate Profile

For information of our Company’s corporate profile, including details of our business activities, services,
products, technology, market and geographical segments, marketing, growth of our business, managerial
competence, standing of our Company with reference to prominent competitors in connection with our products,
services, managerial competence and major customers etc., see “Our Business”, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”, “Risk Factors”, “Our Management” and “Financial
Information” on pages 92, 226, 12, 112 and 149 respectively.

Changes in Registered Office

Except as disclosed below, there has been no change in the Registered Office of our Company:

Effective change of registered Details of the address of registered Reasons for change
office office g
April 24,2010 Our Company shifted its registered office | Administrative convenience

from 75, Nirlon Complex, off western
Express highway, Goregaon, Mumbai
400 063, Maharashtra to IIFL House, Sun
Infotech Park, Road No 16V, B-23,
MIDC, Thane, Industrial Area, Wagle
Estate, Thane, 400 604, Maharashtra
August 4, 2011 Our Company shifted its registered office | Administrative convenience
from IIFL House, Sun Infotech Park,
Road No 16V, B-23, MIDC, Thane,
Industrial Area, Wagle Estate, Thane,
400 604, Maharashtra to 143 MGR road,
Perungudi, Chennai 600 096, Tamil
Nadu.

January 3, 2017 Our Company shifted its registered office | Administrative convenience
from 143 MGR road, Perungudi, Chennai
600096, Tamil Nadu to IIFL House, Sun
Infotech Park, Road No 16V, B-23,
MIDC, Thane, Industrial Area, Wagle
Estate, Thane, 400 604, Maharashtra.
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Changes in name of our Company

The details of change in the name of our Company since incorporation are given below:

Effective date Details of change Reasons for change

November 6, 2007 The name of our Company was changed from “India | The change in the name was made in

Infoline Finance Holdings Limited” to “IIFL Capital | view of the current trend of abbreviated
Limited.” names in the industry; the changed name
reflected the name of India Infoline
group companies.

August 12, 2015 The name of our Company was changed from “IIFL | Keeping in view the industry trend, the

Capital Limited” to “Spaisa Capital Limited”. name of our Company was changed with
the intention to introduce retail online
participation from customers.

Main Objects of our Company

The main objects contained in the Memorandum of Association of our Company are as follows:

1.

3A

“To act as the financial consultants, management consultants, financial advisors and provide advisory
services, consultancy services in fields including, general, administrative, secretarial, commercial, financial,
legal, economic, technical, scientific, man power, direct and indirect taxation, commodities markets, capital
market, business information, investment information, portfolio management, organizational behaviour,
merchant banking, business management, statistical data on industries, economy, corporate within and
outside India, administration, costing, financial management and marketing activities and other levies,
statistical, accountancy, quality control and data processing to the industry, business, government and non-
government institutions, corporate, financial institutions, individuals or any other bodies and to carry on the
business of providing marketing and distribution services relating to financial products.”

To act as the asset management company, fund managers, financial intermediaries to manage and mobilise
funds and assets of various companies, mutual fund, individual investors, trusts, HUF's, associations and
other bodies corporate and carry on the activities of raising funds for and managing mutual funds, venture
capital funds, unit trusts, offshore funds, pension funds, provident funds, insurance funds or any other funds,
and to act as managers, consultants, advisors, administrators, attorneys, agents, or representatives of or for
mutual funds, venture capital funds, unit trusts, offshore funds, pension funds, provident funds, insurance
funds or any other funds formed or established in India or elsewhere by the Company or any other person
(whether incorporated or not) or by any government, state, local authority, association, institution (whether
incorporated or not) or any other agency or organisation.

To set up provide and or participate in providing venture capital, technology funds, private equity or any
other funds for seed capital, risk capital foundation including giving guarantees or such other financial
assistance as may be conducive for development of new enterprises, innovative methods of production and
development of existing new technology, to identify projects, projects ideas, to prepare project profiles,
project reports, market research, feasibility studies and reports, pre-investment studies and investigation of
industries on micro and macro level; to undertake appropriate service to identify scope or potential for
economic and industrial development in any particular geographical area or location whether in India or
abroad; to act as lead managers in respect of project assignments by undertaking follow-up, supervision and
co-ordination work at instance, behest or on behalf of banks, financial institutions, companies, bodies
corporate and to monitor the same to the participants; to act as the adviser in the management of
undertakings, business, enterprises, offices, trade, occupations, calling or professions by introducing modern
methods and techniques and systems and render all assistance as may be necessary including by acting as
agent for recruitment of personnel, technical, skilled technical, skilled, unskilled supervisory managerial or
otherwise ,to act as an advisor in selection of technical process, economic size, source of plant and
machinery, and other utilities for business entrepreneurs and to render insurance services including
insurance broking and insurance agency business.

To act as a member of stock exchange(s) and to carry on the business as stock broker, sub-broker,
underwriters, sub-underwriters, broker, agent in and to otherwise deal and/or trade and/or invest in stocks,
shares, securities, debentures, bonds, depository receipts, derivative options, obligations, mutual funds, units,
participation certificates, company deposits, deposit certificates, money market instruments, treasury bills,
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government securities, savings certificates, and to carry on the business of providing services of depository
participant, custodian of securities, credit rating agency or any other intermediary associated with the
securities market to conduct de-materialisation and re-materialisation of shares and to perform all related,
incidental, ancillary and allied services.”

Amendments to our Memorandum of Association

Date of shareholders’

resolution Particulars
September 13, 2007 (@) Clause I of the Memorandum of Association was amended to reflect the change of
name of our Company from “India Infoline Finance Holdings Limited” to “IIFL

Capital Limited.”

(b) Clause Il1(A) of the Memorandum of Association was altered and replaced by the
following clauses:

MAIN OBJECTS OF THE COMPANY TO BE PURSUED BY THE COMPANY ON ITS
INCORPORATION:

“1. To act as the financial consultants, management consultants, financial advisors
and provide advisory services, consultancy services in fields including, general,
administrative, secretarial, commercial, financial, legal, economic, technical,
scientific, man power, direct and indirect taxation, commodities markets, capital
market, business information, investment information, portfolio management,
organizational behaviour, merchant banking, business management, statistical
data on industries, economy, corporate within and outside India, administration,
costing, financial management and marketing activities and other levies,
statistical, accountancy, quality control and data processing to the industry,
business, government and non-government institutions, corporate, financial
institutions, individuals or any other bodies and to carry on the business of
providing marketing and distribution services relating to financial products.

2(a). To act as the asset management company, fund managers, financial
intermediaries to manage and mobilise funds and assets of various companies,
mutual fund, individual investors, trusts, HUF's, associations and other bodies
corporate and carry on the activities of raising funds for and managing mutual
funds, venture capital funds, unit trusts, offshore funds, pension funds, provident
funds, insurance funds or any other funds, and to act as managers, consultants,
advisors, administrators, attorneys, agents, or representatives of or for mutual
funds, venture capital funds, unit trusts, offshore funds, pension funds, provident
funds, insurance funds or any other funds formed or established in India or
elsewhere by the Company or any other person (whether incorporated or not) or
by any government, state, local authority, association, institution (whether
incorporated or not) or any other agency or organisation.

2(b). To set up provide and or participate in providing venture capital, technology
funds, private equity or any other funds for seed capital, risk capital foundation
including giving guarantees or such other financial assistance as may be
conducive for development of new enterprises, innovative methods of production
and development of existing new technology, to identify projects, projects ideas,
to prepare project profiles, project reports, market research, feasibility studies
and reports, pre-investment studies and investigation of industries on micro and
macro level; to undertake appropriate service to identify scope or potential for
economic and industrial development in any particular geographical area or
location whether in India or abroad; to act as lead managers in respect of project
assignments by undertaking follow-up, supervision and co-ordination work at
instance, behest or on behalf of banks, financial institutions, companies, bodies
corporate and to monitor the same to the participants; to act as the adviser in the
management of undertakings, business, enterprises, offices, trade, occupations,
calling or professions by introducing modern methods and techniques and
systems and render all assistance as may be necessary including by acting as
agent for recruitment of personnel, technical, skilled technical, skilled, unskilled
supervisory managerial or otherwise ,to act as an advisor in selection of technical
process, economic size, source of plant and machinery, and other utilities for
business entrepreneurs and to render insurance services including insurance
broking and insurance agency business.”
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Date of shareholders’
resolution

Particulars

(c) Clause I111(B) of the Memorandum of Association was altered to include the
following additional clauses along with relevant renumbering of clauses:

OBJECTS INCIDENTAL OR ANCILLARY TO THE ATTAINMENT OF THE
MAIN OBJECTS

“3(a) To form, promote, incorporate, hold, invest, acquire, sell, buy or otherwise deal
in any shares., units, stocks, debentures, debenture-stock, bonds, mortgages,
obligations and other securities by original subscription, tender, purchase,
change, gift or otherwise and to subscribe for the same, either conditionally or
otherwise, and to underwrite, sub-underwrite or guarantee the subscription
thereof to purchase and sell the above mentioned securities of other company’s
whether in India or elsewhere.

3(b). To carry on the business that is to undertake all functions and duties of trustee
and to undertake and execute trusts of all kinds whether public or private
including undertaking and carrying on the office or offices and duties of a
trustee, executor, administrator, attorney, or nominee of or for funds of all kinds
including mutual funds, offshore funds, venture funds, superannuation funds,
provident fund and to hold the property in trust for the beneficiaries of the trust.

3(c). To promote Public and Private Limited Companies, to invest in shares,
debentures, bonds of such companies, and to undertake industrial ventures.

3(d). Tonominate the representative of the Company on the Board of other Companies
in which the Company makes investments”

October 19, 2010

Clause 111 (A) of the Memorandum was altered to include the following clause after
Clause 3:

THE MAIN OBJECTS OF THE COMPANY TO BE PURSUED BY THE
COMPANY ON ITS INCORPORATION

“34. to act as a member of stock exchange(s) and to carry on the business as stock
broker, sub-broker, underwriters, sub-underwriters, broker, agent in and to otherwise
deal and/or trade and/or invest in stocks, shares, securities, debentures, bonds,
depository receipts, derivative options, obligations, mutual funds, units, participation
certificates, company deposits, deposit certificates, money market instruments, treasury
bills, government securities, savings certificates, and to carry on the business of
providing services of depository participant, custodian of securities, credit rating
agency or any other intermediary associated with the securities market to conduct de-
materialisation and re-materialisation of shares and to perform all related, incidental,
ancillary and allied services.”

March 24, 2011

Clause 11 of the Memorandum of association was altered to reflect the change in address
of the registered office of the company from State of Maharashtra to the State of Tamil
Nadu.

July 28, 2015

Clause | of the Memorandum of Association was amended to reflect the change in name
of our Company from “IIFL Capital Limited” to “Spaisa Capital Limited”.

September 12, 2016

Clause V of the Memorandum of Association was altered to reflect the increase in
authorised share capital from ¥ 100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000 Equity Shares
having face value of ¥ 10 each to ¥ 18,00,00,000 divided into 18,000,000 Equity Shares
having face value of ¥ 10 each.

November 30, 2016

Clause 11 of the Memorandum of association was altered to reflect the change in address
of the registered office of the company from State of Tamil Nadu to the State of
Maharashtra.

January 25, 2018

Clause V of the Memorandum of Association was altered to reflect the increase in
authorised share capital from ¥ 180,000,000 divided into 18,000,000 Equity Shares
having face value of ¥ 10 each to ¥ 300,000,000 divided into 30,000,000 Equity Shares
having face value of ¥ 10 each.
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Major events and milestones of our Company

The table below sets forth the major events and milestones in the history of our Company:

Calendar year Particulars
2007 Incorporated as India Infoline Finance Holdings Limited
2011 Became a member of the Stock Exchanges and was granted a certificate of registration
as a “stock broker” by SEBI
2015 Registered with AMFI as a “mutual fund distributor” and was allotted an AMFI

registration number

Obtained approval from the Stock Exchanges for our internet trading application i.e.
5paisa Trade Station

2016 Obtained approval from the Stock Exchanges for its mobile application i.e., Spaisa
Trading and robo-advisory.

Launched the discount brokerage business offering execution of trades at flat T 10 per
order

Became a member of CDSL and was granted a certificate of registration as a
“depository participant” by SEBI

2017 Granted a certificate of registration as a “research analyst” by SEBI

Demerger of our Company and IIFL Holdings Ltd. Company pursuant to the Scheme
of Arrangement

Got listed on the Stock Exchanges on November 16, 2017.

Awards and Accreditations

Calendar Year Awards and accreditations

Awarded the ‘Best Digital Start-up of the Year’ by World Digital Marketing Congress.
Awarded for “Brand Excellence in the BFSI Sector” by ABP News

Awarded for “Marketing Excellence in BFSI Sector” at the Global Marketing
Excellence Awards

Awarded the “Best Overall Mobile App” at Mobbys, Awards for Excellence in Mobile

2018 Entertainment and Technology
Awarded the “Best Use of Social Media in Marketing” at  Mobbys, Awards for
Excellence in Mobile Entertainment and Technology
Awarded the “Best Mobile Marketing Campaign” at Mobbys, Awards for Excellence
in Mobile Entertainment and Technology

2019 Awarded the “Best Use of Mobile Technology in Financial Services” by ET Now

Strikes, lock-outs, injunctions, and restraining orders

There have been no lock-outs or strikes at any time in our Company and our Company is not operating under any
injunction or restraining order.

Details regarding acquisition of business/ undertakings, mergers, amalgamation, revaluation of assets, if
any

Details regarding the Scheme of Arrangement between I1FL Holdings Limited and 5paisa Capital Limited

The National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai bench, had vide order dated September 6, 2017, sanctioned the
Scheme of Arrangement between IIFL Holdings Limited (“Demerged Company”) and 5paisa Capital Limited,
(the “Resulting Company”) and their respective Shareholders (the “Scheme”). The Scheme inter alia provided
for demerger of 5paisa digital undertaking business from IIFL Holdings Limited to 5paisa Capital Limited. The
effective date of the demerger was October 1, 2016.

Upon the Scheme coming into effect and in consideration of the transfer and vesting of the 5paisa digital
Undertaking into our Company, 17,716,500 Equity Shares held by IIFL Holdings Limited in our Company were
cancelled and in lieu of the same, the equity shareholders of IIFL Holdings Limited as on October 18, 2017, were
allotted one Equity Share for every 25 equity shares of Rs 2 each fully paid-up held by such equity shareholders
in IIFL Holdings Limited. Accordingly, 12,739,022 Equity Shares were issued and allotted to the said eligible
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shareholders of 1IFL Holdings Limited on October 20, 2017.The Equity Shares of our Company so issued pursuant
to the Scheme were listed and admitted for trading on the Stock Exchanges on November 16, 2017.

As per the Scheme, IIFL Holdings Limited transferred the assets and liabilities pertaining to 5paisa Digital
Undertaking (“Demerged Undertaking”) at the respective carrying values as appearing in the books of accounts
of IIFL Holdings Limited on October 1, 2016. The difference between the value of the assets and liabilities
pertaining to Demerged Undertaking amounting to ¥ 47,709,974 (after adjusting for the amount to the share
capital) has been recognised as capital reserve in the books of accounts of our Company as on appointed date.
Upon the Scheme becoming operative, all staff and employees of IIFL Holdings Limited pertaining to the
Demerged Undertaking in service as on the effective date were deemed to have become staff and employees of
our Company without any break in their service and continuance in other conditions of their employment.
Capital raising activities through equity and debt

Except as mentioned in “Capital Structure” on page 51, our Company has not raised any capital through equity.
Our Company has not raised any capital through debt since its incorporation.

Defaults or rescheduling of borrowings with financial institutions/banks and conversion of loans into equity

There have been no defaults or rescheduling of borrowings with financial institutions/ banks in respect of our
current borrowings from lenders. None of our outstanding loans have been converted into Equity Shares.

Changes in the activities of our Company during the last five years

Except as stated in this Letter of Offer, there has been no change in the activities of our Company during the last
five years which may have a material effect on the profit/ loss account of our Company including discontinuance
of line of business, loss of agencies or markets and similar factors.

Injunction or restraining order

Our Company is not operating under any injunction or restraining order.

Revaluation of assets

Our Company has not revalued its assets since its incorporation.

Our shareholders

As on June 21, 2019, our Company had 23,827 shareholders. For further details regarding our shareholders, see
“Capital Structure” on page 51.

Strategic or financial partners
Our Company does not have any strategic or financial partner.
Details of public/ rights issues made in the past five years

Except as disclosed in “Capital Structure” on page 51, our Company has not made public/ rights issues in the past
five years.

Shareholders’ agreements
As on the date of this Letter of Offer, there are no subsisting Shareholders’ agreements to which our Company is a
party to. Further, to the extent that our Company is aware, there are no subsisting Shareholders’ agreements which

have been entered inter se our Shareholders, as on the date of this Letter of Offer.

Other agreements
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Our Company has not entered into any material contract which is not in the ordinary course of business carried
on or intended to be carried on by our Company in the last two years preceding this Letter of Offer.

Our holding company
As on date of this Letter of Offer, our Company does not have a holding company.
Our subsidiaries, associate companies and joint venture companies

As on date of this Letter of Offer, our Company does not have any associate companies and joint venture
companies. Our Company has two subsidiaries, details in relation to the same are as follows:

1. 5paisa P2P Limited

Corporate Information

Spaisa P2P Limited (“5paisa P2P”) was incorporated on December 7, 2017 as a public limited company under
the Companies Act, 2013. 5paisa P2P had filed an application with the RBI for obtaining the registration for
NBFC Peer to Peer Lending Platform (NBFC-P2P) towards which RBI has granted in-principle approval. 5paisa
P2P has not yet commenced operations.

Capital Structure

The authorised share capital of 5paisa P2P is ¥ 25 million divided into 2,500,000 equity shares of face value of ¥
10 each, and the issued, paid-up, and subscribed share capital of the company is ¥ 20.50 million divided into
2,050,000 equity shares of face value 10 each.

Shareholding

The entire shareholding of 5paisa P2P Limited is owned by 5paisa Capital Limited.

Accumulated Profits or Losses

5paisa P2P has not yet commenced operations.

2. bpaisa Insurance Brokers Limited

Corporate Information

5paisa Insurance Brokers Limited (“5paisa Insurance”) was incorporated on October 27, 2018 as a public limited
company under the Companies Act, 2013. 5paisa Insurance has applied for grant of registration with the Insurance
Regulatory and Development Authority of India. 5paisa Insurance has not yet commenced operations.

Capital Structure

The authorised share capital of 5paisa Insurance is ¥ 7.50 million divided into 750,000 equity shares of face value
of ¥ 10 each, and the issued, paid-up, and subscribed share capital of the company is ¥ 0.50 million divided into
50,000 equity shares of face value ¥ 10 each.

Shareholding

The entire shareholding of 5paisa Insurance is held by our Company (49,994 equity shares by our Company
directly and 6 equity shares through nominees).

Accumulated Profits or Losses
5paisa Insurance has not yet commenced operations.

Interest of the Subsidiaries in our Company
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Neither of the subsidiaries have any interest in our Company
Transactions with our Subsidiaries

There are no sales or purchases between our Company and the Subsidiaries where such sales or purchases exceed
in value in the aggregate 10.00% of the total sales or purchases of our Company, during the preceding five Fiscals.

Common Pursuits with Subsidiaries

5paisa P2P has not yet commenced operations. Our Company has adopted necessary procedures and practices as
permitted by law to address any conflicting situations as and when they arise.

5paisa Insurance does not have any common pursuits with our Company.

Other Confirmations

1. Neither of our Subsidiaries are listed on any stock exchange in India or abroad nor have they been refused
listing of their securities on any recognised stock exchange(s) in India or abroad and no penalty or suspension

has been imposed by such exchange(s) on any subsidiary.

2. Neither of our Subsidiaries fall under the definition of sick companies under SICA, under the Insolvency
Code nor are they under winding up.
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our Company has five directors out of which two are independent directors.

OUR MANAGEMENT

As per our Articles of Association, our Company is required to have not less than three and not more than 15
directors unless otherwise determined by our Company in a general meeting. As on the date of this Letter of Offer,

The following table sets forth details of our Board of Directors as on the date of this Letter of Offer:

Sr.
No

Name, designation, address, occupation, nationality,
term and DIN

Age
(years)

Other directorships

Dr. Archana Niranjan Hingorani

Designation: Chairperson and Independent Director
Occupation: Professional

Address: 701, Orchid Breeze, 7" Floor 16" Road, Opp. Khar
Gymkhana Ground, Khar, Mumbai 400 052

Nationality: Indian

Term: Five years with effect from June 7, 2017

DIN: 00028037

Date of appointment/ reappointment: June 7, 2017

53

Alembic
Limited
PNB Metlife India Insurance
Company Limited

DEN Networks Limited

SIDBI Venture Capital Limited
Grindwell Norton Limited
Edmobile Labs Private Limited

Pharmaceuticals

Prakarsh Gagdani

Designation: Whole Time Director and CEO

Occupation: Service

Address: 801, Solitair, Orchard Avenue Street, Powai
Hiranandani Garden, Mumbai 400 076

Nationality: Indian

Term: upto December 21, 2021

DIN: 07376258

Date of appointment/ reappointment: July 17, 2018

37

5paisa P2P Limited
Spaisa  Insurance
Limited

Brokers

Sarbeswar Lenka

Designation: Additional (Non-Executive) Director
Occupation: Professional

Address: 501, Dheeraj Devki CHS LTD, Hill Road, Opp.
Bandra Police station, Bandra West, Mumbai 400 050
Nationality: Indian

Term: Till ensuing annual general meeting

DIN: 07306325

Date of appointment/ reappointment: July 18, 2018

60

Nirali Sanghi

Designation: Independent Director

Occupation: Professional

Address: 23, Sea Gull, Carmichael Road, Near Japanese
Consulate, Cumballa Hill, Mumbai 400 026

Nationality: American

Term: Five years with effect from January 11, 2018

DIN: 00319389

Date of appointment/ reappointment: January 11, 2018

51

India Parenting Private Limited

Santosh Jayaram

Designation: Whole Time Director

Occupation: Service

Address: 1B, Jatin Das Road, Lake Market, Sarat Bose
Road, Kolkata 700 029

Nationality: Indian

Term: Three years with effect from January 11, 2018

DIN: 07955607

Date of appointment/ reappointment: January 11, 2018

31

5paisa P2P Limited
5paisa  Insurance
Limited

Brokers
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Relationship between our Directors
None of our Directors are related to each other.
Brief Biographies of Directors

Dr. Archana Niranjan Hingorani, aged 53 years, is a Chairperson and Independent Director of our Company.
She holds a bachelor’s degree in arts from the University of Mumbai, a master’s degree in business administration
from the Graduate School of Business, University of Pittsburgh, USA and a doctorate degree in philosophy from
the Joseph M. Katz Graduate School of Business, University of Pittsburgh, USA. She has 23 years of experience
in financial services and private equity fund investment. Prior to joining our Company, she was associated with
the IL&FS Group until 2017, in various capacities, including being the CEO of IL&FS Investment Managers
Limited. She has been the recipient of various awards such as ‘“Ten most influential women in private real estate
investing’ by PERE in 2010, ‘Most Powerful Women’ in 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 by Fortune India, ‘Most
Powerful Women’ in 2011, 2012 and 2013 by Business Today, ‘25 Most Influential Women in Asia Asset
Management’ by Asian Investor in May, 2014, and ‘Distinguished International Alumnus’ in the year 2016 by
the Katz Graduate School of Business, University of Pittsburgh, USA.

Prakarsh Gagdani, aged 37 years, is a Whole Time Director and CEO of our Company. He holds a post graduate
diploma degree in portfolio management from Pondicherry University and has done his bachelor’s in management
studied from University of Mumbai. In the past, he was associated with Angel Fincap Private Limited for about
12 years where he was Vice President at the end of his employment.

Sarbeswar Lenka aged 60 years, is an Additional (Non-Executive) Director in our Company. He holds a degree
of Bachelors of science from Utkal University, Bhubaneswar and he is also an associate member of The Indian
Institute of Bankers. He has around 34 years of banking & financial services experience and has been associated
with the State Bank of India and SBICAP Securities Limited. He was associated with Chhattisgarh Rajya Gramin
Bank — Raipur as its Chairman from August 2012 to September 2015.

Nirali Sanghi, aged 51 years, is an Independent Director in our Company. She completed her master’s in business
administration from Columbia University (New York, USA). She founded India Parenting Private Limited in
1999 and serves as its Chief Executive Officer and President. Prior to that, she worked with the Boston Consulting
Group (India) Private Limited from April 1, 1996 to March 10, 1999.

Santosh Jayaram aged 31 years, is a Whole Time Director of our Company. He holds a bachelor’s degree in
technology (manufacturing engineering) from NMIS University, Mumbai and a master’s degree in business
administration (in technology) from NMIS University, Mumbai. He has been associated with our Company since
around three years and has about seven years of experience in the areas of business process re-engineering,
digitisation, product development, mobile application development and user experience management.

Confirmation

None of our Directors is or was a director of any listed company during the last five years preceding the date of
this Letter of Offer, whose shares have been or were suspended from being traded on the BSE or NSE.

None of our Directors is or was a director of any listed company which has been or was delisted from any stock
exchange during the term of their directorship in such company.

None of the Directors of our Company are or were associated as a director of any other company against which
SEBI has initiated any proceedings or investigations during the tenure of their directorship in such other company.
No consideration in cash or shares or otherwise has been paid or agreed to be paid to any of our Directors or to
the firms or companies in which they are interested as a member by any person either to induce such director to
become, or to help such director to qualify as a Director, or otherwise for services rendered by him/ her or by the
firm or company in which he/ she is interested, in connection with the promotion or formation of our Company.

None of the Directors of our Company has been declared as a wilful defaulter, as defined by the SEBI ICDR

Regulations. There are no violations of securities laws committed by our Directors in the past and no such
proceedings are pending against them.
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Terms of appointment of the Executive Directors

Prakarsh Gagdani, pursuant to a Board resolution dated April 17, 2018 and shareholders’ approval dated July
17, 2018, was re-appointed as the Whole Time Director of our Company for a period of three years from December
21, 2018. Set out below are the details of salary and benefits which Prakarsh Gagdani is entitled to:

A.

B.

Period of appointment: Until December 21, 2021.

Remuneration:

Basic Salary: ¥ 2,80,000 per month.
Perquisites:

Category (A):

1. Housing: Rent Free Accommodation or House Rent Allowance of ¥ 1,40,000 per month.
2. Medical Reimbursement for self and family as per the rules of the Company.

3. Leave Travel Assistance as per the rules of the Company.

4. Other perquisites as per service rules of the Company.

Category (B)

1. Contribution to Provident Fund, Superannuation Fund, Annuity Fund or Gratuity as per the rules of the
Company.
2. Encashment of leave as per the rules of the Company.

The said perquisites and allowances shall be evaluated, wherever applicable, as per the provisions of the
Income Tax Act, 1961 or any rules thereunder or any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof.

Increment: Board / Nomination and Remuneration Committee can determine the remuneration on an annual
basis subject to increment not exceeding 25% p.a. of basic salary, allowances and perquisites.

Commission/Bonus: He shall be paid commission/Bonus as permissible under the Companies Act, 2013
and as determined by our Board / Nomination and Remuneration Committee from time to time.

Subject as aforesaid, the Whole Time Director shall be governed by such other Rules as are applicable to the
Senior Executives of the Company from time to time.

The Company has in place the Employee Stock Option Schemes (ESOPs) and as per the ESOP Scheme,
Prakarsh Gagdani will be eligible for the grant of ESOPs, as may be considered by our Board/ Nomination
and Remuneration Committee from time to time.

On January 29, 2018, 1,25,000 stock options were granted to Prakarsh Gagdani out of which 10% were
vested on January 29, 2019, as per the ESOP Scheme. Further, on April 18, 2019, 70,000 stock options were
granted to him and the same are under vesting.

The aggregate of the remuneration and perquisites as aforesaid in any Fiscal shall not exceed the limit from
time to time under Section 197, Section 198 and other applicable provisions of the Act and Rules made
thereunder, read with Schedule V of the said Act or any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof
for the time being in force, or otherwise as may be permissible at law.

When in any Fiscal, the Company has no profits or its profits are inadequate, the remuneration including the

perquisites as aforesaid will be paid to Prakarsh Gagdani in accordance with the applicable provisions of
Schedule V of the Act, and subject to the approval of the Central Government, if required.
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K. The Board/Nomination and Remuneration Committee will review and recommend the remuneration payable

L.

to the Whole Time Director during the tenure of his appointment.

Prakarsh Gagdani shall liable to retire by rotation.

Santosh Jayaram, pursuant to a Board resolution dated April 17, 2018 and shareholders’ approval dated July 17,
2018, was appointed as the Whole Time Director of our Company for a period of three years with effect from
January 11, 2018. Set out below are the details of salary and benefits which Santosh Jayaram is entitled to:

A
B.

L.

Period of appointment: 3 years with effect from January 11, 2018.

Remuneration:
Basic Salary: ¥ 60,174 per month.

Perquisites:

Category (A):

1. Housing: Rent Free Accommaodation or House Rent Allowance of ¥ 30,087 per month.

2. Medical Reimbursement for self and family as per the rules of the Company.

3. Leave Travel Assistance as per the rules of the Company.

4. Other perquisites as per service rules of the Company.

Category (B)

1. Contribution to Provident Fund, Superannuation Fund, Annuity Fund or Gratuity as per the rules
of the Company.

2. Encashment of leave as per the rules of the Company

The said perquisites and allowances shall be evaluated, wherever applicable, as per the provisions of the
Income Tax Act, 1961 or any rules thereunder or any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof.
Increment: Board / Nomination and Remuneration Committee can determine the remuneration on an
annual basis subject to increment not exceeding 25% p.a. of basic salary, allowances and perquisites.

Commission/Bonus: He shall be paid commission/bonus as permissible under the Companies Act, 2013
and as determined by our Board / Nomination and Remuneration Committee from time to time.

Subject as aforesaid, the Whole Time Director shall be governed by such other Rules as are applicable
to the Senior Executives of the Company from time to time.

The Company has in place the Employee Stock Option Schemes (ESOP) and as per the ESOP Scheme,
Santosh Jayaram will be eligible for the grant of ESOPs, as may be considered by our Board/ Nomination
and Remuneration Committee from time to time.

On January 29, 2018, 20,000 stock options were granted to Santosh Jayaram out of which 10% were
vested on January 29, 2019, as per the ESOP Scheme. Further, on April 18, 2019, 5,000 stock options
were granted to him and the same are under vesting.

The aggregate of the remuneration and perquisites as aforesaid in any Fiscal shall not exceed the limit
from time to time under Section 197, Section 198 and other applicable provisions of the Act and Rules
made thereunder, read with Schedule V of the said Act or any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment
thereof for the time being in force, or otherwise as may be permissible at law.

When in any Fiscal, the Company has no profits or its profits are inadequate, the remuneration including
the perquisites as aforesaid will be paid to Santosh Jayaram in accordance with the applicable provisions
of Schedule V of the Act, and subject to the approval of the Central Government, if required.

Our Board/Nomination and Remuneration Committee will review and recommend the remuneration
payable to the Whole Time Director during the tenure of his appointment.

Santosh Jayaram shall liable to retire by rotation.

Payment or benefit to Directors of our Company

A. Details of remuneration paid to Executive Directors for Fiscal 2019 are as follows:
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fl;' Name of Executive Director Total Remuneration (in ¥ million)
1. Prakarsh Gagdani 7.67
2. Santosh Jayaram 2.36

B. Details of remuneration paid to Non-Executive and Independent directors in Fiscal 2019

Pursuant to the resolution passed by our Board on May 2, 2017 our Independent Directors are entitled to
receive a sitting fee of ¥ 30,000 for attending each meeting of our Board, ¥ 30,000 for attending each
meeting of the Audit Committee and ¥ 15,000 for attending the meetings of the other Committees. The
sitting fees paid to our Non-Executive and Independent Directors for Fiscal 2019 are as follows:

Sr. . Total Remuneration (including sitting
No. PO fees) (in T million)

1. Dr. Archana Niranjan Hingorani 0.40
2. Nirali Sanghi 0.40
3. Sarbeswar Lenka 0.21

Shareholding of Directors in our Company

As per our Articles of Association, our Directors are not required to hold any qualification shares.

The shareholding of our Directors as of the date of filing this Letter of Offer is set forth below:

Name of Director

Number of Equity

0,
Shares Percentage (%)

Prakarsh Gagdani

8,990 0.07

Total

8,990 0.07

Appointment of relatives of Directors to any office or place of profit

None of the relatives of our Directors currently hold any office or place of profit in our Company.

Arrangement or understanding with major shareholders, customers, suppliers or others

There is no arrangement or understanding with the major shareholders, customers, suppliers or others, pursuant

to which any of our Directors were appointed on our Board of Directors.

Interest of Directors

All Directors may be deemed to be interested to the extent of their shareholding and dividend entitlement in our
Company, fees payable to them for attending meetings of our Board or a committee thereof, to the extent of other
remuneration and reimbursement of expenses, if any, payable to them, and to the extent of remuneration paid to

them for services rendered as an officer or employee of our Company.

1. Interest in the property

Our Directors have no interest in any property acquired by our Company two years prior to the date of this
Letter of Offer, or proposed to be acquired by our Company, or in any transaction for acquisition of land,

construction of buildings and supply of machinery.

2. Business interest

Except as stated in “Related Party Transactions” on page 147, and to the extent of their shareholding in
our Company, if any, our Directors do not have any other interest in our business or our Company.

3. Payment of benefits

No amount or benefit has been paid or given within two preceding years or is intended to be paid or given
to any of our Directors except the normal remuneration for services rendered as Directors.

4, Loans to Directors
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No loans have been availed by the Directors from our Company. None of the beneficiaries of loans,
advances and sundry debtors are related to the Directors of our Company.

5. Bonus or profit sharing plan for the Directors

None of the Directors are party to any bonus or profit sharing plan of our Company, except for Prakarsh
Gagdani and Santosh Jayaram who may be entitled to bonus in accordance with the terms of their
employment.

6. Service contracts with Directors

Except in respect of statutory benefits upon termination of their employment in our Company or on
retirement, no officer of our Company, including our executive director and the Key Management
Personnel have entered into a service contract with our Company pursuant to which they are entitled to
any benefits upon termination of employment.

7. Interest in promotion of our Company

Our Directors have no interests in the promotion of our Company as at the date of this Letter of Offer.

Changes in our Board in the last three years

Date of appointment/ change/

Name

cessation

Reason

Vishal Rana

December 22, 2015

Resigned as Whole Time Director

Prakarsh Gagdani

December 22, 2015

Appointed as an additional Director and
Whole Time Director

Prakarsh Gagdani

July 21, 2016

Confirmation of appointment as Director
and Whole Time Director by shareholders

Krishna Visvanath lyer

March 31, 2017

Appointed as an additional Independent

Director

Confirmation  of  appointment as
Independent Director by shareholders
Appointed as an additional Independent
Director.

Confirmation  of  appointment as
Independent Director by shareholders
Designated as Chief Executive Officer
Resigned as Non- Executive Director
Resigned as Independent Director
Resigned as Non- Executive Director
Appointed as an additional Independent
Director.

Appointed as an additional Director and
Whole Time Director

Krishna Visvanath lyer July 19, 2017

Dr. Archana Niranjan Hingorani June 07, 2017

Dr. Archana Niranjan Hingorani July 19, 2017

Prakarsh Gagdani
Mohan Radhakrishnan
Krishna Visvanath lyer
Narendra Jain

Nirali Sanghi

January 11, 2018
January 11, 2018
January 11, 2018
January 11, 2018
January 11, 2018

Santosh Jayaram January 11, 2018

Nirali Sanghi July 17, 2018 Confirmation  of  appointment as
Independent Director by shareholders
Santosh Jayaram July 17, 2018 Confirmation of appointment as Director
and Whole Time Director by shareholders
Prakarsh Gagdani July 17, 2018 Reappointed as a Whole Time Director
Sarbeswar Lenka July 18, 2018 Appointed as an Additional Non-

Executive Director
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Borrowing Powers of our Board

Our Articles of Association, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, authorize our Board at its
discretion to generally raise or borrow or secure the payment of any sum or sums of money for the purposes of
our Company. Our Board is authorized to borrow money from banks, financial institutions or any other lending
institutions or persons or such other corporates or entities as our Board may deem fit, notwithstanding that the
money to be borrowed, together with the money already borrowed by our Company will exceed aggregate of its
paid up share capital and free reserves, apart from temporary loans obtained from our Company’s bankers in the
ordinary course of business, up to a limit not exceeding in the aggregate 315,000 million.

Corporate Governance

The provisions relating to corporate governance prescribed under the SEBI Listing Regulations and Companies
Act, 2013 are applicable to our Company. In respect of corporate governance, we are in compliance with the
requirements of the applicable laws including SEBI Listing Regulations, equity listing agreement with the Stock
Exchanges, the Companies Act, 2013, and the rules made thereunder. The corporate governance framework is
based on an effective independent Board, Separation of our Board’s supervisory role from the executive
management team and constitution of our Board committees and formulation of policies, each as required under
law, including the SEBI Listing Regulations.

Our Board has been constituted in compliance with the Companies Act, 2013, the SEBI Listing Regulations and
in accordance with best practices in corporate governance. Our Board functions either as a full board, or through
various committees constituted to oversee specific operational areas.

Currently, our Board has five Directors. In compliance with the SEBI Listing Regulations, we have two Executive
Directors, two Independent Directors and one Additional (Non-Executive) Director on our Board.

Committees of our Board

In addition to the committees of our Board detailed below, our Board may, from time to time, constitute
committees for various functions.

1. Audit Committee

The members of the audit committee are:

Name of the member Designation
Dr. Archana Niranjan Hingorani Chairperson
Nirali Sanghi Member
Sarbeswar Lenka Member

The audit committee was constituted by a resolution of our Board dated March 31, 2017 and was last re-
constituted by a resolution of our Board dated July 18, 2018. The scope and function of the Audit Committee
is in accordance with Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 18 of the SEBI Listing
Regulations, and its terms of reference are as follows:

@ Oversight of our Company's financial reporting process and the disclosure of its financial
information to ensure that the financial statement is correct, sufficient and credible;

(b) Recommendation for appointment, re-appointment and replacement, remuneration and terms of
appointment of auditors of our Company;

(© Approval of payment to statutory auditors for any other services rendered by the statutory auditors;

(d) Reviewing, with the management, the annual financial statements and auditor's report thereon before
submission to the board for approval, with particular reference to:

(i Matters required to be included in the director's responsibility statement to be included in
the Board's report in terms of clause (c) of sub-section 3 of Section 134 of the Companies
Act, 2013;

(i) Changes, if any, in accounting policies and practices and reasons for the same;

118



(€)
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(9)
(h)
(i)
()
(k)
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(m)

(n)

(0)

(9)

(@)

(r)

(s)

(t)
(u)

v)

(iii) Major accounting entries involving estimates based on the exercise of judgment by
management;

(iv) Significant adjustments made in the financial statements arising out of audit findings;
(v) Compliance with listing and other legal requirements relating to financial statements;
(vi) Disclosure of any related party transactions; and

(vii) Qualifications/ modified opinions in the draft audit report.

Reviewing, the quarterly financial statements with the management before submission to the Board
for approval;

Reviewing, with the management, the statement of uses/ application of funds raised through an issue
(public issue, rights issue, preferential issue, etc.), the statement of funds utilized for purposes other
than those stated in the offer document/ prospectus/ notice and the report submitted by the
monitoring agency monitoring the utilisation of proceeds of a public or rights issue, and making
appropriate recommendations to the Board to take up steps in this matter;

Review and monitor the auditor's independence and performance, and effectiveness of audit process;
Approval or any subsequent modification of transactions of our Company with related parties;
Scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments;

Valuation of undertakings or assets of our Company, wherever it is necessary;

Evaluation of internal financial controls and risk management systems;

Monitoring the end use of funds raised through public offers and related matters, if any;

Reviewing, with the management, performance of statutory and internal auditors, adequacy of the
internal control systems;

Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, if any, including the structure of the internal audit
department, staffing and seniority of the official heading the department, reporting structure
coverage and frequency of internal audit;

Discussion with internal auditors of any significant findings and follow up there on;

Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations by the internal auditors into matters where
there is suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a material nature
and reporting the matter to the Board;

Discussion with statutory auditors before the commencement of the audit, about the nature and scope
of audit as well as post-audit discussion to ascertain any area of concern;

The Audit Committee may call for the comments of the auditors about internal control systems, the
scope of audit, including the observations of the auditors and review of financial statement before
their submission to the Board and may also discuss any related issues with the internal and statutory
auditors and the management of the company;

To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in the payment to the depositors, debenture holders,
shareholders (in case of non-payment of declared dividends) and creditors;

To establish and review the functioning of the whistle blower mechanism;

Approval of appointment of the chief financial officer after assessing the qualifications, experience
and background, etc. of the candidate;

Related Party Transactions:
M all related party transactions shall require prior approval of the Audit Committee.

(i) the Audit Committee may grant omnibus approval for related party transactions proposed
to be entered into by the Company subject to the following conditions, namely:
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(w)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

1 the criteria for granting the omnibus approval shall be specified which shall be in
line with the Company’s policy on related party transactions and such approval shall
be the based on the factors namely repetitiveness of the transactions (in past or in
future) and the justification for the need of omnibus approval;

2 the Audit Committee shall satisfy itself on the need for omnibus approval for
transactions of repetitive nature and that such approval is in the interest of the
Company;

3 such omnibus approval shall not be made for transactions in respect of selling or
disposing of the undertaking of the Company.

the omnibus approval shall specify:

1 the name(s) of the related party, nature of transaction, period of transaction,
maximum value of transactions that shall be entered into and the value of
transactions, in aggregate, which can be allowed under the omnibus route in a year;

2 the extent and manner of disclosures to be made to the Audit Committee at the time
of seeking omnibus approval,

3 the indicative base price or current contracted price and the formula for variation in
the price if any;

4 such other conditions as the Audit Committee may deem fit.

Provided that where the need for related party transaction cannot be foreseen and
aforesaid details are not available, committee may grant omnibus approval for such
transactions subject to their value not exceeding X 1 crore per transaction;

the Audit Committee shall review, at least on a quarterly basis, the details of related party
transactions entered into by the Company pursuant to each of the omnibus approvals given;

such omnibus approvals shall be valid for a period not exceeding one financial year and
shall require fresh approvals after the expiry of such financial year;

However, such prior and omnibus approval shall not be required in case of the transactions
entered into between the company and its wholly owned subsidiary/ subsidiaries whose
accounts are consolidated with the company and placed before the shareholders at the
general meeting for approval.

Review of:

(M)
(i)
(iii)
(iv)
v)

(vi)

management discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations;

statement of significant related party transactions (as defined by the audit committee),
submitted by management;

management letters / letters of internal control weaknesses issued by the statutory auditors;
internal audit reports relating to internal control weaknesses;

the appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of the chief internal auditor shall be
subject to review by the audit committee;

statement of deviations including:

1 quarterly statement of deviation(s) including report of monitoring agency, if
applicable, submitted to stock exchange(s) in terms of Regulation 32(1) of the SEBI
Listing Regulations;

2 annual statement of funds utilized for purposes other than those stated in the offer
document/prospectus/notice in terms of Regulation 32(7) of the SEBI Listing
Regulations;
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)

v)

The Audit Committee shall have authority to investigate into any matter in relation to the items
specified above and for this purpose shall have power to obtain professional advice from external
sources and have full access to information contained in the records of the company;

Carrying out any other terms of reference as may be decided by the Board or specified/ provided
under the Companies Act, 2013 or the SEBI Listing Regulations or by any other regulatory authority.

2. Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The members of the nomination and remuneration committee are:

Name of the member Designation
Nirali Sanghi Chairperson
Dr. Archana Niranjan Hingorani Member
Sarbeswar Lenka Member

The Nomination and Remuneration committee was constituted by a resolution of our Board dated March
31,2017 and was last re-constituted by a resolution of our Board dated July 18, 2018. The scope and function
of the Nomination and Remuneration committee is in accordance with Section 178 of the Companies Act,
2013. The terms of reference of the nomination and remuneration committee are as follows:

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(€)

Formulation of criteria for evaluation of performance of independent directors and the board of
directors;

Formulate the criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and independence of a
director and recommend to the Board a policy, relating to the remuneration for the directors, key
managerial personnel and other employees and while formulating this policy ensure that:

0] Level and composition of remuneration is reasonable and sufficient to attract, retain and
motivate directors of the quality required to run our Company successfully;

(i) Relationship of remuneration to performance is clear and meets appropriate performance
benchmarks;

(iii) Remuneration to directors, key managerial personnel and senior management involves a
balance between fixed and incentive pay reflecting short and long-term performance
objectives appropriate to the working of our Company and its goals and ensure that the
policy is disclosed in the Board's report.

Identify persons who are qualified to become directors and who may be appointed in senior
management in accordance with the criteria laid down, recommend to the Board their appointment
and removal and shall carry out evaluation of every director’s performance;

Whether to extend or continue the term of appointment of the independent director, on the basis of
the report of performance evaluation of independent directors;

Devising a policy on diversity of the board of directors.

3. Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee

The members of the stakeholders’ relationship committee are:

Name of the member Designation
Nirali Sanghi Chairperson
Dr. Archana Niranjan Hingorani Member
Prakarsh Gagdani Member

The stakeholders’ relationship committee was constituted by a resolution of our Board dated October 13,
2017 and was reconstituted on January 11, 2018. The scope and function of the stakeholders’ relationship
committee is in accordance with Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 20 of the SEBI
Listing Regulations. The terms of reference of the stakeholders’ relationship committee are as follows:
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(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

()

(9)

(h)

(i)

)

(k)

V)
(m)
(n)

(0)

To consider and resolve stakeholders and investors grievances;

It shall consider and resolve the grievances of the security holders of the Company including
complaints related to transfer of shares, non-receipt of annual report and non-receipt of declared
dividends;

To approve allotment of shares, debentures and other securities as per the authority conferred to
the Stakeholders Relationship Committee by the Board of Directors, from time to time;

To approve/ authorize the officers of the Company to approve requests for transfer, transposition,
deletion, consolidation, sub-division, change of name/address etc. in respect of shares, debentures
and securities received by the Company;

To review or address the complaints received by the Company from investors, SEBI, the Stock
Exchanges, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, etc. and the action taken for redressal of the same and
to suggest resolution of long pending complaints;

To approve and ratify the action taken by the authorized officers of the Company in compliance
investors for issues of duplicate/replacement/consolidation/sub-division and other purposes for the
shares, debentures and securities of the Company;

To monitor and expedite the status and process of dematerialisation and dematerialization of shares,
debentures and securities of the Company;

To give directions for monitoring the stock of blank stationery and for printing of stationery
required by the secretarial department of the Company, from time to time, for issuance of share
certificates, debenture certificates, allotment letters, warrants, pay orders, cheques and other related
stationary;

To review the status of unpaid dividend, interest and undelivered share certificates and measures
taken by the Company to resolve or reduce them;

To ensure compliance of transfer of unpaid dividend and shares to investor education and protection
fund on or before due date;

To monitor the progress of release of unpaid dividend and process of dissemination of these records
in accordance with the prescribed guidelines, rules and regulations;

To review the results of any investigation or audit conducted by any statutory authority;
Review the effectiveness of the system for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations;

Review the mechanism of handling investor’s complaints and the status of any pending complaints
which remain unresolved or unattended,;

Any significant or important matters affecting the interest of the Company.
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Management Organisation Chart
Dr. Archana Niranjan Mr. Prakarsh Gagdani Mr. Sarbeswar Lenka Ms. Nirali Sanghi Mr. Santosh Jayaram
Hingorani (Whole Time Director & (Non-Executive Director) (Independent Director) {Whole Time Director)
(Independent Director) Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Gourav Munjal
(Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Roshan Dave

{Company Secretary &
Compliance Officer)

Key Management Personnel

The details of the Key Management Personnel as on the date of this Letter of Offer are as follows:

Prakarsh Gagdani, aged 37 years, is a Whole Time Director and Chief Executive Officer of our Company. For
further details in relation to Prakarsh Gagdani, see section titled “Our Management —Brief Biographies of
Directors” on page 113.

Santosh Jayaram, aged 31 years is a Whole Time Director of our Company. For further details in relation to
Santosh Jayaram., see section titled “Our Management —Brief Biographies of Directors” on page 113.

Gourav Munjal, aged 31 years, is the Chief Financial Officer of our Company since January 16, 2019. He holds
a bachelor’s in commerce degree from Kurukshetra University and is a qualified Chartered Accountant Company
Secretary and diploma holder in IFRS from the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA). He has
8 years of experience in the field of accounts and finance. Before joining our Company, he was associated with
IIFL Group. He handles finance and accounts functions in our Company. Since he has been appointed on January
16, 2019, remuneration of ¥ 0.63 million remuneration has been paid to him for the last Fiscal.

Roshan Dave, aged 33 years, is the Company Secretary & Compliance Officer of our Company since February
1, 2018. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in commerce and LL.B from Mumbai University and is a qualified
company secretary from Institute of Company Secretaries of India. He has around eight years of experience in the
field of secretarial, legal and compliance. In the past, he was associated with 1IFL Securities Limited and ALBA
Asia Private Limited. He handles secretarial, legal and compliance functions in our Company. The remuneration
paid to him during the last Fiscal was ¥ 1.58 million.

None of our Key Management Personnel are related to each other or to the Directors.

All our Key Management Personnel are the permanent employees of our Company.

There is no arrangement or understanding with the major Shareholders, customers, suppliers or others, pursuant
to which any of our Key Management Personnel were appointed.

Shareholding of Key Management Personnel

Prakarsh Gagdani holds 8,990 Equity Shares and Roshan Dave holds one Equity Share of the Company. Apart
from them, none of our other Key Management Personnel hold any Equity Shares in the Company.

Bonus or profit-sharing plan of the Key Management Personnel
None of the Key Management Personnel are party to any bonus or profit sharing plan of our Company, except for

Prakarsh Gagdani and Santosh Jayaram who may be entitled to bonus in accordance with the terms of their
employment.
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Interests of Key Management Personnel

None of the Key Management Personnel have any interest in our Company other than to the extent of the
remuneration or benefits to which they are entitled to as per their terms of appointment and reimbursement of
expenses incurred by them in the ordinary course of business. The Key Management Personnel may also be
deemed to be interested to the extent of any dividend payable to them and other distributions in respect of Equity
Shares held by them, if any.

None of the Key Management Personnel have been paid any consideration of any nature from our Company, other
than their remuneration.

No loans have been availed of by the Key Management Personnel from our Company.
Contingent and deferred compensation payable to Key Management Personnel

Other than employee stock options there is no contingent or deferred compensation payable to our Key
Management Personnel.

Changes in our Key Management Personnel

The changes in our Key Management Personnel in the last three years are as follows:

Name

Date of change

Reason for change

Vishal Rana

December 22, 2015

Resigned as Whole Time Director

Prakarsh Gagdani

December 22, 2015

Appointed as Whole Time Director

Jayesh Sharma

February 15, 2017

Appointed as Company Secretary

Ankita Lakhotia

March 31, 2017

Appointed as Chief Financial Officer

Jayesh Sharma

October 13, 2017

Resigned as Company Secretary

Harshit Choudhary

October 13, 2017

Appointed as Company Secretary

Santosh Jayaram

January 11, 2018

Appointed as Whole Time Director

Harshit Choudhary

January 31, 2018

Resigned as Company Secretary

Roshan Dave

February 01, 2018

Appointed as Company Secretary

Ankita Lakhotia July 17, 2018 Resigned as Chief Financial Officer
Prakarsh Gagdani July 17, 2018 Re-appointed as Whole Time Director
Mahesh Shetty July 18, 2018 Appointed as Chief Financial Officer
Mahesh Shetty January 16, 2019 Resigned as Chief Financial Officer

Gourav Munjal

January 16, 2019

Appointed as Chief Financial Officer

Payment or Benefit to officers of our Company

Except as disclosed in this Letter of Offer, no non-salary amount or benefit has been paid or given or is intended
to be paid or given to any of our Company’s employees including the Key Management Personnel and our
Directors within two preceding years.

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION

For details of options granted under 5PCL ESOS 2017 see “Capital Structure — Employee Stock Options” on page
54.
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OUR PROMOTER AND PROMOTER GROUP

The Promoters of our Company are Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani. As on the date of this
Letter of Offer, our Promoters collectively hold 2,667,456 Equity Shares equivalent to 20.93% of the pre-Issue
paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company. Our Promoters will continue to hold 20.93% of the post-Issue paid-
up Equity Share capital of our Company. For details, see “Capital Structure — Build-up of our Promoters
shareholding in our Company” on page 52.

Details of our Promoters

1. Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain

Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain, aged 52 years, is the Promoter of our Company.

Address: 101-A, Ashoka Guruprasad CHS Ltd. Hanuman Road, Vile Parle (East)
Mumbai 400 057

Voter ID: AMD3028164

Driving License: MH-02-92-10565.

Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain holds a post-graduate diploma in management from Indian
Institute of Management, Ahmedabad and is a Chartered accountant and a Cost
accountant. He has about 23 years of experience in financial services and other
sectors. He is the founder and chairman of IIFL Holdings Limited. He founded
Probity Research and Services Limited (later renamed to 1IFL Holdings Limited)
in the year 1995. He has been instrumental in steering the IIFL Group into various
financial sector activities. He has been conferred with the CA Entrepreneur Leader
Award in the Financial Services Industry.

Other than, IIFL Finance Limited, Pratham Education Foundation, IIFL Home
Finance Limited, IIFL Wealth Management Limited, India Infoline Finance
Limited, MNJ Consultants Private Limited, he is not involved as a director in any
other ventures.

2. Venkataraman Rajamani

Venkataraman Rajamani, aged 51 years, is the Promoter of our Company.

Address: 604, Glen Heights Hiranandani Gardens, Powai, Andheri - 400076
Voter ID: SHA1673714

. Driving License: MH-02-19960019154
ﬁi- Venkataraman Rajamani holds degree of B. Tech (electronics and electrical
"q}\ communications engineering) degree from Indian Institute of Technology,
“ Kharagpur and post graduate diploma in management from Indian Institute of

Management, Bengaluru. He joined IIFL in the year 1999 and is currently the co-
promoter and managing director of IIFL Holdings Limited

Other than, IIFL Finance Limited, IIFL Securities Limited, IIFL Management
Services Limited, IIFL Home Finance Limited, Samasta Microfinance Limited,
IIFL Wealth Management Limited and India Infoline Finance Limited, he is not
involved as a director in any other ventures.

We confirm that the PAN, passport number and bank account numbers of our individual Promoters have been
submitted to the Stock Exchanges at the time of submission of the Draft Letter of Offer with them.

Interests of Promoters in promotion of our Company

Our Promoters are interested in our Company to the extent that they promote our Company, to the extent of their
shareholding in our Company and the dividends payable, if any, and any other distributions in respect of the
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Equity Shares held by them. For details of our Promoters’ shareholding in our Company, see “Capital Structure-
Notes on Capital Structure” on page 51.

Interest of Promoters in property of our Company

None of our Promoters are interested in the properties acquired or proposed to be acquired by our Company in the
two years preceding the date of this Letter of Offer, or in any transaction by our Company for acquisition of land,
construction of building or supply of machinery.

Business Interest

None of our Promoters are interested as a member of a firm or company and no sum has been paid or agreed to
be paid to any of our Promoters or to such firm or company in cash or shares or otherwise by any person for
services rendered by such Promoter(s) or by such firm or company in connection with the promotion or formation
of our Company.

Related Party Transactions

For details of related party transactions entered into by our Company with our Promoters and Group Companies
during the last Fiscal, the nature of transactions and the cumulative value of transactions, see “Related Party
Transactions” on page 147.

Payment or Benefits to Promoters or Promoter Group

Except in the ordinary course of business and otherwise as disclosed in the section titled "Related Party
Transactions™ on page 147, there has been no payment or benefit provided to our Promoters or Promoter Group
by our Company during the two years preceding the date of the Draft Letter of Offer, nor is there any intention to
pay or give any benefit to our Promoters or Promoter Group.

Except as stated in “Related Party Transactions” on page 147, our Company has not entered into any contract,
agreements or arrangements during the preceding two years from the date of this Letter of Offer or proposes to
enter into any such contract in which our Promoters are directly or indirectly interested and no payments have
been made to them in respect of the contracts, agreements or arrangements which are proposed to be made with.

Experience of the Promoters in the business of our Company

Our Promoters Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani have been associated with our Company as
its Promoters from October 20, 2017, pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement between IHFL Holdings Limited
and our Company. Our Promoters are Directors of IIFL Holdings Limited, which was the Promoter of our
Company from July 10, 2007 to September 30, 2017.

Disassociation by our Promoters in the preceding three years

Except as disclosed below, our Promoters have not disassociated themselves from any company during the
preceding three years:

S. Name of the disassociated Reasons for and terms of . .
. . . Date of disassociation
No. entity disassociation
1. Sunder Bhanwar Holiday Home | Nirmal Jain was one of the | March 4,2018
Private Limited (“SBHPL”) promoters of SBHPL. He sold his
entire stake in the SBHPL.

Confirmations

e  Our Promoters, relatives of our Promoters and members of our Promoter Group have not been declared as
wilful defaulters by any bank or financial institution or consortium thereof in accordance with the guidelines
on wilful defaulters issued by the RBI and there are no violations of securities laws committed by our
Promoters in the past and no proceedings for violation of securities laws are pending against them.
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e Our Promoters are not, and have not been, in the past, promoter(s), director(s) or persons in control of any
other company which is prohibited from accessing or operating in capital markets under any order or
direction passed by SEBI or any other regulatory or governmental authority.

e Our Promoters are not and have never been a promoter, director or person in control of any other company
which is debarred from accessing or operating in capital markets under any order or direction passed by
SEBI or any other regulatory or governmental authority or which is a wilful defaulter as categorized by any
bank or financial institution or consortium thereof in accordance with the guidelines on wilful defaulters
issued by the RBI.

e  Our Promoters are not interested in any other entity which holds any intellectual property rights that are used
by our Company.

e Our Promoters and their immediate relatives have not given any loan to our Company, secured or unsecured,
as on date of this Letter of Offer. Further, our Promoters have not given any guarantee to a third party with
respect to loans, secured or unsecured, availed by our Company as on date of this Letter of Offer.Further,
our Promoters are not related to any beneficiary of loans and advances provided by our Company.

e  Except as disclosed in “Related Party Transactions on page 147, there have been no sales or purchases
between our Company and Promoter Group where such sale or purchase exceeded in value in the aggregate
of 10% of the total sales or purchase of our Company.

e Our Promoters are not related to any of the sundry debtors of our Company.
e Our Promoters have not taken any unsecured loans which may be recalled by the lenders at any time.

Change in the management and control of our company

Our Company was incorporated on July 10, 2007 and was originally promoted by IIFL Holdings Limited as its
wholly owned subsidiary. Pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement, with effect from the effective date i.e.
September 30, 2017, the entire shareholding of our erstwhile promoter i.e., IIFL Holdings Limited was cancelled
and in lieu thereof, our Company allotted Equity Shares to the shareholders of IIFL Holdings Limited. Pursuant
to the Scheme of Arrangement, Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani became the Promoters of
our Company. For details, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Details regarding the Scheme of
Arrangement between IIFL Holdings Limited and 5paisa Capital Limited” on page 108.

Promoter group

In addition to the Promoters named above, the names of the persons and entities constituting the Promoter Group
of our Company in terms of Regulation 2(1)(zb) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations are set out below:

1. Natural persons who are part of the Promoter Group

The natural persons who are part of the Promoter Group (due to their relationship with out Promoters), other
than our Promoters, are as follows:

Name of the Promoter Name of the relative Relationship with the Promoter
Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain Madhu N. Jain Spouse
Venkataraman Rajamani Aditi Athavankar Spouse

2. Entities forming part of the Promoter Group

e Ardent Impex Private Limited
e  Orpheus Trading Private Limited
o Kalki Family Private Trust (Aditi Avinash Athavankar being the trustee of this trust)

Shareholding of the Promoter Group in our Company

For details of shareholding of members of the Promoter Group as on the date of this Letter of Offer, see section
titled “Capital Structure — Notes to Capital Structure” on page 51.
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GROUP COMPANIES

In terms of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, for the purposes of identification of group companies for disclosure in
connection with the Issue, our Company has considered companies which are included in the list of related parties
in our Restated Consolidated Financial Statements (“Relevant Period”) in accordance with applicable
accounting standards, i.e. Accounting Standard 18 (“AS 18”) and such other companies considered material by
our Board. Our Subsidiary is also appearing in the list of related parties in our Restated Consolidated Financial
Statements in accordance with AS 18. For further details of our Subsidiary, see “History and Certain Corporate
Matters- Our subsidiaries, associate companies and joint venture companies ” on page 110.

Pursuant to the materiality policy adopted by our Board of directors through its resolution dated September 12,
2018 (“Materiality Policy ”), for the purpose of disclosure in this Letter of Offer, a company shall be considered
as a material ‘Group Company’ by our Board, if such company is: (a) a member of the ‘Promoter Group’ (as
defined under the SEBI ICDR Regulations); (b) has been disclosed as related parties in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards; and (c) has entered into one or more transactions with our Company during the
last completed fiscal (i.e., Fiscal 2018), which cumulatively in value exceeds 10 % of the total standalone revenue
of our Company, as per the last restated standalone financial statements of our Company included in this Letter
of Offer; and (d) such company which would be considered as a related party in terms of AS 18, in the financial
statements of the Company for periods subsequent to the Relevant Period, up to the date of filings of the offer
documents.

On the basis of the Materiality Policy, other than the companies already covered under AS 18 in the Restated
Consolidated Financial Statements, no company was considered to be material by our Board for the purposes of
disclosure in this Letter of Offer. It is clarified that the companies which (a) subsequent to the Relevant Period
have ceased to be related parties of our Company in terms of AS 18, and (b) are consolidated under Accounting
Standard 21, shall not be considered as ‘Group Companies’ for the purposes of disclosure in this Letter of Offer.
Itis further clarified that in addition to the entities covered above, if companies which, subsequent to the Relevant
Period, become related parties in accordance with the applicable accounting standard shall be considered as
‘Group Companies’ for the purposes of disclosure in this Letter of Offer.

The following are our Group Companies:

1. IIFL Finance Limited (formerly 1IFL Holdings Limited)

2. India Infoline Finance Limited

3. IIFL Home Finance Limited (Formerly India Infoline Housing Finance Limited)

4. IIFL Wealth Finance Limited (Formerly Chephis Capital Markets Limited)

5. IIFL Wealth Management Limited

6. IIFL Facilities Services Limited (Formerly 1IFL Real Estate Limited)

7. IIFL Securities Limited (Formerly India Infoline Limited)

8. Samasta Microfinance Limited

9. IIFL Management Services Limited (Formerly India Infoline Insurance Services Limited)
10. IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited (Formerly India Infoline Insurance Brokers Limited)
11. IIFL Commodities Limited (Formerly India Infoline Commodities Limited)

12. IIFL Trustee Limited

13. IIFL Asset Management Limited (Formerly India Infoline Asset Management Company Limited)
14, IIFL Alternate Asset Advisors Limited

15. IIFL Distribution Services Limited

16. IIFL Investment Adviser and Trustee Services Ltd

17. IIFL Private Wealth Hong Kong Limited

18. IIFL Private Wealth Management (Dubai) Limited

19. IFL Inc

20. IIFL Wealth (UK) Limited

21. IIFL Capital Inc.

22. IIFL Asset Management (Mauritius) Limited

23. IIFL (Asia) Pte. Ltd.

24. IIFL Capital Pte. Ltd.

25. IIFL Securities Pte. Ltd.

26. IIFL Asset Reconstruction Limited

27. IIFL Wealth Securities IFSC Limited

28. IIFL Securities Services IFSC Limited

29. IIFL Capital (Canada) Limited
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30. Clara Developers Private Limited

31. India Infoline Foundation

32. Ardent Impex Private Limited

33. Orpheus Trading Private Limited

34. IIFL Altiore Advisors Limited

35. IIFL Wealth Advisors (India) Limited

Details of our Group Companies

As on date of this Letter of Offer, amongst our Group Companies, the equity shares of only one Group Company
are listed on the Stock Exchanges. Following are the five largest Group Companies of our Company:

IIFL Finance Limited (formerly 1IFL Holdings Limited)
India Infoline Finance Limited

IIFL Home Finance Limited

IIFL Wealth Finance Limited

IIFL Wealth Management Limited

agrwdE

Details of our top 5 Group Companies are provided below:
1. 1IFL Finance Limited (formerly IIFL Holdings Limited (“IHL ")
Corporate information

IHL was originally incorporated as “Probity Research and Services Private Limited”, a private limited company
under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 pursuant to the issuance of a certificate of incorporation dated
October 18, 1995 by the registrar of companies. Subsequently, IHL was converted into a public limited company
and its name was changed to ‘“Probity Research and Services Limited” pursuant to the issuance of fresh certificate
of incorporation dated April 28, 2000, by the registrar of companies. Subsequently, the name of IHL was changed
to “India Infoline.com Limited” pursuant to the issuance of a fresh certificate of incorporation dated May 23, 2000
by the registrar of companies. Subsequently, the name of IHL was changed to “India Infoline Limited” pursuant
to the issuance of fresh certificate of incorporation dated March 23, 2001, by the registrar of companies.
Subsequently, the name of IHL was changed to “IIFL Holdings Limited” pursuant to the issuance of fresh
certificate of incorporation dated February 18, 2014, by the registrar of companies. Further, to effect a composite
scheme of arrangement, the name was changed from “IIFL  Holdings Limited” to
“ITFL Finance Limited”.

IHL is registered with SEBI as a merchant banker and investment adviser and is, inter alia, engaged in the business
of wealth management, financing, investment banking, capital markets and insurance and financial products
distribution etc. through its various subsidiaries.

On October 16, 2015, the FIH Mauritius Investments Ltd (“Acquirer”) and HWIC Asia Fund (Class A Shares), I
Investments Limited and FIH Private Investments Ltd (“Persons Acting in Concert” or “PACs”) made an open
offer to the shareholders of 1IFL Holdings Limited pursuant to acquisition of up to 26% of the post offer equity
share capital of IIFL Holdings Limited. In relation to the open offer, the Acquirer and the PACs gave an
undertaking to SEBI, inter alia, stating that: (i) they will not exercise voting rights on resolutions placed before
equity shareholders of IIFL Holdings Limited in relation to such number of equity shares held by them that
represent more than 25% of the paid up equity share capital of 1IFL Holdings Limited at the time of voting on the
relevant resolution; and (ii) they will not acquire additional equity shares of 1IFL Holdings Limited to exceed the
39.97%, including by way of a creeping acquisition of upto 5% of the equity share capital under Regulation 3(2)
of the Takeover Regulations unless the Acquirer and PAC make an open offer or obtain the prior consent of SEBI
for such acquisition. Further, the Acquirer and the PACs clarified that they are financial investors and do not
intend to acquire control of IIFL Holdings Limited and appoint any additional directors on the board of directors
of IIFL Holdings Limited and IIFL Holdings Limited will continue its business operations under its present
management as it has done in the past, and the acquisition of the equity shares will not have any repercussions on
the employment and IIFL Holdings Limited’s place of business.

The board of Directors of IHL at its meeting held on January 31, 2018, approved the draft composite scheme of

arrangement amongst IHL, India Infoline Media and Research Services Limited (“llFL M&R?”), IIFL Securities
Limited (“llFL Securities”), IIFL Wealth Management Limited (“11FL Wealth”), India Infoline Finance Limited
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(“NFL Finance”), ITIFL Distribution Services Limited (“lIFL Distribution”), and their respective shareholders,
under Sections 230-232 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Scheme”) which inter-
alia, envisages the following:

(@) amalgamation of IIFL M&R with IHL;

(b) demerger of the Securities Business Undertaking (as defined in the scheme) of IHL into IIFL Securities;

(c) demerger of the Wealth Business Undertaking (as defined in the scheme) of IHL into IIFL Wealth;

(d) amalgamation of IIFL Finance with IHL; and

(e) transfer of the Broking and Depository Participant Business Undertaking (as defined in the Scheme) of IIFL
Wealth to its wholly owned subsidiary i.e., IIFL Distribution, on a going-concern basis.

The National Company Law Tribunal (“NCLT”) vide its order dated March 7, 2019 approved the aforesaid
Scheme and the certified true copy of the order was received by IHL on March 15, 2019. Pursuant to the order,
the following parts of the Scheme shall be effective: (a) amalgamation of IIFL M&R with IHL; (b) demerger of
the Securities Business Undertaking (as defined in the scheme) of IHL into IIFL Securities; (c) demerger of the
Wealth Business Undertaking (as defined in the scheme) of IHL into IIFL Wealth; and (d) transfer of the Broking
and Depository Participant Business Undertaking (as defined in the Scheme) of IIFL Wealth to its wholly owned
subsidiary i.e., IIFL Distribution, on a going-concern basis. However, the merger of India Infoline Finance Limited
with IHL shall be made effective on receipt of the requisite licences / registrations by IHL, to carry on the lending
business.

Interest of our Promoters

Our Promoters Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani, directly hold 46,402,000 and 10,984,432
issued, subscribed and paid up equity shares of face value of % 2 each, respectively of IHL, amounting to 14.54%
and 3.44% of the issued, subscribed and paid up capital of IHL, respectively. Further, Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain is
the executive chairman of IHL and Venkataraman Rajamani is the managing director of IHL.

Financial Information

The following information has been derived from the audited financial statements of IHL for the last three Fiscals:
(in zmillion, except per share values)

Particulars Fiscal 2019 Fiscal 2018 FZISE?I
Equity capital 638.41 637.96 635.82
Reserves and surplus (excluding revaluation) 36,310.34 50,018.77 | 43,178.37
Sales/Turnover 50,955.28 64,375.56 | 49,247.32
Profit/(Loss) after tax 7,942.15 11,620.77 8,221.80
Earnings per share () (Basic) 21.38 28.63 21.64
Earnings per share (?) (Diluted) 21.34 28.55 21.52
Net asset value per share (3) 115.75 158.81 137.82

Note: The numbers for Fiscal 2019 are based on IND-AS and For Fiscal 2018 and 2017 are based on I-GAAP
Significant notes by auditors

There are no significant notes of the auditors for the last three Fiscals.

Share price information

The equity shares of IHL are listed on NSE and BSE.

The details of the highest and the lowest prices on NSE during the preceding six months are as follows:

Month Month High Month Low
December, 2018 514.00 418.05
January, 2018 510.00 424.30
February, 2019 439.35 297.00
March, 2019 464.40 326.45
April, 2019 475.00 412.15
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Month Month Low

189.55

Month High
452.00

May, 2019

The details of the highest and the lowest prices on BSE during the preceding six months are as follows:

Month Month High Month Low
December, 2018 514.35 416.15
January, 2019 510.00 424.05
February, 2019 437.60 297.50
March, 2019 470.00 325.35
April, 2019 480.00 411.60
May, 2019 453,95 178.70

As on June 13, 2019, the closing share price of IHL on NSE was 158.80 and the market capitalization as per the
closing price on NSE was % 50,694.43 million.

As on June 13, 2019, the closing share price of IHL on BSE was X 159.30 and the market capitalization as per the
closing price on BSE was % 50,854.05 million.

2. India Infoline Finance Limited (“IIFL”)
Corporate information

IIFL was originally incorporated as “India Infoline Investment Services Private Limited”, a private limited
company under provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 pursuant to the issuance of a certificate of incorporation
dated July 7, 2004 by the registrar of companies. Subsequently, IIFL was converted into a public limited company
and its name was changed to “India Infoline Investment Services Limited” pursuant to the issuance of fresh
certificate of incorporation dated July 10, 2007, by the registrar of companies. Subsequently, the name of IIFL
was changed to “India Infoline Finance Limited” pursuant to the issuance of fresh certificate of incorporation
dated November 18, 2011, by the registrar of companies. IIFL is a part of a composite scheme of arrangement,
pursuant to which it shall get amalgamated with 1IFL Finance Limited. For further details, refer to section “Group
Companies — Details of our Group Companies - IIFL Finance Limited (formerly IIFL Holdings Limited (“IHL”)”
on page 129.

IIFL is registered with the RBI as a systemically important non-deposit taking non-banking financial company
and focuses on mortgage loans, gold loan, capital market finance and healthcare finance.

Interest of our Promoters

Our Promoters Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani, do not directly hold any equity shares of
IIFL. Further, Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain is a whole time director and Venkataraman Rajamani is a non-executive
director of IIFL

Financial Information

The following information has been derived from the audited financial statements of I1FL for the last three Fiscals:

(in z million, except per share values)

Particulars Fiscal 2019 Fiscal 2018 Fiscal 2017
Equity capital 2,809.20 2,807.42 2,371.65
Reserves and surplus (excluding revaluation) 40,321.40 36,478.37 31,893.52
Sales/Turnover 50161.97 38,569.63 31,680.63
Profit/(Loss) after tax 7184.66 5,543.01 4,231.96
Earnings per share () (Basic) 30.20 23.10 17.29
Earnings per share (?) (Diluted) 30.08 19.54 15.79
Net asset value per share (3) 153.53 139.94 123.70

Note: The numbers for Fiscal 2019 are based on IND-AS and For Fiscal 2018 and 2017 are based on I-GAAP

Significant notes by auditors
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There are no significant notes of the auditors for the last three Fiscals.
3. IIFL Home Finance Limited (“IIHFL”)
Corporate information

IIFL Home Finance Limited was originally incorporated as India Infoline Housing Finance Limited under the
provisions of Companies Act, 1956 on December 26, 2006. Subsequently, the name was changed to IIFL Home
Finance Limited pursuant to the issuance of fresh certificate of incorporation dated May 2, 2018, by the registrar
of companies. It is registered with the National Housing Bank (“NHB”) as housing finance company vide
Registration No. 02.0070.09 dated February 3, 2009 and notified as a financial institution under SARFAESI Act
vide Government notification dated June 23, 2010.

Interest of our Promoters

Our Promoters do not hold directly any equity shares in IIHFL. Further, Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and
Venkataraman Rajamani are directors of IIHFL.

Financial Information
The following information has been derived from the audited financial statements of IIHFL for the last three

Fiscals:
(in zmillion, except per share values)

Particulars Fiscal 2019 Fiscal 2018 Fiscal 2017
Equity capital 209.68 199.68 199.68
Reserves and surplus (excluding revaluation) 15,757.14 11,309.41 9,335.32
Sales/Turnover 18,457.36 12,687.99 9,063.96
Profit/(Loss) after tax 3063.93 1,974.09 835.58
Earnings per share () (Basic) 150.91 98.86 49.78
Earnings per share (?) (Diluted) 150.91 98.86 49.78
Net asset value per share () 750.50 571.51 472.65

Note: The numbers for Fiscal 2019 are based on IND-AS and For Fiscal 2018 and 2017 are based on I-GAAP
Significant notes by auditors

There are no significant notes of the auditors for the last three Fiscals.

4. 1IFL Wealth Finance Limited (“IWFL”)

Corporate information

IWFL was originally incorporated as “Chephis Capital Markets Limited”, a public limited company, under the
provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 pursuant to the issuance of a certificate of incorporation dated August 31,
1994 by the registrar of companies. On February 13, 2016, IIFL Wealth Management Limited acquired 100%
equity shares capital of IWFL and subsequently, the name of IWFL was changed to “IIFL Wealth Finance
Limited” pursuant to the issuance of the fresh certificate of incorporation dated March 12, 2016, by the registrar
of companies.

IWFL is registered with the RBI as a systemically important non-deposit accepting non-banking financial
company and is, inter-alia, primarily engaged in the lending/ financing activities and offers broad suite of financial
products such as loan against securities, loan against property, etc. to corporate and high net worth clients. IWFL
has also obtained a composite corporate agency license from Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority
of India and is eligible to procure business under life, health and general insurance categories.

Interest of our Promoters

Our Promoters, Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani, neither directly hold any equity shares nor
are directors in IWFL.
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Financial Information

The following information has been derived from the audited standalone financial statements of IWFL for the last
three Fiscals:
(in zmillion except per share values)

Particulars Fiscal 2019 Fiscal 2018 Fiscal 2017
Equity capital 3,054.94 2,624.50 2,624.50
Reserves and surplus (excluding revaluation) 15,953.89 9,664.00 8,018.12
Sales/Turnover 7,097.04 7,829.77 4,614.72
Profit/(Loss) after tax 1,815.09 1,560.20 1,003.86
Earnings per share () (Basic) 6.22 5.94 3.93
Earnings per share (?) (Diluted) 6.22 5.94 3.93
Net asset value per share () 65.14 46.82 40.55

Note: The numbers for Fiscal 2019 are based on IND-AS and For Fiscal 2018 and 2017 are based on I-GAAP
Significant notes by auditors
There are no significant notes of the auditors for the last three Fiscals.
5. NIFL Wealth Management Limited (“/IFLW”)
Corporate information

IIFLW was incorporated as a public limited company, under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 pursuant
to a certificate of incorporation dated January 17, 2008 issued by the registrar of companies.

It is registered with SEBI as stock broker, depository participant, research analyst and portfolio manager. It is
engaged inter-alia, in the distribution of financial products and acts as a wealth manager, investment manager,
asset manager, financial consultant, management consultant, advisor and provides consultancy, advisory,
counselling services, financial services and facilities of every description and manages and mobilises funds and
assets of various companies, mutual funds, individual investors, firms, associations and other corporate bodies,
private and institutional investors.

It is engaged in carrying on the activities of managing investment in equity and derivative instruments,
commodities, debt instruments, mutual funds, alternative investment funds, government securities, post office
schemes, saving instruments, insurance products, money market instruments and securities of all types.

It is also engaged, inter-alia, in the promotion, support and carrying on the business of providing asset
management services to funds including alternative investment funds and wealth management services to
individuals, firms, associations, institutions, corporate and body corporate and passing on the benefits of such
investment as interest, dividend, bonus etc. and providing a complete range of financial services.

Interest of our Promoters

Our Promoters Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani, directly hold 6,628,856 and 15,69,204
issued, subscribed and paid up equity shares of face value of X 2 each, respectively of 1IFLW, amountingto 7.79%
and 1.84% of the issued, subscribed and paid up capital of IIFLW, respectively. Further, Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain
and Venkataraman Rajamani are the non-executive Director of 1IFLW.

The same is changed due to recent allotment of shares in 11FL Wealth Management Limited pursuant to Composite
Scheme of Arrangement.

Financial Information

The following information has been derived from the audited financial statements of IIFLW for the last three
Fiscals:
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(in z million, except per share values

Particulars Fiscal 2019 Fiscal 2018 Fiscal 2017
Equity capital 170.17 159.51 155.93
Reserves and surplus (excluding revaluation) 28,933.98 18,735.97 15,085.69
Sales/Turnover 15,768.18 17,378.02 10,828.59
Profit/(Loss) after tax 3,843.55 3,853.11 2,504.70
Earnings per share () (Basic) 44.63 49.00 33.86
Earnings per share (?) (Diluted) 43.37 47.37 33.60
Net asset value per share () 342.06 236.92 195.50

Note: Fiscal 2019 numbers are on INDAS basis and Fiscal 2018 and 2017 numbers are on IGAAP basis.
Profit/(Loss) after tax has been assumed to be "Profit for the year after other comprehensive income "

Net asset value per share has been computed considering closing number of equity shares.
Significant notes by auditors

There are no significant notes of the auditors for the last three Fiscals.

Details of Group Companies with negative net worth and/or under winding up

As on date of this Letter of Offer, two of our Group Companies have negative net worth and one Group Company
is under winding up. Details are as provided below-

IIFL Altiore Advisors Limited (“IIFL Altiore”)
Corporate information

IIFL Altiore was originally incorporated as Altiore Advisors Private Limited, a private limited company under the
provision of Companies Act 1956 pursuant to issuance of a certificate of incorporation dated October 21, 2016.
Subsequently, the name was changed to “IIFL Altiore Advisors Private Limited” pursuant to the issuance of fresh
certificate of incorporation dated February 19, 2019, by the registrar of companies and further the name was
changed to “IIFL Altiore Advisors Limited” pursuant to issuance of certificate of incorporation dated April 15,
2019 by registrar of companies. lIFL Altiore Advisors Limited carries on the business of data analytics.

Interest of our Promoters

Our Promoters, Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and VVenkataraman Rajamani, neither directly hold any equity shares nor
are directors in 1IFL Altiore.

Financial Information
The following information has been derived from the audited financial statements of 1IFL Altiore for the last three

Fiscals:
(in Zmillion except per share values)

Particulars Fiscal 2019 Fiscal 2018 Fiscal 2017

Equity capital 1.08 1.08 (1.00)
Reserves and surplus (excluding revaluation) (10.98) (3.45) (1.33)
Sales/Turnover 1.92 2.82 -

Profit/(Loss) after tax (7.53) (2.12) (1.33)
Earnings per share () (Basic) (69.48) (19.58) (13.29)
Earnings per share (?) (Diluted) (69.48) (19.58) (13.29)
Net asset value per share (?) (91.31) (21.83) (3.29)
Networth (9.90) (2.37) (0.33)

Significant notes by auditors
There are no significant notes of the auditors for the last three Fiscals.

I1FL Wealth Securities IFSC Limited (“/WSIL?”)
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Corporate information

IIFL Wealth Securities IFSC Limited, is a public limited company incorporated under the provision of Companies
Act, 2013 pursuant to issuance of certificate of incorporation dated June 22, 2018 by the Registrar of Companies.
IIFL Wealth Securities IFSC Limited proposes to carry on business as an IFSC (International Financial Service
Centre) Unit in accordance with the SEBI (IFSC) Guidelines, 2015 and to act as an intermediary in terms of such
guidelines or otherwise deal on any global exchanges including IFSC in shares, stocks, debentures, debentures
stock, bonds, depository receipts, hedge instruments, warrants, certificates, options futures, money market
securities, marketable or non-marketable securities, derivatives and other instruments or securities issued or
guaranteed by any Government, semi-government, or any other authority or to deal in other permissible securities
as prescribed in such guidelines or as may be amended from time to time.

Interest of our Promoters

Our Promoters, Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani, neither directly hold any equity shares nor
are directors in 1IFL Wealth Securities IFSC Limited.

Financial Information
The following information has been derived from the audited financial statements of IWSIL for the last Fiscal

(since IWSIL has been incorporated on June 22, 2018):
(in z million, except per share values)

Particulars Fiscal 2019
Equity capital 1.00
Reserves and surplus (excluding revaluation) (1.26)
Sales/Turnover -
Profit/(Loss) after tax (1.26)
Earnings per share () (Basic) (12.65)
Earnings per share (?) (Diluted) (12.65)
Net asset value per share (3) (2.65)
Networth (0.26)

Significant notes by auditors

There are no significant notes of the auditors for the last Fiscal.

IFL Private Wealth Hong Kong Limited

Corporate information

IIFL Private Wealth Hong Kong Limited is company limited by shares and incorporated in Hong Kong under
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) pursuant to issuance of certificate of incorporation
dated June 4, 2010, by the Registrar of Companies, Hong Kong. It is in the process of winding up. IIFL Private
Wealth Hong Kong Limited carries on the business of advising and dealing in securities.

Interest of our Promoters

Our Promoters, Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain and Venkataraman Rajamani, neither directly hold any equity shares nor
are directors in 1IFL Private Wealth Hong Kong Limited

Financial Information
The following information has been derived from the audited financial statements of IIFL Private Wealth Hong

Kong Limited for the last three Fiscals:
(in Zmillion except per share values)

Particulars Fiscal 2019 Fiscal 2018 Fiscal 2017

Equity capital 51.90 51.90 51.90
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Reserves and surplus (excluding revaluation)

14.33

10.61 9.05

Sales/Turnover

5.35

19.97 20.24

Profit/(Loss) after tax

(0.28)

1.89 5.08

Earnings per share () (Basic)

(0.04)

0.29 0.78

Earnings per share (?) (Diluted)

(0.04)

0.29 0.78

Net asset value per share (?)

10.23

9.65 9.41

Significant notes by auditors

There are no significant notes of the auditors for the last three Fiscals.

Details of other Group Companies

Sr. Name of the Group
No. Company

Corporate Information

Brief description of
activities

Interest of our
Promoters

1. IFL Facilities
Services Limited

IIFL  Facilities  Services
Limited was originally
incorporated as  IIFL
Realty Limited, a public
limited Company under the
provisions of the
Companies Act, 1956
pursuant to the issuance of
a certificate of
incorporation dated
December 23,  2007.
Subsequently the name
was changed to IIFL
Facilities Services
Limited, pursuant to the
issuance of fresh certificate
of incorporation dated
September 15, 2015, by the
registrar of companies.
Subsequently the name
was changed to IIFL Real
Estate Limited pursuant to
the issuance of fresh
certificate of incorporation
dated with effect from
April 28, 2017, by the
registrar of companies.
Subsequently, the name
was changed to IIFL
Facilities Services
Limited, pursuant to the
issuance of fresh certificate
of incorporation dated
August 23, 2017, by the
registrar of companies.

IIFL  Facilities  Services
Limited provides office space
to companies in the IIFL

group.

Our Promoters neither
directly hold any equity
shares nor are directors in
IIFL Facilities Services
Limited.

2. IIFL Securities
Limited (“ISL”)

ISL was originally
incorporated as  “Agri
Marketing Services India
Private Limited”, a private
limited company under the
provisions of the
Companies  Act, 1956
pursuant to the issuance of
a certificate of
incorporation dated March
21, 1996, by the registrar
of companies.
Subsequently, the name of
ISL was changed to “India
Infoline.com Distribution

ISL is a SEBI registered
intermediary ~ which is
engaged in the business of
providing equity broking
services, depository
participant services, portfolio
management services, mutual
fund distribution and services
as a research analyst and an
investment adviser.

Our Promoters Nirmal
Bhanwarlal Jain  and
Venkataraman Rajamani,
directly hold 46,402,000
and 10,984,432 issued,
subscribed and paid up
equity shares of face value
of %2 each, respectively.
Venkataraman Rajamani
is the managing director
of ISL.
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Sr.
No.

Name of the Group
Company

Corporate Information

Brief description of
activities

Interest of our
Promoters

Company Private Limited”
pursuant to the issuance of
fresh certificate of
incorporation dated May 8,
2000, by the registrar of
companies. Subsequently,
ISL was converted into a
public limited company
and its name was changed
to “India Infoline.com
Distribution Company
Limited” pursuant to a
certificate of incorporation
dated December 2, 2005,
by the registrar of
companies. Subsequently,
the name of ISL was
changed to “India Infoline”
pursuant to the issuance of
fresh certificate of
incorporation dated April
13, 2006, by the registrar
of companies.
Subsequently, the name of
ISL was changed to “India
Infoline Limited”,
pursuant to the issuance of
fresh certificate of
incorporation dated
February 27, 2014, by the
registrar of companies.
Subsequently, the name of
ISL was changed to “IIFL
Securities Limited”,
pursuant to the issuance of
fresh certificate of
incorporation dated March
7, 2018, by the registrar of
companies. Pursuant to the
Scheme inter alia amongst
IIFL Holdings Limited and
IIFL Securities Limited,
Securities Undertaking
Business is demerged and
transferred to IFL
Securities Limited on the
effective date i.e. May 13,
2019 from the appointed
date.

Samasta
Microfinance
Limited

Samasta Microfinance
Limited was originally
incorporated as “Colanac
Finance Limited”, a public
limited company under the
provisions of the

Companies  Act, 1956
pursuant to the issuance of
a certificate of
incorporation dated

August 9, 1995, by the
registrar of companies.
Subsequently, the name
was changed to “Samasta
Microfinance Limited”

Samasta Microfinance
Limited carries on the
business of providing micro
finance as an RBI registered
Microfinance Company.

None of our Promoters
directly hold any equity
shares in Samasta
Microfinance Limited.
However, Venkataraman
Rajamani is one of the
directors of Samasta
Microfinance Limited.
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Limited

was originally
incorporated as “India
Infoline Commodities

Private Limited”, a private
limited company under the

provisions of the
Companies  Act, 1956
pursuant to the issuance of
a certificate of

incorporation dated March
29, 2004, by the Registrar
of Companies.
Subsequently, IIFL
Commodities Limited was
converted into a public
limited company and its

carries on the business of
commodities broking

Sr. Name of the Group Corporate Information Briefde§c_ri_ption of Interest of our

0. Company activities Promoters
pursuant to the issuance of
fresh certificate of
incorporation dated July
25, 2008, by the registrar
of companies.

4. IIFL  Management | lIFL Management | IIFL Management Services | Our Promoters, Nirmal

Services Limited Services Limited was | Limited carries on the | Bhanwarlal Jain and

originally incorporated | business of real estate | Venkataraman Rajamani
as India Infoline Insurance | advisory services directly hold 100 issued,
Services Limited, a public subscribed and paid-up
limited Company under the equity shares each, of face
provisions of the value of 10 of IIFL
Companies  Act, 1956, Management  Services
pursuant to the issuance of Limited as nominees of
a certificate of IIFL Holdings Limited.
incorporation dated Venkataraman Rajamani
November 30, 2011. is a Additional Director in
Subsequently, the name IFL Management
was changed to IIFL Services Limited
Management Services
Limited pursuant to the
issuance of fresh certificate
of incorporation dated
October 19, 2017, by the
registrar of companies.

5. IFL Insurance | IIFL Insurance Brokers | IIFL  Insurance  Brokers | Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain

Brokers Limited Limited was originally | Limited carries on the | and Venkataraman

incorporated as India | business of insurance broking | Rajamani directly hold
Infoline Insurance Brokers | and is  registered  with | 100 issued, subscribed
Limited, a public limited | Insurance Regulatory and | and paid-up equity shares
Company  under  the | Development Authority of | each, of face value of <10
provisions of the | India each of IIFL Insurance
Companies  Act, 1956 Brokers Limited as
pursuant to the issuance of nominees of IFL
a certificate of Holdings Limited. None
incorporation dated July 5, of our Promoters are
2005. Subsequently, the directors in IFL
name was changed to lIFL Insurance Brokers
Insurance Brokers Limited.
Limited, pursuant to the
issuance of fresh certificate
of incorporation dated with
effect from March 29,
2018, by the registrar of
companies

6. IIFL  Commodities | IIFL Commodities Limited | IIFL Commodities Limited | Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain

and Venkataraman
Rajamani directly hold
4,950 and 5,000 issued,
subscribed and paid-up
equity shares of face value
of <10 of IHFL
Commodities Limited as
nominees of IIFL
Holdings Limited. None
of our Promoters are
directors in IIFL
Commodities Limited.
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Sr.
No.

Name of the Group
Company

Corporate Information

Brief description of
activities

Interest of our
Promoters

name was changed to
“India Infoline
Commodities Limited”
pursuant to a certificate of
incorporation dated July
25, 2007, by the Registrar
Oof Companies.
Subsequently, the name of
IIFL Commodities Limited
was changed to “IIFL
Commodities Limited”
pursuant to the issuance of
fresh certificate of
incorporation dated March
28, 2018, by the Registrar
of Companies.

IIFL Trustee Limited

IIFL Trustee Limited was
originally incorporated as
“India Infoline Trustee
Company Limited”, a
public limited company
under the provision of
Companies  Act 1956
pursuant to issuance of a
certificate of incorporation
dated June 15, 2009, by the
registrar of companies.
Subsequently, the name
was changed to “IIFL
Trustee Limited” pursuant
to the issuance of fresh
certificate of incorporation
dated December 9, 2015,
by the registrar  of
companies.

IIFL Trustee Limited acts as
trustee to IIFL Mutual Funds
and alternative investment
funds

Our Promoters neither
directly hold any equity
shares nor are directors in
IIFL Trustee Limited.

IFL
Management
Limited

Asset

IIFL Asset Management
Limited was originally
incorporated as “India
Infoline Asset
Management ~ Company
Limited”, a public limited
company  under  the
provision of Companies
Act 1956 pursuant to
issuance of a certificate of
incorporation dated March
22, 2010, by the registrar
of companies.
Subsequently, the name
was changed to “IIFL
Asset Management
Limited” pursuant to the
issuance of fresh certificate
of incorporation dated
December 30, 2015, by the
registrar of companies.

IIFL  Asset Management
Company Limited is a SEBI
registered portfolio
management  and  asset
management company

Our Promoters neither
directly hold any equity
shares nor are directors in
IIFL Asset Management
Limited

IIFL Alternate Asset
Advisors Limited

IIFL  Alternate  Asset
Advisors Limited was
originally incorporated as

“IIFL  Alternate  Asset
Advisors  Limited”, a
public limited company

under the provision of

IIFL Alternate Asset Advisors
Limited acts as an investment
manager to schemes of
alternative investment funds

Our Promoters neither
directly hold any equity
shares nor are directors in
IIFL  Alternate  Asset
Advisors Limited

139




Sr.
No.

Name of the Group
Company

Corporate Information

Brief description of
activities

Interest of our
Promoters

Companies  Act 1956
pursuant to issuance of a
certificate of incorporation
dated July 19, 2011, by the
registrar of companies.

10.

IIFL Distribution
Services Limited

IIFL Distribution Services
Limited was originally
incorporated as “Finest
Investment &
Constructions Private
Limited”, a private limited
company  under  the
provisions of the
Companies  Act, 1956
pursuant to the issuance of
a certificate of
incorporation dated
January 30, 1995 by the
registrar of companies.
Subsequently, the name of
IIFL Distribution Services
Limited was changed to
“Finest Wealth Managers
Private Limited” pursuant
to the issuance of fresh
certificate of incorporation
dated October 1, 2004, by
the registrar of companies.
Subsequently, the name of
IIFL Distribution Services
Limited was changed to
“IIFL Distribution
Services Private Limited”
pursuant to the issuance of
fresh certificate of
incorporation dated May
25, 2012, by the registrar
of companies.
Subsequently, IIFL
Distribution Services
Limited was converted into
a public limited company
and its name was changed
to  “IIFL  Distribution
Services Limited”
pursuant to a certificate of
incorporation dated
August 27, 2014, by the
registrar of companies.

IIFL Distribution Services
Limited is engaged in
providing manpower services
to its associate companies.

Our Promoters neither
directly hold any equity
shares nor are directors in
IIFL Distribution Services
Limited

11.

IHFL Investment
Adviser and Trustee
Services Ltd

IIFL Investment Adviser
and Trustee Services Ltd
was originally
incorporated as  “IIFL
Trustee Services Limited”,
a public limited company
under the provision of
Companies  Act 1956
pursuant to issuance of a
certificate of incorporation
dated December 24, 2010,
by the registrar  of
companies. Subsequently,
the name was changed to

IIFL Investment Advisors and
Trustee Services Limited
carries on the business of
providing trustee services and
is registered with SEBI as an
investment adviser

Our Promoters neither
directly hold any equity
shares nor are directors in
IIFL Investment Adviser
and Trustee  Services
Limited
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Sr. Name of the Group Corporate Information Briefdex_ri_ption of Interest of our
0. Company activities Promoters

“IIFL Investment Adviser

and  Trustee  Services

Limited” pursuant to the

issuance of fresh certificate

of incorporation dated

August 19, 2013, by the

registrar of companies.

12. IIFL Private Wealth | IIFL  Private  Wealth | IIFL Private Wealth | Our Promoters neither
Management Management (Dubai) | Management (Dubai) Limited | directly hold any equity
(Dubai) Limited Limited is company | carries on the business of, | shares nor are directors in

limited by shares and | arranging credit or deal in | IIFL  Private  Wealth
registered under | investment; and advising on | Management (Dubai)
Companies Law, Dubai | financial product or credit Limited
International Financial
Centre (DIFC) Law.

13. IFL Inc. IIFL Inc is company | IIFL Inc is registered with | Our Promoters neither
incorporated under The | Securities and Exchange | directly hold any equity
Business Corporate Law | Commission, United States of | shares nor are directors in
on October 24, 2012. America as broker-dealer IIFL Inc.

14. IIFL Wealth (UK) | HFL Wealth (UK) Limited | IIFL Wealth (UK) Limited | Our Promoters neither
Limited was incorporated on | carries on the business of | directly hold any equity

February 18, 2008 in the | distribution of  financial | shares nor are directors in
name of  Richmond | products IIFL  Wealth (UK)
Company 225 Limited Limited
under the Companies Act,
1985 as a private Limited
Company and the
Company is limited by the
Registrar of Companies for
England and  Wales.
Subsequently the name of
the Company was change
from Richmond Company
225 Limited to IIFL
Wealth (UK) Limited”
pursuant to the issuance of
certificate of incorporation
on name change dated May
9, 2008, by the Registrar of
Companies for England
and Wales
15. IIFL Capital Inc. IIFL Capital Inc was | IIFL Capital Inc. is a | Our Promoters neither
incorporated under Section | registered as a broker dealer | directly hold any equity
402 of the Business | with  Financial  Industry | shares nor are directors in
Corporation Law of New | Regulatory Authority and | IIFL Capital Inc
York, United State of | Securities and Exchange
America. Commission, United States of
America.

16. IFL Asset | IIFL Asset Management | IIFL  Asset Management | Our Promoters neither
Management (Mauritius)  Limited, a | (Mauritius) Limited is | directly hold any equity
(Mauritius) Limited private limited company | registered as an investment | shares nor are directors in

was originally | advisor with Financial Service | IIFL Asset Management
incorporated in the | Commission, Mauritius. It | (Mauritius) Limited

Republic of Mauritius as
“IIFL  Private  Wealth
(Mauritius) Limited” on
December 15,  2010.
Subsequently, the name
was changed to “IIFL
Asset Management
(Mauritius) Limited”
pursuant to the issuance of

acts as an investment manager
and is engaged in the business
of distribution of financial

products and
with SEBI
portfolio investor.

is registered
as a foreign
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Sr. Name of the Group Corporate Information Brief desp_ri_ption of Interest of our

0. Company activities Promoters
fresh certificate of
incorporation dated
September 16, 2016, by the
Republic of Mauritius.

17. IIFL (Asia) Pte. Ltd. | IIFL (Asia) Pte. Ltd. is a | IFL (Asia) Pte. Ltd. is an | Our Promoters neither
private limited company | investment holding company | directly hold any equity
incorporated under the | and presently holds | shares nor are directors in
Companies Act (Cap 50)- | investments in IIFL Securities | IIFL (Asia) Pte. Ltd.
of Singapore on August 29, | Pte Ltd and IIFL Capital Pte
2007. Ltd

18. IIFL Capital Pte. Ltd. | IIFL Capital Pte. Ltd. was | IIFL Capital Pte. Ltd. carries | Our Promoters neither
originally incorporated as | on the business of providing | directly hold any equity
“IIFL Wealth Pte. | fund management services shares nor are directors in
Limited” is a private IIFL Capital Pte. Ltd.
limited company
incorporated under the
Companies Act (Cap 50)-
of Singapore on May 06,

2008.

Subsequently, the name
was changed to “IIFL
Capital Pte. Ltd.” pursuant
to the issuance of fresh
certificate of incorporation
dated May 22, 2008.

19. IIFL Securities Pte. | IIFL Securities Pte. Ltd. is | IFL Securities Pte. Ltd. | Our Promoters neither
Ltd. a private limited company | carries on the business of | directly hold any equity

incorporated under the | dealing in capital markets | shares nor are directors in
Companies Act (Cap 50) | products and exempt advisor | IIFL Securities Pte. Ltd.
of Singapore on August 12, | activity

2008

20. IFL Asset | IIFL Assets | IIFL Asset Reconstruction | Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain
Reconstruction Reconstruction Limited is | Limited is proposed to carry | and Venkataraman
Limited incorporated as a public | on the asset reconstruction | Rajamani directly hold ten

limited company under the | business issued, subscribed and
provisions of the paid-up equity shares of
Companies  Act, 2013 IFL Asset
pursuant to the issuance of Reconstruction Limited,
a certificate of respectively, of face value
incorporation dated of ¥10 each, as nominees
December 7, 2014, by the of IIFL Holdings Limited.
Registrar of Companies. None of our Promoters are
directors in IIFL Asset
Reconstruction Limited

21. India Infoline | India Infoline Foundation | India Infoline Foundation isa | Our Promoters neither

Foundation was incorporated as a | not for profit company and | directly hold any equity
section 25 under the | engages in charitable/ social | shares nor are directors in
provisions of the | activities. India Infoline Foundation.
Companies  Act, 1956
pursuant to the issuance of
a certificate of
incorporation dated
February 18, 2014 by the
registrar of companies.

22. IFL Wealth | IIFL  Wealth Securities | 1IFL Wealth Securities IFSC | Our Promoters neither
Securities IFSc | IFSC Limited, a public | Limited proposes to carry on | directly hold any equity
Limited limited company | business as an IFSC | shares nor are directors in

incorporated under the | (International Financial | IIFL Wealth Securities
provision of Companies | Service Centre) Unit in | IFSC Limited.

Act, 2013 pursuant to
issuance of certificate of
incorporation dated June

accordance with the SEBI
(IFSC) Guidelines, 2015 and
to act as an intermediary in
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Corporate Information

Brief description of
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Interest of our
Promoters

22, 2018 by the Registrar
of Companies.

terms of such guidelines or
otherwise deal on any global
exchanges including IFSC in
shares, stocks, debentures,
debentures  stock, bonds,
depository receipts, hedge
instruments, warrants,
certificates, options futures,
money market  securities,
marketable or non-marketable
securities, derivatives and
other instruments or securities
issued or guaranteed by any
Government, semi-
government, or any other
authority or to deal in other
permissible  securities  as
prescribed in such guidelines
or as may be amended from
time to time.

23.

Company
IIFL Securities
Services IFSC
Limited

IIFL  Securities Services
IFSC Limited is
incorporated as a public
limited company under the
provisions of the
Companies  Act, 2013
pursuant to the issuance of
a certificate of
incorporation dated
August 7, 2018, by the
Registrar of Companies.

IIFL Securities Services IFSC
Limited proposes to carry on
business as an IFSC
(International Financial
Service Centre) Unit in
accordance with the SEBI
(IFSC) Guidelines, 2015 and
to act as intermediary in terms
of such guidelines in IFSC or
otherwise deal on any global
exchanges including IFSC in
shares, stocks, debentures,
debentures  stock, bonds,
depository receipts, hedge
instruments, warrants,
certificates, options futures,
money market securities,
marketable or non-marketable
securities, derivatives and
other instruments or securities
issued or guaranteed by any
Government, semi-
government, or any other
authority or to deal in other
permissible  securities  as
prescribed in such guidelines
or as may be amended from
time to time.

Our Promoters neither
directly hold any equity
shares nor are directors in
IIFL Securities Services
IFSC Limited

24.

Clara Developers
Private Limited

Clara Developers Private
Limited, a private limited
company incorporated
under the provisions of the
Companies  Act, 1956
pursuant to the issuance of
a certificate of
incorporation

dated February 7, 2011, by
the registrar of companies.

Clara Developers Private
Limited is engaged in the
business of Real Estate
Developments

Our Promoters neither
directly hold any equity
shares nor are directors in
Clara Developers Private
Limited

25.

IFL Capital
(Canada) Limited

IIFL  Capital (Canada)
Limited is company
incorporated under the
laws of the Province of

IIFL Canada has received
Exempt  Market  Dealer
License from Ontario
Securities Commission in

Our Promoters neither
directly hold any equity
shares nor are directors in
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Sr. Name of the Group Corporate Information Brief desp_ri_ption of Interest of our
0. Company activities Promoters
Ontario  pursuant  to | March 2019 IIFL Capital (Canada)
issuance of certificate of Limited
incorporation dated
November 14, 2016.
26. Ardent Impex | Ardent Impex Private | Ardent Impex Private Limited | Our Promoters neither
Private Limited Limited a private limited | is engaged in investing in | directly hold any equity
company incorporated | securities shares nor are directors in
under the provisions of the Ardent Impex Private
Companies  Act, 1956 Limited
pursuant to the issuance of
a certificate of
incorporation  dated July
12, 1999, by the registrar
of companies.
217. Orpheus Trading | Orpheus Trading Private | Orpheus Trading Private | Our Promoters Nirmal
Private Limited Limited is a private limited | Limited is engaged in | Bhanwarlal Jain and
company incorporated | investing in securities Venkataraman Rajamani,
under the provisions of the directly hold 9,316 and
Companies  Act, 1956 125,644 issued,
pursuant to the issuance of subscribed and paid up
a certificate of equity shares of face value
incorporation  dated May of % 10 each, respectively
24,2004 by the registrar of of  Orpheus  Trading
companies. Private Limited,
amounting to 2.74% and
36.95% of the issued,
subscribed and paid up
capital of  Orpheus
Trading Private Limited,
respectively. None of our
Promoter is a director in
this company
28. IFL Wealth | IIFL  Wealth  Advisors | IIFL Wealth Advisors (India) | Our Promoters neither
Advisors (India) | (India) Limited was | Limited is a SEBI registered | directly hold any equity
Limited portfolio manager  and | shares nor are directors in

originally incorporated as a
private limited company
with the name Wealth
Advisors (India) Private
Limited under the
provision of Companies
Act 1956 pursuant to a
certificate of incorporation
dated May 20, 2004,
Subsequently, the name
was changed to “IIFL
Wealth Advisors (India)
Private Limited” pursuant
to a fresh certificate of
incorporation dated
January 11, 2019, by the
Registrar of Companies,
Chennai and further the
name was changed to 1IFL
Wealth Advisors (India)
Limited  pursuant to
certificate of incorporation
dated February 15, 2019 by
Registrar of Companies,
Chennai.

investment advisor.

IIFL  Wealth Advisors
(India) Limited
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Nature and extent of interest of Group Companies
(a) In the promotion of our Company
None of our Group Companies have any interest in the promotion or other interest in our Company.

(b) In the properties acquired or proposed to be acquired by our Company in the two years preceding the
filing of this Letter of Offer

None of our Group Companies are interested in the properties acquired or proposed to be acquired by
our Company in the two years preceding the filing of this Letter of Offer

(c) In transactions for acquisition of land, construction of building and supply of machinery

None of our Group Companies are interested in any transactions for the acquisition of land, construction
of building or supply of machinery.

Common pursuits among the Group Companies with our Company
Some of our Group Companies conduct business activities similar to those conducted by our Company. Our
Company shall adopt necessary procedures and practices as permitted by law to address any conflict situations,

as and when they arise.

Business Transactions within the Group Companies and significance on the financial performance of our
Company

For more information, see “Related Party Transactions” on page 147.

Sale/ purchase between Group Companies and our Company

Except as disclosed in “Related Party Transactions” on page 147, none of our Group Companies are involved in
any sales or purchase with our Company where such sales or purchases exceed in value in the aggregate of 10%
of the total sales or purchases of our Company.

Business interest of Group Companies

None of our Group Companies have any business interest in our Company.

Interest of our Promoters in our Group Companies

Except to the extent of their shareholding and directorships as disclosed above, our Promoters do not have any
other interest in any of our Group Companies.

Defunct Group Companies

As on the date of this Letter of Offer, none of our Group Companies have become sick or defunct within the
meaning of the erstwhile Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985, and Companies Act,
respectively and no application has been made to the registrar of companies for striking off the name of any of
our Group Companies during the five years preceding the date of filing of this Letter of Offer.

Further, none of our Group Companies have been declared insolvent or bankrupt under the Insolvency and
Bankruptcy Code, 2016 and there are no insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings initiated against any of our Group
Companies.

Loss making Group Companies

The following table sets forth the details of our Group Companies which have incurred loss in the last Fiscal and
profit/loss made by them in the last three Fiscals:
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(in Tmillion)

Profit/(Loss)**
S.
No. Name of the Group Company Financial Year | Financial Year | Financial Year
2019 2018 2017
1. IIFL (Asia) Pte Ltd (IIFL Asia) (0.91) (1.18) (0.75)
2. IIFL Altiore Advisors Private Limited (7.53) (2.12) (1.33)
3. IIFL Securities Pte. Ltd. (35.82) 16.29 12.24
4. IIFL Capital Pte. Ltd. (134.27) 11.17 39.01
5. IIFL Wealth Securities IFSC Limited (1.26) NA NA
6. IIFL Inc. 15.90 (18.36) (4.78)
7. IIFL Capital (Canada) Limited 2.97 (2.21) N.A.
8. IIFL Private Wealth Hong Kong Limited (0.28) 1.89 5.08
9. Clara Developers Private Limited (0.01) (0.00)* (0.02)
10. | IFL Management Services Limited 27.68 (16.30) 42.01
11. | IIFL Wealth (UK) Limited (9.95) 5.11 1.33
12. | IFL Securities Services IFSC Limited (0.12) N.A. N.A.

Note:

* Loss in Clara Developers Private Limited of (0.00) in the Fiscal 2018 denotes less than a million.
**The figures for FY 2019 are based on Ind-AS and for FY 2018 & FY 2017 are based on IGAAP

Confirmations

(@ None of the equity shares of our Group Companies, except IIFL Holdings Limited, are listed on any stock
exchange. None of our Group Companies have made any public or rights issue of securities to public in the
preceding three years, except as disclosed in “Other Regulatory and Statutory Disclosures - Performance

vis-a-vis objects” on page 281.

(b) None of our Group Companies have been debarred from accessing the capital market for any reasons by

SEBI, or any other regulatory authorities.

(c) None of our Group Companies have been identified as wilful defaulters by any bank, financial institution or
consortium thereof in accordance with the guidelines for wilful defaulters issued by the RBI.

(d) None of our Group Companies have outstanding unsecured loans, which may be recalled by the lenders at

any time.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For details of the related party transactions the last five Fiscals, as per the requirements under the relevant
accounting standards and as reported in the Restated Financial Statements, see “Financial Information” on page
149.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration and payment of dividends will be recommended by the Board of Directors and approved by the
shareholders, at their discretion, subject to the provisions of our Articles of Association and applicable law,
including the Companies Act. The dividend, if any, will depend on a number of factors, including but not limited
to the earnings, capital requirements, contractual obligations, applicable legal restrictions and overall financial
position of our Company. In addition, our ability to pay dividends may be impacted by a number of factors,
including restrictive covenants under the loan or financing arrangements our Company is currently availing of, or
may enter into, to finance our fund requirements for our business activities Our Company has no formal dividend
policy.

For further details, see “Financial Indebtedness” on page 237.

Our Company has not declared any dividends in last five Fiscals preceding the filing of this Letter of Offer.
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SECTION VI - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Particulars Page no.
Restated Standalone Financial Information 150 to 193
Restated Consolidated Financial Information 194 to 225
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR REPORT ON THE RESTATED STANDALONE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Board of Directors

5paisa Capital Limited

Sun Infotech Park, Road No 16V,
Plot No B-23, Thane Industrial Area,
Wagle Estate, Thane - 400604

Dear Sirs,

1 We have examined (as appropriate, refer paragraphs 4 and 5 below) the attached Restated
Standalone Financial Information of 5paisa Capital Limited (the “Company”), which
comprise of the Restated Standalone Summary Statement of Assets and Liabilities as at
March 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Restated Standalone Summary Statement
of Profit and Loss and the Restated Standalone Summary Statement of Cash Flows for the
years ended March 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016 and 2015 and the Standalone Summary
Statement of Significant Accounting Policies, and related Annexures thereto (collectively,
the “Restated Standalone Financial Information”), as approved by the Board of Directors of
the Company at their meeting held on April 16, 2019 for the purpose of inclusion in the
Letter of Offer (“LOF”) prepared by the Company in connection with its proposed Rights
Issue of equity shares prepared in terms of the requirements of:

a) the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2009 as amended [“SEBI (ICDR) Regulations“]; and

b) The Guidance Note on Reports in Company Prospectuses (Revised 2016) issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, as amended from time to time (the
“Guidance Note”).

2 The preparation of the Restated Standalone Financial Information is the responsibility of
the Management of the Company for the purpose set out in paragraph 10 below. The
Management’s responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining adequate
internal control relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Restated Standalone
Financial Information. The Management is also responsible for identifying and ensuring that
the Company complies with the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”), SEBI (ICDR) Regulations and
the Guidance Note.

Our responsibility is to examine the Restated Standalone Financial Information and confirm
whether such Restated Standalone Financial Information comply with the requirements of
the Act, SEBI (ICDR) Regulations and the Guidance Note.

3 We have examined such Restated Standalone Financial Information taking into
consideration:

a) The terms of reference and terms of our engagement agreed upon with you in
accordance with our engagement letter dated March 20, 2019 in connection

with the proposed rights issue of equity shares of the Company;

b) The Guidance Note; and
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c) The requirements of the SEBI (ICDR) Regulations. Our work was performed
solely to assist you in meeting your responsibilities in relation to your
compliance with the Act, the SEBI (ICDR) Regulations and the Guidance Note in
connection with the proposed Rights Issue.

4 These Restated Standalone Financial Information have been compiled by the Management

from:

a)

audited standalone financial statements of the Company as at and for the years
ended March 31, 2019, 2018, 2017 (after giving effect to the Scheme of Demerger
between the Company and IIFL Holdings Limited with effect from 1* October 2016),
2016 and 2015 prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards as prescribed
under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Accounting
Standards) Rules as amended from time to time (referred to as Indian GAAP) which
have been approved by the Board at their meeting held on April 16, 2019, April 17,
2018, October13, 2017, May 04, 2016 and May 06, 2015.

The unmodified auditor’s report issued by us to the shareholders on the financial
statements for the financial years 2018-19, 2017-18 and 2016-17 (after giving effect
to the Scheme of Demerger between the Company and IIFL Holdings Limited with
effect from 1°* October 2016) dated April 16, 2019, April 17, 2018 and October 13
respectively. The predecessor auditors of the Company M/s Sharp & Tannan
Associates, Chartered Accountants had issued an unmodified auditor’s report to the
shareholders on the financial statements for the financial years 2016-17 (before
giving effect to the Scheme of Demerger between the Company and IIFL Holdings
Limited with effect from 1*' October 2016), 2015-16 and 2014-15 dated May 02,
2017, May 04, 2016 and May 06, 2015 respectively on which we have relied;

5 Based on our examination and according to the information and explanations given to us, we
report that the Restated Standalone Financial Information:

a) have been prepared after incorporating adjustments for the changes in accounting
policies and regrouping/reclassifications retrospectively in the respective financial
years to reflect the same accounting treatment as per the accounting policies and
grouping/classifications followed as at and for the year ended March 31, 2019;

b) have been prepared after incorporating adjustments for the material amounts in the
respective financial years to which they relate;

c) do not contain any extra-ordinary items that need to be disclosed separately and do
not contain any qualification requiring adjustments; and

d) have been prepared in accordance with the Act, SEBI (ICDR) Regulations and the
Guidance Note.

6 We have complied with the relevant applicable requirements of the Standard on Quality

Control (SQC) 1, Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Historical
Financial Information, and Other Assurance and Related Services Engagements.
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10.

The Restated Standalone Financial Information do not reflect the effects of events that
occurred subsequent to the respective dates of predecessor / other auditors’ reports
mentioned in paragraph 4 above on the audited standalone financial statements.

This report should not in any way be construed as a reissuance or re-dating of any of the
previous audit reports issued by us or by the predecessor / other auditors’, nor should this
report be construed as a new opinion on any of the financial statements referred to herein.

We have no responsibility to update the predecessor / other auditors’ report for events and
circumstances occurring after the date of the report.

Our report is intended solely for use of the Management for inclusion in the LOF to be filed
with Securities and Exchange Board of India, BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of
India Limited in connection with the proposed offer of rights shares of the Company. Our
report should not be used, referred to, or distributed for any other purpose except with our
prior consent in writing. Accordingly, we do not accept or assume any liability or any duty
of care for any purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come without our prior consent in writing.

For V. Sankar Aiyar & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
FRN.109208W

Peer Review Certificate No 011660

(G Sankar)

Partner

M. No. 046050
UDIN: 19046050AAAAAMS5331

Place: Mumbai

Date: April 16, 2019
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5paisa Capital Limited
Annexure I: Restated Standalone Summary Statement of Assets and Liabilities

(% in Millions)
Particulars Note As at As at As at As at As at
No. March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
| EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
(1) Shareholder's funds
(a) Share Capital 4 127.39 127.39 127.39 30.50 30.50
(b) Surplus 5 336.27 501.97 754.96 90.82 145.80
Sub Total 463.66 629.36 882.35 121.32 176.30
(2) Non Current Liabilities
(a) Long-Term Borrowings - - - - -
(b) Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net) - - - - -
(c) Other Long-Term Liabilities - - - - -
(d) Long-Term Provisions 6 6.00 2.07 3.15 0.31 0.56
Sub Total 6.00 2.07 3.15 0.31 0.56
(3) Current Liabilities
(a) Short-Term Borrowings 7 920.12 161.47 - 23.10 148.30
(b) Trade Payables 8
(A) total outstanding dues to micro - - - - -
enterprises and small enterprises
(B) total outstanding dues to creditors 0.71 20.69 4.50 - -
other than micro enterprises and small
enterprises
(c) Other Current Liabilities 9 1,360.56 446.90 161.61 297.95 7.04
(d) Short-Term Provisions 10 64.38 52.02 40.60 2.14 14.94
Sub Total 2,345.77 681.09 206.71 323.19 170.28
TOTAL 2,815.43 1,312.52 1,092.21 444.82 347.14
11 ASSETS
(1) Non-Current Assets
(a) Fixed Assets 11
(i) Property, Plant and Equipment 16.00 12.49 2.68 1.27 -
(i) Intangible Assets 5.81 8.77 2.02 0.97 -
(iii) Capital work in progress 0.75 0.05 1.27 0.49 -
Sub Total 22.56 21.31 5.97 2.73 -
(b) Non-Current Investments 12 21.00 20.50 - - -
(c) Deferred Tax Assets (Net) 13 208.43 149.29 70.17 23.62 0.11
(d) Long-Term Loans & Advances 14 120.58 325.98 41.10 43.55 36.40
(e) Other Non-Current Assets 15 3.25 7.25 - - -
Sub Total 353.26 503.01 111.27 67.17 36.51
(2) Current Assets
(a) Current Investments - - - - -
(b) Inventories 16 32.64 36.00 25.54 10.48 -
(c) Trade Receivables 17 19.96 5.61 4.10 - -
(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents 18 1,130.06 279.22 811.23 128.30 280.73
(e) Short-Term Loans & Advances 19 247.89 38.15 15.85 3.31 0.98
(f) Other Current Assets 20 1,009.06 429.22 118.25 232.83 28.92
Sub Total 2,439.61 788.20 974.97 374.92 310.63
TOTAL 2,815.43 1,312.52 1,092.21 444.82 347.14

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies (Annexure V), restated notes to accounts (Annexure V), notes on adjustments for restated standalone
summary financial information (Annexure VI), Restated Standalone Summary Statement Of Accounting Ratios (Annexure VIl), Restated Standalone Summary Statement Of
Tax Shelter (Annexure VIII), Restated Standalone Summary Statement of Capitalisation (Annexure IX) are an integral part of this statement

As per our attached report of even date

For V Sankar Aiyar & Co
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.109208W
By the hand of

G Sankar
Partner
Membership No. 046050

Place : Mumbai
Dated : April 16, 2019

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Prakarsh Gagdani
Whole Time Director & CEO
(DIN :- 07376258)

Gourav Munjal
Chief Financial Officer
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5paisa Capital Limited
Annexure lI: Restated Standalone Summary Statement of Profit & Loss for the period ended

(% in Millions)
Particulars Note | For the year ended | For the year ended | For the year ended | For the year ended | For the year ended
No. March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Income
Revenue From Operations 21 626.40 196.52 74.67 (12.18) 113.71
Total Revenue 626.40 196.52 74.67 (12.18) 113.71
Expenditure
Employee Benefits Expense 22 258.35 193.18 82.38 21.63 20.19
Finance Cost 23 68.27 7.95 12.51 18.05 22.95
Depreciation and Amortisation 24 14.43 6.67 2.77 0.12 -
Other Expenses 25 510.19 320.82 140.81 25.01 18.83
Total Expenditure 851.24 528.62 238.47 64.81 61.97
Profit Before Tax (224.84) (332.10) (163.80) (76.99) 51.74
Tax Expenses

Current Tax Expenses - - - - 16.44

Deferred Tax Expenses (59.14) (79.12) (46.55) (23.51) (0.01)

Short/(excess) provision of tax for earlier yeai - (0.00) (0.35) 1.51 -
Sub Total (59.14) (79.12) (46.90) (22.00) 16.43
Profit (Loss) For The Year (165.70) (252.99) (116.90) (54.99) 35.31
Earnings Per Share (Face Value 310 each) 26

Basic (in%) (13.01) (19.86) (14.41) (18.03) 11.58

Diluted (in%) (13.01) (19.86) (14.41) (18.03) 11.58

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies (Annexure 1V), restated notes to accounts (Annexure V), notes on adjustments for restated standalone
summary financial information (Annexure VI), Restated Standalone Summary Statement Of Accounting Ratios (Annexure VII), Restated Standalone Summary
Statement Of Tax Shelter (Annexure VIII), Restated Standalone Summary Statement of Capitalisation (Annexure IX) are an integral part of this statement

As per our attached report of even date

For V Sankar Aiyar & Co
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No0.109208W
By the hand of

G Sankar
Partner
Membership No. 046050

Place : Mumbai
Dated : April 16, 2019

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Prakarsh Gagdani

Whole Time Director & CEO

(DIN :- 07376258)

Gourav Munjal
Chief Financial Officer
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5paisa Capital Limited

Annexure lll: Restated Standalone Summary Statement of Cash Flow for the period ended

(% in Millions)
Particulars March 31, 2019 | March 31, 2018 | March 31, 2017 | March 31, 2016 | March 31, 2015
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net profit before taxation and extraordinary item (224.84) (332.10) (163.80) (76.98) 51.73
Adjustments for:
Net Loss/(gain) on Sale of Current Investments (0.19) (14.39) (22.58) (0.17) (0.17)
Interest Income (26.52) (9.34) (5.02) (15.21) (22.92)
Gratuity 2.30 0.61 1.28 (0.29) 0.04
(Profit)/Loss on sale of Fixed Assets (0.00) - - - -
Depreciation 14.43 6.67 - - -
Leave Encashment 2.77 0.81 0.49 0.11 0.17
Interest Expenses 64.91 6.23 11.24 18.05 22.95
Dividend Income (0.03) (0.20) - - (1.12)
Operating Profit before Working Capital Changes (167.18) (341.70) (178.42) (74.49) 50.69
Changes in Working Capital :
(Increase)/Decrease in Long Term Loan and Advances 201.14 (286.31) 2.46 (7.15) 5.60
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Current Liabilities 913.66 290.66 2.07 (0.28) 2.17
Decrease/(Increase) in Short Term Loans and advances (209.74) (24.79) (12.53) (2.33) (0.13)
(Increase) / Decrease in Trade inventories 3.36 (10.46) (15.06) (10.48) 0.12
Decrease / (Increase) in other current assets (579.84) (313.81) 0.24 (0.64) (1.11)
Decrease / (Increase) in other non current assets 4.00 (7.25) - - 0.10
Increase / (Decrease) in Short term Provision 7.30 10.00 34.18 (12.87) (0.92)
Increase / (Decrease) in Long term Provision 3.94 (1.08) 2.84 - -
Increase / (Decrease) in Short term & Long term Borrowings 758.65 161.47 (23.10) (125.20) 148.30
Decrease / (Increase) in Trade Receivable (14.35) (1.56) 177.64 (203.26) (27.67)
Increase / (Decrease) in Trade Payable (19.99) 16.19 (201.29) 291.19 3.31
Cash generated from/(Used) operations 900.95 (508.63) (210.97) (145.51) 180.46
Net income tax (paid) / refunds 4.25 1.43 0.35 (1.51) (16.44)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities (a) 905.20 (507.20) (210.63) (147.02) 164.01
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
(Purchase) of Current Investments (752.61) (39,742.70) (37,531.90) - -
Sale of Current Investments 752.80 39,757.09 37,531.90 - 0.17
Capital Gain on Investment - - 22.58 0.17 -
Interest received 26.52 9.34 5.02 15.21 22.92
Dividend Income 0.03 0.20 - - 1.12
Fixed Deposit with Bank (Net) (400.00) (50.00) (5.00) 200.00 (149.93)
Payments for purchase of equity instruments of other entity (0.50) (20.50) - - -
(Purchase) /Sale of fixed assets (includes intangible assets) (net) (15.67) (22.00) (2.80) (2.73) -
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (b) (389.43) (68.58) 19.81 212.64 (125.73)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Increase in share capital - - 879.99 -
Interest Paid (64.91) (6.23) (11.24) (18.05) (22.95)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (c) (64.91) (6.23) 868.75 (18.05) (22.95)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (a + b + c) 450.84 (582.02) 677.93 47.57 15.33
Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of year 174.22 756.23 78.30 30.73 15.39
Cash and Cash equivalents at end of year 625.06 174.22 756.23 78.30 30.73
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 450.84 (582.02) 677.93 47.57 15.33

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies (Annexure 1V), restated notes to accounts (Annexure V), notes on adjustments for restated
standalone summary financial information (Annexure VI), Restated Standalone Summary Statement Of Accounting Ratios (Annexure VII), Restated Standalone
Summary Statement Of Tax Shelter (Annexure VIII), Restated Standalone Summary Statement of Capitalisation (Annexure IX) are an integral part of this statement

As per our attached report of even date

For V Sankar Aiyar & Company
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.109208W
By the hand of

G Sankar
Partner
Membership No. 046050

Place : Mumbai
Dated : April 16, 2019
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Whole Time Director & CEO
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Santosh Jayaram
Whole Time Director
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Roshan Dave
Company Secretary

Gourav Munjal
Chief Financial Officer




Annexure IV: Restated Standalone Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Note: 1 Corporate Information:

Spaisa Capital Ltd [“5PCL”] is engaged in providing an online technology platform for trading in National Stock Exchange of India Ltd & BSE Ltd through web
based trading terminal, mobile application and a state of the art Call and Trade Unit. 5PCL is also a SEBI approved Research analyst, a Depository Participant
under CDSL and registered member of AMFI. 5PCL provides a wide range of financial services to its customers including depository services, distribution of
mutual funds, bonds and debentures, Equity and Mutual fund research etc through its technology based platforms. The Company’s shares have been listed
with Mumbai Stock Exchange and National Stock Exchange on 16" November, 2017.

Note: 2 Scheme of Arrangement between IIFL Holdings Limited and 5paisa Capital Limited

2.1

The Scheme of Arrangement between IIFL Holdings Limited and 5paisa Capital Limited was approved by National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai Bench
(“NCLT”) on 06.09.2017. The certified true copy of the order was duly filed with Registrar of Companies, Mumbai and the Scheme was made effective from
30.09.2017. Pursuant to order of NCLT, Mumbai Bench, 5paisa digital Undertaking (the undertaking) on going concern basis was vested from IIFL Holdings
Limited (IHL)to 5paisa Capital Ltd. (5PCL) w.e.f. the appointed date i.e. 01.10.2016.

S5paisa Digital Undertaking Business includes development/ maintenance of technology application for online trading through trading terminal and mobile
application, source code of mobile application, domain name (5paisa.com), software rights, brand i.e. 5paisa establishment, protection and support,
Infrastructure and facilities services etc.

In accordance with the said Scheme of Arrangement:

a. The whole of the undertaking including all assets and liabilities of the undertaking were transferred to and vested by IHL to 5PCL at respective book values
from 01.10.2016.

b. The equity share capital of 5 PCL of ¥177,165,000 held by IHL was cancelled and in lieu of the same 5PCL issued 12,739,022 equity shares 310 to the
shareholders of IHL, whose names appear in the Register of Members of IHL on the Record Date i.e. 18th Oct 2017.

c. The excess of net assets value of 5paisa Digital Undertaking transferred to 5 PCL over the value of equity shares referred to in (c) below, as reduced by the
face value of the equity share capital of 5PCL cancelled, referred in (b) above, has been recorded as “Capital Reserve” in March 2017 financials which has
been arrived as follows:-
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2.2

2.3

Particulars Amount
(% in millions)
Net assets value of 5paisa Digital Undertaking(a) (2.06)
Equity shares cancelled (b) 177.16
New equity share capital to be issued (c) 127.39
Capital Reserve ( a+ b-c) 47.71

During the period between the appointed date and the effective date, IHL carried on the business and activities relating to the said Undertaking and held the
properties and assets pertaining to the said Undertaking for and on account of and in trust for 5PCL. All the profits or income accruing or arising to IHL or
expenditure or loss arising or incurred or suffered by IHL pertaining to the said Undertaking during the period 01.04.2017 to 30.09.2017 have also been
incorporated in the financial statements for FY 2017-18.

The Company has accounted for the scheme with effect from 1* October 2016.

Note: 3 Significant Accounting Policies:

3.1

Basis of accounting and preparation of financial statements:

The restated standalone summary statement of assets and liabilities of the Company as at March 31, 2019, March 31, 2018, March 31, 2017 (after giving
effect to the Scheme of Demerger referred to in Note 2 above), March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015 and the related restated standalone summary statement
of profit and loss and related restated standalone summary statement of cash flows for the periods ended March 31, 2019, March 31, 2018, March 31, 2017
(after giving effect to the Scheme of Demerger referred to in Note 2 above), March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015 (herein collectively referred to as "Restated
Standalone Summary Financial Information") have been compiled by management from the then audited standalone financial statements for the years
ended March 31, 2019, March 31, 2018,March 31, 2017 (after giving effect to the Scheme of Demerger referred to in Note 2 above), March 31, 2016 and
March 31, 2015 respectively.

The Restated Standalone Summary Statements of the Company for the years ended March 31, 2019, March 31, 2018, March 31, 2017 (after giving effect to
the Scheme of Demerger referred to in Note 2 above), March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015 have been prepared using the historical audited general purpose
financial statements of the Company as at and for the years ended March 31, 2019, March 31, 2018, March 31, 2017 (after giving effect to the Scheme of
Demerger referred to in Note 2 above), March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015 which were prepared under generally accepted accounting principles in India
(Indian GAAP) and originally approved by the Board of Directors of the Company at that relevant time.

The Company has prepared the standalone financial statements to comply in all material respects with the accounting standards specified under the
Companies Act, 1956 (the “Act”) and as per section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, Companies
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3.2

33

3.4

3.5

(Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2016 and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. The standalone financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention on an accrual basis. The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Company to the
period/years presented in the Restated Standalone Summary Financial Information. These Restated Standalone Summary financial statements have been
prepared using presentation and disclosure requirements of the Schedule Ill of Companies Act 2013. The Restated Summary Financial Information are
presented in Indian rupees (in millions), unless otherwise stated.

The Restated Standalone Summary Financial Information have been prepared specifically for the inclusion in the offer document to be filed by the Company
with the Securities and Exchange Board of India (‘SEBI’) in connection with its proposed Rights issue.

The Restated Standalone Summary Financial Information have been prepared by the Company to comply in all material respects with the requirements of
Sub-clause (i), (ii) and (iii) of clause (b) of Sub-section (1) of Section 26 of Chapter Il of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rule 4 of Companies (Prospectus
and Allotment of Securities) Rules, 2014 and the Securities and Exchange Board of India ( Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009
issued by SEBI on August 26, 2009 as amended from time to time (“the SEBI ICDR Guidelines”).

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the generally accepted accounting principles which requires the management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities on the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. The management believes that the estimates used in the preparation of financial statements are prudent and
reasonable. Difference between the actual result and estimates are recognized in the period in which the results are known / materialized.

Cash and cash equivalents (for purposes of Cash Flow Statement):

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term balances (with an original maturity of three months or less
from the date of acquisition), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Cash flow statement:

Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, whereby profit / (loss) before extraordinary items and tax is adjusted for the effects of
transactions of non-cash nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash receipts or payments. The cash flows from operating, investing
and financing activities of the Company are segregated based on the available information.

Fixed Assets and Depreciation and Amortization:

Fixed assets are stated at cost of acquisition less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any thereon. Depreciation is charged using the straight
line method based on the useful life of fixed assets as estimated by the management as specified below. Depreciation is charged from the month in which
new assets are put to use. No depreciation is charged for the month in which assets are sold. In the case of transfer of used fixed assets from group
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3.6

3.7

companies, depreciation is charged over the remaining useful life of the assets. Individual assets / group of similar assets costing up to35,000 have been
depreciated in full in the year of purchase. Lease hold land is depreciated on a straight line basis over the lease hold period.

Estimated useful life of the assets is as under:

Class of assets March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 | March 31,2017 | March 31, 2016
Buildings* 20 20 20 20
Computers* 3 3 3 3
Electrical equipment* 5 5 5 5
Office equipment 5 5 5 5
Furniture and fixtures * 5 5 5 5
Vehicles* 5 5 5 5
Software 3 3 3 3

*For these class of assets, based on internal assessment and independent technical evaluation carried out by external valuers the management believes that
the useful lives as given above best represent the period over which management expects to use these assets. Hence the useful lives for these assets are
different from the useful lives as prescribed under Part C of Schedule Il of the Companies Act 2013.

Company did not have any fixed assets till March 31, 2015.

Translation of foreign currency items:

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing on the date of the transaction. Exchange difference, if any, arising out of
transactions settled during the year are recognized in the statement of Profit and Loss. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the
exchange rate prevailing on the Balance Sheet date. The exchange gains or losses, if any, are recognized in the statement of Profit and Loss and related assets
and liabilities are accordingly restated in the Balance Sheet.

Revenue Recognition:
Revenue is recognized to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the company and the revenue can be reliably measured. The
following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized.

(a) Brokerage income earned on secondary market operations are accounted on trade dates.

(b) Income from arbitrage comprises profit/loss on sale of securities held as stock-in-trade and profit / loss on equity derivative instruments is accounted
as follows;

(i) Profit / loss on sale of securities is determined based on the FIFO cost of the securities sold.
(i) Profit / loss on arbitrage transactions is accounted for as explained below:
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3.8

3.9

Initial and additional margin paid over and above initial margin for entering into contracts for Equity Index / Stock Futures / Currency Futures and or Equity
Index / Stock Options / Currency Options which are released on final settlement/squaring-up of underlying contracts are disclosed under other current
assets. “Mark-to-market margin- Equity Index / Stock Futures / Currency Futures” representing the amounts paid in respect of mark to market margin is
disclosed under ‘other current assets.’

“Equity Index / Stock Option / Currency Option Premium Account” represents premium paid or received for buying or selling the Options, respectively.

On final settlement or squaring up of contracts for Equity Index / Stock Futures / Currency Future, the realized profit or loss after adjusting the unrealized loss
already accounted, if any, is recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss. On settlement or squaring up of Equity Index / Stock Options / Currency Option
before expiry, the premium prevailing in “Equity Index / Stock Option / Currency Option Premium Account” on that date is recognized in the Statement of
Profit and Loss.

As at the Balance Sheet date, the Mark to Market / Unrealised Profit / (Loss) on all outstanding Arbitrage portfolio comprising of Securities and
Equity/Currency Derivatives positions is determined on scrip basis (e.g. Nifty, SBI, HDFC etc.) with net unrealized losses on scrip basis being recognized in the
Statement of Profit and Loss and the net unrealized gains on scrip basis are ignored.

Other Income Recognition:
(a) Interest Income is recognized on accrual basis.
(b) Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

Employee Benefits:
Defined Contribution Plan
The company’s contribution towards Provident Fund and Family Pension Fund are considered as defined contribution plans and are charged as an expense

based on the amount of contribution required to be made and when services are rendered by the employees.

Defined benefit plans
For defined benefit plans in the form of gratuity fund, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit method, with actuarial

valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which
they occur. Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested and otherwise is amortised on a straight-line basis
over the average period until the benefits become vested. The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the Balance Sheet represents the present value of
the defined benefit obligation as adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets. Any asset resulting from this
calculation is limited to past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the schemes.

Short-term employee benefits
The undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the services rendered by employees are recognised during

the year when the employees render the service. These benefits include performance incentive and compensated absences which are expected to
occur within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the related service.
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3.10

3.11

3.12

3.13

The cost of short-term compensated absences is accounted as under:
(a) in case of accumulated compensated absences, when employees render the services that increase their entitlement of future compensated absences; and

(b) in case of non-accumulating compensated absences, when the absences occur.

Long-term employee benefits
Compensated absences which are not expected to occur within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the related service

are recognised as a liability at the present value of the defined benefit obligation as at the balance sheet date.

Long term employee benefits

The Company creates a provision when there is present obligation as a result of a past event that probably requires an outflow of resources and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present
obligation that may, but probably will not, require an outflow of resources. When there is a possible obligation or a present obligation in respect of which the
likelihood of outflow of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is made.

Provisions are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that the outflow of resources
would be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.

Contingent Assets are neither recognized nor disclosed in the financial statements.

Preliminary Expenses:
Preliminary Expenses is written off in same financial year in which they are incurred.

Taxes on Income:

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current income-tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities in accordance
with the Income-tax Act, 1961 enacted in India. Provision for current tax is computed based on estimated tax liability computed after adjusting for allowance,
disallowance and exemptions in accordance with the applicable tax laws.

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of timing differences between taxable income and accounting income originating during the current year and
reversal of timing differences for the earlier years. Deferred tax is measured using the tax rate and the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
Balance Sheet date. The deferred tax asset is recognised or unrecognised, to the extent that it has become reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case
may be, that sufficient future taxable income will be available. At each reporting date, the Company re-assesses unrecognized deferred tax assets. Deferred
tax liability is recognised as and when arisen.

Operating Leases:
Lease rentals in respect of operating lease arrangements are charged to the Statement of Profit & Loss in accordance with Accounting Standard 19 — Leases,
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.
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3.14

3.15

3.16

3.17

3.18

Investments:

Investments, which are readily realizable and intended to be held for not more than one year from the date on which such investments are made, are
classified as current investments. All other Investments are classified as non — current investments. Current investments are stated at lower of cost or fair
value. Non — current investments are carried at cost. Provision for diminution in value of non — current investments is made, if in the opinion of the
management such diminution is other than temporary. For investment in mutual funds, the net assets value (NAV) declared by the mutual funds at the
Balance Sheet date is considered as the fair value.

Inventories:
Closing stock is valued at cost or market value whichever is lower. Cost is computed on FIFO basis. The comparison of cost and market value for arbitrage
portfolio is done separately for each script.

Impairment of Assets:

The carrying amount of the assets at each Balance Sheet date is reviewed for impairment. If any indication of impairment based on internal / external factors
exists, the recoverable amount of such assets is estimated and impairment is recognised wherever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of the net selling price and its value in use, which is arrived at by discounting the future cash flows to their
present value, based on an appropriate discounting factor. If at the Balance Sheet date, there is an indication that previously recognised impairment loss no
longer exists, the recoverable amount is reassessed and the asset is reflected at the recoverable amount, subject to a maximum of the depreciable historical
cost and reversal of such impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss, except in case of revalued assets.

Operating Cycle:

Based on the nature of products / activities of the Company and the normal time between acquisition of assets and their realisation in cash or cash
equivalents, the Company has determined its operating cycle as 12 months for the purpose of classification of its assets and liabilities as current and non-
current.

Earnings Per Share:
Basic earnings per share for equity shareholders have been calculated by dividing the Net Profit after Tax or loss by the weighted average number of equity
shares outstanding during the period.

The diluted earnings per share for equity shareholders have been computed by dividing the Net Profit after Tax or loss by the weighted average number of
shares after giving dilutive effect of all potential equity shares.
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Annexure V: Restated Standalone Summary of Notes to Summary Financial Statements

Note: 4. Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up share capital:

a) The Authorized, Issued, Subscribed and fully paid up share capital comprises equity shares as follows:

(% in Millions)

Particulars

As at
March 31, 2019

As at
March 31, 2018

As at
March 31, 2017

As at
March 31, 2016

As at
March 31, 2015

Authorized :

30,000,000 Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each

(March 31, 2019 : 30,000,000 Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each,
March 31, 2018 : 30,000,000 Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each,
March 31,2017 : 18,000,000 Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each,
March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015 10,000,000 Equity Shares
of ¥ 10 each)

300.00

300.00

180.00

100.00

100.00

Issued , Subscribed and Paid Up :

12,739,022 Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each fully paid-up

(March 31,2019 : 12,739,022 Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each fully
paid-up March 31, 2018 : 12,739,022 Equity Shares of ¥ 10
each fully paid-up , March 31, 2017 : 17,716,500 Equity Shares
of ¥ 10 each fully paid-up till September 30, 2016 and NIL
thereafter March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015 3,050,000
Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each fully paid up)

127.39

127.39

30.50

30.50

Share Suspense Account

12,739,022 Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each to be issued as fully
paid-up to the shareholders of IIFL Holdings Limited pursuant
to the Scheme of Arrangement (Refer Note 2A)

127.39

Total

127.39

127.39

127.39

30.50

30.50
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b) Reconciliation of the shares outstanding

Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March31, 2016 March31, 2015

No. of Tin No. of Tin No. of Tin No. of Tin No. of Tin

Shares Millions Shares Millions Shares Millions Shares Millions Shares Millions
At the Beginning of 12,739,022 127.39 - - 3,050,000 30.50 3,050,000 30.50 | 3,050,000 30.50
the Year
Add:- Issued during - - | 12,739,022 127.39 | 14,666,500 146.67 - - - -
the Year
Less : Shares - - - - | 17,716,500 177.17 - - - -
Cancelled under
Scheme of
Arrangement
(Refer Note 2(A))
Add: Shares to be - - - -1 12,739,022 127.39 - - - -
issued pursuant to
scheme of
arrangement
( Refer Note 2A)
Outstanding at the 12,739,022 127.39 | 12,739,022 127.39 | 12,739,022 127.39 3,050,000 30.50 | 3,050,000 30.50
end of the year

c) Terms/rights attached to equity shares
The company has only one class of shares referred to as equity shares having a par value of ¥ 10/- each. Each holder of equity shares is entitled to one vote per share. In
the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive any of the remaining assets of the Company after distribution of all
preferential amounts. However, no such preferential amount exists currently. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the
shareholders.

d) Equity Shares held by Holding company / Ultimate holding company and their subsidiaries

Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
[V [V [V
No. of % holding in No. of A . No. of A . No. of A . No. of % holding
holding in holding in holding in .
Shares the class Shares Shares Shares Shares in the class
the class the class the class
Equity shares of - - - - - - 3,050,000 100% | 3,050,000 100%
%10 each fully paid*

* Note: 100% Equity Shares 17,716,500 were held by IIFL Holdings Limited -The Holding Company up to September 30, 2016.
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e) Detail of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company

Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
L % % . .
No. of % holding in No. of L. No. of L. No. of % holding No. of % holding
holding in holding in . .
Shares the class Shares Shares Shares in the class Shares in the class
the class the class
Equity shares of 310 each fully paid*
IIFL Holdings Limited - - - - - - 3,050,000 100% | 3,050,000 100%
FIH Mauritius 3,385,657 26.58 3,385,657 26.58 - - - - - -
Investments Ltd
Nirmal Bhanwarlal 2,228,600 17.49 2,178,600 17.10 - - - - - -
Jain
Hwic Asia Fund 1,134,501 8.91 1,134,501 8.91 - - - - - -
Class A Shares
Madhu N Jain 680,000 5.34 680,000 5.34 - - - - - -

* Note: 100% Equity Shares 17,716,500 were held by IIFL Holdings Limited -The Holding Company upto September 30, 2016.

f. During the period of five years immediately preceding the Balance sheet date, the Company has not issued any shares without payment being received in cash or by way
of bonus shares or shares bought back.

g. Shares reserved for issue under options and contracts/commitments for sale of shares/disinvestments, including the terms and amount: Refer note no 32 for details of
shares reserved for issue under Employee Stock Option Plan of the Company.

Note: 5. Surplus:

(% in Millions)

Particulars As at As at As at As at As at

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Securities Premium Account
Opening balance 823.33 823.33 90.00 90.00 90.00
Addition during the year - - 733.33 - -
Deduction during the year - - - - -
Closing balance 823.33 823.33 823.33 90.00 90.00
Capital Reserve
Opening balance 47.71 47.71 - - -
Addition during the year (Refer Note) - - 47.71 - -
Deduction during the year - - - - -
Closing balance 47.71 47.71 47.71 - -
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Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Profit and loss Account
Opening balance (369.07) (116.08) 0.82 55.80 20.49
Addition during the year (165.70) (252.99) (116.90) (54.98) 35.31
Closing balance (534.77) (369.07) (116.08) 0.82 55.80
Total 336.27 501.97 754.96 90.82 145.80
Note: 6. Long Term Provisions:
(% in Millions)
Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Provision for Gratuity 3.65 1.36 2.58 0.25 0.33
Provision for Leave Encashment 2.35 0.71 0.57 0.06 0.23
Total 6.00 2.07 3.15 0.31 0.56
Note: 7. Short Term Borrowings:
(% in Millions)
Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Secured Loans*
Bank overdrafts 630.12 161.47 - - -
Unsecured Loans
Inter Corporate Deposits (Refer Note 28) 290.00 - - 23.10 148.30
Total 920.12 161.47 - 23.10 148.30
* Secured by Term Deposit of ¥ 750.00 Millions pledged by other related parties.
Note: 8. Trade Payables:
(% in Millions)
Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Outstanding dues to micro & small enterprises* - - - - -
Outstanding dues to creditors other than micro & small 0.71 20.69 4.50 - -
enterprises
Total 0.71 20.69 4.50 - -

* The following disclosure is made as per the requirement under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2016 (MSMED) on the basis of confirmations
sought from suppliers on registration with the specified authority under MSMED:
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Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16 2014-15
Amount due and payable at the year end

Principal - - - - -

Interest on above Principal - - - - -
Payment made during the year after due date

Principal - - - - -

Interest - - - - -
Interest due and payable for principal already paid - - - - -
Total Interest accrued and remained unpaid at year end - - - - -

Note: 9. Other Current Liabilities:
(% in Millions)
Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Advances from customers - 0.65 - - -
Accrued Salaries & Benefits 0.08 2.17 1.07 2.46 1.97
Statutory liabilities payable 13.34 10.19 4.39 0.96 1.68
Client and Other Payables 1,344.87 433.89 156.15 294.53 3.39
Payable to related parties (Refer Note 28) 2.09 - - - -
Other Liabilities 0.18 - - - -
Total 1,360.56 446.90 161.61 297.95 7.04
Note: 10. Short Term Provisions:
(% in Millions)
Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Provision for expenses 50.98 47.80 38.96 1.59 1.33
Bonus & Staff Incentive Payable 11.32 2.91 0.74 0.15 6.00
Provision for tax@ - - 0.00 0.35 7.50
Provision for Leave encashment 1.26 0.54 0.18 0.02 0.11
Provision for Gratuity@ 0.82 0.77 0.72 0.03 0.00
Total 64.38 52.02 40.60 2.14 14.94

@ Amount is Less than ¥ 0.01 million, hence shown ¥ 0.00 million.
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Note: 11. Fixed Assets:

Property Plant and Equipment

Gross Block (At Cost)  in Millions)
Particulars Computers Electrical Furniture & Office Total
Equipment Fixtures Equipment

At April 1, 2014 - - - - -
Addition/Adjustments - - - - -
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - - -
As at March 31, 2015 - - - - -
Addition/Adjustments 1.00 - - 0.36 1.36
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - - -
As at March 31, 2016 1.00 - - 0.36 1.36
Addition on account of Scheme of Arrangement - - - 0.68 0.68
Addition/Adjustments 0.47 0.32 1.84 0.46 3.09
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - - -
As at March 31, 2017 1.47 0.32 1.84 1.50 5.13
Addition/Adjustments 10.87 0.78 1.41 0.73 13.79
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - 0.04 0.04
As at March 31, 2018 12.34 1.10 3.25 2.19 18.88
Addition/Adjustments 8.45 1.74 1.48 1.65 13.32
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - 0.01 0.00 0.01
As at March 31, 2019 20.79 2.84 4.72 3.84 32.19




Accumulated Depreciation (X in Millions)
Particulars Computers Electrical Furniture Office Total
Equipment & Fixtures Equipment
At April 1, 2014 - - - - -
Depreciation/Adjustments for the year - - - - -
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - - -
As at March 31, 2015 - - - - -
Depreciation/Adjustments for the year 0.06 - - 0.03 0.09
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - - -
As at March 31, 2016 0.06 - - 0.03 0.09
Accumulated Depreciation on account of scheme of - - - 0.23 0.23
arrangement
Depreciation/Adjustments for the year 0.41 0.25 1.01 0.46 2.13
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - - -
As at March 31, 2017 0.47 0.25 1.01 0.72 2.45
Depreciation/Adjustments for the year 2.26 0.08 0.83 0.81 3.98
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - 0.04 0.04
As at March 31, 2018 2.73 0.33 1.84 1.49 6.39
Depreciation/Adjustments for the year 6.84 0.53 0.81 1.63 9.81
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - 0.01 0.00 0.01
As at March 31, 2019 9.57 0.86 2.64 3.12 16.19
Net Block (X in Millions)
Particulars Computers Electrical Furniture Office Total
Equipment & Fixtures Equipment
As at March 31, 2015 - - - - -
As at March 31, 2016 0.94 - - 0.33 1.27
As at March 31, 2017 1.00 0.07 0.83 0.78 2.68
As at March 31, 2018 9.61 0.78 141 0.70 12.49
As at March 31, 2019 11.22 1.98 2.08 0.72 16.00
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Intangible Assets

(X in Millions)
Particulars Gross Block (At Cost) Accumulated Depreciation Net Block
Software Total Software Total Software Total

At April 1, 2014 - - - - - -
Addition/Adjustments - - - - - -
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - - - -
As at March 31, 2015 - - - - - -
Addition/Adjustments 1.00 1.00 0.03 0.03 - -
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - - - -
As at March 31, 2016 1.00 1.00 0.03 0.03 0.97 0.97
Addition/Adjustments 1.69 1.69 0.64 0.64 - -
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - - - -
As at March 31, 2017 2.69 2.69 0.67 0.67 2.02 2.02
Addition/Adjustments 9.43 9.43 2.69 2.69 - -
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - - - -
As at March 31, 2018 12.12 12.12 3.36 3.36 8.77 8.77
Addition/Adjustments 1.67 1.67 4.62 4.62 -
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - - - - -

As at March 31, 2019 13.79 13.79 7.98 7.98 5.81 5.81

Note:- Capital Work in Progress ¥ 0.75 Million of March 2019, ¥ 0.05 Million of March 2018, 3 1.27 Million of March 2017 and ¥ 0.49 Million of March 2016 pertains to assets

not yet capitalized.
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Note: 12. Non Current Investments:

(% in Millions)

Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31,2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Investment in Subsidiaries - Equity Instruments
(Unquoted)
Spaisa P2P Limited (w.e.f. December 7, 2017)
(2,050,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each) 20.50 20.50 - - -
S5paisa Insurance Brokers Limited
(w.e.f October 27, 2018) 0.50 -
(50,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each)
Total 21.00 20.50 - - -
Note: 13. Deferred Tax Assets (Net):

(% in Millions)

Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Depreciation 0.89 0.02 0.01 (0.15) -
Deferred Tax Asset for Gratuity / Leave Encashment 2.10 0.87 0.41 0.08 0.11
Provision for Doubtful debts 1.53 0.29 - - -
Short term/Long Term Capital losses/ Business Loss* 203.91 148.11 69.75 23.69 -
Total 208.43 149.29 70.17 23.62 0.11

"Considering the future projections and that the carried forward losses are only for the last 3 years primarily on account of expenditure on sales promotion and
advertisement incurred in the early years which is likely to be less in future, the Company is of the opinion that sufficient taxable income will be available in future against
which the deferred tax assets arising from carried forward business loss can be utilized”
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Note: 14. Long Term Loans & Advances:

(% in Millions)
Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Unsecured, Considered Good :
Deposits With Exchange 103.96 322.48 38.92 42.03 36.40
Security Deposits with related parties (Refer Note 28) 10.31 - - - -
Security Deposits with Others 2.06 2.07 - - -
Advance Income Tax & Tax Deducted at Source 4.25 1.43 2.18 1.52 -
(Net of provision)
Total 120.58 325.98 41.10 43.55 36.40
Note: 15. Other Non Current Assets:
(% in Millions)
Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Fixed Deposit with bank (Maturity more than 12 3.25 7.25 - - -
months)*
Total 3.25 7.25 - - -
*Fixed deposits to the extent of X 3.25 Millions (PY 7.25 Millions) pledged with banks for Bank Guarantees and with the stock exchanges for Margin / Capital purpose.
Note: 16. Inventories - (At lower of cost or net realisable value):
(% in Millions)
Script Name As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Qty. in Zin Qty. in Zin Qty.in | Tin Qty. in Tin Qty. in Zin
Nos. Millions Nos. Millions Nos. Millions Nos. Millions Nos. Millions
Exchange Traded Fund/Shares
EQ-SBISENSEXETF 3,097 1.16 6,212 2.13 5,497 1.65 2,177 0.54 - -
EQ-SETFBANK EQ 5,542 1.53 1,595 0.39 14,564 3.07 7,360 1.14 - -
EQ-SETFBS 12,399 143 20,630 2.18 | 32,380 2.85 - - - -
EQ-SETFNIFTYNEXT 50 EQ 10,285 2.83 1,601 0.46 5,029 1.23 - - - -
EQ-SETFNIFTY EQ 44,185 5.10 34,474 3.51 62,332 5.77 11,225 0.85 - -
EQ-UTINIFTYETF 6,324 7.58 7,359 7.76 | 10,908 9.62 5,234 3.95 - -
EQ-UTISENSEXETF 5,646 2.14 8,473 2.89 4,604 135 11,118 2.64 - -
EQ-UTINEXT50 29,541 8.29 56,816 16.49 - - - - - -
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Script Name As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Qty. in Zin Qty. in Tin Qty.in | Tin Qty. in Tin Qty. in Zin

Nos. Millions Nos. Millions Nos. Millions Nos. Millions Nos. Millions
DLFLTD - - 911 0.18 - - - - - -
SUZLON ENERGY LTD - - 1,261 0.01 - - - - - -
EQ-SETFBSE100 - - - - - - 12,246 0.96 - -
EQ-SETFNIFJR EQ - - - - - - 2,133 0.40 - -
TRANSFORMERS & RECTIFIERS (I) LIMITED - - - - - - - - - -
EQ-SETFSN50 5,691 1.79 - - - - - - - -
EQ-SBIETFQLTY 8,415 0.79 - - - - - - - -
EQ-UTISXN50 24 0.00 - - - - - - - -
Total 131,149 32.64 | 139,332 36.00 | 135,314 25.54 51,493 10.48 - -
Aggregate Market Value-Stock 33.67 36.11 26.66 10.48 -

Note: 17. Trade Receivables:
(% in Millions)

Particulars As at As at As at As at As at

March 31, 2019 March 31,2018 March 31,2017 March 31, 2016 March 31,2015
Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise
stated
Outstanding for a period exceeding six months from
date they are due for payment. i i i i )
Others 19.96 5.61 4.10 - -
Total 19.96 5.61 4.10 - -

Note: 18. Cash and Cash Equivalents:
(% in Millions

Particulars As at As at As at As at As at

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Cash & Cash Equivalents:

Balances with Schedule banks:

In current accounts

Client bank accounts 612.89 163.65 124.26 54.84 9.92
Other bank accounts # 8.17 10.57 631.97 23.46 20.81
In Deposit account (Maturity less than 3 months) 4.00 - - - -
Total Cash & Cash Equivalent (a) 625.06 174.22 756.23 78.30 30.73
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Particulars As at As at As at As at As at

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Other Balances
In Deposit account (Maturity more than 3 months to 505.00 105.00 55.00 50.00 250.00
12 months)*
In Deposit account (Maturity more than 12 months)* - - - - -
Total Other Balances (b) 505.00 105.00 55.00 50.00 250.00
Total (a + b) 1,130.06 279.22 811.23 128.30 280.73

# includes Cheque on hand ¥ 0.15 Million as at March 31, 2019, ¥ 0.17 Million as at March 31, 2018 ¥ 9.20 Million as at March 31, 2017 and3 0.44 Million as at March 31 2016
*Includes fixed deposits to the extent of ¥ 509.00 Million as at March 31, 2019, 105.00 Million as at March 31, 2018, ¥55.00 Million as at March 31, 2017, 350.00 Million as at March
31,2016 and ¥250.00 Million as at March 31, 2015 pledged with banks for Bank Guarantees and with the stock exchanges for Margin / Capital purpose.

Note: 19. Short term Loan and Advances:

 in Mllions)

Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Unsecured, Considered Good :
Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value 4.75 6.90 1.97 0.06 -
to be received.
Balance with Government authorities
Service Tax / GST Credit Receivable 2.55 31.25 13.88 3.25 0.98
Other Loans & Advances
Margin Trading Facility Balances 240.59 - - - -
Total 247.89 38.15 15.85 3.31 0.98
Note: 20. Other Current Assets:

(% in Millions)

Particulars As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Margin with exchanges - - - 0.46 -
Prepaid expenses 5.70 3.44 1.46 1.36 1.01
Interest Accrued on Fixed Deposit 3.66 0.08 - - -
Receivables from Related Parties (Refer Note 28) 0.50 - - - -
Client and Exchange Receivables 1,005.07 426.83 116.79 231.01 27.91
Less : Provision for doubtful client receivables (5.87) (1.13) - - -
Total 1,009.06 429.22 118.25 232.83 28.92
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Note: 21. Revenue from Operations:

(% in Millions)
Particulars For the year ended on
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Capital Market activities 541.97 152.21 16.04 2.92 5.86
Fund Based activities 24.38 29.81 51.97 (15.10) 107.85
Financial Products distribution 60.05 14.50 6.66 - -
Total 626.40 196.52 74.67 (12.18) 113.71
Note: 22. Employee Benefits Expense:
% in Millions)
Particulars For the year ended on
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Salaries and bonus 234.58 179.44 76.73 21.47 19.82
Contribution to provident and other funds 14.42 10.54 3.26 0.31 0.12
Gratuity * 2.30 0.61 1.28 (0.29) 0.04
Staff Welfare Expenses 4.28 1.78 0.62 0.03 0.04
Leave Encashment 2.77 0.81 0.49 0.11 0.17
Total 258.35 193.18 82.38 21.63 20.19
* The Company is recognising and accruing the employee benefit as per accounting standard (AS) — 15 on “Employee Benefits” the disclosures of which are as under.
(% in Millions)
Assumptions For the year ended on
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Discount rate previous year 7.35% 6.65% 7.72% 7.89% 9.14%
Salary Escalation previous year 8.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Discount rate current year 7.07% 7.35% 6.77% 7.72% 7.89%
Salary Escalation Current Year 10.00% 8.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
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(% in Millions)

Change in Benefit Obligation

For the year ended on

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Liability at the beginning of the year 2.13 1.51 0.27 0.33 0.29
Interest Cost 0.15 0.10 0.02 0.03 0.03
Current Service Cost 0.70 0.58 0.11 0.11 0.11
Past Service Cost - (0.03) - - -
Benefit Paid (0.07) - (0.04) - -
Actuarial (gain)/ Loss on obligations 1.45 (0.04) 0.97 (0.42) (0.09)
Liability Transferred in/(out) 0.11 0.01 0.17 0.23 -
Liability at the end of the year 4.47 2,13 1.50 0.27 0.33
(% in Millions)
Amount recognised in the Balance Sheet For the year ended on
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Liability at the end of the year (4.47) (2.13) (1.50) (0.27) (0.33)
Fair Value of plan Assets at the end of the year - - - - -
Funded Status (Surplus/(Deficit) (4.47) (2.13) (1.50) (0.27) (0.33)
Amount of liability recognised in the Balance Sheet (4.47) (2.13) (1.50) (0.27) (0.33)
(% in Millions)
Expenses Recognised in the Income statement For the year ended on
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Current Service Cost 0.69 0.58 0.11 0.11 0.11
Interest Cost 0.16 0.10 0.02 0.03 0.03
Past Service Cost - (0.03) - - -
Actuarial Gain or Loss 1.45 (0.04) 0.97 (0.42) (0.09)
Expense recognised in P&L 2.30 0.61 1.10 (0.29) 0.04

176




(% in Millions)

Balance Sheet reconciliation

For the year ended on

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Opening Net liability 2.13 1.51 0.27 0.33 0.29
Expense as above 2.30 0.61 1.10 (0.29) 0.04
Liability Transferred in/(out) 0.11 0.01 0.17 0.23 -
Benefit Paid (0.07) - (0.04) - -
Amount recognised in the Balance Sheet 4.47 2.13 1.50 0.27 0.33
# Defined Contribution Plans:
The Company has also recognised the following amounts as an expense.
X in Millions)
Particulars For the year ended on
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Contribution to provident fund and EPS@ 10.58 7.64 2.57 0.30 0.12
@ Amount is Less than ¥ 0.01 million, hence shown ¥ 0.00 million.
Note: 23. Finance Costs:
(% in Millions)
Particulars For the year ended on
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Borrowing 64.91 6.23 11.23 18.05 22.94
Other 3.36 1.72 1.28 - 0.01
Total 68.27 7.95 12,51 18.05 22.95
Note: 24. Depreciation and Amortisation Expense:
(X in Millions)
Particulars For the year ended on
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Depreciation — Property, Plant and Equipment 9.81 3.98 2.13 0.09 -
Amortisation - Intangible Assets 4.62 2.69 0.64 0.03 -
Total 14.43 6.67 2.77 0.12 -
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Note: 25. Other expenses:

% in Millions)
Particulars For the year ended on
March 31, 2019 March 31,2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Advertisement 220.26 155.70 66.52 0.17 0.22
Books & Periodicals@ 0.01 0.02 0.00 0.00 0.00
Brokerage related Expenses 12.73 17.73 1.38 4.05 5.18
Exchange and statutory Charges@ 1.23 0.71 0.15 0.25 0.11
Marketing and commission expenses 58.32 10.34 2.21 0.28 0.03
Directors Sitting Fees 1.02 0.66 - - -
Bank Charges@ 1.60 0.61 0.10 4.32 4.72
Communication 19.38 7.03 2.35 1.40 0.17
Electricity 12.59 9.84 5.42 0.37 0.59
Legal and professional charges 85.63 29.53 17.31 3.24 0.20
Miscellaneous expenses 0.87 0.22 0.15 0.03 0.01
Office expenses 20.63 9.16 3.90 0.93 0.62
Meeting Seminar & subscription 0.74 1.27 0.97 0.22 0.25
Postage and courier@ 0.49 0.40 0.30 0.02 0.02
Printing and stationery@ 1.50 0.58 0.24 0.02 0.05
Provision for doubtful debts and bad debts@ 4.77 1.14 (0.00) (0.01) (0.05)
Rent 29.56 30.45 15.78 3.06 2.36
Insurance 0.31 0.39 0.08 0.32 0.11
Rates & taxes 1.46 7.51 1.89 0.22 0.11
Repairs & Maintenance
- Computer 0.65 0.62 0.32 0.03 0.01
- Others@ 3.27 3.33 0.46 0.02 0.03
Remuneration to Auditors :
As auditors - statutory audit 0.25 0.10 0.01 0.01 0.01
Certification work and other matters 0.67 0.01 0.01 0.01 -
Out of Pocket Expenses 0.04 - - - -
Software Charges/ Technology Cost 24.97 26.59 17.48 3.46 3.05
Profit/(Loss) on sale of assets@ (0.00) - - - -
Travelling and conveyance 7.24 6.88 3.78 2.59 1.03
Total 510.19 320.82 140.81 25.01 18.83

@ Amount is Less than T 0.01 million, hence shown ¥ 0.00 million.
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Note: 26. Earnings per Share (EPS):

(% in Millions
Particulars For the year ended on
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Net Profit after Tax for the Year (165.70) (252.99) (116.90) (54.99) 35.31
Weighted Average No. of Shares 12,739,022 12,739,022 8,113,182 3,050,000 3,050,000
Basic EPS (13.01) (19.86) (14.41) (18.03) 11.58
Diluted EPS (13.01) (19.86) (14.41) (18.03) 11.58
Face Value per share 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00

*The Employee Stock Options granted by the Company which are potential equity shares are ignored for purpose of computation of diluted earnings per share for the
period ended March 31, 2019 & March 31, 2018 since they are anti-dilutive, considering that the company has incurred losses.

Note: 27.

The Company operates from and uses the premises, infrastructure and other facilities and services as provided to it by group companies which are termed as ‘Shared
Services’. Hitherto, such shared services consisting of administrative and other revenue expenses paid for by the company were identified and recovered from them based
on reasonable management estimates, which are constantly refined in the light of additional knowledge gained relevant to such estimation. These expenses are recovered
on an actual basis and the estimates are used only where actual were difficult to determine.

Note: 28.
A) Disclosures in respect of AS — 18 Related Party Disclosures:
Nature of relationship Name of party
Subsidiaries Spaisa P2P Limited w.e.f. 07.12.2017

5paisa Insurance Brokers Limited w.e.f 27.10.2018

Other Related Parties

Holding Company ceased w.e.f 01.10.2016 and under IIFL Holdings Limited

common control w.e.f 01.10.2016*

Fellow Subsidiaries up to 30.09.2016 and under common IIFL Commodities Limited ( formerly known as India Infoline Commodities Limited)
control w.e.f. 01.10.2016 India Infoline Media & Research Services Limited

India Infoline Finance Limited

IIFL Securities Limited (Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )

IIFL Management Services Limited (formerly known as India Infoline Insurance Services Limited)
IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited (Formerly Known as India Infoline Insurance Brokers Limited)
IIFL Wealth Management Limited**

IIFL Facilities Services Limited (Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)

IIFL Wealth UK Limited

IIFL Capital Inc

India Infoline Foundation

IIFL Assets Reconstruction Limited

India Infoline Commodities DMCC (up to 16th January 2016)

IIFL Securities Ceylon (Pvt) Limited (up to 30th December 2013)

IIFL Capital Ceylon Limited (up to 20th March 2014)
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Nature of relationship Name of party

Group Companies up to 30.09.2016 and under common IIFL Home Finance Limited (Formerly known as India Infoline Housing Finance Limited)
control w.e.f. 01.10.2016 Samasta Microfinance Limited (w.e.f. 01% Mar 2017)

Ayusha Dairy Private Limited (w.e.f. 01% Mar 2017)**

IIFL Capital Pte. Ltd

IIFL Securities Pte. Limited

IIFL Asset Management Limited (Formerly India Infoline Asset Management Company Limited)
IIFL Alternate Asset Advisors Limited

IIFL Wealth Finance Limited (Formerly Chephis Capital Markets Limited)

IIFL Trustee Limited (Formerly India Infoline Trustee Company Limited)

IIFL Distribution Services Limited (Formerly IIFL Distribution Services Private Limited)

IIFL Investment Advisers & Trustee Services Limited (Formerly IIFL Trustee Services Limited)
IIFL Asia Pte Limited

IIFL Private Wealth (Hong Kong) Limited***

IIFL Asset Management (Mauritius) Limited {Formerly IIFL Private Wealth (Mauritius) Ltd.
IIFL Private Wealth Management (Dubai) Limited

IIFL Inc.

IIFL Private Wealth (Suisse) SA***

Clara Developers Private Limited

IIFL Capital (Canada) Limited

IIFL Properties Private limited (Formerly known as Ultra Sign & Display Private Limited) (Upto 31° Mar 2016)
India Alternatives Investment Advisors Private Limited (Upto 30" Mar 2017)

IIFL Wealth Securities IFSC Limited

IIFL Securities Services IFSC Limited

IIFL Altiore Advisors Private Limited (Formerly Altiore Advisors Private Limited)

IIFL Wealth Advisors (India) Limited (Formerly Wealth Advisors (India) Private Limited)

Mr. PrakarshGagdani (w.e.f 22 Dec 2015)

Key Managerial Personnel Mr. Santosh Jayaram(w.e.f. 11" Jan 2018)

Mr. Vishal Rana (up-to 22 Dec 2015)

Mr. R Venkataraman

Mr.Nirmal Jain

Others Orpheus Trading Pvt. Limited

Ardent ImpexPvt. Limited

Madhu Jain (wife of Mr. Nirmal Jain)

Aditi Venkataraman (wife of Mr. R Venkataraman)

* The relationship with holding company and fellow subsidiary has ceased to exist however these are under common control with, the reporting enterprise.
**Ayusha Dairy Private Limited amalgamated w.e.f. 06.08.2018 with Samasta Microfinance Limited.

***||IFL Private Wealth (Hong kong) Limited has ceased to carry its business operations and is in process of winding up.

**¥||IFL Wealth Management Limited has dis-invested from IIFL Private Wealth (Suisse) SA and accordingly does not hold any stake in IIFL Private Wealth (Suisse) SA (Effective date :
February 27, 2019)
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B) Significant Transaction with Related Parties and balances.

 in Millions)

Nature of Transaction

For the year ended on

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

March 31, 2016

March 31, 2015

Advance Taken (Max)
IIFL Securities Limited
(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited)

Advance Taken Return Back (Max)
IIFL Securities Limited
(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )

ICD Received

India Infoline Finance Limited

IIFL Holdings Limited

IIFL Facilities Services Limited

(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
IIFL Wealth Finance Limited

(Formerly Chephis Capital Markets Limited)

IIFL Commodities Limited (Formerly known as
India Infoline Commaodities Limited)

IIFL Securities Limited

(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )

IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited (Formerly Known
as India Infoline Insurance Brokers Limited)
India Infoline Media & Research Services Limited

ICD Received (Return)
India Infoline Finance Limited

IIFL Holdings Limited

IIFL Facilities Services Limited

(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
IIFL Wealth Finance Limited

(Formerly Chephis Capital Markets Limited)
IIFL Commodities Limited (Formerly known as
India Infoline Commaodities Limited)

IIFL Securities Limited

(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )
IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited (Formerly Known
as India Infoline Insurance Brokers Limited)

800.00
1,010.00
973.58

800.00
880.00
813.58

100.00
460.00

60.00

100.00
460.00
60.00

9.50
13.40

8,400.00

850.00

9.50
13.40
8,400.00

850.00

200.50

52.20

543.00
190.60

182.30

17.50

5.00

543.00
167.50
182.30

17.50

200.50

52.20

1,069.50

48.00

20.00

1,069.50

48.00

20.00
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Nature of Transaction

For the year ended on

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

March 31, 2016

March 31, 2015

India Infoline Media & Research Services Limited

ICD Given

IIFL Facilities Services Limited

(Formerly known as IIFL Realty Limited)

IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited

(Formerly known as India Infoline Insurance
Brokers Limited)

ICD Given (Received Back)

IIFL Facilities Services Limited

(Formerly known as IIFL Realty Limited)

IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited

(Formerly known as India Infoline Insurance
Brokers Limited)

Interest Expenses (ICD)

India Infoline Finance Limited

IIFL Holdings Limited

IIFL Facilities Services Limited

(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
IIFL Securities Limited

(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )
IIFL Commodities Limited (Formerly known as
India Infoline Commaodities Limited)

IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited (Formerly Known
as India Infoline Insurance Brokers Limited)
India Infoline Media & Research Services
Limited@

Allocation / Reimbursement of Expenses Paid
IIFL Securities Limited

(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )
IIFL Facilities Services Limited

(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
India Infoline Finance Limited

IIFL Home Finance Limited (Formerly India
Infoline Housing Finance Limited)

IIFL Holdings Limited

6.64
15.76
6.20

40.16

15.13

2.66
0.03

0.85

0.46
4.13
0.18

26.03

12.37

0.26
0.01

1.73

84.00

84.00

1.00
9.43

15.85

4.64

0.02

5.00

55.60

55.60

3.32
3.54
0.65

9.47

0.01

0.00

4.73

3.23

0.13

0.29

15.13
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Nature of Transaction

For the year ended on

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
IIFL Management Services Limited 0.12 0.01 - - -
(Formerly known as India Infoline Insurance
Services Limited)
Allocation / Reimbursement of Expenses
Received
IIFL Securities Limited 0.33 0.15 7.80 0.12 23.74
(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited)
IIFL Wealth Management Limited - - 0.05 - -
IIFL Commodities Limited (Formerly known as - - - - 1.50
India Infoline Commaodities Limited)
India Infoline Media & Research Services Limited - - - 0.06 -
India Infoline Finance Limited 0.02 - - - -
Rent Expense
IIFL Facilities Services Limited 20.00 26.33 13.62 3.03 -
(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
IIFL Holdings Limited 4.82 - - - -
IIFL Properties Private limited - - - 0.01 -
(Formerly known as Ultra Sign & Display Private
Limited)
Remuneration
Prakarsh Gagdani 7.67 5.28 5.29 0.96 -
Santosh Jayaram 2.36 0.45 - - -
Vishal Rana - - - 5.33 6.90
Others Paid
IIFL Securities Limited 0.12 0.24 0.02 1.10 27.09
(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )
India Infoline Finance Limited 0.06 - 0.01 0.06 -
IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited - 0.04 - - -
(Formerly Known as India Infoline Insurance
Brokers Limited)
IIFL Holdings Limited - 2.05 - - 0.15
Others Received
IIFL Securities Limited 0.40 0.10 8.83 0.18 0.66

(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )
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Nature of Transaction

For the year ended on

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

March 31, 2017

March 31, 2016

March 31, 2015

IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited

(Formerly Known as India Infoline Insurance
Brokers Limited)

India Infoline Finance Limited

IIFL Holdings Limited

India Infoline Media & Research Services Limited

Service Income

IIFL Securities Limited

(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )
IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited

(Formerly Known as India Infoline Insurance
Brokers Limited)

Brokerage/Commission Income/Referral Fee
IIFL Asset Management Limited

(Formerly India Infoline Asset Management
Company Limited)

India Infoline Finance Limited

Security Deposit (Received)
IIFL Holdings Limited
Security Deposit (Repaid)
IIFL Holdings Limited

Investment in Subsidiaries

Spaisa P2P Limited

S5paisa Insurance Brokers Limited

Security Deposit (Given)

IIFL Facilities Services Limited

(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
IIFL Holdings Limited

Security Deposit (Received Back)

IIFL Facilities Services Limited

(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)

0.15

0.02

4.56

1.05

0.00

1.17

0.50

11.05

2.50

3.23

0.10

0.05

4.83

4.86

0.10

0.20

0.20

20.50

0.54

0.74
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C) Closing Balances
% in Millions)

Nature of Transaction For the year ended on
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

ICD Payable
IIFL Facilities Services Limited (Formerly Known 160.00 - - - -
as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
IIFL Holdings Limited 130.00 - - - -

Sundry Payables
IIFL Securities Limited 0.64 - - - 148.30
(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )
IIFL Facilities Services Limited 1.43 - - - -
(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
IIFL Holdings Limited - - - 23.10 -
IIFL Management Services Limited 0.02 - - - -
(Formerly known as India Infoline Insurance
Services Limited)

Sundry Receivables

India Infoline Finance Limited 0.50 - - - i,
IIFL Wealth Management Limited - - - - 1.56

Security Deposit
IIFL Facilities Services Limited 7.81 - - - -
(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
IIFL Holdings Limited 2.50 - - - -
@ Amount is Less than ¥ 0.01 million, hence shown % 0.00 million.

*The relationship with holding company and fellow subsidiary has ceased to exist however these are under common control with, the reporting enterprise.

Note: 29. Segment Reporting:

In the opinion of the management, there is only one reportable business segment as envisaged by AS 17 'Segment Reporting', issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Accordingly, no separate disclosure for segment reporting is required to be made in the financial statements of the Company.

Note: 30. The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims which have arisen in the ordinary course of the business. The Company's management does reasonably
expect that these legal actions, when ultimately concluded and determined, will not have material and adverse effect on the Company's financial position. As on March 31,
2019 the company has following contingent liability:
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(% in Millions)

Particulars As at As at As at As at As at

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
The claim against the company not 0.47 - - - -
acknowledged as debt
Total 0.47 - - - -

Note: 31. Capital and Other Commitments at Balance Sheet date
(% in Millions)

Particulars As at As at As at As at As at

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Outstanding commitments (net of advances) 0.94 1.11 411 - -
Total 0.94 1.11 4.11 - -

Note: 32. The shareholders of the Company have approved two ESOP scheme(s) having a pool size of 600,000 options each i.e. 5paisa Capital Limited Employee Stock Option
Scheme 2017 and 5paisa Capital Limited Employee Stock Option Trust Scheme 2017. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of the
Company granted 220,000 options under Spaisa Capital Limited Employee Stock Options Scheme 2017 to the eligible employees of the Company on January 29, 2018.

Further, the Scheme(s) has been implemented in accordance with the SEBI (Share Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014.

a) The details of various Employee Stock Option Schemes are as under:

Particulars ESOP 2017
Method of Accounting Intrinsic Value
Vesting Plan Options granted would vest over a period of five years subject to minimum period of one year from the date of grant of options.

Exercise Period

Seven Years from the grant date

b) Movement of options during the year ended March 2019

Particulars Options Outstanding Exercise price (in ) Weight average remaining
contractual life (Years)

Outstanding as on April 01, 2017 - -

Granted/(Forfeited) during the year 220,000 308 7.0
Expired during the year - -

Exercised during the year - -

Outstanding as on March 31, 2018 220,000 308 6.8
Exercisable as on March 31, 2018 220,000 308

Outstanding as on April 01, 2018 220,000 308

Granted/(Forfeited) during the year - -

Expired during the year 20,000 308

Exercised during the year - -

Outstanding as on March 31, 2019 200,000 308 5.8
Exercisable as on March 31, 2019 200,000 308
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c) Pro-forma Profit after Tax:

(% in Millions
Particulars 2018-2019 2017-2018
Net profit (as reported) (165.70) (252.99)
Add: Intrinsic Value Compensation Cost - -
Less: Stock based compensation expenses determined under fair value method (pro-forma) 10.98 2.14
Net Profit (pro-forma) (176.68) (255.13)
Basic earnings per share (as reported) - Total operations (13.01) (19.86)
Basic earnings per share (pro-forma) - Total operations (13.87) (20.03)
Diluted earnings per share (as reported) - Total operations (13.01) (19.86)
Diluted earnings per share (pro-forma) - Total operations (13.87) (20.03)
Weighted average exercise price of Options granted during the year whose:
(a) exercise price equals market price (%) N.A N.A
(b) exercise price is greater than market price (3) 308 308
(c) exercise price is less than market price (%) N.A N.A
Weighted average fair value of Options granted during the year whose:
(a) exercise price equals market price (3) N.A N.A
(b) exercise price is greater than market price (%) 145.72 145.72
(c) exercise price is less than market price (%) N.A N.A

Description of method and significant assumption used to estimate the fair value of Options

The fair value of the Options granted has been estimated using the Black-

Scholes option pricing Model. Each tranche of vesting have been

considered as a separate grant for the purpose of valuation.

d) The Company has not granted any options during the year.

Stock Price: The fair value of the underlying stock based on the latest available closing Market Price on NSE has been considered for valuing the grant.

Volatility: Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a price has fluctuated or is expected to fluctuate during the period. The measure of volatility is used in the Black
Scholes option-pricing model is the annualized standard deviation of the continuously compounded rates of return on the stock over a period of time.

The period to be considered for volatility has to be adequate to represent a consistent trend in the price movements. It is also important that movement due to abnormal
events get evened out. There is no research that demonstrates conclusively how long the historical period used to estimate expected long-term future volatility should be.
However, informal tests and preliminary research tends to confirm that estimates of expected future long term volatility should be based on historical volatility for a period

that approximates the expected life of the options being valued.

Risk-free rate of return: The risk-free rate being considered for the calculation is the interest rate applicable for a maturity equal to the expected life of the options based on

the zero-coupon yield curve for Government Securities.
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Exercise Price: The Exercise Price as communicated to us by the management of the Company have been considered in the valuation.

Time to Maturity: Time to Maturity / Expected Life of Options is the period for which the Company expects the Options to be live. The minimum life of a stock option is the
minimum period before which the Options cannot be exercised and the maximum life is the period after which the Options cannot be exercised.

Expected dividend yield: The management’s representation of the Expected dividend yield of 0% has been accepted for the purpose of this valuation.

Note: 33. The Company has taken office premises on operating lease at various locations. Lease rent in respect of the same has been charged to Statement of Profit and
Loss. The agreements are executed for a period ranging 1 to 5 years with a renewable clause. Some agreements have a clause for a minimum lock-in period. The agreements
also have a clause for termination by either party giving a prior notice period between 30 to 90 days. The Company has also taken some other assets under operating lease.
The minimum Lease rentals outstanding as at March 31, 2019 are as under:

(X in Millions)
Minimum Lease Rentals As at As at As at As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015
Up to one year 5.87 2.23 - - -
One to five years - - - - -
Over five years - - - - -
Note: 34. Earnings and expenses in foreign currency
(X in Millions)
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31,2017 March 31,2016 March 31, 2015

Earnings in Foreign Currency

Total Income - - - - -

Expenses in Foreign Currency
Advertisement Expenses 16.12 3.02 1.57 - -
Total Expenses 16.12 3.02 1.57 - -

Note: 35.The Board at its Meetings held on July 17, 2018 and September 12, 2018 approved the proposal of issue of equity shares by way of a Rights Issue (“Issue”) to the
existing shareholders of the Company in the ratio of 1 equity share of Rs 10 each for every 1 equity share of Rs 10 each held in the Company at a premium of Rs 70 per share
i.e. issue price of Rs 80 each aggregating to Rs 101.91 Cr. in accordance with the SEBI (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009, as amended, and the
record date for determining the entitlement will be announced in due course, subject to receipt of relevant approvals from regulatory authorities, as may be required.
Further, the Company has filed the Draft Letter of Offer with SEBI, NSE and BSE on September 17, 2018. The Company has received the in-principle approval from NSE and
BSE and is awaiting the observation letter from SEBI.

Note: 36.

1. The wholly owned subsidiary of the Company namely 5paisa P2P Limited has received in-principle approval for registration as NBFC Peer-to-Peer Lending Platform (NBFC-
P2P) from Reserve Bank of India (RBI). In terms of the said approval, 5paisa P2P is required to set up the systems and processes and to comply with the other terms and
conditions within a period of 12 months for obtaining final approval from RBI and commencement of P2P activities.
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2. The Wholly owned subsidiary of the Company namely 5paisa Insurance Brokers Limited is in process of making an application with IRDA for undertaking the activities of
Insurance Brokers.

Note: 37. Disclosure on Specified Bank Notes (SBNs)

During the year FY 2016-17, the Company had no specified bank notes or other denomination note as defined in the MCA notification G.S.R. 308(E) dated March 31, 2017 on
the details of Specified Bank Notes (SBN) held and transacted during the period from November 8, 2016 to December, 30 2016, the denomination wise SBNs and other notes
as per the notification is given below:

SBNs Other denomination | Total
Particulars notes
Closing cash in hand as on 08.11.2016 NIL NIL NIL
(+) Permitted receipts NIL NIL NIL
(-) Permitted payments NIL NIL NIL
(-) Amount deposited in Banks NIL NIL NIL
Closing cash in hand as on 30.12.2016 NIL NIL NIL

Note: 38. Previous year figures are re-grouped, re-classified & rearranged, wherever considered necessary to confirm to current year’s presentation.
As per our attached report of even date

For V. Sankar Aiyar & Co For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.109208W

By the hand of

G Sankar Prakarsh Gagdani Santosh Jayaram
Partner Whole Time Director & CEO Whole Time Director
Membership No.: 046050 (DIN: - 07376258) (DIN: -07955607)
Place: Mumbai Gourav Munjal Roshan Dave

Dated: April 16, 2019 Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
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5paisa Capital Limited
Annexure VI: Restated Standalone Summary Statements on the Adjustments to Audited Financial Statements

(X in Millions)
Particulars March 31, 2019 | March 31, 2018 | March 31, 2017 | March 31, 2016 | March 31, 2015
Profit after tax as per audited financial statements (165.70) (252.99) (116.90) (54.99) 35.31
Impact of adjustments due to qualifications in - - - - -
auditor's reports
Impact of adjustments of material amounts - - - - -
Impact of changes in accounting policies - - - - -
Profit after tax as per summary restated financial (165.70) (252.99) (116.90) (54.99) 35.31

Notes:

1 - There were no qualifications in auditors reports in any of the years and no changes in accounting policies requiring adjustments to the audited

financial statements.

2 - Appropriate adjustments have been made in the Restated Standalone Summary Statements of Assets and Liabilities, Profit and Loss and Cash
Flow in accordance with the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements)

Regulations, 2009 (as amended), by a reclassification of the corresponding items of income, expenses, assets, liabilities and cash flows in order to
bring them in line with the groupings as per the audited financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended March 31, 2019
prepared in accordance with Schedule Ill of the Companies Act, 2013
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S5paisa Capital Limited
Annexure :VIl Restated Standalone Summary Statement Of Accounting Ratios

 in Millions)

Particular Reference For the year ended
March 31, 2019 | March 31, 2018 | March 31, 2017 | March 31, 2016 | March 31, 2015

Basis for computation of Accounting Ratios
Restated Profit after tax (A) (Refer Annexure I1) A (165.70) (252.99) (116.90) (54.99) 35.31
Restated Net profit attributable to equity shareholders for calculation of basic & B (165.70) (252.99) (116.90) (54.99) 35.31
diluted earnings per share
Weighted average number of Equity Shares outstanding during the year foi C 1,27,39,022 1,27,39,022 81,13,182 30,50,000 30,50,000
calculating basic earnings per share (Refer Note 25)
Weighted average number of Equity Shares outstanding during the year foi D 1,27,39,022 1,27,39,022 81,13,182 30,50,000 30,50,000
calculating diluted earnings per share (Refer Note 25)
Equity share capital E 127.39 127.39 127.39 30.50 30.50
Reserves and surplus F 336.27 501.97 754.96 90.82 145.80
Net worth (E + F) G 463.66 629.36 882.35 121.32 176.30
Net asset value H 463.66 629.36 882.35 121.32 176.30
Number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the year | 1,27,39,022 1,27,39,022 1,27,39,022 30,50,000 30,50,000
Accounting Ratios
Basic earnings per share (Rs.) (A / C) J (13.01) (19.86) (14.41) (18.03) 11.58
Diluted earnings per share (Rs.) (A /D) K (13.01) (19.86) (14.41) (18.03) 11.58
Return on net worth % (A / G * 100) L (35.74) (40.20) (13.25) (45.33) 20.03
Net asset value per equity share (Rs.) (H /1) M 36.40 49.40 69.26 39.78 57.80

Notes: The above ratios are calculated as under:

a) Earnings per share =Restated Net profit after tax attributable to equity shareholders / weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year

b) Return on net worth (%) = Restated Profit after tax / net worth of the year.

Net worth means the aggregate of the paid up share capital, securities premium account, and other reserves and surplus (excluding revaluation reserve), as restated at the enc

of the year. The Company does not have any revaluation reserve.

c) Net asset value per equity share (X) = Net worth / Total number of equity shares outstanding as at the end of the year
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S5paisa Capital Limited

Annexure : VIII - Restated Standalone Summary Statement Of Tax Shelter

X in Millions)

Particulars As at

March 31, 2019 | March 31, 2018 | March 31, 2017 | March 31, 2016 | March 31, 2015
Restated Profit before tax (224.84) (332.10) (163.80) (76.99) 51.74
Tax rate 26.00% 30.90% 30.90% 30.90% 32.45%
Tax thereon at the above rate - - - - 16.79
Tax temporary differences
On account of depreciation on fixed assets - - - - -
On account of provision for employee benefits - - - - 1.42
Others - - - - -
Tax permanent differences
Others - - - - (0.26)
Brought forward losses
Total tax expense as per normal provisions (A) - - - - 17.95
Book Profit as per MAT (224.84) (332.10) (163.80) (76.99) 51.74
MAT rate 19.06% 19.06% 19.06% 19.06% 20.01%
Tax liability as per MAT (B) - - - - 10.35
Current tax being higher of A or B - - - - 17.95
Current tax - - - - 17.95

The figures above have been taken from the income tax returns filed for the relevant financial years. The short provision in tax for FY 2014-15 has been provided for in Financial

Year 2015-16 as previous year taxes.
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5paisa Capital Limited

Annexure - IX: Restated Standalone Summary Statement of Capitalisation

(% in Millions)

Particulars Pre-issue Post-issue

as at March 31, 2019 as adjusted for the issue
Shareholders' funds March 31, 2019
Share Capital 127.39
Reserve & Surplus 336.27
Total Shareholders' funds (Equity) (A) 463.66
Debt Refer Note 2 below
Long Term Debt -
Short-Term Debt 920.12
Total debt (B) 920.12
Long term debt/equity ratio
Total debt equity ratio 1.98

1. The figures disclosed above are based on the restated financial information of the Company.
2. The correspondiong post Right Issue Capitalisation data for each of the amount given in the above table as not determinable
at this stage pending the completion of the Right Issue process and hence the same have not been provided in the above

statement.
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INDEPEN

DENT AUDITOR REPORT ON THE RESTATED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Board of Directors
5paisa Capital Limited
Sun Infotech Park, Road No 16V,

Plot No B

-23, Thane Industrial Area,

Wagle Estate, Thane - 400604

Dear Sirs,

We have examined (as appropriate, refer paragraphs 4 and 5 below) the attached Restated
Consolidated Financial Information of 5paisa Capital Limited (the “Company”) along with its
subsidiary companies (the “Group”), which comprise of the Restated Consolidated
Summary Statement of Assets and Liabilities as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, the Restated
Consolidated Summary Statement of Profit and Loss and the Restated Consolidated
Summary Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 and the
Consolidated Summary Statement of Significant Accounting Policies, and related Annexures
thereto (collectively, the “Restated Consolidated Financial Information”), as approved by
the Board of Directors of the Company at their meeting held on April 16, 2019 for the
purpose of inclusion in the Letter of Offer (“LOF”) prepared by the Company in connection
with its proposed Rights Issue of equity shares prepared in terms of the requirements of:

a) the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2009 as amended [“SEBI (ICDR) Regulations“]; and

b) The Guidance Note on Reports in Company Prospectuses (Revised 2016) issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, as amended from time to time (the
“Guidance Note”).

The preparation of the Restated Consolidated Financial Information is the responsibility of
the Board of Directors of the Company for the purpose set out in paragraph 10 below. The
Board of Directors responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
adequate internal control relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Restated
Consolidated Financial Information. The Board of Directors are also responsible for
identifying and ensuring that the Group complies with the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”),
SEBI (ICDR) Regulations and the Guidance Note.

Our responsibility is to examine the Restated Consolidated Financial Information and
confirm whether such Restated Consolidated Financial Information comply with the

requirements of the Act, SEBI (ICDR) Regulations and the Guidance Note.

We have examined such Restated Consolidated Financial Information taking into
consideration:

a) The terms of reference and terms of our engagement agreed upon with you in
accordance with our engagement letter dated March 20, 2019 in connection with the

proposed rights issue of equity shares of the Company;

b) The Guidance Note; and
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c) The requirements of the SEBI (ICDR) Regulations. Our work was performed solely to
assist you in meeting your responsibilities in relation to your compliance with the
Act, the SEBI (ICDR) Regulations and the Guidance Note in connection with the
proposed Rights Issue.

These Restated Consolidated Financial Information have been compiled by the
Management from audited consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for
the years ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 prepared in accordance with the Accounting
Standards as prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with
Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules as amended from time to time (referred to as
Indian GAAP) which have been approved by the Board at their meeting held on April 16,
2019 and Aprill7, 2018 on which we had issued an unmodified auditor’s report to the
shareholders dated April 16, 2019 and Aprill7, 2018.

Based on our examination and according to the information and explanations given to us,
we report that the Restated Consolidated Financial Information:

a) have been prepared after incorporating adjustments for the changes in accounting
policies retrospectively in the respective financial years to reflect the same
accounting treatment as per the accounting policies followed as at and for the year
ended March 31, 2019;

b) have been prepared after incorporating adjustments for the material amounts in the
respective financial years to which they relate;

c) do not contain any extra-ordinary items that need to be disclosed separately and do
not contain any qualifications requiring adjustments; and

d) have been prepared in accordance with the Act, SEBI (ICDR) Regulations and the
Guidance Note.

We have complied with the relevant applicable requirements of the Standard on Quality
Control (SQC) 1, Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Historical
Financial Information, and Other Assurance and Related Services Engagements.

The Restated Consolidated Financial Information do not reflect the effects of events that
occurred subsequent to the respective dates of predecessor / other auditors’ reports
mentioned in paragraph 4 above on the audited consolidated financial statements.

This report should not in any way be construed as a reissuance or re-dating of any of the
previous audit reports issued by us or by the predecessor / other auditors’, nor should this
report be construed as a new opinion on any of the financial statements referred to herein.

We have no responsibility to update our auditors’ report for events and circumstances
occurring after the date of the report.
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10 Our report is intended solely for use of the Management for inclusion in the LOF to be filed
with Securities and Exchange Board of India, BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of
India Limited in connection with the proposed offer of rights shares of the Company. Our
report should not be used, referred to, or distributed for any other purpose except with our
prior consent in writing. Accordingly, we do not accept or assume any liability or any duty
of care for any purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come without our prior consent in writing.

For V. Sankar Aiyar & Co.,
Chartered Accountants
FRN.109208W

Peer Review Certificate No 011660

(G Sankar)

Partner

M. No. 046050

UDIN: 19046050AAAAAMS5331

Place: Mumbai

Date: April 16, 2019
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S5paisa Capital Limited
Annexure |: Restated Consolidated Summary Statement of Assets and Liabilities

(% in Millions)
Particulars Note No. As at As at
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

| EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
(1) Shareholder's funds
(a) Share Capital 4 127.39 127.39
(b) Surplus 5 335.95 501.97
Sub Total 463.34 629.36
(2) Non Current Liabilities
(a) Long-Term borrowings - -
(b) Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net) - -
(c) Other Long-Term liabilities - -
(d) Long-Term Provisions 6 6.00 2.07
Sub Total 6.00 2.07
(3) Current Liabilities
(a) Short-Term Borrowings 7 920.12 161.47
(b) Trade Payables 8

(A) total outstanding dues to micro enterprises and small enterprises - -

(B) total outstanding dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and 0.73 20.69

small enterprises

(c) Other Current Liabilities 9 1,360.58 446.90
(d) Short-Term Provisions 10 64.58 52.02
Sub Total 2,346.01 681.09
TOTAL 2,815.35 1,312.52
Il ASSETS
(1) Non-Current Assets
(a) Fixed Assets 11

(i) Property, Plant and Equipment 16.00 12.49

(ii) Intangible Assets 5.81 8.77

(iii) Capital work in progress 0.75 0.05
Sub Total 22.56 21.31
(b) Non-Current Investments - -
(c) Deferred Tax Assets (Net) 12 208.43 149.29
(d) Long-Term Loans & Advances 13 120.72 325.98
(e) Other Non-Current Assets 14 3.25 7.25
Sub Total 332.40 482.51
(2) Current Assets
(a) Current Investments - -
(b) Inventories 15 32.64 36.00
(c) Trade Receivables 16 19.96 5.61
(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents 17 1,150.75 299.72
(e) Short-Term Loans & Advances 18 247.89 38.15
(f) Other Current Assets 19 1,009.15 429.22
Sub Total 2,460.39 808.70
TOTAL 2,815.35 1,312.52

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies (Annexure IV), restated notes to accounts (Annexure V), notes on adjustments for restated consolidated
summary financial information (Annexure VI), Restated consolidated Summary Statement of Accounting Ratios (Annexure VII), Restated consolidated Summary
Statement of Tax Shelter (Annexure VIIl), Restated consolidated Summary Statement of Capitalisation (Annexure IX) are an integral part of this statement

As per our attached report of even date

For V Sankar Aiyar & Co
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.109208W
By the hand of

G Sankar
Partner
Membership No. 046050

Place : Mumbai
Dated : April 16, 2019

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Prakarsh Gagdani
Whole Time Director & CEO
(DIN :- 07376258)

Gourav Munjal
Chief Financial Officer
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Whole Time Director
(DIN :- 07955607)

Roshan Dave
Company Secretary




Spaisa Capital Limited

Annexure ll: Restated Consolidated Summary Statement of Profit & Loss

(% in Millions)
Particulars Note No. For the period ended For the period ended
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Income
Revenue From Operations 20 627.57 196.52
Total Revenue 627.57 196.52
Expenditure
Employee Benefits Expense 21 258.35 193.18
Finance Cost 22 68.27 7.95
Depreciation and Amortisation 23 14.43 6.67
Other Expenses 24 511.69 320.82
Total Expenditure 852.74 528.62
Profit Before Tax (225.17) (332.10)
Current Tax Expenses For Current Year - -
Deferred Tax Expenses (59.14) (79.12)
Short / (excess) provision of tax for earlier year - (0.00)
Sub Total (59.14) (79.12)
Profit (Loss) For The Year (166.02) (252.99)
Earnings Per Share (Face Value 10 each) 25

Basic (in %) (13.03) (19.86)

Diluted (in %) (13.03) (19.86)

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies (Annexure V), restated notes to accounts (Annexure V), notes on adjustments for
restated consolidated summary financial information (Annexure VI), Restated consolidated Summary Statement of Accounting Ratios (Annexure VII),
Restated consolidated Summary Statement of Tax Shelter (Annexure VIIl), Restated consolidated Summary Statement of Capitalisation (Annexure IX) are

an integral part of this statement

As per our attached report of even date

For V Sankar Aiyar & Co
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No0.109208W
By the hand of

G Sankar
Partner
Membership No. 046050

Place : Mumbai
Dated : April 16, 2019

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Prakarsh Gagdani
Whole Time Director & CEO
(DIN :- 07376258)

Gourav Munjal
Chief Financial Officer
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Whole Time Director
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Roshan Dave
Company Secretary




5paisa Capital Limited

Annexure lll: Restated Consolidated Summary Statement of Cash Flow

(% in Millions)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net profit before taxation and extraordinary item (225.17) (332.10)
Adjustments for:
Net Loss/(gain) on Sale of Current Investments (0.19) (14.39)
Interest Income (27.70) (9.34)
Gratuity 2.30 0.61
(Profit)/Loss on sale of Fixed Assets (0.00) -
Depreciation 14.43 6.67
Leave Encashment 2.77 0.81
Interest Expenses 64.91 6.23
Dividend Income (0.03) 56.48 (0.20) (9.60)
Operating Profit before Working Capital Changes (168.69) (341.70)
Changes in Working Capital :
(Increase)/Decrease in Long Term Loan and Advances 200.89 (286.31)
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Current Liabilities 913.68 290.66
Decrease/(Increase) in Short Term Loans and advances (209.75) (24.79)
(Increase) / Decrease in Trade inventories 3.36 (10.46)
Decrease / (Increase) in other current assets (579.93) (313.81)
Increase / (Decrease) in Short term Provision 7.50 10.00
Decrease/(Increase) in Other Non Current Assets 4.00 (7.25)
Increase / (Decrease) in Long term Provision 3.94 (1.08)
Increase / (Decrease) in Short term & Long term Borrowings 758.65 161.47
Decrease / (Increase) in Trade Receivable (14.35) (1.56)
Increase / (Decrease) in Trade Payable (19.97) 1,068.02 16.19 (166.93)
Cash generated from/(Used) operations 899.33 (508.63)
Net income tax (paid) / refunds 4.36 1.43
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities (a) 903.69 (507.20)
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
(Purchase) of Current Investments (752.61) (39,742.70)
Sale of Current Investments 752.80 39,757.09
Interest received 27.70 9.34
Dividend Income 0.03 0.20
Fixed Deposit with bank (400.00) (50.00)
(Purchase) /Sale of fixed assets (includes intangible assets) (net) (15.67) (22.00)
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (b) (387.75) (48.08)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Increase in share capital - -
Interest Paid (64.91) (6.23)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (c) (64.91) (6.23)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (a + b + c) 451.03 (561.52)
Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of year 194.72 756.23
Cash and Cash equivalents at end of year (Note 16) 645.75 194.72
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 451.03 (561.52)

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies (Annexure V), restated notes to accounts (Annexure V), notes on adjustments for restated consolidated
summary financial information (Annexure V1), Restated consolidated Summary Statement of Accounting Ratios (Annexure V1), Restated consolidated Summary Statement
of Tax Shelter (Annexure VIII), Restated consolidated Summary Statement of Capitalisation (Annexure IX) are an integral part of this statement

As per our attached report of even date

For V Sankar Aiyar & Company
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No0.109208W
By the hand of

G Sankar
Partner
Membership No. 046050

Place :Mumbai
Dated : April 16, 2019

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Prakarsh Gagdani

Whole Time Director & CEO

(DIN :- 07376258)

Gourav Munjal
Chief Financial Officer

Santosh Jayaram
Whole Time Director
(DIN :- 07955607)

Roshan Dave
Company Secretary




Annexure IV: Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements

Note: 1 Corporate Information:

The financial statements comprise financial statements of “5Paisa Capital Limited” (“the holding company”)
and its subsidiary for the year ended 31* March, 2019.

S5paisa Capital Ltd [“5PCL”] is engaged in providing an online technology platform for trading in National
Stock Exchange of India Ltd & BSE Ltd through web based trading terminal, mobile application and a state of
the art Call and Trade Unit. 5PCL is also a SEBI approved Research analyst, a Depository Participant under
CDSL and registered member of AMFI. 5PCL provides a wide range of financial services to its customers
including depository services, distribution of mutual funds, bonds and debentures, Equity and Mutual fund
research etc through its technology based platforms. The Holding Company’s shares have been listed with
Mumbai Stock Exchange and National Stock Exchange on 16th November, 2017.

One of the subsidiary Company 5paisa P2P (“5paisa P2P”) Limited was incorporated on December 17, 2017
with the objective to provide an online marketplace to the participants involved in peer to peer lending and
also to act as a distributor of financial products including distribution of insurance products. The said
company has received in-principle approval for registration as NBFC Peer-to-Peer Lending Platform (NBFC-
P2P) from Reserve Bank of India (RBI). In terms of the said approval, S5paisa P2P is required to set up the
systems and processes and to comply with the other terms and conditions within a period of 12 months for
obtaining final approval from RBl and commencement of P2P activities.

The Other Subsidiary Company 5paisa Insurance Brokers Limited (“5paisa IBL) was incorporated on October
27, 2018 with the objective to undertake the activities of Insurance Brokers as permissible under IRDA
(Insurance Brokers) Regulations 2002 and other related activities. Currently, the said Company is in process
of making an application with IRDA for undertaking the activities for Insurance Brokers".

Note: 2 Scheme of Arrangement between lIFLHoldings Limited and 5paisa Capital Limited

21

The Scheme of Arrangement between IIFLHoldings Limited and Spaisa Capital Limited was approved by
National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai Bench(“NCLT”) on 06.09.2017. The certified true copy of the
order was duly filed with Registrar of Companies, Mumbai and the Scheme was made effective from
30.09.2017.Pursuant to order of NCLT, Mumbai Bench, 5paisa digital Undertaking (the undertaking)on going
concern basis was vested from IIFL Holdings Limited (IHL)to Spaisa Capital Ltd. (5PCL) w.e.f. the appointed
datei.e. 01.10.2016.

Spaisa Digital Undertaking Business includes development/ maintenance of technology application for
online trading through trading terminal and mobile application, source code of mobile application, domain
name (5paisa.com), software rights, brand i.e. 5paisa establishment, protection and support, Infrastructure
and facilities services etc.

In accordance with the said Scheme of Arrangement:

a. The whole of the undertaking including all assets and liabilities of the undertaking were transferred to
and vested by IHL to 5PCL at respective book values from 01.10.2016.

b. The equity share capital of 5 PCL of ¥ 177,165,000 held by IHL was cancelled and in lieu of the same
5PCL issued 12,739,022 equity shares ¥ 10 to the shareholders of IHL, whose names appear in the Register
of Members of IHL on the Record Date i.e. 18th Oct 2017.

c. The excess of net assets value of 5paisa Digital Undertaking transferred to 5 PCL over the value of equity
shares referred to in (c) above, as reduced by the face value of the equity share capital of 5PCL cancelled,
referred in (b) above, has been recorded as “Capital Reserve” in March 2017 financials which has been
arrived as follows:-

200



2.2

Net assets value of 5paisa Digital Undertaking (A) (2.06)

Equity shares cancelled (B) 177.16
New equity share capital to be issued (C) 127.39
Capital Reserve (A+B-C) 47.71

During the period between the appointed date and the effective date, IHL carried on the business and
activities relating to the said Undertaking and held the properties and assets pertaining to the said
Undertaking for and on account of and in trust for 5PCL. All the profits or income accruing or arising to IHL
or expenditure or loss arising or incurred or suffered by IHL pertaining to the said Undertaking during the
period 01.04.2017 to 30.09.2017 have also been incorporated in these financial statements.

Note: 3 Significant Accounting Policies:

3.1

3.2

33

34

35

3.6

Basis of accounting and preparation of consolidated financial statements:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles in India (Indian GAAP) to comply with all material aspects of the applicable Accounting
Standards notified under section 133 of companies Act 2013 (Act) read with Rule 7 of the Companies
Accounts Rules, 2014 (as amended) and the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on accrual basis under the historical cost convention.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are consistent with those
followed in the previous year by the group.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements relate to the holding company and its wholly-owned subsidiary
companies. The financial statements of Companies and its wholly-owned subsidiary companies have been
combined on a line-by-line basis by adding together like items of assets, liabilities, income and expenses,
after eliminating intra-group balances, intra-group transactions and resulting unrealized profits or losses,
unless cost cannot be recovered.

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with the generally accepted accounting
principles which requires the management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amount of assets and liabilities on the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The management believes that the estimates used in
the preparation of financial statements are prudent and reasonable. Difference between the actual result
and estimates are recognized in the period in which the results are known / materialized.

Cash and cash equivalents (for the purpose of Cash Flow Statement):

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short- term balances
(with an original maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition), highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Cash flow statement:

Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, whereby profit / (loss) before extraordinary items and
tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions of non-cash nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or
future cash receipts or payments. The cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities of the
group are segregated based on the available information.

Fixed Assets and Depreciation and Amortization:

Fixed assets are stated at cost of acquisition less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any
thereon. Depreciation is charged using the straight line method based on the useful life of fixed assets as
estimated by the management as specified below. Depreciation is charged from the month in which new
assets are put to use. No depreciation is charged for the month in which assets are sold. In the case of
transfer of used fixed assets from other group companies, depreciation is charged over the remaining useful
life of the assets. Individual assets / group of similar assets costing up to ¥5,000 are depreciated in full in the
year of purchase.
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3.7

3.8

Estimated useful life of the assets is as under:

Class of assets Useful life in years
Buildings* 20
Computers* 3
Electrical equipment* 5
Office equipment 5
Furniture and fixtures * 5
Vehicles* 5
Software 3

* For these class of assets, based on internal assessment and independent technical evaluation carried out
by external valuers the management believes that the useful lives as given above best represent the
period over which management expects to use these assets. Hence the useful lives for these assets are
different from the useful lives as prescribed under Part C of Schedule Il of the Companies Act 2013.

Capital work-in-progress

Projects under which property, plant and equipment are not yet ready for their intended use are carried at
cost, comprising direct cost, related incidental expenses and attributable interest.

Translation of foreign currency items:

Foreign currency transactions entered into by the group are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing on
the date of the transaction. Exchange difference, if any, arising out of transactions settled during the year
are recognized in the statement of Profit and Loss. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities of the
group are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the Balance Sheet date. The exchange gains or
losses, if any, are recognized in the statement of Profit and Loss and related assets and liabilities are
accordingly restated in the Balance Sheet.

Revenue Recognition:
Revenue is recognized to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the
revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before
revenue is recognized.

(a) Brokerage income earned on secondary market operations are accounted on trade dates.
(b) Income from arbitrage comprises profit/loss on sale of securities held as stock-in-trade and profit /
loss on equity derivative instruments is accounted as follows;

(i) Profit / loss on sale of securities is determined based on the FIFO cost of the securities
sold.
(i) Profit / loss on arbitrage transactions is accounted for as explained below:

Initial and additional margin paid over and above initial margin for entering into contracts for Equity Index /
Stock Futures / Currency Futures and or Equity Index / Stock Options / Currency Options which are released
on final settlement/squaring-up of underlying contracts are disclosed under other current assets. “Mark-to-
market margin- Equity Index / Stock Futures / Currency Futures” representing the amounts paid in respect of
mark to market margin is disclosed under ‘other current assets.’

“Equity Index / Stock Option / Currency Option Premium Account” represents premium paid or received for
buying or selling the Options, respectively.

On final settlement or squaring up of contracts for Equity Index / Stock Futures / Currency Future, the
realized profit or loss after adjusting the unrealized loss already accounted, if any, is recognized in the
Statement of Profit and Loss. On settlement or squaring up of Equity Index / Stock Options / Currency
Option before expiry, the premium prevailing in “Equity Index / Stock Option / Currency Option Premium
Account” on that date is recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

As at the Balance Sheet date, the Mark to Market / Unrealised Profit / (Loss) on all outstanding Arbitrage
portfolio comprising of Securities and Equity/Currency Derivatives positions is determined on scrip basis
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3.9

3.10

3.11

(e.g. Nifty, SBI, HDFC etc.) with net unrealized losses on scrip basis being recognized in the Statement of
Profit and Loss and the net unrealized gains on scrip basis are ignored.

Other Income Recognition:
(a) Interest Income is recognized on accrual basis.
(b) Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

Employee Benefits:

Defined contribution plans

The Group contribution towards Provident Fund and Family Pension Fund are considered as defined
contribution plans and are charged as an expense based on the amount of contribution required to be
made and when services are rendered by the employees.

Defined benefit plans

For defined benefit plans in the form of gratuity fund, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the
Projected Unit Credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date.
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which they
occur. Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested and
otherwise is amortised on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.
The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the Balance Sheet represents the present value of the
defined benefit obligation as adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, as reduced by the fair value of
scheme assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to past service cost, plus the present value
of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the schemes.

Short-term employee benefits

The undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the services
rendered by employees are recognised during the year when the employees render the service. These
benefits include performance incentive and compensated absences which are expected to occur within
twelve months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the related service.

The cost of short-term compensated absences is accounted as under:

(@) in case of accumulated compensated absences, when employees render the services that increase their
entitlement of future compensated absences; and

(b) in case of non-accumulating compensated absences, when the absences occur.
Long-term employee benefits

Compensated absences which are not expected to occur within twelve months after the end of the period
in which the employee renders the related service are recognised as a liability at the present value of the
defined benefit obligation as at the balance sheet date.

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets:

The Group creates a provision when there is present obligation as a result of a past event that probably
requires an outflow of resources and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. A
disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that
may, but probably will not, require an outflow of resources. When there is a possible obligation or a present
obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is
made.

Provisions are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is
no longer probable that the outflow of resources would be required to settle the obligation, the provision is
reversed.

Contingent Assets are neither recognized nor disclosed in the financial statements.
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3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15

3.16

3.17

3.18

3.19

Preliminary Expenses:
Preliminary Expenses is written off in same financial year in which they are incurred.

Taxes on Income:

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current income-tax is measured at the amount expected to
be paid to the tax authorities in accordance with the Income-tax Act, 1961 enacted in India. Provision for
current tax is computed based on estimated tax liability computed after adjusting for allowance,
disallowance and exemptions in accordance with the applicable tax laws.

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of timing differences between taxable income and accounting
income originating during the current year and reversal of timing differences for the earlier years. Deferred
tax is measured using the tax rate and the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet
date. The deferred tax asset is recognised or unrecognised, to the extent that it has become reasonably
certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that sufficient future taxable income will be available. At
each reporting date, the group re-assesses unrecognized deferred tax assets. Deferred tax liability is
recognised as and when arisen.

Operating Leases:
Lease rentals in respect of operating lease arrangements are charged to the Statement of Profit & Loss in
accordance with Accounting Standard 19 — Leases, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

Investments:

Investments, which are readily realizable and intended to be held for not more than one year from the date
on which such investments are made, are classified as current investments.All other Investments are
classified as non — current investments. Current investments are stated at lower of cost or fair value. Non —
current investments are carried at cost. Provision for diminution in value of non — current investments is
made, if in the opinion of the management such diminution is other than temporary. For investment in
mutual funds, the net assets value (NAV) declared by the mutual funds at the Balance Sheet date is
considered as the fair value.

Impairment of assets:

The carrying amount of the assets at each Balance Sheet date is reviewed for impairment. If any indication
of impairment based on internal / external factors exists, the recoverable amount of such assets is
estimated and impairment is recognised wherever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of the net selling price and its value in use, which is arrived
at by discounting the future cash flows to their present value, based on an appropriate discounting factor. If
at the Balance Sheet date, there is an indication that previously recognised impairment loss no longer exists,
the recoverable amount is reassessed and the asset is reflected at the recoverable amount, subject to a
maximum of the depreciable historical cost and reversal of such impairment loss is recognised in the
Statement of Profit and Loss, except in case of revalued assets.

Operating Cycle:

Based on the nature of products / activities of the group and the normal time between acquisition of assets
and their realisation in cash or cash equivalents, the group has determined its operating cycle as 12 months
for the purpose of classification of its assets and liabilities as current and non-current.

Inventories:
Closing stock is valued at cost or market value whichever is lower. Cost is computed on FIFO basis. The
comparison of cost and market value for arbitrage portfolio is done separately for each script.

Earnings Per Share:
Basic earnings per share for equity shareholders have been calculated by dividing the Net Profit after Tax or
loss by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period.

The diluted earnings per share for equity shareholders have been computed by dividing the Net Profit after
Tax or loss by the weighted average number of shares after giving dilutive effect of all potential equity
shares.
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Annexure V: Notes forming part of Restated Consolidated Financial Statements

Note: 4. Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up share capital:

a) The Authorized, Issued, Subscribed and fully paid up share capital comprises equity shares as follows:

(% in Millions)

Particulars As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018

Authorized :

30,000,000 ( PY 30,000,000) Equity Shares of %10 each 300.00 300.00

Issued , Subscribed and Paid Up :

12,739,022 (PY 12,739,022) Equity Shares of ¥ 10 each fully 127.39 127.39

paid-up

Share Suspense Account

12,739,022 Equity shares of ¥ 10 each to be issued as fully - -

paid-up to the shareholders of India Infoline Holdings

Limited pursuant to the Scheme of Arrangement (Refer

Note 2A of Annexure 1V)

Total 127.39 127.39
b) Reconciliation of the shares outstanding

Particulars As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018

No. of Shares % in Millions No. of Shares % in Millions
At the Beginning of the Year 12,739,022 127.39 - -
Add:- Issued during the Year - - 12,739,022 127.39
Outstanding at the end of the year 12,739,022 127.39 12,739,022 127.39

c) Equity Shares held by Holding company / Ultimate holding company and their subsidiaries

Particulars

March 31, 2019

March 31, 2018

No. of Shares

% holding in
the class

No. of Shares

% holding
in the class

Equity shares of %10 each fully paid*

* Note: 100% Equity Shares 17,716,500 were held by IIFL Holdings Limited -The Holding Company upto 30.09.2016.

d) Detail of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company

Particulars As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018
No. of Shares % holding in No. of Shares _% holding
the class in the class
Equity shares of 310 each fully paid *
FIH Mauritius Investments Ltd 3,385,657 26.58 3,385,657 26.58
Nirmal Bhanwarlal Jain 2,228,600 17.49 2,178,600 17.10
Hwic Asia Fund Class A Shares 1,134,501 8.91 1,134,501 8.91
Madhu N Jain 680,000 5.34 680,000 5.34

* Note: 100% Equity Shares 17,716,500 were held by IIFL Holdings Limited -The Holding Company upto 30.09.2016.
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During the period of five years immediately preceding the Balance sheet date, the Company has not issued

any shares without payment being received in cash or by way of bonus shares or shares bought back.

Shares reserved for issue under options and contracts/commitments for sale of shares/disinvestments,

including the terms and amount: Refer note no 31 for details of shares reserved for issue under Employee

Stock Option Plan of the Company.

Note: 5. Surplus:

(% in Millions)

Particulars

As at March 31, 2019

As at March 31, 2018

Securities premium account:

Opening balance 823.33 823.33
Addition during the year - -
Closing Balance 823.33 823.33
Capital Reserve:
Opening balance 47.71 47.71
Addition during the year - -
Closing Balance 47.71 47.71
Profit and Loss Account:
Opening balance (369.07) (116.08)
Addition during the year (166.02) (252.99)
Closing Balance (535.09) (369.07)
Total 335.95 501.97
Note: 6. Long Term Provisions:
(% in Millions)
Particulars As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018
Provision for Gratuity 3.65 1.36
Provision for Leave Encashment 2.35 0.71
Total 6.00 2.07
Note: 7. Short Term Borrowings:
(% in Millions)
Particulars As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018
Secured Loans
Bank Overdrafts* 630.12 161.47
Sub Total 630.12 161.47
Unsecured Loans
Inter Corporate Deposits (Refer Note 27) 290.00 -
Sub Total 290.00 -
Total 920.12 161.47

*Secured by term deposit of X 750.00 Millions pledged by other related parties.
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Note: 8. Trade Payable:

(T in Millions)
Particulars As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018
-Outstanding dues to micro & small enterprises* - -
-Outstanding dues to creditors other than micro & small 0.73 20.69
enterprises
Total 0.73 20.69

* The following disclosure is made as per the requirement under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises

Development Act, 2016 (MSMED) on the basis of confirmations sought from suppliers on registration with

the specified authority under MSMED:

(X in Millions)

Particulars 2018-19 2017-18
Amount due and payable at the year end

Principal -

Interest on above Principal -
Payment made during the year after due date

Principal -

Interest -
Interest due and payable for principal already paid -
Total Interest accrued and remained unpaid at year end -

Note: 9. Other Current Liabilities:
(% in Millions)
Particulars As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018
Statutory Liabilities Payable 13.36 10.19
Accrued Salaries & Benefits 0.08 2.17
Advance from customers - 0.65
Client and Other Payables 1,344.87 433.89
Payable to Related Parties (Refer Note 27) 2.09 -
Other Liabilities 0.18 -
Total 1,360.58 446.90
Note: 10. Short Term Provisions:
(T in Millions)

Particulars As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018
Provision for Expenses 51.18 47.80
Bonus & Staff Incentive Payable 11.32 2.91
Provision for Leave encashment 1.26 0.54
Provision for Gratuity 0.82 0.77
Total 64.58 52.02
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Note :11 Fixed Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment (T in Millions)

Particulars Computers Electrical Furniture & Office Total
Equipments Fixtures Equipments

Cost or Valuation
At April 1, 2018 12.34 1.10 3.25 2.19 18.88
Addition/Adjustments 8.45 1.74 1.48 1.65 13.32
Deductions/Adjustments - - 0.01 0.00 0.01
during the year
At March 31, 2019 20.79 2.84 4.72 3.84 32.19
Depreciation
At April 1, 2018 2.73 0.33 1.84 1.49 6.39
Depreciation/Adjustments 6.84 0.53 0.81 1.63 9.81
for the year
Deductions/Adjustments - - 0.01 0.00 0.01
during the year
At March 31, 2019 9.57 0.86 2.64 3.12 16.19
Net Block
At March 31, 2019 11.22 1.98 2.08 0.72 16.00
At March 31, 2018 9.61 0.78 1.41 0.71 12.49

Note: - Capital work in progress X 0.75 Million (Previous year X 0.05 Million) pertains to assets not yet capitalized.

Intangible Asset

(T in Millions)
Particulars Software Total
Cost or Valuation
At April 1, 2018 12.12 12.12
Addition/Adjustments 1.67 1.67
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - -
At March 31, 2019 13.79 13.79
Depreciation
At April 1, 2018 3.36 3.36
Depreciation/Adjustments for the year 4.62 4.62
Deductions/Adjustments during the year - -
At March 31, 2019 7.98 7.98
Net Block
At March 31, 2019 5.81 5.81
At March 31, 2018 8.77 8.77
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Note: 12. Deferred Tax Assets (Net):

(% in Millions)
Particulars As at March 31,2019 | As at March 31, 2018
Depreciation 0.89 0.02
Deferred Tax Asset for Gratuity 1.16 0.55
Provision for Doubtful debts 1.53 0.29
Deferred Tax Asset for Leave Encashment 0.94 0.32
Short term/Long Term Capital losses/ Business Loss 203.91 148.11
Total 208.43 149.29

"Considering the future projections and that the carried forward losses are only for the last 3 years primarily on
account of expenditure on sales promotion and advertisement incurred in the early years which is likely to be less
in future, the Group is of the opinion that sufficient taxable income will be available in future against which
the deferred tax assets arising from carried forward business loss can be utilized."

Note: 13. Long Term Loans & Advances:

(% in Millions)
Particulars As at March 31,2019 | As at March 31, 2018
Unsecured, Considered Good :
Deposit with Exchange / Clearing Corporation 103.98 322.48
Advance Income Tax & TDS (Net of Provision ¥ Nil and PY ¥ Nil) 4.37 1.43
Security Deposits with related parties (Refer Note 27) 10.31 -
Security Deposits with others 2.06 2.07
Total 120.72 325.98
Note: 14. Other Non Current Assets:
(% in Millions)
Particulars As at March 31,2019 | As at March 31, 2018
Fixed Deposit with bank (Maturity more than 12 months)* 3.25 7.25
Total 3.25 7.25

*Fixed deposits to the extent of X 3.25 Millions (PY % 7.25 Millions) pledged with banks for Bank Guarantees and
with the stock exchanges for Margin / Capital purpose.

Note: 15. Inventories - (At lower of cost or net realisable value):

Script Name As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018
Strike Number Zin Strike Number Zin
Pricein % Millions Pricein % Millions

Exchange Traded Fund

EQ-SBISENSEXETF 373.23 3,097 1.16 342.16 6,212 2.13
EQ-SETFBANK EQ 276.70 5,542 1.53 244.72 1,595 0.39
EQ-SETFBS 114.98 12,399 1.43 105.42 20,630 2.18
EQ-SETFNIFTYNEXT 50 EQ 275.63 10,285 2.83 287.15 1,601 0.46
EQ-SETFNIFTY EQ 115.47 44,185 5.10 101.94 34,474 3.51
EQ-UTINIFTYETF 1,198.18 6,324 7.58 | 1,054.30 7,359 7.76
EQ-UTISENSEXETF 378.61 5,646 2.14 341.43 8,473 2.89
EQ-UTINEXT50 280.50 29,541 8.29 290.25 56,816 16.49
DLF LTD - - - 201.05 911 0.18
SUZLON ENERGY LTD - - - 10.70 1,261 0.01
EQ-SETFSN50 314.41 5,691 1.79 - - -
EQ- SBIETFQLTY 94.32 8,415 0.79 - - -
EQ- UTISXN50 331.00 24 0.00 - - -
Total 131,149 32.64 139,332 36.00
Aggregate Market Value-Stock 33.67 36.11

@ Amount is Less than X 0.01 million, hence shown X 0.00 million
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Note: 16. Trade Receivables:

(X in Millions)
Particulars As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018
Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated
Outstanding for a period exceeding six months from date - -
they are due for payment.
Others 19.96 5.61
Total 19.96 5.61

Note: 17. Cash and Cash Equivalents:
(X in Millions)

Particulars

As at March 31, 2019

As at March 31, 2018

Cash & Cash Equivalents:

Balances with schedule banks:

In current accounts

Client bank accounts 612.89 163.65

Other Bank accounts # 8.86 31.07
In Deposit account (Maturity Less than 3 months)* 24.00 -
Total Cash & Cash Equivalent (a) 645.75 194.72
Other Balances
In Deposit account (Maturity from 3 to 12 months)* 505.00 105.00
Total Other Balances (b) 505.00 105.00
Total (a + b) 1,150.75 299.72

# includes Cheque on hand % 0.15 Million (PY % 0.17 Million)

*Includes fixed deposits to the extent of ¥ 509.00 Million (PY ¥ 105.00 Million) pledged with banks for Bank
Guarantees and with the stock exchanges for Margin / Capital purpose.

Note: 18. Short Term Loam and Advances:

(X in Millions)

Particulars

As at March 31, 2019

As at March 31, 2018

Unsecured, Considered Good :

Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be 4.74 6.89

received

Balance with Government authorities

GST Input Credit 2.56 31.26

Other Loans & Advances

Margin Trading Facility Balances 240.59 -

Total 247.89 38.15
Note: 19. Other Current Assets:

(% in Millions)

Particulars As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018

Prepaid expenses 5.70 3.44

Interest Accrued on Fixed Deposit 3.75 0.08

Receivable from Related Parties (Refer Note 27) 0.50 -

Client and Exchange Receivables 1,005.07 426.83

Less :Provision for doubtful client receivables (5.87) (1.13)

Total 1,009.15 429.22
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Note: 20. Revenue from Operations:

(X in Millions)
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Capital Market activities 541.97 152.21
Fund Based activities 25.55 29.81
Financial Products distribution 60.05 14.50
Total 627.57 196.52
Note: 21. Employee Benefits Expense:
(% in Millions)
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Salaries and bonus 234.58 179.44
Contribution to provident and other funds 14.42 10.54
Gratuity* 2.30 0.61
Staff Welfare Expenses 4.28 1.78
Leave Encashment 2.77 0.81
Total 258.35 193.18

* The Group is recognising and accruing the employee benefit as per accounting standard (AS) — 15 on “Employee

Benefits” the disclosures of which are as under.

(X in Millions)

Assumptions

For the year ended up
to March 31, 2019

For the year ended up
to March 31, 2018

Discount rate previous year 7.35% 6.65%
Salary Escalation previous year 8.00% 5.00%
Discount rate current year 7.07% 7.35%
Salary Escalation Current year 10.00% 8.00%
Change in Benefit Obligation
Liability at the beginning of the year 2.13 1.50
Interest Cost 0.15 0.10
Current Service Cost 0.70 0.58
Past Service Cost - (0.03)
Benefit paid (0.07) -
Actuarial (gain)/ Loss on obligations 1.45 (0.04)
Liability Transferred in/(out) 0.11 0.01
Liability at the end of the year 4.47 2.13
(% in Millions)

Assumptions

For the year ended up
to March 31, 2019

For the year ended up
to March 31, 2018

Amount Recognized in the Balance Sheet

Liability at the end of the year (4.47) (2.13)
Fair value of plan Assets at the end of the year - -
Funded Status (Surplus/deficit) (4.47) (2.13)
Amount of liability Recognized in the Balance Sheet (4.47) (2.13)
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Note: 21. Employee Benefits Expense(Cont.):

(% in Millions)
Expenses Recognized in the Income statement For the year ended up For the year ended up
to March 31, 2019 to March 31, 2018
Current Service cost 0.69 0.58
Interest Cost 0.16 0.10
Past Service Cost - (0.03)
Actuarial Gain or Loss 1.45 (0.04)
Expense Recognized in P&L 2.30 0.61
Balance Sheet reconciliation
Opening Net liability 2.13 1.51
Expense as above 2.30 0.61
Liability Transferred in/(out) 0.11 0.01
Benefit paid (0.07) -
Amount Recognized in Balance Sheet 4.47 2.13
# Defined Contribution Plans:
The Group has also recognised the following amounts as an expense. (% in Millions)

Particulars

For the year ended up
to March 31, 2019

For the year ended up
to March 31, 2018

Contribution to provident fund and EPS 10.58 7.64
Note: 22. Finance Costs:
(T in Millions)
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Interest Expenses 64.91 6.23
Other Borrowing cost 3.36 1.72
Total 68.27 7.95
Note: 23. Depreciation and Amortization Expense:
(T in Millions)
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended March
March 31, 2019 31,2018
Depreciation - Property, Plant and Equipment 9.81 3.98
Amortization - Intangible Assets 4.62 2.69
Total 14.43 6.67
Note: 24. Other expenses:
(X in Millions)

Particulars

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Advertisement 220.26 155.70
Books & Periodicals 0.01 0.02
Exchange and statutory Charges 1.23 0.71
Brokerage related expenses 12.76 17.73
Marketing & Commission Expenses 58.32 10.34
Directors Remuneration/Sitting Fees 1.02 0.66
Bank Charges 1.60 0.61
Communication 19.38 7.03
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Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Electricity 12.59 9.84
Legal and professional charges 87.04 29.53
Miscellaneous Expenses 0.88 0.22
Office expenses 20.63 9.16
Meeting Seminar & Subscription 0.74 1.27
Postage and courier 0.49 0.40
Printing and stationery 1.50 0.58
Provision for bad and doubtful debts 4.77 1.14
Rent 29.56 30.45
Insurance 0.31 0.39
Rates & Taxes 1.49 7.51
Repairs & Maintenance :

Computer 0.65 0.62

Others 3.27 3.33
Remuneration to Auditors :

As auditors -Statutory Audit 0.27 0.10

Certification Work & other matters 0.67 0.01

Out of Pocket Expenses 0.04 -
Software Charges 24.97 26.59
Travelling and conveyance 7.24 6.88
Profit/Loss on Sale of Fixed Asset@ (0.00) -
TOTAL 511.69 320.82

@ Amount is Less than T 0.01 million, hence shown T 0.00 million
Note: 25. Earnings per Share (EPS):
(Z in Millions)
Particulars For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Net Profit/(Loss) after tax for the Year (166.02) (252.99)
Weighted Average No. of Shares to be issues under scheme
of arrangement 1,27,39,022 12,739,022
Basic Earnings per Share in¥ (13.03) (19.86)
Diluted Earnings per Share in ¥ (13.03) (19.86)
Face Value per Equity Share in ¥ 10.00 10.00

*The Employee Stock Options granted by the Holding Company which are potential equity shares are ignored for
purpose of computation of diluted earnings per share since they are anti-dilutive, considering that the group has

incurred losses.

Note: 26.

The Group operates from and uses the premises, infrastructure and other facilities and services as provided to it by

group companies which are termed as ‘Shared Services’. Hitherto, such shared services consisting of administrative

and other revenue expenses paid for by the group were identified and recovered from them based on reasonable

management estimates, which are constantly refined in the light of additional knowledge gained relevant to such

estimation. These expenses are recovered on an actual basis and the estimates are used only where actual were

difficult to determine.
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Note: 27.

A) Disclosures in respect of AS — 18 Related Party Disclosures:

Nature of relationship

Name of party

Other Related Parties

Holding Company ceased w.e.f
01.10.2016*& under common control
w.e.f 01/10/2016

IIFL Holdings Limited

Fellow Subsidiaries up to 30.09.2016 and
under common control w.e.f. 01.10.2016

IIFL Commodities Limited ( formerly known as India Infoline
Commodities Limited)

India Infoline Media & Research Services Limited

India Infoline Finance Limited

IIFL Securities Limited (Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )
IIFL Management Services Limited (formerly known as India Infoline
Insurance Services Limited)

IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited (Formerly Known as India Infoline
Insurance Brokers Limited)

IIFL Wealth Management Limited***

IIFL Facilities Services Limited (Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate
Limited)

IIFL Wealth UK Limited

IIFL Capital Inc

India Infoline Foundation

IIFL Assets Reconstruction Limited

India Infoline Commodities DMCC (up to 16th January 2016)

IIFL Securities Ceylon (Pvt) Limited (up to 30th December 2013)
IIFL Capital Ceylon Limited (up to 20th March 2014)

Group Companies up to 30.09.2016 and
under common control w.e.f. 01.10.2016

IIFL Home Finance Limited (Formerly known as India Infoline
Housing Finance Limited)

Samasta Microfinance Limited (w.e.f. 01st Mar 2017)

Ayusha Dairy Private Limited (w.e.f. 01st Mar 2017)**

IIFL Capital Pte. Ltd

IIFL Securities Pte. Limited

IIFL Asset Management Limited (Formerly India Infoline Asset
Management Company Limited)

IIFL Alternate Asset Advisors Limited

IIFL Wealth Finance Limited (Formerly Chephis Capital Markets
Limited)

IIFL Trustee Limited (Formerly India Infoline Trustee Company
Limited)

IIFL Distribution Services Limited (Formerly IIFL Distribution Services
Private Limited)

IIFL Investment Advisers & Trustee Services Limited (Formerly IIFL
Trustee Services Limited)

IIFL Asia Pte Limited

IIFL Private Wealth Hong Kong Limited***

IIFL Asset Management (Mauritius) Limited {Formerly IIFL Private
Wealth (Mauritius) Ltd.

IIFL Private Wealth Management (Dubai) Limited

IIFL Inc.

IIFL Private Wealth (Suisse) SA***

Clara Developers Private Limited

IIFL Capital (Canada) Limited

IIFL Properties Private limited (Formerly known as Ultra Sign &
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Nature of relationship

Name of party

Display Private Limited) (Upto 31st Mar 2016)

India Alternatives Investment Advisors Private Limited (Upto 30th
Mar 2017)

IIFL Wealth Securities IFSC Limited

IIFL Securities Services IFSC Limited

IIFL Securities IFSC Limited

IIFL Altiore Advisors Private Limited (Formerly Altiore Advisors
Private Limited)

IIFL Wealth Advisors (India) Limited (Formerly Wealth Advisors
(India) Private Limited)

Key Managerial Personnel

Mr. PrakarshGagdani (w.e.f 22 Dec 2015)
Mr. Santosh Jayaram(w.e.f. 11th Jan 2018)
Mr. Vishal Rana (up-to 22 Dec 2015)

Others

Mr. R Venkataraman

Mr.Nirmal Jain

Orpheus Trading Pvt. Limited

Ardent ImpexPvt. Limited

Madhu Jain (wife of Mr. Nirmal Jain)

Aditi Venkataraman (wife of Mr. R Venkataraman)

**The relationship with holding company and fellow subsidiary has ceased to exist however these are under

common control with, the reporting enterprise.

**Ayusha Dairy Private Limited amalgamated w.e.f. 06.08.2018 with Samasta Microfinance Limited.

***|IFL Private Wealth (Hong kong) Limited has ceased to carry its business operations and is in process of winding

up.

***|IFL Wealth Management Limited has dis-invested from IIFL Private Wealth (Suisse) SA and accordingly does
not hold any stake in IIFL Private Wealth (Suisse) SA (Effective date : February 27, 2019)

B) Significant Transaction with Related Parties

(Z in Millions)

Nature of transaction For the year ended on

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
ICD Received
India Infoline Finance Limited 800.00 100.00
IIFL Holdings Limited 1010.00 460.00
IIFL Facilities Services Limited 973.58 60.00
(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
ICD Received (Return)
India Infoline Finance Limited 800.00 100.00
IIFL Holdings Limited 880.00 460.00
IIFL Facilities Services Limited 813.58 60.00
(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
Interest Expenses (ICD)
India Infoline Finance Limited 6.64 0.46
IIFL Holdings Limited 15.76 4.13
IIFL Facilities Services Limited 6.20 0.18
(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
Allocation / Reimbursement of Expenses Paid
IIFL Securities Limited 40.16 26.03
(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )
IIFL Facilities Services Limited 15.13 12.37
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Nature of transaction

For the year ended on

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)

India Infoline Finance Limited

2.66 0.26

IIFL Home Finance Limited
(Formerly India Infoline Housing Finance Limited)

0.03 0.01

IIFL Holdings Limited

0.85 1.73

IIFL Management Services Limited
(Formerly known as India Infoline Insurance Services Limited)

0.12 0.01

Allocation / Reimbursement of Expenses Received

IIFL Securities Limited
(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )

0.33 0.15

India Infoline Finance Limited

0.02 -

Rent Expense

IIFL Facilities Services Limited
(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)

20.00 26.33

IIFL Holdings Limited

4.82 -

Remuneration

Prakarsh Gagdani

7.67 5.28

Santosh Jayaram

2.36 0.45

Others Paid

IIFL Securities Limited
(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )

0.12 0.24

India Infoline Finance Limited

0.06 -

India Infoline Insurance Brokers Limited

- 0.04

IIFL Holdings Limited

- 2.05

Others Received

IIFL Securities Limited
(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited)

0.40 0.10

IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited
(Formerly Known as India Infoline Insurance Brokers Limited)

- 0.10

India Infoline Finance Limited

0.15 0.05

IIFL Holdings Limited

- 0.00

India Infoline Media & Research Services Limited

0.02 -

Service Income

IIFL Securities Limited
(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited)

4.56 4.83

IIFL Insurance Brokers Limited
(Formerly Known as India Infoline Insurance Brokers Limited)

1.05 4.86

Brokerage/Commission Income/Referral Fee

IIFL Asset Management Limited
(Formerly India Infoline Asset Management Company Limited)

0.00 0.10

India Infoline Finance Limited

1.17 -

Security Deposit (Received)

IIFL Holdings Limited

- 0.20

Security Deposit (Repaid)

IIFL Holdings Limited

- 0.20

Security Deposit (Given)

IIFL Facilities Services Limited

11.05 -
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Nature of transaction For the year ended on

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
IIFL Holdings Limited 2.50 -
Security Deposit (Received Back)
IIFL Facilities Services Limited 3.23 -
(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
C) Closing Balance

(% in Millions)

Nature of transaction For the year ended on

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
ICD Payable
IIFL Facilities Services Limited 160.00 -
(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited
IIFL Holdings Limited 130.00 -
Others Receivables
India Infoline Finance Limited 0.50 -
Others Payables
IIFL Facilities Services Limited 1.43 -
(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited)
IIFL Securities Limited 0.64 -
(Formerly known as India Infoline Limited )
IIFL Management Services Limited 0.02 -
(Formerly known as India Infoline Insurance Services Limited)
Security Deposit
IIFL Facilities Services Limited 7.81 -
(Formerly Known as IIFL Real Estate Limited
IIFL Holdings Limited 2.50 -

@ Amount is Less than T 0.01 million, hence shown ¥ 0.00 million
- The relationship with holding company and fellow subsidiary has ceased to exist however these are under

common control with, the reporting enterprise.

Note: 28. Segment Reporting:

In the opinion of the management, there is only one reportable business segment as envisaged by AS 17 'Segment

Reporting', issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Accordingly, no separate disclosure for segment

reporting is required to be made in the financial statements of the group.

Note: 29. The Group is subject to legal proceedings and claims which have arisen in the ordinary course of the

business. The management does reasonably expect that these legal actions, when ultimately concluded and

determined, will not have material and adverse effect on the group’s financial position. As on March 31, 2019 the

company has following contingent liability:

(T in Millions)
Particulars As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018
The claim against the group not acknowledged as debt 0.47 -
Total 0.47 -
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Note: 30. Capital and Other Commitments at Balance Sheet date

There are outstanding commitments to the tune of X 0.94 Million (PY % 1.11 Million) (net of advances) of the total

contractual obligations entered by the group.

Note: 31. The shareholders of the Holding Company have approved two ESOP scheme(s) having a pool size of
600,000 options each i.e. 5paisa Capital Limited Employee Stock Option Scheme 2017 and 5paisa Capital Limited

Employee Stock Option Trust Scheme 2017. The Nomination and

Remuneration Committee of the Board of

Directors of the Holding Company granted 220,000 options under 5paisa Capital Limited Employee Stock Options
Scheme 2017 to the eligible employees of the Holding Company on January 29, 2018. Further, the Scheme(s) has
been implemented in accordance with the SEBI (Share Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014.

a) The details of various Employee Stock Option Schemes are as under:

Particulars ESOP 2017
Method of Accounting Intrinsic Value
Vesting Plan Options granted would vest over a period of five years subject to

minimum period of one year from the date of grant of options.

Exercise Period

Seven Years from the grant date

b) Movement of options during the year ended March 31, 2019

Particulars Option Exercise price Weight average

Outstanding (in%) remaining contractual

life (Years)
Outstanding as on April 01, 2017 - -
Granted during the year 220,000 308 7.0
Forfeited during the year - -
Expired during the year - -
Exercised during the year - -
Outstanding as on March 31, 2018 200,000 308 6.8
Exercisable as on March 31, 2019 220,000 308
Granted during the year - -
Forfeited during the year - -
Expired/Lapsed during the year 20,000 308
Exercised during the year - -
Outstanding as on March 31, 2018 200,000 308 5.8
Exercisable as on March 31, 2018 200,000 308
c) Pro-forma Profit after Tax:
(% in Millions)

Particulars 2018-2019 2017-2018
Net profit (as reported) (166.02) (252.99)
Add: Intrinsic Value Compensation Cost - -
Less: Stock based compensation expenses determined under fair
value method (pro-forma) 10.98 2.14
Net Profit (pro-forma) (177.00) (255.13)
Basic earnings per share (as reported) - Total operations (13.03) (19.86)
Basic earnings per share (pro-forma) - Total operations (13.89) (20.03)
Diluted earnings per share (as reported) - Total operations (13.03) (19.86)
Diluted earnings per share (pro-forma) - Total operations (13.89) (20.03)
Weighted average exercise price of Options granted during the
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Particulars 2018-2019 2017-2018
year whose:

(a) exercise price equals market price (%) N.A N.A
(b) exercise price is greater than market price 308 308
(c) exercise price is less than market price N.A N.A
Weighted average fair value of Options granted during the year

whose:

(a) exercise price equals market price (%) N.A N.A
(b) exercise price is greater than market price 145.72 145.72
(c) exercise price is less than market price N.A N.A
Description of method and significant assumption used to The fair value of the Options granted
estimate the fair value of Options has been estimated using the Black-

Scholes option pricing Model. Each
tranche of vesting have been
considered as a separate grant for the

purpose of valuation.

(d) The Holding Company has not granted any options during the year.

Stock Price: The fair value of the underlying stock based on the latest available closing Market Price on NSE
has been considered for valuing the grant.

Volatility: Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a price has fluctuated or is expected to fluctuate
during the period. The measure of volatility is used in the Black Scholes option-pricing model is the
annualized standard deviation of the continuously compounded rates of return on the stock over a period of
time.

The period to be considered for volatility has to be adequate to represent a consistent trend in the price
movements. It is also important that movement due to abnormal events get evened out. There is no research
that demonstrates conclusively how long the historical period used to estimate expected long-term future
volatility should be. However, informal tests and preliminary research tends to confirm that estimates of
expected future long term volatility should be based on historical volatility for a period that approximates the
expected life of the options being valued.

Risk-free rate of return: The risk-free rate being considered for the calculation is the interest rate applicable
for a maturity equal to the expected life of the options based on the zero-coupon yield curve for Government
Securities.

Exercise Price: The Exercise Price as communicated to us by the management of the Holding Company have
been considered in the valuation.

Time to Maturity: Time to Maturity / Expected Life of Options is the period for which the Holding Company
expects the Options to be live. The minimum life of a stock option is the minimum period before which the
Options cannot be exercised and the maximum life is the period after which the Options cannot be exercised.

Expected dividend yield: The management’s representation of the Expected dividend yield of 0% has been
accepted for the purpose of this valuation.

219



Note: 32.Earnings and expenses in foreign currency
(T in Millions)
For the year ended
March 31, 2018

For the year ended
March 31, 2019

Particulars

Earnings in Foreign Currency

Total Income - -

Expenses in Foreign Currency
Advertisement Expenses 16.12 3.02

Total Expenses 16.12 3.02

Note: 33. The group has taken office premises on operating lease at various locations. Lease rent in respect of the
same has been charged to Statement of Profit and Loss. The agreements are executed for a period ranging 1 to 5
years with a renewable clause. Some agreements have a clause for a minimum lock-in period. The agreements also
have a clause for termination by either party giving a prior notice period between 30 to 90 days. The Group has
also taken some other assets under operating lease. The minimum Lease rentals outstanding as at March 31, 2019
are as under:

(% in Millions)

Minimum Lease Rentals As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018

Up to one year 5.87 2.23

One to five years - -

Over five years - -

Note: 34. The Board at its Meetings held on July 17, 2018 and September 12, 2018 approved the proposal of issue
of equity shares by way of a Rights Issue (“Issue”) to the existing shareholders of the Company in the ratio of 1
equity share of Rs 10 each for every 1 equity share of Rs 10 each held in the Company at a premium of Rs 70 per
share i.e. issue price of Rs 80 each aggregating to Rs 101.91 Cr. in accordance with the SEBI (Issue of Capital and
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009, as amended, and the record date for determining the entitlement will
be announced in due course, subject to receipt of relevant approvals from regulatory authorities, as may be
required. Further, the Company has filed the Draft Letter of Offer with SEBI, NSE and BSE on September 17, 2018.
The Company has received the in-principle approval from NSE and BSE and is awaiting the observation letter from
SEBI.

Note: 35.

1. S5paisa P2P Limited has received in-principle approval for registration as NBFC Peer-to-Peer Lending Platform
(NBFC-P2P) from Reserve Bank of India (RBI). In terms of the said approval, 5paisa P2P is required to set up the
systems and processes and to comply with the other terms and conditions within a period of 12 months for
obtaining final approval from RBI and commencement of P2P activities.

2. 5Spaisa Insurance Brokers Limited is in process of making an application with IRDA for undertaking
the activities for Insurance Brokers.

Note: 36. Summary of Consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements represent consolidation of accounts of the Company with its following
subsidiary companies:

Proportion of ownership interest
- Country of
Subsidiary Incorporation As at As at
P March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Spaisa P2P Limited India 100.00% 100.00%
Spaisa Insurance Brokers Limited India 100.00% -
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Note:
1. 5paisa P2P Limited has become a subsidiary of 5paisa Capital Limited in the previous year.
2. 5paisa Insurance Brokers Limited has become a subsidiary of 5paisa Capital Limited in the current year.

Note: 37. Additional information pursuant to para 2 of general instructions for the preparation of the Consolidated
Financial Statements:

Net assets i.e total assets minus "
I Share of profit or loss
total liabilities
Particulars As % of As % of
consolidated net | T in Millions consolidated T in Millions
assets profit or loss
Parent
Spaisa Capital Limited 95.54% 442.66 99.80% (165.70)
Subsidiaries
S5paisa P2P Limited 4.36% 20.21 0.18% (0.29)
Spaisa Insurance Brokers Limited 0.10% 0.47 0.02% (0.03)
Total 100.00% 463.34 100.00% (166.02)

Note: 38. Previous year figures are re-grouped, re-classified & rearranged, wherever considered necessary to
confirm to current year’s presentation.

As per our attached report of even date

For V Sankar Aiyar & Co For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.109208W

By the hand of

G Sankar Prakarsh Gagdani Santosh Jayaram
Partner Whole Time Director & CEO Whole Time Director
Membership No.: 046050 (DIN: - 07376258) (DIN: -07955607)
Place : Mumbai Gourav Munjal Roshan Dave

Dated : April 16, 2019 Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
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S5paisa Capital Limited
Annexure VI: Restated Consolidated Summary Statements on the Adjustments to Audited Financial Statements

(% in Millions)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Profit after tax as per audited financial statements (166.02) (252.99)
Impact of adjustments due to qualifications in auditor's reports - -
Impact of adjustments of material amounts - -
Impact of changes in accounting policies - -
Profit after tax as per summary restated financial statements (166.02) (252.99)

Notes:
1 - There were no qualifications in auditors reports in any of the years and no changes in accounting policies requiring adjustments to the audited
financial statements.

2 - Appropriate adjustments have been made in the Restated Consolidated Summary Statements of Assets and Liabilities, Profit and Loss and Cash Flow
in accordance with the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009 (as
amended), by a reclassification of the corresponding items of income, expenses, assets, liabilities and cash flows in order to bring them in line with the
groupings as per the audited financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended March 31, 2019 prepared in accordance with Schedule IlI
of the Companies Act, 2013
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S5paisa Capital Limited

Annexure : VIl Restated Consolidated Summary Statement of Accounting Ratios

(% in Millions)

Particular Reference For the year ended For the year ended
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Basis for computation of Accounting Ratios
Restated Profit after tax (A) (Refer Annexure I1) A (166.02) (252.99)
Restated Net profit attributable to equity shareholders for calculation of B (166.02) (252.99)
basic & diluted earnings per share
Weighted average number of Equity Shares outstanding during the year for C 12,739,022 12,739,022
calculating basic earnings per share (Refer Note 24)
Weighted average number of Equity Shares outstanding during the year for D 12,739,022 12,739,022
calculating diluted earnings per share (Refer Note 24)
Equity share capital E 127.39 127.39
Reserves and surplus F 335.95 501.97
Net worth (E + F) G 463.34 629.36
Net asset value H 463.34 629.36
Number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the year | 12,739,022 12,739,022
Accounting Ratios
Basic earnings per share (Rs.) (A / C) J (13.03) (19.86)
Diluted earnings per share (Rs.) (A / D) K (13.03) (19.86)
Return on net worth % (A / G * 100) L (35.83) (40.20)
Net asset value per equity share (Rs.) (H /1) M 36.37 49.40

Notes: The above ratios are calculated as under:

a) Earnings per share =Restated Net profit after tax attributable to equity shareholders / weighted average number of shares outstanding during the

year.

b) Return on net worth (%) = Restated Profit after tax / net worth of the year.

Net worth means the aggregate of the paid